
Procurement Board  
 

Dear Member, 
 

You are invited to attend the meeting of the Procurement Board to be held as follows 
for the transaction of the business indicated. 
Tom Stannard 

Chief Executive  

 
DATE: Wednesday, 12 January 2022 

 
TIME:  10.00 am 

 
VENUE: Salford Suite, Salford Civic Centre, Chorley Road, Swinton 

 
In accordance with ‘The Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 
2014,’ the press and public have the right to film, video, photograph or record 

this meeting.  
 

AGENDA 

 
1   Apologies for absence  

 

 

2   Declarations of interest  

 

 

3   To approve, as a correct record, the minutes of the meeting held 
on 14th December 2021  

 

(Pages 1 - 4) 

4   Matters arising  

 

 

5   Decision items - Part 1 (open to the public)  

 

 

5a Request for Approval to Go Out to Competition - Unlocking Clean 
Energy in GM -  Ground Mounted Solar PV Installation - Hayley Nixon  
 

(Pages 5 - 10) 

5b Request for Approval - Contract Award - Insurance Policy and Cover 
Renewals - Cliff Peacock  

 

(Pages 11 - 20) 

5c Request for Approval - Contract Award - Banking Services - Tony 
Thompstone  

 

(Pages 21 - 26) 

5d Request for Approval - Contract Extension - Enhanced Postural 

Stability - Peter Locke  
 

(Pages 27 - 140) 

5e Request for Approval - Contract Extension - Active Lifestyles - Peter 

Locke  
 

(Pages 141 - 292) 

5f Request for Approval - Contract Award - MyWork Campus Digital 
Infrastructure Upgrade - Supply, Installation and Maintenance of Lot 1 
- [MY]Work Audio visual  

(Pages 293 - 300) 

Public Document Pack



 

 
5g Request for Approval - Contract Award - MyWork Campus Digital 

Infrastructure Upgrade - Supply, Installation and Maintenance of Lot 2 
- Infrastructure Upgrade  
 

(Pages 301 - 310) 

6   Any other business - Part 1 (open to the public)  

 

 

7   Exclusion of the public  

 

 

8   Decision items - Part 2 (closed to the public)  

 

 

9   Date and time of next meeting  

 

10:00am on Wednesday 26th January 2022 in the Salford Suite, Civic 
Centre, Chorley Road, Swinton, M27 5DA. 

 

 

 

Contact Officer: Tel No: 0161 793 3316 
Carol Eddleston, Senior Democratic Services 
Advisor 

E-Mail: carol.eddleston@salford.gov.uk 



Procurement Board meeting held in the Civic Centre, Chorley Road, 

Swinton, M27 5DA 

14th December 2021 

Meeting commenced at 12:00 
Meeting ended at 12:40pm 

Present in Person 
Councillors Hinds (in the Chair) and Merry. 

In Attendance in Person 
Liz Wright  Democratic Services 

In Attendance via MS Teams 

Steven Fry  Assistant Director Digital & Customer Service  

Chris Hesketh  Head of Financial Management 

Anthony Hilton  Head of Strategic Procurement 

Shoaib Mohammad  Assistant Director Technical Services 

Hayley Nixon  Commercial Project Manager 

Charlotte Pritchard Project and Portfolio Manager 

Heater Stanton  Category Manager Level 2 

Simon Telford  Principal Consultant 

Matt Wall  Technology and Architecture Manager 

 

1. Apologies for Absence 

Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of the City Mayor and Councillor Kelly and 

Councillor Youd. 

2. Declarations of Interest 

There were no declarations of interest. 

3. Minutes of Proceedings 

The minutes of the meeting held on 8th December were approved as a correct record. 

4. Matters Arising 

There were no matters arising. 

5. Decision Items – Part 1 – Open to the Public 

5(a) Request for Approval – Contract Award – Technical Services and Highway Works 

Framework 

Consideration was given to a report of the Strategic Director Place seeking approval to award the 
contracts for the Technical and Highway Works Framework. 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



The Technical Services Framework had been created through extensive consultation and workshops 

with the service areas to ensure it provided the best value and a compliant option for the procurement 

of services, for the next 3-4 years. The Framework Agreement would demonstrate value for money 

(VFM), which was defined as the optimum combination of whole life costs and quality to meet  the 
user's requirement.  

The Council was seeking to appoint a number of suppliers to act as Principal Contractors where 

appropriate within each Lot to deliver works on behalf of SCC. Any works falling outside of the 

specified scope of the Framework would be procured outside of this arrangement. 

Each Lot on the Framework, as outlined in the report, was considered.  

It was confirmed that if at any stage there was concern that Value For Money was not being 

achieved there was still the option to go out to tender.  Projects would e monitored against the CPIs 
to ensure Best Value.   

It was confirmed that the social value of all works would need to be provided and that would be 

monitored to ensure it was achieved. 

RESOLVED, THAT: the six lots in the Technical and Highway Works Framework be awarded for a 

period of five years plus one optional extension period of 12 months, with an estimated full project 
value of £40,000,000, as follows: 

Lot 1:  

Argyle NW Construction Ltd 

Colas Limited 

Rosgal Limited  

P Casey (Land Reclamation) Ltd  

Bethell Construction Limited  

Eric Wright Civil Engineering Ltd 

 

Lot 2: 

Coating Services Ltd 

Protek Fencing Ltd 

 

Lot 3: 

Colas Limited  

Rosgal Limited 

General Utilities Northwest Ltd  

AE Yates Ltd  

Bethell Construction Limited  

No Dig Drainage Solutions Ltd  

 

Lot 4 

P Casey (Land Reclamation) Ltd 
Eric Wright Civil Engineering Ltd 
Coating Services Limited  
Amalgamated Construction Ltd (trading as AmcoGiffen) 
AE Yates Ltd 
Bethell Construction Ltd 

  

Page 2



Lot 5 
Pavement Testing Services Ltd  
Construction Testing Solutions Limited  
Concept Engineering Consultants Ltd 

Lot 6 
P Casey (Land Reclamation) Ltd 
Wright Landscapes Ltd 
Horticon Ltd  
Groundwork Landscape Ltd  
Landscape Engineering Ltd  
Bethell Construction Ltd 

5(b) Request for Approval – Contract Award – Chapel Street East Phase 1 

Consideration was given to a report of the Strategic Director Place seeking approval to award the 

Contract for Chapel Street East Phase 1 and approve the fees and other cost associated with the 
delivery of the project. 

Chapel Street, one of Salford’s oldest streets, was the key corridor connecting the University of 

Salford and the Crescent to the west, and Greengate to the east. It was an important element of the 

transport network and central component and driver of regeneration in the area. Chapel Street plays 

an important role in both serving local access and supporting connectivity into and out of the city 

centre. This included its role as a public transport corridor and as a corridor in the walking and cycle 

network as identified through the development of Salford’s Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure 

Plan (LCWIP). Chapel Street was subsequently identified as a key link in the Bee Network and is 
central to the ambitions for sustainable connectivity in city centre Salford.   

The Chapel Street East Phase 1 scheme would transform a section of Chapel Street on the Bee 

Network between New Bailey Street and Blackfriars Street. It was designed to reduce the dominance 

of general traffic and provide direct and safe routes for pedestrians and cyclists accessing the city 

centre through provision of new cycle facilities and enhanced crossing provision. Public realm 

improvements were also proposed which would support the wider regeneration of  central Salford 
and provide an attractive gateway into the city centre.  

The scheme used a ‘complete streets’ approach to rebalance the space in favour of pedestrians and cyclists 
whilst catering for buses, general traffic and loading. 

It was confirmed that the contractor had signed up to the City Mayor’s Employment Charter, was willing to 
obtain Living Wage Accreditation and was currently paying the Living Wage. 

RESOLVED, THAT the following be approved: 

1. The appointment of The Casey Group Limited, subject to Greater Manchester Combined 
Authority approval of Full Business Case and Delivery Agreement, at a cost of £2,365,431.37, 
to undertake the construction works on the Chapel Street East Phase 1 project;  

2. The creation of a purchase order to The Casey Group Limited to the value of £2,365,431.37, 
to enable payments to be made to the contractor; 

3. A risk allocation totalling £429,937.34 which can be drawn down on by the Project Team. 
This is based on the Quantitative Risk Assessment (QRA) which has been produced for the 
scheme; 

Page 3



4. The Construction Phase Supervision and Management costs proposed to be delivered by 
Salford City Council staff, totalling £212,272.46.  

5. The ‘Statutory Undertaker Diversion’ costs associated with the project totalling £497,762.82 
and the creation of the necessary Purchase Orders; and  

6. The ‘Other Costs’ associated with the project delivery totalling £132,953.14 and the creation 
of any required Purchase Orders. 

 

6. Any other urgent business - Part 1 (open to the public) 
 

6a. Approval to Award the Contract related to MyWork Campus Digital  
Infrastructure Upgrade. This is for Supply, Installation and 
Maintenance of Lot 3 – [MY] Booking Application  
 
Consideration was given to a report of the Strategic Director Service Reform seeking approval to 
award the Contract for [MY] Booking Application. 
 
The purpose of this report was to seek approval for the award of the above mentioned 
contract in relation to the larger [MY]Work enablement project, this aligned into the 
building refurbishment campus upgrade and enhanced the safe return to work for SCC 
staff. 
 
The key outcomes achieved by this tender were outlined as: 

 To enhance digital agility of hybrid working within aligned to City Councils wider [MY]Work 
methodology. 

 Meeting room improvements 

 Software/hardware integration to existing digital infrastructure 

 Statistical analysis for future strategic decisions 
 

It was confirmed that the provider was paying the Living Wage and working towards Living Wage 

Accreditation and discussions had taken place with them encouraging them to sign up to the City 
Mayor’s Employment Charter.  

It was confirmed that the Social Value of the contract would be monitored with a view to improving 
this during the life of the contract. 

It was confirmed that the source of funding for the contract was the council’s Capital Budget.  

RESOLVED: That Procurement Board approve the award of a 5 year contract for the supply, 
installation and maintenance of Lot 3 – [MY] Booking Application to CDW.  
 

7. Exclusion of the public 
 

8. Decision items – Part 2 – (closed to the public) 
There were no Part 2 items. 

9. Date and time of the next meeting 
10:00am on Wednesday 12th January 2022 in the Salford Suite, Civic Centre, Chorley Road, Swinton, 

M27 5DA. 

Page 4



  

Part 1: Open to the public 

 
 

REPORT OF 

 
The Strategic Director for the Place Directorate 

 

TO 
 

Procurement Board 
 

ON 

 
12th January 2022 

 

 
 

TITLE:  
 

Approval to go out to competition for contractors to install the solar farm at Little 
Hulton and solar car ports at Turnpike and Swinton Hall Road depots as part of the 
Unlocking Clean Energy in Greater Manchester project (part funded by European 

Regional Development Fund).  

 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 

That Procurement Board grant authority for the contractors, to install the solar farm 
at Little Hulton and solar car ports at Turnpike and Swinton Hall Road depots (for the 

carports subject to the sign-off of a Change Control), to be procured in accordance 
with the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules through the GMCA’s Go Neutral 
framework. 

 
 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY:   

The purpose of this report is to request approval to go out competition for the 
delivery of the above mentioned project. 

Salford City Council is seeking to install solar PV at its site in Kenyon Way, Little 
Hulton and solar car ports at Turnpike and Swinton Hall Road depots in order to 

increase local renewable energy generation and increase the flexibility of local 
energy supply as part of its contribution towards Greater Manchester’s target of 
becoming a carbon-neutral city region by 2038.  

The purpose of ERDF funding is as the funding of last resort and to bring forward 
schemes that would otherwise not be deliverable, in this case due to cost and/or 

payback taking too long to repay the Invest to Save funds. ERDF has been awarded 
to these installations to address this gap in funding for the proposed investments and 
ensure the City Council is able to deliver the installations. The project “Unlocking 

Page 5

Agenda Item 5a



  

Clean Energy in Greater Manchester (UCEGM)” is led by the Energy Systems 
Catapult, with the consortium also including Stockport, Wigan, Rochdale and 

Manchester Councils. The three Salford City Council sites are expected to produce 
about 2.5MW of electricity.   

 
BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS:  

 Five year environment plan for Greater Manchester 

 Property & Regen Briefing 21st October 2019, 28th September 2020 & 21st 
July 2021. 

 
KEY DECISION: No 

 
 
DETAILS:  

Background 

The GM 5 Year Environment Plan sets out five key environmental challenges that 

threaten the future health and prosperity of our City Region and the vision for 
Greater Manchester to be a clean, carbon neutral, climate resilient city region with a 
thriving natural environment and circular, zero-waste economy. Following the 

publication of the 5 Year Plan Salford CC declared a Climate Emergency, stating it’s 
commitment to the plan and to becoming carbon neutral by 2038. The plan sets out 

the urgent actions all of us need to take over the next five years. 

Salford City Council is seeking to install solar PV at its site in Kenyon Way, Little 
Hulton, a Hydro scheme at Charlestown Weir and solar car ports at Turnpike and 

Swinton Hall Road depots, in order to increase local renewable energy generation 
and increase the flexibility of local energy supply as part of its contribution towards 

Greater Manchester’s target of becoming a carbon-neutral city region by 2038.  

ERDF funding has been awarded which will address a gap in funding for the 
proposed investments, to bring forward schemes that would otherwise not be 

deliverable and ensure the City Council is able to generate a surplus across the 
lifecycle of each project.  The project “Unlocking Clean Energy in Greater 

Manchester (UCEGM)” is led by the Energy Systems Catapult, with the consortium 
also including Stockport, Wigan, Rochdale and Manchester Councils. 
 
Little Hulton Solar Farm 

Salford City Council is seeking to build a solar farm to boost local renewable energy 

generation and increase the flexibility of local energy supply. ERDF funding will 
address a gap in funding for the proposed investment and to ensure the Council is 
able to generate a surplus across the projects’ lifecycle. Feasibility work was carried 

out by AECOM and a planning application was submitted in March following 
consultation with the local community in February 2020. At the planning panel on 
Thursday 18 June plans were approved to locate a 3.79 hectare solar farm on 

coarse grassland to the west of Kenyon Way. 5,094 solar panels will be built in rows 
2.4 metres high with a four metre gap between the rows to avoid shadowing. The 

total project would cost approximately £2,000,000 and attract ERDF Grant of around 
£919,000. 

Page 6



  

This 2MW solar farm is expected to generate enough power for 438 homes a year.  
Works to build it will take approximately five months when contractors start on site 

during the spring / summer of 2022. 

Solar Car Ports 

Earlier this year, the Council endorsed a project to use available grant funding due to 
one of the UCEGM partners withdrawing to pursue the installation of solar carports 
at both Turnpike House and Swinton Hall Road Depots. This would cost 

approximately £1,073,000 and attract ERDF Grant of nearly £518,000. These two 
sites are expected to produce about 0.5MW of electricity, equivalent to a quarter of 

our solar farm in Little Hulton. 

The approval of the Solar Car Port installations is subject to the sign-off of a Change 
Control to the project by Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities and 

procurement would not begin until this Change Control is in place. 

Go Neutral framework 

It is proposed that the route to procure that is used is the Go Neutral Smart Energy 
framework which is currently being procured by the GMCA. This will be a national 
Framework that is for use by GM authorities and external advice has confirmed that 

will be compliant with ERDF procurement rules. The Framework will have five lots 
and two specifically for the types of works that we are to commission at Little Hulton 

and the depots. Therefore, we propose to run two mini competitions with the 
appointed framework contractors under Lots 2 and 4 as per the framework guidance. 

Lot 2. Solar car ports – Turnpike & Swinton Hall Road Depots 

Lot 4. Ground mounted solar PV – Little Hulton 

In accordance with standard convention of charging for use of frameworks, GMCA 
will add a 1% service charge to all projects procured via the call-off framework. 

The framework has been evaluated with the following weightings, 40% Commercial 

and 60% Quality including 15% Social value. Once the framework is operational and 
works awarded through the Mini competitions, Salford will be able to tailor the Social 

Value questions specifically to the works we are awarding. 

 
 

KEY COUNCIL POLICIES:  

 Five year environment plan for Greater Manchester 

 Great Eight Priority - Tackling the climate emergency 

 Climate Emergency Declaration 

 
EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT AND IMPLICATIONS: N/A

 
 
 

Page 7



  

ASSESSMENT OF RISK:   
The programme has a risk register in place and mitigation measures. 

  
It is essential that all procurement and work is carried out within ERDF rules to 

ensure there is no claw back, we will be supported by Manchester City Council’s 
Technical Assistance team to help ensure all necessary rules are followed. 
  

Salford City Council will put in place a procurement plan, to be shared with ESC. 
Preparation sessions and periodic internal audits will be put in place.  A project wide 

procurement strategy has been prepared. 
  
Programme management and compliance resource to cover finance, reporting, 

compliance requirements, to cover three years of project and closedown period. 
Partner responsibilities with regard to reporting, compliance and audit are set out 

clearly in the partnership agreement and will be monitored regularly by the lead 
partner. Details of processes are included within Programme Handbook and will be 
updated as needed to ensure that consistency and quality of process is applied 

throughout the project to minimise compliance risk. Project performance and 
compliance to be reviewed internally at least twice a year to ensure that operations, 

processes and systems remain on track. 
  
Future survey results on both the solar and solar car port schemes could reveal 

issues requiring remediation or additional work or complication, or costs may have 
changed since design and feasibility work was completed. To mitigate this the 

detailed cost breakdown has some risk uncertainty priced in. 

 
 

SOURCE OF FUNDING:   

See financial comments below.  

 
LEGAL IMPLICATIONS: Supplied by: Tony Hatton 
 

Subject to GMCA successfully setting up the Go Neutral Smart Energy Framework, 
and that framework being compliant with any specific ERDF conditions or 

requirements, when commissioning contracts for the procurement of goods, services 
or the execution of works the Council as a ‘contracting authority’ must also comply 
with the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 (PCR) as well as the provisions of its 

own Contractual Standing Orders (CSO’s), Financial Regulations and the duties of 
Best and Social value. CSO’s stipulate that where a suitable framework exists, this 

must be used unless there is an auditable reason not to do so. 
 
The purpose of a framework agreement is to select through a procurement/ 

evaluation process a number of providers who can meet the service requirements of 
the Council, as and when those services are required. If they are required then the 

Council will undertake an exercise to call off the services from one or more of the 
providers who have been selected to be on the framework and this may be through 
any number of ways such as mini-competition, or direct allocation, depending on the 

circumstances. A contract will then be formed between the Council and the chosen 
provider/s. The Council will need to follow the procedure set out in the framework 

Page 8



  

agreements to ensure the procurement process is compliant and bids are evaluated 
in accordance with published criteria.  

 
The proposed procurement of the works will be by way of mini competition exercises 

against the different lots for installation of solar pv at Little Hulton and solar car ports 
at the 2 Council depots, and must be undertaken in accordance with the process set 
out in the GMCA Go Neutral Smart Energy Framework. Compliance with the 

framework processes will ensure that the risk of challenge to the ultimate award of a 
contract is minimal and that any challenge, should it materialise, is extremely unlikely 

to be successful.  
Legal shall be happy to advise on the grant funding agreement between the Council 
and ERDF to ensure the Council’s interests are protected as far as possible, and is 

aware of significant risks. The terms of any grant funding agreement will need to be 
adhered to in the event that there are clawback provisions for failure to comply. 

 

 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: Supplied by: Gemma Singleton, Finance Officer 0161 

793 2578 

There is funding available under the Unlocking Clean Energy in GM Programme to 

go out to tender for these projects.  

Funding is ERDF grant and Salford match funding through Invest to Save.  

Capital code: D07175 

 
 

PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS: Supplied by:  Heather Stanton, Category 
Manager – xt 6241 
 

The procurement route proposed for these projects is the Go Neutral Smart Energy 
framework that is currently being procured by the GMCA.  This is a compliant route 

to market in line with SCC standing orders.  There will be two mini competitions 
under the framework and they will be procured as per the ERDF and framework 
guidance. 

 
 

HR IMPLICATIONS: Supplied by: N/A 
 

 
 
CLIMATE CHANGE IMPLICATIONS: Supplied by: Hayley Nixon 

 
The GM 5 Year Environment Plan commits GM to increasing local renewable energy 
generation by at least 45 MW by 2024 and councils need to be at the forefront of this 

work. The “Unlocking Clean Energy in Greater Manchester (UCEGM)” bid could 
generate 15% of the total GM target. 

 
 

Page 9



  

OTHER DIRECTORATES CONSULTED:  

List other parts of the organisation consulted with if applicable. Also identify if this is 

a joint report and if it is, also reflect this in the Heading. 

 

 

 
 

CONTACT OFFICER: Michael Hemingway, Climate Change Officer 
Hayley Nixon, Commercial Project Manager 

 
TELEPHONE NUMBER:  

 

WARD(S) TO WHICH REPORT RELATE(S):  
N/A

 

Page 10



Part 1: Open to the public 

 
 

REPORT OF 

 
The Strategic Director for Service Reform 

 

TO 
 

Procurement Board 
 

ON 

 
Wednesday 12th January 2022 

 
 TITLE:   Approval to Award the Contract for new 5-year insurance cover in respect of 
the City Council’s Liability, Property & Motor fleet insurance arrangements.

 
RECOMMENDATION:  

 
That Procurement Board approve the award of the contract for 2022 expenditure of 
the catastrophe cover insurance, as detailed in the table below: 

 

Detail required Answers 

Title/Description of Contracted 
Service/Supply/Project 

Catastrophe Cover for the Council’s main classes of 
Insurance, including Liability, Property & Motor fleet 

Name of Successful Contractor  AIG, HSB and QBE 

Supplier Registration Number 

(to be supplied by Corporate Procurement) 

AIG 10737370 

HSB 02396114 

QBE 02641728 

Type of organisation 

(to be supplied by Corporate Procurement) 
Private Limited Company 

Status of Organisation 

(to be supplied by Corporate Procurement) Non-SME 

Contract Value (£) £1,437,334.51(Includes 12% IPT) for 2022/23 

Contract Duration  36 months 

Contract Start Date  01/02/2022 

Contract End Date  31/01/2025 

Optional Extension Period 1 24 months 

Optional Extension Period 2 24 months 

Who will approve each Extension 
Period? 

Strategic Director (extension < £150k) 

Contact Officer (Name & number) Cliff Peacock 

Page 11

Agenda Item 5b



Detail required Answers 
Lead Service Group 

 
Finance & Corporate Business 

How the contract was procured? 

(to be supplied by procurement) 
Mini competition 

Framework Details (where applicable) 

(procurement body, framework 

reference & title, start/ end date 

YPO Insurance Framework 978 

30 July 2019 - 29 July 2024 

OJEU Ref 2019/S 106-259145 

Funding Source Revenue Budget 

Ethical Contractor (EC): Mayor’s 
Employment Charter 

 yes, for all bidders  

EC: Committed to sign up to charter 
  yes, for all bidders 

 

EC: Accredited Living Wage Employer  yes, for all bidders 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY:   

 
The purpose of this report is to seek approval for a new five-year long-term agreement 
from 1/2/22 in respect of the City Council’s Liability, Property & Motor fleet insurance 

arrangements following a full tender exercise. 
 

Tender figures have now been agreed in principle with the Council’s broker AON, 
pending acceptance of the expenditure. Quotations are on the basis of a 3-year Long 
Term Agreement packaged discount with the option to extend for a further 2 + 2 years. 

Based on the tenders evaluated, AON recommends the Council stay with existing 
insurers AIG and its parent companies QBE & HSB (arranged through RMP) on the 

basis of the cover requested within the tender specification.  
 
There is financial provision to undertake the new proposed agreement for a period 

from 01/02/2022 to 31/01/2027(with a further option to extend until 31/1/2029), albeit 
that the expenditure of the revenue budget is annually approved. It is therefore 

recommended that the tender evaluation findings are accepted on the basis that they 
maintain continuity of cover with a minimal increase in price.  
 

SCC’s Procurement Team were heavily involved in all aspects of the tender evaluation 
and outcome. Information gathered from and consultation with all directorates also 

contributed directly to the tender exercise. 
 

In terms of the 2022 Tender Responses, the premium levels are similar to the 2021 

renewal premium levels. The total cost of the tender exercise has been negotiated at 
a total of £1,437,334.51 compared to a cost last year of £1,363,856.42, which equates 
to a 5% increase.  

 
BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS: 

 Report taken to procurement board on 4/8/21 entitled: Approval to go out to 
competition to purchase insurance catastrophe cover. 

 Forward look for the above report published Oct 21- item 93 

Page 12



 Relevant documents from all departments & claims data for potential bidders  

 Brokers report 8/12/21 

 Procurement Social value evaluation summary and audit matrix 6/12/21. 

 
 
KEY DECISION:  Yes  

 
 
DETAILS:  

 
1. Background 

 
1.1 On 1st February 2022, the Council’s main classes of insurance business, i.e., 

Liability, Property and Motor policies, fall due for renewal following completion 

of an extensive insurance market tendering exercise.  
 

1.2 The covers are currently subject to a discounted Long-Term Agreement (LTA) 
expiring on 31 January 2022 and are therefore subject to the Public 
Procurement Regulations 2015. Some small specialist insurance covers are 

also being placed as part of the tender at this time, as those LTA’s have also 
expired.  

 
1.3 The Council’s Insurance Brokers, AON, have been commissioned to provide 

advice on the tender. The main purpose of their report is, therefore, to set out 

the detail on the prospects for the Council’s insurance arrangements from 
February 2022.   

 
1.4 The Council’s current insurance programme is placed with AIG, QBE & HSB 

via RMP. 

 
2.  The Procurement Process and bid compliance  

 
2.1 Tender documents and supporting appendices were advertised on the 14 

October 2021, utilising the Yorkshire Purchasing Organisation Insurance 

Framework 978 via the Proactis Portal (open to pre-vetted bidders), where 
tender documents were made available to prospective bidders to download. 

 
Quotations were invited for “Insurance Services excluding Broking Services”.  
 

The tender was “live” for nearly five weeks, with the deadline for Tender 
Responses being 17.00 Hrs on Tuesday 16th November 2021.  

 
Potential Bidders were able to ask Tender Clarification Questions up to 17.00 
Hrs on Tuesday 2nd November 2021. 

 
The strategic objective was to test the effectiveness of the current covers, with 

the contract to be awarded based on the most economically advantageous 
tender, evaluated against the specific Award Criteria and Weighting published 
in the tender document, and as shown below in table 1. 

 

Page 13



The price offered from bidders is based on acceptance of a new 5-year LTA. 
Insurers rates during the duration LTA agreement is dependent on annual 

renewals staying within the agreed insurer's percentage increase parameters. 
E.g., The AIG 3 + 2-year rate guarantee includes agreeing to maintain the rates 

applying at inception for the 5-year period subject to the loss ratio not exceeding 
20%. Contract extensions are based on claims experience. 
 

 The Council’s Corporate Risk Manager (CRM) discussed their requirements on 
behalf of the Council with AON, with tenders being evaluated against specific 
quality criteria with weightings illustrated below in table 1. The price-quality ratio 

was agreed with procurement, the CRM and AON to put in place effective VFM 
insurance policies to complement the Councils current existing insurance stop-

loss insurance programme. *Scope of cover equates to quality. The Social 
Value element was vetted and scored by procurement. A summary of their 
detailed report is set out in table 3 below: -  

 
2.2 Table 1. Weighted selection criteria 

 

Award criteria 
% 

Available 

Price 50 

Scope of cover* 30 

Support 5 

Social Value 15 

Total 100 

  

2.3  Table 2. Charter responses  

 
Questions on charter  A  B  C  D 

Climate Change     

Mayors Employment 
Charter 

    

Living Wage Foundation     

 The above responses were made outside of the social value responses given 
below.  

  
 2.4.    Table 3. Social Value scoring 

 
 Insurer: Score (out of 15%): 

A 13.5% 
B 3.05% 

C 0% 

D 0% 
 

 Bidder C did submit a Social Value submission but scored 0. 

 Bidder D did not upload a Social Value submission, and so scored 0. 

 
2.5 Expressions of interest and bids 

Page 14



  
 Local authority business that includes Social Services liability risks does not 

attract many insurers. Four insurance companies expressed interest, and all 
four followed up with bids, in relation to these bids, the findings on the three 

main classes of insurance business are set out below. It should be noted that a 
successful bidder QBE is a parent company of AIG and HSB with cover 
arranged through the RMP. The report deals with the three main classes of 

business and does not drill down to smaller cover set out in the summary.  
 
2.6     Bidding outcomes- for main classes of business, on Liability, Motor & Property 

are set out below. 
 
2.7 Liability Findings 

 

On the weighted selection criteria agreed, the successful bidder A although not 
the lowest price, scored well on breadth of cover (as set out in Table 4 below) 

and were rated best overall value when evaluated against tender criteria. The 

quote offered by QBE gives the best scope of cover a higher social value than 
other bids and provides continuity of cover.  

 
2.8 Table 4 - Weighted Selection Criteria for Liability Insurance Quotations 

 

Award criteria 
% 

Available 
A  B  C  

Price 50 46.5 45 50 

Scope of cover 30 29 27 20.5 

Support 5 5 4 2 

Social Value 15 13.5 3 0 

Total 100 94 79 72.5 

  
2.9 Motor Findings 

AON recommended staying with QBE/RMP.  

On the selection criteria agreed, QBE (as set out in Table 5 below), the 

successful bidder QBE although not the lowest price, had the highest overall 
score compared to the other bidders, i.e., when evaluated against all available 

tender criteria. The QBE quote also provides continuity of cover. 
 

2.10 Table 5 - Weighted Selection Criteria for Motor Insurance Quotations 
 

Award criteria 
% 

Available 
A  B  C  D  

Price 50 38.5 38 50 45 

Scope of cover 30 30 30 30 28 

Support 5 4.25 5 3 4 

Page 15



Social Value 15 13.5 3 0 0 

Total 100 86.25 76 83 77 

 

2.11  Property Findings 

AON recommended that the business stays with A -AIG (see table 6 below). 

There were no other quotes. The AIG quote offers continuity of cover.   

  
 2.12      Table 6 - Weighted Selection Criteria for Property Insurance Quotations 

 

Award criteria 
% 

Available 
A  

Price 50 50 

Scope of cover 30 25 

Support 5 5 

Social Value 15 13.5 

Total 100 93.5 

  

2.13 Table 7 -Recommendations summary for all Classes of Business 

Class of Business Recommen-
dation 

Proposed 
Insurer 

Price at 
21/22 

with IPT 

Price for 
22/23  

with IPT 

Property 
Damage/BI/All 

Risks/Theft/Money 

Renewal with 
existing insurer 

AIG £629,606.79 
 

£645,574.28 
 

Fine Art still being 

negotiated 

TBC 
£8,340.84 est £8,340.84 est 

Contract Works Renewal with 
existing insurer 

HSB via RMP £3,205.03 
 

£5,448.91 
 

Terrorism Renewal with 
existing insurer 

Convex via 
RMP £60,360.22 £57,995.04 

Combined Liability Renewal with 

existing insurer 

QBE via RMP 
£474818.40 £499707.04 

Medical Malpractice Renewal with 
existing insurer 

QBE via RMP 
£11,592.00 £12,163.20 

Motor 
Fleet/Uninsured Loss 

Recovery 

Renewal with 
existing insurer 

QBE via RMP £98,766.08 
 

£97,796.16 
 

Fidelity/Crime Renewal with 
existing insurer 

QBE via RMP 
£14,588.00 £14,670.88 

Engineering 
Inspection 

 

Renewal with 
existing insurer 

HSB via RMP £35,613.16 
 

£53,696.24 
 

Engineering 
Insurance 

 

Renewal with 
existing insurer 

HSB via RMP £2,359.35 

 

£6,453.05 

 

Page 16



Hired in plant Renewal with 
existing insurer 

HSB via RMP £420.00 
 

£1,118.88 
 

Computer 
 

Renewal with 
existing insurer 

HSB via RMP £6,899.04 
 

£12,069.67 
 

Personal 

Accident/Travel 

Renewal with 

existing insurer 

AIG RMP £7,479.67 

 

£13,624.80 

 

School Journey Renewal with 
existing insurer 

AIG RMP £9,807.84 
 

£8,675.52 
 

Totals £1,363,856.42 £1,437,334.51 

 

3. Social Value  

Bidders were required to submit a Social Value offer via the Social Value 
Portal using the Salford TOMs (Themes, Outcomes and Measures) Core Set.  

As referred to earlier in the report, three companies submitted via the portal, 
and one did not. 

The quantity of social value submitted by the bidders was as follows; 

Bidder B Public Sector - £670 

Risk Management Partners - £109,330 

Bidder C - £Nil 

 

 
 

KEY COUNCIL POLICIES:  

 
See assessment of risk below. 

 
 
EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT AND IMPLICATIONS:  

 
N/A

 
ASSESSMENT OF RISK:   
 

To protect the Council’s insurance reserve, assets and liabilities insurance is taken 
out as part of a loss control approach to risk management.

 

SOURCE OF FUNDING:  
 

There is provision within current resources (Revenue Budget) to meet the proposed 
cost as set out below. 

 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS: Supplied by: The Shared Legal Service Tony Hatton 219 
6323 

Page 17



The Council must ensure that appropriate insurance arrangements are in place to 
protect the council’s assets and potential liabilities. In that regard, the Council 

proposes to take out new cover on its main classes of business with AIG and QBE in 
respect of its Property, Liability and Motor insurances for a 3-year period with the 

option to extend for further two-plus years beginning on the 1st of February 2025. Any 
proposed future increase in the contract price can only be imposed in accordance with 
the provisions of the existing contract. The Council’s Procurement Team has 

confirmed that the proposed renewal complies with the Council’s Contractual Standing 
Orders. 

When commissioning contracts for the procurement of goods, services, or the 

execution of works, the Council must comply with the Public Contracts Regulations 
2015 (PCR) and its own Contractual Standing Orders (CSO’s), failing which a contract 
may be subject to legal challenge from an aggrieved provider. The proposed award of 

this contract follows a selection exercise to enable call-off in accordance with the 
appropriate YPO Framework Agreement. 

The purpose of a framework agreement is to select through a procurement/ evaluation 

process a number of providers who can meet the service requirements of the Council 
as and when those services are required. If they are required, then the Council will 

undertake an exercise to call off the services from one or more of the providers who 
have been selected to be on the framework, and this may be through any number of 
ways (mini-competition or direct allocation) depending on the circumstances. A 

contract will then be formed between the Council and the chosen provider/s. 

Submissions were evaluated on the most economically advantageous tender basis in 
line with published procedures resulting in the proposed awards of the various 

insurances the providers set out in the body of the report. The procurement 
procedures, therefore, appear robust and compliant with the requirements of the 
Council’s CSO’s and PCR. 

 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: Chris Hesketh, head of financial 

management x2668 
  

Insurance is an essential component of the management of the organisation’s financial 
risk. The process has ensured that the council secures the most economically 
advantageous tender available. The costs of the premiums are in aggregate 5% 

greater than last year: there is sufficient budget in the existing budget plus the planned 
inflation contingency to cover the costs of the premiums. 
  

 
 
PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS: Supplied by: Emma Hayes, Category Manager 

 
The YPO Insurance Placement DPS framework was chosen as the route to market 

for this contract.  The framework gives the Council access to a wide range of pre-
vetted insurance companies who have a place on the framework, and all suppliers 
were invited to bid for this contract. 

Page 18



 
Four tenders were received and evaluated in line with the published evaluation 

criteria. 
 

The procurement of this contract was undertaken with the support of the Council’s 
Insurance Broker AON, and they assisted with drafting the specifications and tender 
documents.  They acted as liaison between the Council and YPO and undertook the 

evaluation of bids in conjunction with Officers from the Insurance Team and 
Procurement. 

 
The contract awards will go to the companies that submitted the most economically 
advantageous tender based on quality, price and social value. 

 
HR IMPLICATIONS:  Supplied by: 

 
N/A

 
CLIMATE CHANGE IMPLICATIONS:  Supplied by: 
 

N/A

 
OTHER DIRECTORATES CONSULTED:  

 
All directorates were consulted 

 
CONTACT OFFICER: Cliff Peacock – Corporate Risk Manager 

TEL NO: 0161 607 6980 

 __________________________________________________________________  
 

WARD(S) TO WHICH REPORT RELATE(S): Specify the Ward / Wards affected if all 
wards state the fact. 
 

All wards. 

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



Sample B – aw ard of contract  

Part 1: Open to the public 

 
 

REPORT OF 

 
The Strategic Director for Service Reform 

 

TO 
 

Procurement Board 
 

ON 

 
12 January 2022 

 

 
  

TITLE:   Approval to Award the Contract for Banking services 

 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  

That Procurement Board approve the award of the Contract for insert title of 

project/scheme/service or purchase of goods as detailed in the table below: 
 

 

Detail required Answers 

Title/Description of Contracted 
Service/Supply/Project Banking services 

Name of Successful Contractor  Barclays Bank plc 

Supplier Registration Number 

(to be supplied by Corporate Procurement) 01026167 

Type of organisation 

(to be supplied by Corporate Procurement) 
Public Limited Company 

Status of Organisation 

(to be supplied by Corporate Procurement) Non-SME 

Contract Value (£) £44,000 

Contract Duration  5 years with an option for a further 5 years 

Contract Start Date  01/02/2022 

Contract End Date  31/01/2027 

Optional Extension Period 1 Further 5 years 

Optional Extension Period 2 months 

Who will approve each Extension 
Period? 

Procurement Board (extension > £150k) 

Page 21

Agenda Item 5c



Sample B – aw ard of contract  

Detail required Answers 
Contact Officer (Name & number) Tony Thompstone 2016 

Lead Service Group 

 
Finance & Corporate Business 

How the contract was procured? 

(to be supplied by procurement) 
Tender (Open) 

Framework Details (where applicable) 

(procurement body, framework 

reference & title, start/ end date 

Bury MBC  

Banking Services 

Funding Source Revenue Budget 

Ethical Contractor (EC): Mayor’s 
Employment Charter 

n 

EC: Committed to sign up to charter 

Barclays have committed to delivering social value in 

Salford >20% of the banking contract value, this work will 
be measured via the Social Value Portal and focussed in 
line with the Salford Toms and Salford Mayor’s Charter 

 

EC: Accredited Living Wage Employer Y  

 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY:   

The purpose of this report is to seek approval for the award of the above mentioned 
contract. 
 

 

 

 
BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS: 

 
 
KEY DECISION:   

Yes  

 

 
 
DETAILS:  
 

1. Background 

The councils banking contract is due to end 31/01/2021, the banking service 

provides the council with the bank accounts necessary to receive and pay money in 
order to manage its financial affairs. 

Page 22



Sample B – aw ard of contract  

2.  The Procurement Process 
A number of authorities in the AGMA region were affected by the Co-op’s decision jn 

2013 to leave the local authority banking market, following this a joint procurement 
exercise was undertaken. Bury Council acted as lead authority on behalf of the 

AGMA authorities in an OJEU compliant tender process to create a framework for 
banking services. This process was repeated in May 2021 with an invitation to tender 
being issued. 

 
Contract Notices were also placed on Contracts Finder and on The Chest. The 

procurement process was conducted via The Chest. 
 
Following evaluation by a team of representatives from participating organisations, 

Barclays Bank plc were identified as the winning tenderer. A framework contract 
entered between Bury Council and Barclays. This is a single supplier framework and 

Barclays are the sole supplier. 
 
The framework period is 1st October 2021 to 30th September 2025. Contracts can 

now be awarded from the framework. 
 

As Lead Authority, Bury reviewed the tenders received for completeness and 
compliance, and conducted the selection stage process, which includes ensuring 
bidders have appropriate insurances, health & safety, information governance, 

experience (contract examples) and financial strength and viability to deliver the 
contracts.  

 
All tenders that passed the selection stage were then evaluated in relation to service 
quality, pricing and social value, in accordance with the prescribed evaluation 

criteria. Quality and social value were evaluated by an evaluation panel.  
Prices were evaluated by Bury as the Lead Authority. 

 
Bidders were invited to present their tenders to the panel. This allowed the panel to 
check their understanding of the submission and to ensure scores have been 

correctly and fairly allocated. Following these presentations, final scores were 
confirmed. 

 
As Lead Authority, Bury combined the quality and social value scores with the price 
score to determine the winning bidder. 

 
Based on Salford volumes for the last 12 months new contract would represent a 

saving of £6k a year from £50k to £44k. 

. 

 
KEY COUNCIL POLICIES:  

n/a.  

 
 

Page 23



Sample B – aw ard of contract  

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT AND IMPLICATIONS:  

n/a

 
ASSESSMENT OF RISK:   

The council needs a banking service to receive income or to make payments. 

As the proposed contract is with the existing provider there would be minimal 
operational list in entering the contract. The council’s council tax base for 22/23 is 

forecast to be 71,905, a change in the banking service would involve a project to move 
those households over to the new bank provider.  

The estimated contract value is for £44k a year, over the course of a year the counci l 
has 1.7m transactions with the bank. 

 
SOURCE OF FUNDING:  

The Budget that will meet the cost of the scheme

 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS: Supplied by: The Shared Legal Service  

When commissioning contracts for the procurement of goods, services or the 

execution of works, the Council must comply with the Public Contracts Regulations 
2015 (PCR) and its own Contractual Standing Orders (CSOs), failing which a contract 

may be subject to legal challenge from an aggrieved provider. CSO’s stipulate that 
where a suitable framework exists, this must be used unless there is an auditable 
reason not to do so. 

 
The procurement of Barclays as sole provider on the framework has been by way of 

a tender exercise undertaken by Bury MBC in accordance with PCR using an OJEU 
process, and will therefore ensure that the risk of challenge to the award of any 
contract is minimal and that any challenge, should it materialise, is extremely unlikely 

to be successful.  
 

Submissions were evaluated on the most economically advantageous tender basis 
in line with published procedures resulting in the proposed award of the contract to 
Barclays for a five year period. The procurement procedures therefore appear robust 

and compliant with the requirements of the Council’s CSO’s and PCR 

 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: Submitted by:  Tony Thompstone – Finance Manager 

The cost of banking service under the new contract is forecast to be £6k a year 
cheaper than the current contract at £44k a year as opposed to £50k. It is 

recommended that the council opt for the 5 year contract with the option to extend for 
a further 5 years after that dependent upon the contract costings at that time. 

 

Page 24



Sample B – aw ard of contract  

PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS: Supplied by:  Emma Heyes, Category Manager, 
The Corporate Procurement Team   

Bury Council acted as Lead Authority for this collaborative procurement.  They have 
put in place the framework following a robust and compliant tendering process that 

also complies with the Salford Contractual Standing Orders. 

 
The Call-Off agreement will need to be completed to form the contract between the 

Council and Barclays.

 
HR IMPLICATIONS:  Supplied by: 
 
n/a 

 
CLIMATE CHANGE IMPLICATIONS:  Supplied by: 

 
n/a 

 

 
 

OTHER DIRECTORATES CONSULTED:  

n/a 

 
CONTACT OFFICER:  Tony Thompstone 
TELEPHONE NUMBER:- 0161 793 2016

 

WARD(S) TO WHICH REPORT RELATE(S):  
all wards 

 

 

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank



Part 1: Open to the public 

 
 

REPORT OF 

 
The Deputy Director of Public Health 

 

TO 
 

Procurement Board 
 

ON 

 
12 January 2022 

 

 

TITLE:  Approval for an Extension of Contract for Enhanced Postural Stability 

Service

 

RECOMMENDATION:  

That the Procurement Board approve the extension of the Contract for Enhanced 
Postural Stability as detailed in the table below: 

 

 

Detail required Answers 
Contract Reference  

Title/Description of Contracted 
Service/Supply/Project Enhanced Postural Stability Service 

Name of Contractor  Salford Community Leisure 

Type of organisation 

(to be supplied by Corporate 
Procurement) 

Industrial & Provident Society 

Status of Organisation 

(to be supplied by Corporate 
Procurement) 

Non-SME 

 

Value of Contract Extension (£) 
£181,600 per annum (Integrated Fund) 

Existing Contract Term 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2022 

Extension Period 01/04/2022 to 31/03/2023 

Contact Officer (Name & 
number) Peter Locke 

Lead Service Group 

 
Public Health 

Page 27

Agenda Item 5d



Detail required Answers 
Funding Source External Funding Source (please identify below) 

Ethical Contractor (EC): Mayor’s 
Employment Charter  

EC: Committed to sign the 
Charter  

EC: Accredited Living Wage 
Employer  

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY:   

The purpose of this report is to seek request an extension to contract for the 
ENHANCED POSTURAL STABILITY SERVICE for the following reasons:- 

 
 The goods / services / works are only obtainable from one provider and 

there is no other provider available to allow genuine competition. Salford 

Community Leisure are the only provider in the city to have the assets to deliver 
this service – through  qualified specialist staff, buildings and equipment with 

reach across the city to permit equitable access for residents who require the 
Enhanced Postural Stability Service  

 

 Delivers best value to the council Salford Community Leisure have delivered 

on their KPIs and have a track record of evidenced positive outcomes for service 

users Salford Community Leisure works alongside primary and secondary care, 
VSCE sector and SCC to provide integrated pathways. 

 

There is provision within the current contract to extend the agreement for a further 
period from 01/04/2022 to 31/03/2023

 

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS:  

 Enh Postural Stability Com Com Jan 2020 

 R.O.D Enhanced Postural Stability Extension 10 January 2020:-  
https://sccdemocracy.salford.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?Id=596  

 Service_Specification_Enhanced_Postural_Stability_Final  Dec 2017 

 EPS Annual Report 2019 – 20 

 EPS Summary Report Apr 20 - Nov 21 

 AL Social Impact Report - Executive Summary 

 

Page 28

https://sccdemocracy.salford.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?Id=596


 

KEY DECISION:   

NO 

 

DETAILS:  

1. Purpose 
 

Salford has the third highest rate of falls in England and the highest rate in Greater 
Manchester. This equates to 2,703 admissions per 100,000 residents aged 65+. Falls 

are a common and serious health issue for older people, with around a third of all 
people aged 65 and over falling each year, increasing to half of those aged 80 and 
over. This leads to falls related emergency admissions and fragility fractures which are 

costly for health and care services. 
 

This Enhanced Postural Stability Service provides a 24 week Postural Stability course 
and an ongoing maintenance programme (known to service users as ‘Step up’) post 
the 24 weeks, some people go straight into maintenance. This service will be in line 

with international and national standards and guidance which recommend strength 
and balance exercise programmes as the optimum approach for the majority of older 

people living in the community with a low to moderate risk of falls. These programmes 
have been shown to provide an effective method for both primary and secondary 
prevention of falls and non-vertebral fractures in older people. The funding currently 

comprises of:  
 

 £21,600 which is recurrently funded  

 £160,000 which is ear marked as non-recurrent, though the availability of 

funding is recurrent. 
 

2. Strategic Context 

2.1 Health & Service Need 
 

Falls are a frequent and serious occurrence in the older population. Falls in older 
people frequently result in fractures, contribute significantly to reducing older 
people’s capacity to live independently and are a demonstrable cause of early 

mortality. Whilst falls can result from a variety of different proximate causes, many 
are predictable and preventable. Risk factors for falls include dementia and 

confusion, reduced muscle strength, poor balance and stability, failing eyesight and 
the presence of trip hazards at home. 
 

Falls and fragility fractures, and the fear of either of these eventualities, can have a 
huge impact on quality of life at any age, but the natural processes of ageing make 

the likelihood of a fall or fracture more likely after the age of 65.  In 2016, PHE 
estimated that ‘around 30% of people aged over 65 and 50% aged over 80 

Page 29



experience a fall each year. Fractures and hospitalisation occur in around 5% of 
community dwelling adults with a history of falls.’  

 
The impact of a fall cannot be underestimated and whilst many falls may never need 

medical treatment, and may not therefore be reported by the individual, the 
psychological effects can be significant, with people choosing to restrict their daily 
activities and social life because they don’t feel confident with their balance and may 

become risk averse especially with regard to physical activity.  This can lead to 
ongoing deterioration in motivation and loss of strength and balance which are vital 

to personal autonomy, functional independence and quality of life.  
 
Whilst mortality from falls is generally not a frequently occurring event, falls are the 

most common cause of death from injury in adults aged 65+.  Hip fractures have 
also shown to be associated with a high mortality risk, of 9.4% at 30 days and 31.2% 

at 1 year and within the first year.  
 
Salford has the 3rd highest rate of falls in England and the highest rate in Greater 

Manchester. In 2019/20, 995 Salford residents were admitted to hospital having 
sustained injuries due to a fall which is equivalent to 2,703 admissions per 100,000 

residents aged 65+. Admission rates have fluctuated in recent years falling 
significantly between 2018-19 and 2019-20 but remain significantly higher than both 
the Greater Manchester and National level. Figures 1-5 highlight Salford’s hospital 

admission in comparison to other GM Authorities.  
 

In context the average cost of a non elective admission in Trauma & Orthopaedic 
specialty is £4,859. So for the Enhanced Postural Stability Service to break even 
effect it would need to avoid 37 admissions each year. 

 
Effect of the Pandemic 

 
It is well known that sedentary behaviour is a common risk factor for a decline in 
physical function, increased risk of frailty, associated falls and falls related injuries 

(Baldwin et al 2020; Bull et al: World Health Organisation Guidelines on Physical 
Activity and Sedentary Behaviour 2020). With this in mind, Public Health England 

(2021) evidenced that inactivity in the older population, considerably increased in the 
time of the pandemic. In this report (Wider impacts of COVID-19 on physical activity, 
deconditioning and falls in older adults, PHE 2021) it was highlighted that the 

average duration of strength and balance activity decreased from 126 to 77 minutes 
per week in March - May 2020 in comparison to the same period the previous year.  

 
Alongside the reduction in activity levels there have also been the effects of social 
isolation as a result of the pandemic, which have led to a higher risk of loneliness 

and depression (Arkkukangus, 2020). The combined effects of isolation and 
sedentary behaviour during this period, has had a considerable impact on older 

adult’s health and wellbeing, and alongside the impact on confidence in going out 
this consequently poses challenges to effectively identifying and engaging this 
population at a time where there is also increased need for intervention. 

 
Public Health England (2021) projected 110,000 more older people to have at least 

one fall per year as a result of reduced strength and balance activity during the 

Page 30



pandemic, and that for each year these reduced activity levels are observed, there is 
projected to be an additional cost to the health and social care system, as a result of 

the change in predicted related falls, of £211 million (incurred over a 2.5 year 
period). The strategy for addressing this must be multi- facetted and it is 

recommended that those at highest risk of falls should be offered FAME (Falls 
Management Exercise Programme) as a cost effective, evidence based programme 
to reduce falls. This programme (Postural Stability) provides a targeted strength and 

balance programme via a well established referral pathway, working closely with 
Intermediate Care. 

 
 
Admissions from Falls  
 
Figure 1: Hospital admissions due to falls in males 65-79 year olds across GM.  

 

 
 
 

 
Figure 2: Hospital admissions due to falls in females 65-79 year olds across GM 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Page 31



 
 

Figure 3: Hospital admissions due to falls in males 80+ year olds across GM 

 

 
 

 
 
Figure 4: Hospital admissions due to falls in females 80+ year olds across GM 

 

 
 
 

Figure 5: Emergency admissions injuries due to falls 65+ (2015 - 2021) 
 

 
 
Figure 5 highlights the emergency admissions due to falls. Since 2015, the numbers 

have fluctuated, but from August 2018, there is evidence of a downward trend.  The 

number of falls in 2018/19 significantly decreased compared to the previous year. With 
a 6.8% (-74) reduction compared to 2017/18 and a 7.1% (-77) reduction compared to 

2015/16.  Similarly the rate significantly decreased; compared to 2017-18 there were 

Page 32



219 fewer 65’s per 100,000 having a fall whilst compared to 2015-16 the number is 
297. However, the rate of admissions has spiked again at various times throughout 

the last two years and as previously outlined in this paper, evidence from modelling 
suggests that falls in older people will increase due to the effect of deconditioning 

during the pandemic which would subsequently lead to more emergency hospital 
admissions 
 
Mortality from Falls  

Mortality from accidental falls by age group are shown in the table below. Salford’s 

mortality rates are above the England and Greater Manchester for 65 – 74 year olds. 
However, mortality rates are below the GM average for those aged 75+: Figure 6 

shows the mortality rates for 2019. Caution should be exercised when comparing data 

for 65-74 year olds due the rounding of small numbers. 
 

 
Figure 6: The Mortality Rate from accidental falls, 2019 for 65-74 and 75+  

 
 

In addition to admissions and mortality, fractured neck of femur also provides insight 
into the number of falls, see Table 1 below.  

 
Table 1: Fractured Neck of Femur aged 65+ Directly Standardised Rate per 
100,000, 2010/11 to 2019/20 
 

Period 
                Salford North West 

region 
England  Count Value   

2010/11 
 

239 710   623 615 

2011/12 
 

222 655   633 612 

2012/13 
 

239 692   625 599 

2013/14 
 

282 821   631 614 

2014/15 
 

252 713   629 599 

2015/16 
 

241 678   618 589 

2016/17 
 

228 634   612 575 

2017/18 
 

258 714   617 578 

2018/19  255 706   591 559 

2019/20  205 553   610 572 

 

Page 33



Source: Hospital Episode Statistics (HES), via Fingertips 
 

Salford had a higher number of Fractured Neck of Femur compared to the England 
average for 7 of the last 10 years. The local rate fell in 2019/20 to a level similar to 

that seen nationally and is currently the lowest rate in Greater Manchester.  
 
2.2 Evidence Base  

 
The Falls Pathway for Salford is in line with evidenced based practice. Local 

professionals ask three key question which assess a person’s falls risk, if the answer 
to any is yes to any of the questions the person is referred to Triage.  At Triage people 
are referred to a high intensity option, with a home visit, a multi-factorial falls risk 

assessment and a high intensity intervention or to the low intensity intervention, 
postural stability and the maintenance programme or they are provided with 

information and advice if they have a very low falls risk.  
 
Multifactorial falls risk assessment and management have been shown to be a cost-

effective approach for identifying and managing high falls risk (GM’s High Risk Falls 
intervention and support 2018).   Strength and balance training programmes are widely 

considered to be the optimal approach to reducing falls risk and improving functional 
independence for people assessed as having a low to moderate risk of falling, based 
on a suitable assessment process. It is therefore suitable and recommended for 

people who are assessed as having low, moderate and high falls risk, but for people 
with a high risk of falling it should form part of a wider assessment and range of 

interventions.  
 
In addition to providing volunteers to support the Enhanced Postural Stability Service, 

the Community Assets programme has developed an awareness raising session for 
volunteers and a leaflet and poster for use with the public to enable them to reduce 

their own risk of falling. Sessions on malnutrition and hydration are also provided.  
 
Public Health England (2017) highlights Strength and Balance exercise programmes 

as the optimum approach for the majority of older people living in the community with 
a low to moderate risk of falls. These programmes have been shown to provide an 

effective method for both primary and secondary prevention of falls and non-vertebral 
fractures in older people.  
 

There is an extensive evidence base regarding falls including: 
 

 NICE 161: Falls: assessment and prevention of falls in older people 

 NICE quality standard 86 Falls in older people: assessment after a fall and 
preventing further Falls 

 College of Occupational Therapists (2015) Occupational therapy in the 
prevention and management of falls in adults, recommendation 15 

 Fractured Neck of Femur Guidelines 

 Low Back Pain Guidelines 

 Osteoarthritis Guidelines 

 Greater Manchester Falls and Fracture Prevention Resources - Quali ty 

Standard for Strength and Balance training programmes. See Appendix 1. 
 

Page 34



Salford’s Postural stability service has evolved over time learning from evaluation. It 
commenced in 2009 with three 12 week courses. The evaluation demonstrated 

positive effects whilst in the programme, but these were not maintained post the 
programme. To enhance this offer, a Step Up element was introduced as pilot 

programme which offered more challenging maintenance class. HAELO evaluated the 
Step Up programme and showed a reduction in hospital admissions in those who 
attended, which ceased after they stopped attending for a period of time. Due to the 

reduction in admissions, Step Up was rolled out across all neighbourhoods.  
 

In 2017, the Postural Stability offer was increased to 24 weeks in response to continual 
evaluation and evidence base. The evaluation showed that many people needed to 
repeat weeks 1-12 and others did not go on to attend Step Up. Evidence demonstrated 

that continuous adherence to exercise is associated with continued reduction in falls 
and associated hospital admissions. The current 24 week Postural Stability model 

coupled with the home exercise programme aligns with recommendations made by 
Sherrington et al (2011). In a meta-analysis it was highlighted that exercise 
programmes should comprise of a minimum of 50 hours delivered for two hours a 

week to be effective.  
 

3. Current service 
 

The Enhanced Postural Stability Service is an integral part of Salford’s Falls pathway, 
see Figure 7 below working alongside Acute, Community and Social Care services 

to ensure that patient receive timely and appropriate rehabilitation. This pathway aligns 

to the Enhanced Care Bundle and place based working.  
 
Figure 7: Salford’s Falls pathway 

 

Page 35



 
 
Enhanced Postural Stability Service 

 

The service provides a community based Falls Prevention initiative delivered by 

Exercise Professional qualified as Postural Stability Instructors (Level 4 Register of 
Exercise Professionals- REPS). Clients who have fallen or are at risk of falls are 
referred to the programme to support their rehabilitation in the community and to 

contribute to reduction in further admissions into long term residential care and acute 
care. This is the only service in Salford that provides Strength and Balance related 

exercise specifically to reduce falls. 
 

The service provides a 24 week group based Postural Stability Programme once a 

week for 1.5 hours to improve participant’s stability during standing, walking and other 
functional movement, strengthen the muscles around the hip, knee, and ankle and 

increase the flexibility of the trunk & lower limbs. This is followed by an optional 
ongoing maintenance class called “Step Up”, to improve clients’ balance, strength, 
stamina, functional capacity, and wellbeing. In addition the service seeks to address 

issues of social isolation by connecting individuals to other people and to assets within 
their community, using volunteers from the broader Community Assets programme.  

 
Classes are held across the City at venues including leisure centres and community 
centres. The maintenance programme, “Step Up” provides an on-going semi-

structured series of exercises that enable individuals to continually improve their 
balance, strength and confidence. The service assesses clients ‘optimal’ postural 
strength, confidence and social connectedness prior to discharge and provide a 

managed transition from the service to ensure the maintenance of the gains secured 

Page 36



through the service. Some service user’s move on to “Healthy Hips and Hearts 
sessions” and other community based exercise provision. 

 
Provider  

 

The current provider is Salford Community Leisure. 
 
Commissioner 
 

The service and it’s contract and performance management has been commissioned 
by Salford SCC since 2018, after originally being commissioned by the CCG as part 
of the Older Persons fund and managed through SCC integrated commissioning team.  

 
The service specification meets the GM Falls Quality Standards for Strength and 
Balance Training Programmes, see Appendix 1. The programme has Volunteers via 

the Community Assets programme) and they facilitate clients to be supported in their 
local community by connecting them to other people and local community assets. 

 
On the assumption that this service will continue after 31 March 2023, it has to be 

decided within the next twelve months whether the service will be integrated in to the 
main SCL contract between SCL and SCC or sit formally as part of the Community 
Assets Programme. 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

Table 1: Current Financial profile 1 April 2020 – 31st March 2023 
 

Fund  Expected Annual Contract Value 

Integrated fund  £ 181,600 

 

4. Pre Pandemic Activity & Performance 
 
The Enhanced Postural Stability Service was able to meet the current level of 
demand and was performing well before the Coronavirus pandemic, with an increase 

in higher need clients being referred in and overall greater numbers than 2018/19. 
What follows is some key service performance highlights taken from the EPS Annual 

Report 2019 – 20 (attached) 
 
The nature of running a 24 week course means that it does not fit neatly into 

financial years or quarters for reporting, therefore, two year averages are used to 
highlight performance. All accepted referrals had fallen or were at risk at falling, but 
have no medical conditions which contraindicate them taking part. Table 2 highlights 

the referrals relating to the two years prior to the pandemic 
 
Table 2: Current referrals for Postural Stability  

Page 37



Year Actual Postural Stability 

referrals 

2018/19 326 

2019/20 373 

 

1 April 2019 – 31 March 2020 
 

 7, 24 week Postural stability courses were started and completed. 

 9 Step Up maintenance classes were running throughout the year. 

 373 referrals  

 211 Actively engaged with service (57%) 

 82 awaiting next course 

 57% engagement 

 72% average retention rate week 1-12 (min. 68%, max. 77%) 

 66% average retention rate week 12-24 (min. 53%, max 76%) 
 

 182 clients completed 24 weeks of activity with another 98 still on active 
programmes 

 73% clients showed improvements in their functional mobility from week 1 to 
24 

 111 clients assigned to Step Up from April 2019- March 2020 of which 43% 

completed at least 12 sessions 
 

Assessment Outcomes 

The following tables detail the average annual assessment outcomes used within the 

service. Table 3 shows the scored improvement for each assessment at each point 

throughout the course. 

 

The following tables detail the average annual assessment outcomes. Table one 

shows the scored improvement for each assessment at each point throughout the 

course. 

 

Table 3: Assessment outcomes scored at different weeks. 

 

 

 W1-12 W12-24 W1-24 

30 second sit 

to stand 

2 additional 

stands 

1 additional 

stand 

2 additional 

stands 

180 degree 

turn 
1 less step 1 less step 1 less step 

Timed Up 

and Go 
4 seconds faster Maintained 4 seconds faster 

Page 38



4 Stage 

Balance 

1 stage 

improvement 
Maintained 

1 stage 

improvement 

 

There is a noticeable improvement from week 1 to 12 as is expected for the biggest 

physiological gain from any exercise programme. The increase from no activity to a 

little activity can have the biggest benefit on the physiological condition of the body.  

Improvements from week 12 to 24 slow a little but the original improvements are 

generally maintained. A maintenance at this stage is successful for this clientele 

group as stopping activity or dropping out would see a rapid decline in their 

physiological status. Although there was little data available for week 52 due to 

database restrictions, that which is available shows that 31% showed further 

improvement at week 52 and 52% improved/maintained. This may partly be 

attributed to some of the declines being very marginal, some clients not moving into 

Step Up, immediately demonstrating little improvement and also 86% of the clients 

assessed at week 52 originally completing 18 months+ ago, where some long 

standing clients who have been re-referred may begin showing some age related 

decline. Irregular attendances will also have a significant effect on this as the 

exercise becomes more regular, clients are challenged and the body starts to 

chronically adapt.  

 

There is evidence that the 180 degree turn is an indicator of dynamic postural 

stability and falls risk (Nevitt et al, 1998). The Four stage balance test measures 

static balance. Phelan et al (2015) stated that an inability to perform a tandem stand 

(stage 3) for 10 seconds predicts falls (client average week 1 was 2; week 12/24 was 

2.5 and 3 at week 24).  The dual task timed up and go is a test a functional mobility 

with the addition of a cognitive challenge and is a determinant of falls risk in older 

adults (Ability Lab, 2014). The 30 second chair stand assesses lower extremity 

strength and balance and research suggests that sit to stand is significantly related 

to falls where by an increase in the number of sit to stand repetitions is associated 

with lower falls risk (Applebaum et al, 2017 

 
 

Client reported outcomes 

 
The outcomes below demonstrate the more qualitative benefits of the service which 

clients report as having a substantial impact. 

 

The outcomes below demonstrate the more qualitative benefits of the service which 

clients report as having a substantial impact. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 39



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 40



 

Table 4 

 

 
8.  Baseline Performance Targets – Quality, Performance & Productivity  24 week PS 
 

Performance Indicator Indicator Threshold 
Measured Outcomes 

Client Satisfaction results will be 
reported twice yearly and exceptions 
reported to the commissioner.  

 

Reporting of audit results to 
commissioners  

Minimum 10% 
of patients 
surveyed per 
course 

 

100% 

NB: All clients complete questionnaire at week 

24. Further feedback detailed below 

User outcomes – for PS and 
maintenance 

Both streams 
 

Client reported confidence in 
managing health from baseline 
 
 

70-100% 
(green) 
50 – 69% 
(amber) 
<50% (red) 

 

73% 

(Highest 90% May-Oct, lowest 53% Jan-July) 

Enhanced ability in managing 
activities of daily living  
 

70-100% 
(green) 
50 – 69% 
(amber) 
<50% (red) 

 

58% 

(Highest 74% Set-April, lowest 44% Jan-July) 

Reduction in Fear of Falling 
Scale (1-5) 

70-100% 
(green) 
50 – 69% 
(amber) 
<50% (red) 

 

61% 

(Highest 70% Sept-April, lowest 41% Jan-July) 

P
age 41



Improvement in Independence 
Scale (1-5) 

70-100% 
(green) 
50 – 69% 
(amber) 
<50% (red) 

 

69% 

(Highest 76% May-Oct, lowest Jan-July 59%) 

Increase in self-
reported  health gain 

70-100% 
(green) 
50 – 69% 
(amber) 
<50% (red) 

 

44% 

(Highest 61% Jan-July, Lowest 39% Aug-Jan) 

Average score 58/100 >64/100 

Self-report increase in 
happiness as a result of the 
impact of the service 
 

70-100% 
(green) 
50 – 69% 
(amber) 
<50% (red) 

 

78% 

(Highest 86% May/Oct, Lowest 69% Jan-July) 

Physical activity level – PS and 
maintenance 

Both streams 

Increase in physical activity 
levels from baseline at end of 
cycle 

70-100% 
(green) 
50 – 69% 
(amber) 
<50% (red) 

 

74% 

(Highest 87% Sept- April, Lowest Aug-Jan 57%) 

 

 

100% of clients reported that they felt they had benefitted from attending the classes. The most commonly occurring benefits that 

were reported included moving better, improved walking, feeling more confident, improved balance/ feeling more stable, feeling 

more sociable, being able to stand from sitting more easily, feeling fitter and generally more relaxed in themselves

P
age 42



 
Step Up Reporting 

 

Step Up is designed to be a more advanced maintenance class as a progression of 

Postural Stability for clients to attend as long as they feel they need to. Clients on the 

24 week Postural Stability course are assessed at Week 1, 12 & 24. At this 

assessment the instructors can make the decision to move clients up to Step Up 

based on their scores. During this report period 180 clients completed 24 weeks of 

activity. 41% of those who completed Postural Stability were offered Step Up of 

which 87% took up the offer. The table below details the numbers for Step Up and at 

what point the clients were moved. Please note this data could not be pulled as a 

report from Refer All therefore manipulated the raw data available which had given 

slight discrepancies: 

 

    Table 5 

 

Transfer to Step Up Points 

Attended 

Step up 

Sessions 

Wk 1 Wk 12 Wk 24 Wk 36 

 

Wk 48 (+) 

 

 

Step Up 

Numbers 
29 12 58 12 6 102/117 

% 25% 10% 50% 10% 5% 87% 

  

 

 

The average weekly attendances for the nine Step Up classes are 131 which 

collates to an average of 15 in each class. As previously mentioned, Step Up 

assessments could not yet be done on a regular basis due to database tracking 

difficulties and staffing.  

 

 Within this reporting period 111 clients were assigned into Step Up classes 
compared to 87 in the previous financial year 

 

 Attendances show that 43% of clients assigned to Step Up within this financial 
year have attended at least 12 Step Up sessions. Please note, the new Step 

Up class which was set up in Quarter 4 has not yet completed a full 12 weeks 
yet and therefore cannot be included. 

 

 Currently there are 9 Step Up classes around Salford for clients to be 

assigned to 

 

 

Page 43



 
Participants 

 
The service continues to achieve 100% attendee satisfaction. When asked what 

persuades clients to keep coming some of the responses included; 
 
“It works” 

 
“I feel better than I did before.  I look forward to going to the class” 

 
 “Helping me to be independent, playing with great grandchildren” 
 

“Keeping fit is a priority to enjoying life and being able to do every day routines and  
jobs around the house” 

 
“To hopefully keep improving my steadiness and mobility” 
 

“I can see the improvement in myself” 
 

“Feel better after doing the exercises and making friends” 
 
“I enjoy it, and it helps with functional movements” 

 
“The encouragement of instructors, and improvement in mobility” 

 
“The encouragement it gives me” 
 

“Meeting people/ the company, and progress I have made motivates me” 
 

“Getting myself better all the time” 
 
“The company and the progress I have made” 

 
“The friendship and the love from each other and our teachers, patience and 

dedication for each one.” 
 
“The improvement in my walking” 

 
 “I thoroughly enjoy it and feel it helps us!” 

 
“I’m feeling stronger” 
 

“I feel better than I did before” 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 

Page 44



Case Studies 
 

Class: Postural Stability 
Venue: Rainbow Rooms 

 
EM is an 84 year old female. Prior to her referral from The Department of Ageing and 

Complex Medicine at Salford Royal NHS, she was referred to Dr Staniland’s clinic for 

recurrent falls.  

She was falling almost on a weekly basis, but no significant injury but fractured her 

wrist in July 2018. No clear cause of her recurrent falls has been identified. It was 

recommended that she would benefit from Postural Stability exercises. 

EM commenced the 24 week Postural Stability course at the Rainbow Rooms 

Community Centre in August 2019. On her week 1 initial assessments it took EM a 

total of 63 seconds to complete the Dual Task Timed Up and Go. By week 12 she 

managed to complete this in 20 seconds.  

EM can now manage 9 sit to stands in 30 seconds, 5 more compared to the 4 sit to 

stands she managed at week 1. 

EM has become an integral part of the group and enjoys attending the session each 

week alongside completing home exercises too.  

She reported her confidence has improved and can hold a half-tandem stance for 10 

seconds. 

She is looking forward to continuing with the Postural stability course at the Rainbow 

Rooms for the remaining 12 weeks. 

 

Class: Postural Stability 

Venue: Wardley Community Centre 

 

At 98, DW is one of the oldest members of the class at Wardley Community Centre 

however his character far from reflects this. DW was initially quite a quiet gentleman 

and it was clear that he still tried to rush despite his balance not allowing for this. At 

week one DW completed 9 sit to stands but used his hands to push up; by week 12 

he completed 8 with no hands. His four test balance went form a semi tandem 

stance to a full tandem stance and his balance awareness also seems to have 

improved. DW attends the class every week, he is always enthusiastic and attentive 

and is very sociable with the other group members. He reported to the instructor that 

someone from bowling had approached him the previous week to comment on how 

much better and more stable he looked. DW doesn’t use his stick as much as he 

previously did and also now insists on helping with the washing up at the end of the 

class while the other class members get to the minibus. 

Page 45



 

Class: Postural Stability 

Venue: Worsley Leisure Centre 

 

DK joined the postural stability course on ‘Week 1’ at Worsley Leisure Centre. (10 

January, 2019) She had been diagnosed with osteoarthritis and had lost a lot of 

confidence due to four falls in one day.  The ‘four falls’ occurred in January, 2018, at 

which time she had been admitted to Salford Royal Hospital for further tests.  

Nothing ‘untoward’ was found.  

 

In September, 2018, she went to see her GP stating that she was worried, and felt 

that her health was declining.  In spite of living with her husband, she felt that she 

was losing her confidence, and had developed a fear of falling.  Her independence 

was seriously affected.  Her GP referred her to the Falls Team who assessed her at 

home.  They in turn, referred her to Postural Stability. 

 

From Day One, and the Week 1 Assessments, it was obvious that DK was very 

committed to improving her fitness levels.  On the second week she asked if there 

were exercises she could do at home. DK became committed to exercising at home 

as well as attending class regularly. 

 

At the Week 12 Assessments, it was evident that DK’s commitment had been very 

worthwhile. 

 

Her ‘180 degree turn’ score improved from 4 to 3. 

 

Her ‘Timed Up and Go’ score decreased from 22 to 15 seconds. 

Her ‘Sit to Stand’ score increased from 6 to 13. 

Her ‘4 Step Balance’ score increased from 2 to 3. 

These results were fantastic – DK (along with the rest of the class) were delighted. 

 

When the instructor spoke to DK about how she actually felt she said that her 

confidence had improved, and she had been able to hang out the washing, this for 

her was wonderful and proof that she was regaining her independence.  She is now 

able to walk on her own, with her stick.  DK loves the class, loves the people who 

attend, and feels that they have all bonded. She looks forward to Thursdays. 

Excellent news! 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 

Page 46



Class: Postural Stability 
Venue: Ordsall Library 

 
Health profile: total knee replacement, arthroscopic debridement left knee, C3/4 

laminectomy, BP – controlled, OA, sciatica, hysterectomy. Had a fall in last 12mths, 

loss of balance and fear of falling. 

JS participating in PS class from 13 November 2020. Initial assessment scores 

(4step balance improved from 3 to 4; 180 turn from 5 to 4steps, DT Tug 16 to 9sec, 

Sit2Stand 9 to 12 reps) all has improved in comparing to 12 weeks; significant 

improvement in Dual Task Timed Up and Go – reduced time by 7sec, increased 

confidence and ‘can do’ approach.  JS continues to attend classes with no doubts 

she would be capable to join SU very soon. 

JS enjoys the group exercises she feels keen and showing help and support to other 

members; she feels healthier and more independent. JS, as she saying, always tried 

to keep active, worked on farm, never smoked.  Recent DECA scan reviled her real 

age of 70 (actual age 90)! 

Coronavirus Update: spoken to JS over the phone during pandemic, she had fall at 

home, carrying tea in one hand and supper in other, hit the table, slit head, managed 

to get up on her own (reminded silent demos of backward chain – looked for 

something stable to hold on to); called her daughter next morning, not lost 

confidence! Stayed with her daughter 2 weeks to recover and now back home, 

getting back to exercises, misses the company of other class members 

 

5. The Service Pandemic Response 
 

As can be seen by cross referencing the EPS Annual Report 2019 - 20 with the 2017 
service specification (both attached), the service was performing well and providing 

value for money prior to the pandemic in relation to numbers entering the 
programme, those completing the programme and the measured service outcomes 
related to increased functional capacity to reduced falls risk and client 

confidence/satisfaction. 

However, what followed was an unprecedented period of disruption from March 

2020. Due to this, in line with a number of other Public Health commissioned 
services, a decision was made to prioritise operational delivery over formal 
performance reporting and therefore there is no KPI led, service specification 

informed performance reporting for the Enhanced Postural Stability Service for the 
duration of 2020.  

Although formal provider reports did cease over this period, the Public Health Team 
kept in touch with the team as part of governance to ensure that the service 
remained responsive and adapted to the scenario that both they and their clients 

found themselves in. The commissioned service delivery model could not operate in 
its current form, but there were still members of the Salford public who were, due to 

the COVID restrictions, in more need than ever of support to be physically active, not 

Page 47



just to manage their risk of falling or improve their outcomes in the event of a fall, but 
as the targeted cohort for this service would be more likely to be those asked to 

shield compared to the general population, to reduce or prevent social isolation and 
poor mental health. As can be seen in the attached ‘EPS Summary Report Apr 20 - 

Nov 21’ the service did everything it possibly could to keep supporting their clients. 
Some of the key content of this report is included below with further detail in the 
attached report. 

 
Contingency plans, as a result of COVID-19, were put into place immediately when 

the first lockdown was announced. Many of the clients within this service are 
vulnerable older adults. The classes form an integral part of their wellbeing and it 
was imperative that service was not halted.  

 

The service quickly adapted to ensure ongoing provision in whatever way possible. 

In addition to ongoing communication via post, telephone and online participation, 

when the first lockdown was lifted, in October 2020, four trial sessions, with all 

precautions in place, were set up. These classes were delivered at Salford Sports 

Village in six week blocks whereby six Step Up clients, who were deemed as not 

requiring human assistance, were invited to participate, after which a new cohort of 

six would be invited. Those clients who required transport were provided with their 

own taxi due to the vulnerable nature of clientele, this was agreed with the 

commissioner prior. Unfortunately, due to reintroduced restrictions these classes 

were halted prior to Christmas 2020. In June 2021, six, 6 week Step Up classes 

were reintroduced in 3 venues which saw an average of eight clients attending per 

class. Throughout this period ongoing communication was upheld between all clients 

throughout the project in addition to regular newsletters and zoom classes. 

 

In October 2021, full service delivery was resumed. This consisted of six Postural 

Stability classes and four Step Up classes delivered across the city in the traditional 

format of 24 weeks Postural Stability with an ongoing Step Up Maintenance 

programme. 

 

It was agreed that due to the ongoing infection rates, and the nature of clientele, 

social distancing guidelines should be upheld and therefore a maximum of four 

people per minibus, and all clients requested to wear a mask until seated for 

exercise. With this in mind, the usual four assessments have currently been reduced 

to one. 30 second sit to stand has been agreed as the most effective assessment in 

giving an overview of initial strength, balance and stamina whilst maintaining safe 

social distancing. Research suggests that sit to stand is significantly related to falls 

where by an increase in the number of sit to stand repetitions is associated with 

lower falls risk (Applebaum et al, 2017) 

 

 
 
 

 

Page 48



Headlines during Covid (April 2020 – November 2021) 
 

 Regular phone calls to check in on all existing clients including discussions 

around exercise, wellbeing, any help required or general concerns 

 Bi-weekly newsletters sent to all existing clients (348), with updates, useful 

information and tips, home exercises and puzzles (example embedded within 

this report) 

 Newsletter to clients on waiting list 

 All new referrals contacted to confirm receipt of their referral and update on 

situation 

 A series of exercise videos recorded and shared with clients/ partners 

uploaded onto the website (https://salfordcommunityleisure.co.uk/be-
active/active-lifestyles/exercise/postural/) and onto youtube (eg. 
https://youtu.be/fSwAE9aG4Ys) 

 3 weekly zoom classes for exercise/ catch up with clients online 

 Guest speakers for zoom workshops for Tech and Tea and Inspiring 

Communities Together (example presentations are embedded in the report 

below) 

 Email and telephone communication as normal 

 Regular updates with Intermediate Care 

 Intermittent class delivery between lock downs with trial sessions delivered 

October- December 2020 and from June 2021 

 Classes fully resumed from 17 October 2021 

 

 
Overview Figures (of those referred from 1 April 2020- 31 March 2021) 
 

 83 referrals into the service between 1 April 2020 – 31 March 2021 (373 last 

year) 
 

 An additional 93 referrals received April 2021- to date 
 

 100 clients actively engaged in the service with 160 new referrals to be invited 

in the new year (211 client actively engaged at time of reporting 19/20, plus 
82 awaiting next course) 

 

 179 letters sent out to clients participating pre covid asking for clients to make 

contact if interested in recommencing programme 
 

 
Current service provision 

 

Face to face classes have been running since October 2021. Table 6 gives an 

overview of this activity 

 

 

Page 49

https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fsalfordcommunityleisure.co.uk%2Fbe-active%2Factive-lifestyles%2Fexercise%2Fpostural%2F&data=04%7C01%7CLucy.Reynolds%40scll.co.uk%7Cffe6ec5cd4e84b9d53dd08d9aabb047e%7C68c00060d80e40a5b83f3b8a5bc570b5%7C0%7C0%7C637728542469647777%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000&sdata=lGPO4jQvTf3JtB52PysbIxc2ru0e4e%2BorCi9orCAqoc%3D&reserved=0
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fsalfordcommunityleisure.co.uk%2Fbe-active%2Factive-lifestyles%2Fexercise%2Fpostural%2F&data=04%7C01%7CLucy.Reynolds%40scll.co.uk%7Cffe6ec5cd4e84b9d53dd08d9aabb047e%7C68c00060d80e40a5b83f3b8a5bc570b5%7C0%7C0%7C637728542469647777%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000&sdata=lGPO4jQvTf3JtB52PysbIxc2ru0e4e%2BorCi9orCAqoc%3D&reserved=0
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fyoutu.be%2FfSwAE9aG4Ys&data=04%7C01%7CLucy.Reynolds%40scll.co.uk%7Cffe6ec5cd4e84b9d53dd08d9aabb047e%7C68c00060d80e40a5b83f3b8a5bc570b5%7C0%7C0%7C637728542469667694%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000&sdata=oP62SxHbg1jWI4rI7zbypijrqMlVwkswEPFxJxTcm1s%3D&reserved=0


Table 6 

 

Day Venue Class Time 
Average 

attendances 

Monday 
Beesley Green CC Step Up 10:45 -12:15 8 

Worsley Leisure Centre Post Stab 1:30 - 3:00pm 12 

Tuesday 
Rainbow Rooms CC 

 
Step Up 1:00-2:30pm 10 

Wednesday 

Langworthy 
Cornerstone 

Post Stab 10:30-12 7 

Salford Sports Village Step Up 1:15 - 2:45pm 8 

Thursday 

Worsley LC Post Stab 12:00 - 1:30pm 
11 

Salford Sports Village Post Stab 1:30 - 3:00pm 5 

Friday 

Rainbow Rooms CC Post Stab 10:15 - 11:45am 
5 

Wardley Community 

Centre 
Post Stab 10:30-12:00 10 

Rainbow Rooms CC Step Up 1:00 - 2:30pm 9 

 

 

For these classes, there were 192 on the waiting list. Due to the unusually long 

waiting time, clients were contacted by telephone call to provide a more personal 

service and form a level of trust. It was agreed that depending upon the venue there 

would be a maximum of 12-15 for each class so that social distancing measured 

could be upheld. Despite it being evident that some clients did not yet feel 

comfortable coming back to the class these spaces were filled (starting with those 

earliest referred) with all remaining clients interested in taking part placed on the 

waiting list for the next course. 

 

Previous to the pandemic, the project has seen considerable growth and success 

and there had been many developments including building on education sessions to 

include medication reviews, malnutrition and hydration and social activities; systems 

continue to be improved and additional learning has taken place through attendance 

at various online CPD sessions and conferences. 

 

During the pandemic the team have continued to provide ongoing communication 

with clients including regular newsletters and informative presentations to keep 

clients motivated to stay active during such a challenging, uncertain time - examples 

of these communications are embedded in the report below:- 

 

How to Stay Strong 

in Pandemic.pptx

Importance of 

Exercises in Pandemic.pptx
 

Page 50



These efforts were gratefully received, demonstrated by the client letter below as 

one example:- 

Letter from Veronica McHugh 05Jul20.pdf
 

 

The next 24 week programme is scheduled to commence in February 2022 and 

update letters have been sent to clients on the waiting list informing them that they 

should expect an invite in the new year. Responses from clients will reflect where 

these classes will be delivered but they are anticipated to take place in Worsley, 

Eccles, Swinton and Ordsall. 

 

Letters have also been sent out to clients participating pre covid which have 

requested contact by mid-December so new referrals may be requested for those 

wanting to restart. This means that by December 2021, all clients throughout the 

service will either be engaged within the service or have been contacted with this 

offer and have a contact number if they wish to do so in the future. 

 

Initially, there was a marked difference in both client confidence and mobility in those 

who have returned since the pandemic, however the improvement, not only in ability 

and functional movement but also in persona has been beautiful to see and clients 

have reported how grateful they are to return to classes. 

 

 

 

Case Studies 

 

Class: Online Zoom 

Mr JJ, Age 74  

 
Reason for referral: Falls. Conditions stated at referral that apply to this patient: 
Musculoskeletal (pain/injury), Parkinson's Disease (stable) 

 
Mr JJ takes part in Zoom class, which he finds most beneficial. The class has been 

delivered throughout the pandemic, on a weekly basis. Not least is the fact that they 
instil much needed routine, Mr JJ also admitted, “I must confess that it would be 
unlikely that I would follow a programme of exercises ‘unsupervised”. I wouldn’t be 

lazing about – I’d probably be gardening or out for a walk and some of the specific 
benefits of the exercise regime would be neglected.’ 

 
The individual elements of class make up an all-round picture of what he should be 
concentrating on. It involves chair based program with variety strengthening exercises 

with resistance bands/weights, mobility (using towel), flexibility.  “When we first started 
the classes, my legs would ache for several days afterwards but now I feel only a little 

discomfort. The twisting exercises help in various situations and make driving safer. 
The marching and stepping have helped my hips and mobility.” 

Page 51



 
Expressing his appreciation for the class Mr JJ shared that he has also noticed social 

and welfare benefits saying, “the instructor’s stewardship of our group has made it 
seem like a team of friends who show interest in each other’s wellbeing.” 

 
 
Class: Step Up Rainbow Rooms 

Mrs BH, Age 70 
 

BH lives on her own and has done since her husband passed away a few years ago. 
BH was referred by the community rehab team after having 3 falls within a 12- month 
period with her referral form clearly indicating a fear of falling also. 

 
BH began face to face postural stability classes pre the Covid-19 pandemic and at 

week 12 of the postural stability classes BH could manage 5 sit to stands within 30 
seconds. She was also able to manage level 2 on the four-test balance having only 
been able to manage level 1 on her first initial assessment. 

BH completed 16 weeks before face to face classes were put on hold due to the 
pandemic. 

 
During the lockdowns regular contact was maintained through phone calls and 
newsletters. BH reported she still felt part of the group during this time, and it 

encouraged her to keep up with her home exercises. 
 

When face to face classes were able to return BH was initially quite apprehensive 
about returning to the group as she hadn’t left her home much throughout. 
After reassurance from the instructor and the support of the group she settled back 

in and over the weeks, she reported an increase in confidence. 
 

Since joining the class BH has now made several new friends. She uses public 
transport and regularly goes out for lunch with another member of the class she 
became friends with. BH is able to walk her dog daily and has really enjoyed being 

back in face-to-face classes. 
 

After completing the postural stability classes, BH was recently invited to attend the 
step-up maintenance class. She can now manage 10 sit-to-stands within 30 seconds 
confidently and without holding on for support. She can complete various dynamic 

balance exercises such as the heel to toe walk and heel walks, something she 
previously thought she would be unable to achieve. 

 
BH is now looking forward to continuing with the step-up maintenance class each 
week and her next goal is to complete all stages of the backward chaining exercise 

confidently. 
 

 
6. Social Value 
 
In Salford, the city aims to apply  social value across the city and the city have 
developed a Charter for Social Value, which sets out to provide a single, shared 

approach and policy 

Page 52



 
https://www.salford.gov.uk/your-counci l/social-value-in-salford/     

 
We are committed to the following principles: 

 
1. optimising the social, environmental and economic well-being of Salford and its 
people in everything that we do 

 
2. thinking long-term – turning investment into long-lasting outcomes 

 
3. working together across sectors to provide social value outcomes 
 

4. having values including inclusion, openness, honesty, social responsibility and 
caring for others 

 
5. having a clear and current understanding of how social value can make Salford a 
better place to live 

 
6. Working together to measure, evaluate and understand social value, as well as 

reporting publicly to the people of Salford about the social value that we create 
What is social value? 

Social value asks the question: "If £1 is spent on the delivery of services, can that 

same £1 be used 

to also produce a wider benefit to the community?”. This involves looking beyond the 

price of each individual contract and looking at the collective benefit to a community. 

The Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012 describes social value as “Improvement 
to the economic, social and environmental well-being of an area”. The Act also 

stipulates that social value should be “relevant” and “proportionate” to the subject 
matter. This means that procurement cannot require something wholly unconnected 

with the provision of the contract itself. 

Priorities for social value in Salford are likely to include measures which: 

• Increase community strength and resilience 

• Improve the positive impact that the local environment has on people’s wellbeing  

• Increase opportunities for employment and reduce poverty of Salford citizens 

 

SCL signs up to these standards, including payment of the Living Wage and 
adoption of the best possible working practices.   

As well as the way the Enhanced Postural Stability Service responded to the 
pandemic to continue to support our local residents to still benefit from being 

physically active to increase community strength and resilience at such a challenging 
time and actively help prevent falls for residents at increased risk of deconditioning 
due to lockdowns, it is also worth noting that as an organisation, SCL furloughed a 

large percentage of their staff due to leisure centres being shut down due to COVID 
restrictions and many of their services having to cease or being reduced. The 

Page 53

https://www.salford.gov.uk/your-council/social-value-in-salford/


majority of these furloughed staff volunteered as part of the humanitarian effort to 
deliver food and medicines to those shielding.  

SCL also run a number of projects and programmes aimed at reducing inequalities, 
for example ‘Active Communities’ and others which provide volunteering options 

such as the Salford Youth Alliance which identifies young leaders to deliver sessions 
in their communities. Many of these volunteers go on to formal employment with SCL 
or elsewhere. 

Both the Enhanced Postural Stability Service and SCL generally integrate/interact 
very well with the wider Salford system to advise over the scope of the future Salford 

physical activity offer for both Children, Young People/families and the adult/elderly 
population. In the case of this service, the integration with the VCSE/charity sector, 
social care and primary care are excellent. The attached ‘AL Social Impact Report - 

Executive Summary’ give further detail with regards to the social value provided by 
the Active Lifestyles Services as a whole. 

Both parts of these contracts are monitored formally on a quarterly basis with the 
submission of written reports (examples of which are attached with this paper) which 
are scrutinised by representatives from both Public Health and the CCG. With 

prearranged contract meetings occurring on a quarterly basis and more regularly if 
deemed necessary as attended by representatives form Salford Community Leisure, 

Public Health and the CCG respectively 

 

 

KEY COUNCIL POLICIES:  

 Salford Locality Plan 2020 – 25  

- Aging Well Outcomes:- 

 I am an older person who is looking after my health and 
delaying the need for care.  

 If I need it, I will be able to access high quality care and 
support. 

       ‘People in Salford will live independent and fulfilled lives into Active Older Age’.  

 A major component of achieving this outcome is falls prevention. The Locality Plan 
names the Enhanced Postural Stability/Step up programme as key to this.  

 ‘Transforming Salford into an Active City’, the framework for reducing the 

high levels of physical inactivity that exist within the population. This aligns with 

the GM Plan for physical activity ‘Greater Manchester Moving’ aiming for 75% 
of people being more active by 2025 

This framework has a focus on reducing the activity gap in our communities including 
older people to reduce inequalities and improve healthy life expectancy. This service 
contributes keeping older people active and therefore healthier longer. 

 

Page 54



 

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT AND IMPLICATIONS: 

N/A 
 

 

ASSESSMENT OF RISK:   

Salford has the third highest rate for falls admissions in the UK. If the Enhanced 

Postural Stability Service ends on the 31 March 2022, then it is likely that the number 
of Falls admissions and Fracture Neck of Femurs will increase. Post discharge from 

these admissions would result in some people being unable to live at home 
independently. As detailed already in this paper, Postural Stability is known to be 
highly effective in preventing falls in older adults at risk of falling. As per evidence from 

PHE, physical activity in older people generally, but specifically strength and balance 
activities almost halved during the first months of the pandemic compared to the 

previous year and it is predicted that this will lead to more older people falling – This 
service is more crucial than ever to reduce the risk of/prevent falls in older people. This 
will not only reduce the devastating impact on individuals and families of falls, but help 

ensure that less pressure is put on health and social care services and reduce costs 
to a system which is already stretched more than ever. 

 

SOURCE OF FUNDING: 

The Budget that will meet the cost of the scheme 

Integrated fund 

 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS: Submitted by: The Shared Legal Service 

When commissioning contracts for the procurement of goods, services or the 
execution of works, the Council must comply with the Public Contracts Regulations 

2015 (PCR) and its own Contractual Standing Orders (CSO’s), failing which a contract 
may be subject to legal challenge from an aggrieved provider. CSO’s apply to every 

contract, including temporary ones, for the procurement of supplies, services and the 
execution of works undertaken by or on behalf of the Council, subject to certain 
exceptions listed in the Orders.  

 
It is an established principle that an existing public contract is capable of being 

extended where the original agreement makes provision for the extension, and CSO’s 
allow for contract extensions to be made where the original contract makes provision 
for such an extension of the original term.  

 
When the original contract was awarded it was made clear that the term would be 

subject to a 12 month extension if deemed appropriate, hence any risk that any 
extension granted could be subject to realistic challenge by an aggrieved provider, on 

Page 55



the basis that it ought to have been put out again to tender and advertised in 
accordance with public contract regulations and CSO’s, is low, and the option to 

extend within the agreement is now being properly exercised 

 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: Submitted by: Michelle Cowley, Finance Manager, 
x2520 

The budget for this scheme is within the Integrated Fund. 

 
The ‘plus one’ has already been agreed in principle by Adult Commissioning 

Committee and the CCG are happy that the governance and commissioning 
responsibility sits with the council. 
 

Following sign off by Procurement Board the report will be taken to Adult 
Commissioning Committee for information. 

 

PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS: Submitted by: The Corporate Procurement Team 

Christine Flisk ext 6245 

The enhance postural stability service business case was approved by the adults 
commissioning committee in January 2020 and approved by a record of decision 

Lead Member for Adult Services, Health & Wellbeing.  The initial contract period was 
from 1st March 2020 to 28 February 2022 with a further 12 month extension.  The 
request to approve the extension is in line with the council’s CSO.

 

HR IMPLICATIONS:  Supplied by: 

N/A 
 

 

CLIMATE CHANGE IMPLICATIONS:  Supplied by: 

N/A 

OTHER DIRECTORATES CONSULTED:  

N/A 

 

CONTACT OFFICER: Peter Locke 

TELEPHONE NUMBER: 07976 267 926

 

Page 56



WARD(S) TO WHICH REPORT RELATE(S):  

All wards

 
 

Appendix 1: Greater Manchester Falls and Fracture Prevention Resources - 
Quality Standard for Strength and Balance training programmes.  

 

This document has been developed in collaboration with colleagues, practitioners 
and clinicians working across health and social care systems in Greater Manchester 

during 2018. It is part of a collection that brings together written resources, guidance, 
information and standards designed to improve awareness of best practice in falls 
and fracture prevention and management, and enable Greater Manchester’s health 

and social care systems, patients, service users and carers to work together to 
improve practices and provision that will help to reduce the rate of falls, in particular 

falls which are severe enough to result in a hospital admission (with or without a 
fracture).  
 

Part of the agreed resources is a set of quality standards aimed at supporting 
effective, evidence and insight-led practice at some of the most influential points of 

care or self-care, in settings, services and population groups. Focusing effort on 
systematic identification and high-quality intervention in these areas is likely to 
significantly reduce the incidence of falls and/or the risk of serious injury.  

 
Colleagues are recommended to work towards implementing the quality standards 

in their locality or setting, to help to ensure that residents and patients across Greater 
Manchester receive the same standards of care and support, which also increases 
the likelihood of more falls and fractures being prevented.  

 
Strength and balance training programmes are widely considered to be the optimal 

approach to reducing falls risk and improving functional independence for people 
assessed as having a low to moderate risk of falling, based on a suitable assessment 
process (see the quality standard for identifying falls risk in primary care).  

 
A low to moderate risk of falling can generally be assumed if older adults report or are 

observed to be experiencing problems with walking or movement, balance or 
steadiness, muscle strength or some typical activities of daily living such as heavy 
housework. Someone with a low to moderate risk of falling may not have experienced 

a fall, but they may report, or be observed to experience problems with or reduced 
confidence with walking or movement, balance or steadiness, or muscle strength.  

 
However, strength and balance training is also considered one of the more effective 
elements of a multi-factorial (multi-component) falls intervention. Multi-factorial falls 

assessment and intervention is recommended for people who are assessed as having 
a high risk of falling e.g. people who report recurrent falls in the past, or who have 

presented for medical attention associated with a fall, or who have clearly observable 
balance or gait problems.  
 

Strength and balance training is therefore suitable and recommended for people who 
are assessed as having low, moderate and high falls risk, but for people with a high 

Page 57



risk of falling it should form part of a wider assessment and range of interventions. 
NICE suggests that the individuals most likely to benefit from strength and balance 

training are older community-dwelling people with a history of recurrent falls and/or 
balance and gait deficit. Effective strength and balance training programmes have the 

following characteristics, which should be commissioned and delivered as standard:   
 
1. The instructors delivering a strength and balance programme should be trained to 

Postural Stability Specialist Instruction (PSI) Level 4 or Otago Level 3 and have an 
accredited qualification, with a view to receiving ongoing training and/or continuing 

professional development (CPD)  
 
2. The strength and balance programmes delivered in practice should be tailored to 

the needs of the participating individuals or groups but should be consistently based 
on the 7 evidence- based activity components of the Falls Management Exercise 

(FaME) programme below, or in the case of the Otago home exercise programme the 
4 components indicated by a *  
 

These are:  
 

i i. Dynamic endurance training *  

ii ii. Dynamic balance training *  

iii iii. Resistance/strength training *  

iv iv. Skills to rise from the floor  

v v. Floor coping strategies and targeted strength  

vi  vi. Flexibility *  

vii vii. Adapted Tai Chi  
 

3. Whether for individuals or groups, programmes should involve highly challenging 
balance training and progressive strength training, which is tailored to the needs of the 
individual or group.  

 
4. Group strength and balance programmes should comprise a minimum of 50 hours 

or more, delivered at least once, but ideally twice weekly for between 45 – 75 minutes. 
The programme should last for at least 6 months. 12 participants is viewed as the 
optimal group size.  

 
5. While there is evidence that outdoor walking has numerous health benefits for older 

adults, it should not be included in strength and balance programmes for participants 
assessed as or considered to be at high risk of falling, as this may result in further falls.  
 

6. At the end of the programme, older adults should be assessed and provided with a 
written personalised plan, tailored to their individual needs and which is designed to 

encourage and support the maintenance of the gains in strength and balance they 
have made whilst on the programme.  
 

This could include follow-on classes and home-based exercises but must focus on 
strength and balance and supporting progression. 

 
 

Page 58



Appendix 2 Enhanced Postural Stability service  

 
Strategic alignment 
 

SCC and CGG strategic aims are to keep people as well and independent as possible. 
This aim is at the core of the Enhanced Postural Stability service. The service aligns  
with the recommendations in the Greater Manchester Falls and Fracture prevention 

Resources Quality Standard for Strength and Balance training programmes.  
 

National falls related strategies and Quality Standards include: 
 

 NICE 161: Falls: assessment and prevention of falls in older people 

 NICE quality standard 86 Falls in older people: assessment after a fall and 
preventing further Falls 

 College of Occupational Therapists (2015) Occupational therapy in the 
prevention and management of falls in adults, recommendation 15 

 Fractured Neck of Femur Guidelines 

 Osteoarthritis Guidelines 
 
Key Partners 
 

Key partners are:  
 

Falls Clinic – SRFT outpatients, Falls Prevention Service – SRFT community, 
Intermediate Care Services (Triage), Primary Care (GP), Community Mental Health, 
District Nursing,Health and Wellbeing services, Third Sector, Housing and 

Involvement in wider falls system developments 
 

Inclusion Criteria  
 

The service is available to adults, 18 years and over, who are Salford residents or 

registered with a Salford GP. Access to the service is via Triage (Intermediate Care 
Team), or directly from GP’s, other sources of access may be looked at if adequate 

numbers are not referred. The service will check the medical status of the individual 
to ensure the individual can safely undertake the course or postural exercise. This 
check will be requested from the individual’s GP or at Triage and made against the 
agreed exclusion criteria.  
 

Exclusion criteria 
 

The service is not able to provide for people whose primary need is for acute medical 

care or acute specialist mental health care.  The service is unable to meet long term, 
continuing health or social care needs. The service is not available to people who live 

outside Salford who are not registered with a Salford GP or people under the age of 
18.Referrals will be rejected under the following contraindications for exercise: 

 Unstable angina/ angina at rest 

 Blood Pressure higher than 180mmHg systolic/100mmHg diastolic 

 Blood pressure drop more than 20mmHg demonstrated during ETT (if 

applicable) 

 Resting tachycardia more than 100bpm 

Page 59



 Uncontrolled atrial or ventricular arrhythmias 

 Unstable or acute heart failure 

 Unstable diabetes 

 Febrile illness 

 Clinically Unstable 
 

Outcomes  

 

Direct Outcomes 
 

 Prevention of falls 

 Increased stability 

 Increased strength 

 Increased functionality 

 Increase physical activity levels 

 Increase in social connectedness 

 Increase self-reported wellbeing 

 
Indirect Outcomes 

 

 Prevention of avoidable admissions to residential care 

 Reduce reliance on home care 

 Facilitation of timely discharge 

 Reduction in A&E attendances  

 Reduction in residential care admissions  

 Maintain people in their own place of residence with ongoing minimal care 

package and reduced dependency on significant packages of care at the end 
of intermediate care input. 

 Optimise independence through rehabilitation and recuperation.  

 Reduce risk of hospital admissions 

 Reduction in fractures 

 Ambulance calls and conveyances 

 Enable individuals to manage their long term conditions 
 
Team and Service  

 

Salford Community Leisure Falls team provide the Enhanced Postural Stability service 

and are based at the Helly Hanson Watersports Centre, however the Enhanced 
Postural Stability Service is delivered across the City in venues including: 
 

 Beesley Green Community centre – Worsley/Boothstown 

 Worsley Leisure Centre – Walkden 

 Rainbow Rooms Community Centre –Eccles 

 Guild Hall Community Centre – Walkden 

 St Lukes Church – Langworthy 

 Holy Angels Church – Claremont 

 Valley community Centre – Swinton 

 Salford Sports Village – East Salford 

Page 60



 Wardley Community Centre – Swinton 
 

Technology and/or Equipment  
 

For data recording Refer All is used. It was specifically designed to support strength 
and balance courses.  
 

Scope 
 

In addition to SCL staff running the sessions, volunteers attend as part of the 
Community Assets Programme to link people in to other activities in their local area 
and support their broader health and wellbeing needs. This service is currently being 

reviewed alongside a social prescribing offer for the city. The Volunteer Development 
Workers are shared across the two programmes. Efforts would be made align this 

programme with the outcome of the reviews.  
  
Stakeholders 

 
The Intermediate Care Service (Triage) refer patients in to SCL’s service. The main 

referrer into triage and therefore Postural Stability and Step Up is Primary Care. 
Some people do self refer but must obtain GP consent prior to attendance to ensure 
there are no medical contraindications.  

The Community Mental Health, District Nursing, Social Care and other Health and 
Wellbeing services including the VCSE Sector also refer people into triage to be 

referred to the Enhanced Postural Stability Service.  

  

Page 61



This page is intentionally left blank



 
  
 

                                                           
 
   
 

SERVICE AND FINANCE GROUP  

AGENDA ITEM NO 
 

Item for Decision     
 
8th January 2020 
 

Report of: 
 

Deputy Director of Public Health  

Date of Paper: 
 

8th January 2020 

Subject: 
 

Enhanced Postural Stability Service 
Business Case 

In case of query  
Please contact: 
 

Helen Dugdale – 0161 793 3543 

Strategic Priorities:  Please tick w hich strategic priorities the paper relates to: 
 

 Quality, Safety, Innovation and Research 

  Integrated Community Care Services (Adult Services) 
 

 Children’s and Maternity Services 

 Primary Care 

 Enabling Transformation 

Purpose of Paper: 
 
To present a business case for the continuation of the Enhanced Postural Stability Service. 
The service is part of the Salford Falls pathway and is based on a strong evidence base.  
 

RECOMMENDATIONS: The recommendations for Adult Commissioning Committee is to: 
  

1. Agree the Enhanced Postural Stability Service continues for two years at 
the current funding level. 

2. Agree to maintain the existing provider for the Enhance Postural Stability 
Service on grounds of continuity of pathway. 

 
Note. Service and Finance recommended in November 2019: agree the business case; 
agree to maintain the existing provider, Salford Community Leisure (SCL); recommend to 
Adult Commissioning Committee (ACC). A few queries were raised and these have been 
answered in the updated document.  
 
Assurance has been provided regarding Best Value and future tendering options including 
broader SSC commission’s with SCL, which may include the CCG commissions as part of 
the wider tender options moving forward.   
 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 63



 
  
 

                                                           
 
   
 

 
Further explanatory information required 

 
 
HOW WILL THIS BENEFIT THE 
HEALTH AND WELL BEING OF 
SALFORD RESIDENTS OR THE 
CLINICAL COMMISSIONING 
GROUP? 

 

 
Salford have 6th the highest rate for Falls 
admissions for the UK. Postural Stability is 
known to be highly effective in preventing falls in 
older adults at risk of falling.  
 
 

 
WHAT RISKS MAY ARISE AS A 
RESULT OF THIS PAPER?  HOW 
CAN THEY BE MITIGATED? 
  

 
If the Enhanced Postural Stability Service ends 
on the 31st March 2020, then it is likely that the 
number of Falls admissions and Fracture Neck 
of Femurs will increase. Post discharge from 
these admissions would result in some people 
being unable to live at home independently 
therefore increasing community health care 
costs and social care costs.  
 

 
WHAT EQUALITY-RELATED RISKS 
MAY ARISE AS A RESULT OF THIS 
PAPER?  HOW WILL THESE BE 
MITIGATED? 
 

 
N/A 
 
 

 
DOES THIS PAPER HELP ADDRESS 
ANY EXISTING HIGH OR EXTREME 
RISKS FACING THE 
ORGANISATION?  IF SO WHAT ARE 
THEY AND HOW DOES THIS PAPER 
REDUCE THEM? 

 

 
N/A 

 
PLEASE DESCRIBE ANY POSSIBLE 
CONFLICTS OF INTEREST 
ASSOCIATED WITH THIS PAPER. 
 

 
None 
 

 
PLEASE IDENTIFY ANY CURRENT 
SERVICES OR ROLES THAT MAY BE 
AFFECTED BY ISSUES WITHIN THIS 
PAPER: 
 

 
Currently the Enhanced Postural Stability is 
funded through the Community Assets Bundle. 
The other parts of the bundle fund two voluntary 
organisations CVS and Inspiring Communities 
Together. A business case is being developed 
for the other parts of the Community Assets 
which will be brought to SFG.   
 

Footnote: 
 
Members of NHS Salford Clinical Commissioning Group – Adult Commissioning Committee will read all papers 
thoroughly.  Once papers are distributed no amendments are possible. 

Page 64



 
   

 
 

          
       

Document Development 

Process Yes No 
Not 

Applicable 

Comments and Date 
(i.e. presentation, verbal, actual report) 

Outcome 

Public Engagement 

(Please detail the method  i.e. survey, event, 
consultation) 

  X  

All 4 week courses are evaluated.  Courses evaluate very 
positively with participant 
articulating improved 
benefits to physical as well 
mental wellbeing and 
health  

Clinical Engagement 
(Please detail the method  i.e. survey, event, 
consultation) 

    

Relevant clinicians are members 
of the Falls Steering group who 
developed the Falls PIDD and 
valued the important role of the 
Postural Stability service and its 
place in the pathway.   

There has been no 
indication this view has 
changed. 

Has ‘due regard’ been given to Equality 
Analysis (EA) of any adverse impacts? 
(Please detail outcomes, including risks and how these 
will be managed)  

 
  N/A 

  

Legal Advice Sought    N/A   

Presented to any informal groups or 
committees (including partnership groups) for 
engagement or other formal governance 
groups for comments / approval?  

(Please specify in comments) 

    

For Governance/comments: 

AAB provided recommendation on 
25/06/19 

Adult DMG SCC 16/8/19 

Lead Member Board 20/11/19 

Service and Finance 05/11/19 

 

 

P
age 65



 
   

 
 

          
       

Note: Please ensure that it is clear in the comments and date column how and when particular stakeholders were involved in this work and ensure there is clarity 
in the outcome column showing what the key message or decision was from that group and whether amendments were requested about a particular part of the 
work.

P
age 66



 

  

  
  
  
  

  
  
   

 

 
 
         
 
 

Enhanced Postural Stability Business Case  
 

 
Name 

 
 

Version Control Log 
 

DATE SECTIONS NAME COMMENT 

01/08/2019 2, 3 4, 5,   Helen Dugdale Written 

15/08/2019 All Gillian McLauchlan Written and Amended 
27/08/2019 All Helen Dugdale Amended 

30/08/2019 All Phillip Kemp From a contract 
perspective 

06/08/2019 All Helen Dugdale and  
Gillian McLauchlan 

Amended 

16/09/2019 All Comments from SCC 
DMG  

Amended  

21/09/2019 All Comments from Karen 
Proctor CCG 

Amended  

05/11/2019 
 

All Service and Finance 
meeting 

Recommendations 
included in this report 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
  

Page 67



 

  

  
  
  
  

  
  
   

Section 1 Executive Summary                                                   
 

Purpose 
 
Salford has the 6th highest rate of falls in England and the highest rate in Greater Manchester. 
This equates to 3,182 admissions per 100,000 residents aged 65+. Falls are a common and 
serious health issue for older people, with around a third of all people aged 65 and over falling 
each year, increasing to half of those aged 80 and over. This leads to falls related emergency 
admissions and fragility fractures which are costly for health and care services. 
 
This Enhanced Postural Stability business case aims to consolidate an existing service which 
commenced as part of the Integrated Care Programme for Older people. The current service 
provides a 24 week Postural Stability course and an ongoing maintenance programme (known 
to service users as ‘Step up’) post the 24 weeks, some people go straight into maintenance. 
This service will be in line with International and national standards and guidance which 
recommend Strength and Balance exercise programmes as the optimum approach for the 
majority of older people living in the community with a low to moderate risk of falls. These 
programmes have been shown to provide an effective method for both primary and secondary 
prevention of falls and non-vertebral fractures in older people. The funding currently comprises 
of:  

 £21,600 which is recurrently funded  

 £160,000 which is ear marked as non-recurrent, though the availability of funding is 
recurrent. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Section 2 Strategic Context                ………                       … 
 
2.1 Health and Service Need  

Falls are a frequent and serious occurrence in the older population. Falls in older people 
frequently result in fractures, contribute significantly to reducing older people’s capacity to live 
independently and are a demonstrable cause of early mortality. Whilst falls can result from a 
variety of different proximate causes, many are predictable and preventable. Risk factors for 
falls include dementia and confusion, reduced muscle strength, poor balance and stability, 
failing eyesight and the presence of trip hazards at home. 
 
Falls and fragility fractures, and the fear of either of these eventualities, can have a huge 
impact on quality of life at any age, but the natural processes of ageing make the likelihood of 
a fall or fracture more likely after the age of 65.  In 2016, PHE estimated that ‘around 30% of 
people aged over 65 and 50% aged over 80 experience a fall each year. Fractures and 
hospitalisation occur in around 5% of community dwelling adults with a history of falls.’ 1 
 

                                                                 
1 PHE 2016, Loca l  health and care planning: menu of preventative interventions 

Page 68



 

  

  
  
  
  

  
  
   

The impact of a fall cannot be underestimated and whilst many falls may never need medical 
treatment, and may not therefore be reported by the individual, the psychological effects can 
be significant, with people choosing to restrict their daily activities and social life because they 
don’t feel confident with their balance and may become risk averse especially with regard to 
physical activity.  This can lead to ongoing deterioration in motivation and loss of strength and 
balance which are vital to personal autonomy, functional independence and quality of life.  
 
Whilst mortality from falls is generally not a frequently occurring event, falls are the most 
common cause of death from injury in adults aged 65+.  Hip fractures have also shown to be 
associated with a high mortality risk, of 9.4% at 30 days and 31.2% at 1 year and within the 
first year.2 
 
Salford has the 6th highest rate of falls in England and the highest rate in Greater Manchester. 
In 2017/19, 1,154 Salford residents were admitted to hospital having sustained injuries due to 
a fall which is equivalent to 3,182 admissions per 100,000 residents aged 65+. Admission 
rates have fluctuated falling significantly between 2014-15 and 2016-17 but have risen again 
to 2014 levels. Figures 2-5 highlight Salford’s hospital admission in comparison to other GM 
Authorities.  
 
In context the average cost of a Non elective admission in Trauma & Orthopaedic specialty 
is £4,859. So for the Enhanced Postural Stability Service to break even effect it would need 
to avoid 37 admissions 37 each year. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Admissions from Falls  
 
Figure 1: Hospital admissions due to falls in males 65-79 year olds across GM.  

 

 
 
Figure 2: Hospital admissions due to falls in females 65-79 year olds across GM 

                                                                 
2 PHE 2018, An ROI Tool : Assessment of Falls Prevention Programmes for Older People Living in the Community 

Page 69



 

  

  
  
  
  

  
  
   

 

 
 
Figure 3: Hospital admissions due to falls in males 80+ year olds across GM 

 
 
 
 
Figure 4: Hospital admissions due to falls in females 80+ year olds across GM 
 

 
 
Figure 5: Emergency admissions injuries due to falls 65+ (2016-19) 

 

Page 70



 

  

  
  
  
  

  
  
   

 
 
Figure 5 highlights the emergency admissions due to falls. Since 2016, the numbers have 

fluctuated, but from August 2018, there is evidence of a downward trend.  The number of falls 
in 2018/19 has significantly decreased compared to the previous year.  This has been 6.8% 
(-74) reduction compared to 2017/18 and a 7.1% (-77) reduction compared to 2015/16.  
Similarly the rate has significantly decreased; compared to 2017-18 there were 219 fewer 65’s 
per 100,000 having a fall whilst compared to 2015-16 the number is 297.    
 
Mortality from Falls  

Mortality from accidental falls by age group, 3-year pooled are shown in the tables 1-3 below. 
Salford’s female mortality rates above the England and Greater Manchester which follows the 
same trends on admissions. Whilst male mortality is below the Greater Manchester average: 
Figure 6 shows the mortality rates.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Figure 6: The Mortality Rate from accidental falls 2015-2017 for 65-74 and 75+  

 

 

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

180

65-74 75+M
o

rt
a

li
ty

 r
a

te
 p

e
r 

1
0
0
,0

0
0

Age Group

Mortality Rate from Accidental Falls 2015 to 2017 for 
All Persons aged 65-74 and 75+

Source:ONS
England Greater Manchester Salford

Page 71



 

  

  
  
  
  

  
  
   

 
In addition to admissions and mortality, fractured neck of femur also provides insight into the 
number of falls, see Table 1 below.  

 
Table 1: Fractured Neck of Femur 2018/19 Directly Standardised Rate per 100,000 

 

Period 
Salford North West 

region 
England  Count Value   

2010/11 
 

239 710   623 615 

2011/12 
 

222 655   633 612 

2012/13 
 

239 692   625 599 

2013/14 
 

282 821   631 614 

2014/15 
 

252 713   629 599 

2015/16 
 

241 678   618 589 

2016/17 
 

228 634   612 575 

2017/18 
 

258 714   617 578 

         2018/19                                       256         704 

 

Source: Hospital Episode Statistics (HES),  
 
Salford has a higher number of Fractured Neck of Femur compared to other areas in the 
North West and the England average.  
 
Evidence Base  

The Falls Pathway for Salford is in line with evidenced based practice. Local professionals ask 
3 key question which assess the persons falls risk, if the answer to any is yes to any of the 
questions the person is referred to Triage.  At Triage people are referred to a high intensity 
option, with a home visit, a Multi-factorial Falls risk assessment and a high intensity 
intervention or to the low intensity intervention, postural stability and the maintenance 
programme or they are provided with information and advice if they have a very low falls risk.  
 

Multifactorial falls risk assessment and management have been shown to be a cost-

effective approach for identifying and managing high falls risk (GM’s High Risk Falls 
intervention and support 2018).   Strength and balance training programmes are widely 
considered to be the optimal approach to reducing falls risk and improving functional 
independence for people assessed as having a low to moderate risk of falling, based on a 
suitable assessment process.  They is therefore suitable and recommended for people who 
are assessed as having low, moderate and high falls risk, but for people with a high risk of 
falling it should form part of a wider assessment and range of interventions.  
 
In addition to providing volunteers to support the Enhanced Postural Stability Service, the 
Community Assets programme has developed an awareness raising session for volunteers 
and a leaflet and poster for use with the public to enable them to reduce their own risk of 
falling. Sessions on malnutrition and hydration are also provided.  
 
Public Health England (2017) highlights Strength and Balance exercise programmes as the 
optimum approach for the majority of older people living in the community with a low to 
moderate risk of falls. These programmes have been shown to provide an effective method 
for both primary and secondary prevention of falls and non-vertebral fractures in older people.  
 

Page 72



 

  

  
  
  
  

  
  
   

There is an extensive evidence base regarding falls including: 

 NICE 161: Falls: assessment and prevention of falls in older people 

 NICE quality standard 86 Falls in older people: assessment after a fall and preventing 
further Falls 

 College of Occupational Therapists (2015) Occupational therapy in the prevention and 
management of falls in adults, recommendation 15 

 Fractured Neck of Femur Guidelines 

 Low Back Pain Guidelines 

 Osteoarthritis Guidelines 

 Greater Manchester Falls and Fracture Prevention Resources - Quality Standard for 
Strength and Balance training programmes. See Appendix 1. 

 
 

Section 3 – Current service            
 
Salford’s Postural stability service has evolved over time learning from evaluation. It 
commenced in 2009 with three 12 week courses. The evaluation demonstrated positive effects 
whilst in the programme, but these were not maintained post the programme. To enhance this 
offer, a Step Up element was introduced as pilot programme which offered more challenging 
maintenance class. HAELO evaluated the Step Up programme and showed a reduction in 
hospital admissions in those who attended, which ceased after they stopped attending for a 
period of time. Due to the reduction in admissions, Step Up was rolled out across all 
neighbourhoods.  
 
In 2017, the Postural Stability offer was increased to 24 weeks in response to continual 
evaluation and evidence base. The evaluation showed that many people needed to repeat 
weeks 1-12 and others did not go on to attend Step Up. Evidence demonstrated that 
continuous adherence to exercise is associated with continued reduction in falls and 
associated hospital admissions. The current 24 week Postural Stability model coupled with 
the home exercise programme aligns with recommendations made by Sherrington et al 
(2011). In a meta-analysis it was highlighted that exercise programmes should comprise of a 
minimum of 50 hours delivered for two hours a week to be effective.  
 
Current service 
The Enhanced Postural Stability Service is an integral part of Salford’s Falls pathway, see 
Figure 7 below working alongside Acute, Community and Social Care services to ensure that 

patient receive timely and appropriate rehabilitation. This pathway aligns to the Enhanced 
Care Bundle and place based working.  
 
Figure 7: Salford’s Falls pathway 

 

Page 73



 

  

  
  
  
  

  
  
   

 
 
 
 
 
 
Enhanced Postural Stability Service 

The service provides a community based Falls Prevention initiative delivered by Exercise 
Professional qualified as Postural Stability Instructors (Level 4 Register of Exercise 
Professionals- REPS). Clients who have fallen or are at risk of falls are referred to the 
programme to support their rehabilitation in the community and to contribute to reduction in 
further admissions into long term residential care and acute care. This is the only service in 
Salford that provides Strength and Balance related exercise specifically to reduce falls. 

 
The service provides a 24 week group based Postural Stability Programme once a week for 
1.5 hours to improve participant’s stability during standing, walking and other functional 
movement, strengthen the muscles around the hip, knee, and ankle and increase the flexibility 

Page 74



 

  

  
  
  
  

  
  
   

of the trunk & lower limbs. This is followed by an optional ongoing maintenance class called 
“Step Up”, to improve clients’ balance, strength, stamina, functional capacity, and wellbeing. 
In addition the service seeks to address issues of social isolation by connecting individuals to 
other people and to assets within their community, using volunteers from the broader 
Community Assets programme.  
 
Currently the Enhanced Postural Stability service have 15 classes running. The classes are 
held across the City at venues including leisure centres and community centres. The 
maintenance programme, “Step Up” provides an on-going semi-structured series of exercises 
that enable individuals to continually improve their balance, strength and confidence. The 
service assesses clients ‘optimal’ postural strength, confidence and social connectedness 
prior to discharge and provide a managed transition from the service to ensure the 
maintenance of the gains secured through the service. Some service user’s move on to 
“Healthy Hips and Hearts sessions” and other community based exercise provision. 
 
Provider  

The current provider is Salford Community Leisure. 
 
Commissioner 
The service is commissioned by Salford SCC. This service was originally commissioned by 
the CCG as part of the Older Persons fund and managed through SCC integrated 
commissioning team. As the service expanded with additional monies from the Community 
Assets Programme led by Salford City Council and the Greater Manchester Transformation 
Fund. In 2018, the performance monitoring was transferred from integrated commissioning to 
Public Health.  
 
In 2018, the service specification was revised and was added as an additional schedule in the 
Salford City Council contract with Salford Community Leisure. This specification meets the 
GM Falls Quality Standards for Strength and Balance Training Programmes, see Appendix 
1. The current service is part of the Community Assets Programme. The programme has 

Volunteers recruited by the Volunteer Wellbeing Champions (funded by Community Assets 
programme) and they facilitate clients to be supported in their local community by connecting 
them to other people and local community assets. This element is reliant upon community 
assets/integrated fund (non-recurrent funding). 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Table 2: Current Financial profile 1st April 2019 – 31st March 2020 
 

Fund  Expected Annual Contract Value 

Integrated fund  
£21,600 recurrent investment 
 

Part of the Community Assets 
bundle – integrated fund  

 
£160,000  non recurrent through availability of 
funding recurrent   
 

Total investment £ 181,600 

Page 75



 

  

  
  
  
  

  
  
   

 
Performance 

The Enhanced Postural Stability Service is able to meet the current level of demand and is 
performing well. Over the last financial year with an increase in higher need clients being 
referred in, uptake and completions were slightly down on previous years. 
 
The nature of running a 24 week course means that it does not fit neatly into financial years 
or quarters for reporting, therefore, 2 year averages are used to highlight performance. All 
accepted referrals had fallen or were at risk at falling, but have no medical conditions which 
contraindicate them taking part. Table 3 highlights the current referrals.  

 
Table 3: Current referrals for Postural Stability  

Year Actual Postural Stability referrals 

2017/18 330 

2018/19 326 

 
1st April 2018- March 31st 2019 
 

 10, 24 week Postural stability courses were started and completed. 

 8 Step Up maintenance classes were running throughout the year. 

 326 referrals  
 168 Actively engaged with service (52%).  

 134 were waiting for the next course. 

 71% engagement. 

 72% average retention rate week 1-12. 68% average retention rate week 12-24. 

 196 clients completed 24 weeks of activity with another 111 still on active 
programmes.  

 Completions 61% 2018-2019 this is below 2017/18 71.6% due to issues in the triage 
pathway.  

 Change to Clients fitness baseline, 2018-2019 show lower baseline fitness.  

 81% clients showed improvements in their functional mobility from week 1 to 24. 

 87 clients assigned to Step Up from April 2018 - March 2019 of which 41% 
completed at least 12 sessions. 

 100% client satisfaction. 

 74% stated they had a Reduction in fear of falling. 
Assessment Outcomes 

The following tables detail the average annual assessment outcomes used within the 

service. Table 3 shows the scored improvement for each assessment at each point 

throughout the course. 

 

Table 4: Assessment outcomes scored at different weeks. 

 

 Week 1-12 Week  12-24 Week1-24 

Page 76



 

  

  
  
  
  

  
  
   

180 degree 

turn 
1 less step Maintained 1 less step 

TuG DT 6 seconds faster Maintained 6 seconds faster 

30 second 

chair stand 

2 additional 

stands 

1 additional 

stand 

3 additional 

stands 

4 Stage 

Balance 

Half stage 

improvement 
Same 

1 stage 

improvement 

 

 There is a noticeable improvement from week 1 to 12 as is expected for the biggest 

physiological gain from any exercise programme. The increase from no activity to a 

little activity can have the biggest benefit on the physiological condition of the body. 

 

 Improvements from week 12 to 24 slow a little but the original improvements are 

generally maintained. A maintenance at this stage is successful for this clientele group 

as stopping activity or dropping out would see a rapid decline in their physiological 

status. The available data shows that 39% of participants have a further improvement 

at week 52 and 83% improved/maintained as the exercise becomes more regular, 

clients are challenged and the body starts to chronically adapt.  

 

 There is evidence that the 180 degree turn is an indicator of dynamic postural stability 

and falls risk (Nevitt et al, 1998). The Four stage balance test measures static balance. 

Phelan et al (2015) stated that an inability to perform a tandem stand (stage 3) for 10 

seconds predicts falls (client average week 1 was 2; week 12/24 was 2.5 and 3 at week 

24).  The dual task timed up and go is a test a functional mobility with the addition of a 

cognitive challenge and is a determinant of falls risk in older adults (Ability Lab, 2014). 

The 30 second chair stand assesses lower extremity strength and balance and 

research suggests that sit to stand is significantly related to falls where by an increase 

in the number of sit to stand repetitions is associated with lower falls risk (Applebaum 

et al, 2017). 

 
Client reported outcomes 

The outcomes below demonstrate the more qualitative benefits of the service which clients 

report as having a substantial impact. 

 

 

 

Table 5: Qualitative performance targets. 

 
8.  Baseline Performance Targets – Quality, Performance & Productivity  24 week PS 
 

Performance Indicator Indicator Threshold 

Measured 

Outcomes 

Page 77



 

  

  
  
  
  

  
  
   

Client Satisfaction 
results will be reported 
twice yearly and 
exceptions reported to 
the commissioner. 

 

Reporting of audit results 
to commissioners 

Minimum 10% of 
patients surveyed per 
course 

 

100% 

NB: All clients 

complete 

questionnaire at 

week 24. 

User outcomes – for PS 
and maintenance 
Both streams 
 

Client reported confidence 
in managing health from 
baseline 
 
 

70-100% (green) 
50 – 69% (amber) 
<50% (red) 

 

75% 

Enhanced ability in 
managing activities of 
daily living 
 

70-100% (green) 
50 – 69% (amber) 
<50% (red) 

 

72% 

Reduction in Fear of 
Falling Scale (1-5) 

70-100% (green) 
50 – 69% (amber) 
<50% (red) 

 

74% 

Improvement in 
Independence Scale (1-5) 

70-100% (green) 
50 – 69% (amber) 
<50% (red) 

 

81% 

Increase in self-
reported  health gain 
(Lower fitness baseline 
2018-2019) 

70-100% (green) 
50 – 69% (amber) 
<50% (red) 

 

55% 

Average score 

59 >68 

Self-report increase in 
happiness as a result of 
the impact of the service 

70-100% (green) 
50 – 69% (amber) 
<50% (red) 

 

90% 

Physical activity level – 
PS and maintenance 
Both streams 

Increase in physical 
activity levels from 
baseline at end of cycle 

70-100% (green) 
50 – 69% (amber) 
<50% (red) 

 

80% 

 
100% of clients reported that they felt they had benefitted from attending the classes. The 

most commonly occurring benefits that were reported included feeling more mobile, improved 

walking, feeling more  confident, improved balance, having a more positive outlook, standing 

with less support, and feeling better able to get around. 74% of participants reported on having 

a reduced fear of falling.  

 

Page 78



 

  

  
  
  
  

  
  
   

Step Up Reporting 

Step Up is a more advanced maintenance class as a progression from Postural Stability for 

clients to attend as long as they feel they need to. Clients on the 24 week Postural Stability 

course are assessed at Week 1, 12 & 24. At this assessment the instructors can move 

clients up to Step Up based on their scores. During this report period 196 clients completed 

24 weeks of activity. 48% of those who completed Postural Stability were offered Step Up of 

which 71% took up the offer. The table below details the numbers for Step Up and at what 

point the clients were moved.  

 

Table 6: Step up numbers 

 
Offered 

Step Up 

Transfer to Step Up Points 
Attended Step 

up Sessions 

Week 

1 

Week 

12 

Week 

24 
Week 

36 

 

Week 

48 

 

 

Step Up % 

  
48% 30% 20% 36% 10% 5% 71% 

 

The average weekly attendances for the eight Step Up classes are 104 which collates to an 

average of 13 in each class.  

 

 Within this reporting period 87 clients were assigned into Step Up classes. This 
includes some people being referred directly to Step Up. 

 Attendances show that 41% of clients assigned to Step Up within this financial year 
have attended at least 12 Step Up sessions 

 Currently there are 8 Step Up classes around Salford for clients to be assigned to 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Figure 8: Postural stability referrals by Age and Gender. 

 

Page 79



 

  

  
  
  
  

  
  
   

 
 
As the service is part of the Community Assets programme, it links into the Volunteer wellbeing 
champions who facilitate people to be supported in their local community by connecting them 
to local community assets (this element is reliant on community assets/integrated fund, which 
is non-recurrent funding). In addition to providing volunteers to support every Postural Stability 
and Step Up class the Community Assets programme developed the 6 steps to preventing 
falls leaflet and a short awareness session which was provided to volunteers in Salford to 
support residents with reducing their own falls risk. This awareness work is continuing until 
March 2020. 
 
Participants 

The service continues to achieve 100% attendee satisfaction. When asked what persuades 
clients to keep coming some of the responses included; 
 
 “Satisfaction of achieving my goals”; “My balance has improved immensely”; “To strengthen 
muscles in order to aid osteoarthritis”; “Enjoy the exercise and making new friends”.  
 
Other comments included; 
 
 “Loved every minute of being with the group”; “I couldn’t walk before- just shows what you 
can do!” 
 
 The class is the highlight of my husband’s week”. 
 
 “I carry my stick in and out of the class now it’s marvellous. It's very nice, nice people. Done 
my legs a lot better. Really enjoyed it” 
 
 

Page 80



 

  

  
  
  
  

  
  
   

Section 3 Option Development           
 

Purpose 
Three options were considered against the benefits criteria of cash releasing, non-cash 
releasing and wider impact on communities.  
 
Option 1 – Cease and terminate Service  

Option 1 would cease the Enhanced Postural Stability Service on the 31st March 2020 and 
use the monies elsewhere in the health and care system.  
 
Risks 

1. There will be no Falls Prevention Strength and Balance provision offered in Salford. This 
would produce a gap in the integrated current Falls pathway for people with low and 
moderate risk of falls.  

2. The Intermediate Care team (Triage) would not have referral route for people low and 
moderate risk of fallers, therefore the assumption would be that these people would 
remain with the team therefore increasing waiting times or be referred to primary care.  

3. Having no service for low and medium risk fallers, evidence suggests would people 
become higher risk in a shorten time therefore adding pressure to the intermediate care 
team in secondary care.   

4. Salford has the 6th worse outcomes for falls in England therefore having no service would 
likely to increase these outcomes and therefore health and social care costs.  

5. In addition to creating an unmet need, individuals after falling often fear falling and 
restrict their physical movement, reducing their willingness to leave the house to 
socialise and carry out daily tasks. Resulting in loneliness and social isolation, a further 
increased risk of falling, as well as a loss of fitness and slower recovery from future falls. 
Some will not remain living independently. 

6. Over time presentations to A&E and Falls admissions and associated costs post 
discharge would increase into residential care and care packages at home. 
 

Benefit  

No benefits other than immediate cash releasing – evidence highlights this will be in the 
short term as over time presentations to A&E and Falls admissions and associated costs 
post discharge would increase. It would also be likely to increase the number of people 
going into residential care and receiving care packages at home. 
   
Option 2 – Retain and recurrently fund a 24 week course at current levels (pre GM 
transformation funding levels) in line with AAB recommendations.   

 
Option 2 would be delivering a 24 week course under the present provider arrangements. 
Funding will be at 2017 levels, for two years until March 2022 plus a possible extension for 
one until March 2023, as recommended by SCC procurement. SCL will be able to take direct 
referrals from GP’s. 
 
Risk: No immediate cash releasing savings. However as mentioned earlier in context the 
average cost of a non-elective admission in Trauma & Orthopaedic specialty is £4,859. So 
for the Enhanced Postural Stability Service to break even effect it would need to avoid 37 
admissions each year. 
 
Benefits:   

Page 81



 

  

  
  
  
  

  
  
   

1. This service is in line with the recommendations in the Greater Manchester Falls and 
Fracture prevention Resources Quality Standard for Strength and Balance training 
programmes.  
 

2. This Service complies with national falls related strategies and Quality Standards 
include: 

 NICE 161: Falls: assessment and prevention of falls in older people 

 NICE quality standard 86 Falls in older people: assessment after a fall and 
preventing further Falls 

 College of Occupational Therapists (2015) Occupational therapy in the 
prevention and management of falls in adults, recommendation 15 

 Fractured Neck of Femur Guidelines 

 Osteoarthritis Guidelines 
 

3. Evidence suggest potential non cash releasing due to:  

 Reduction in Residential Care Admissions (weeks) 

 Reduction  NEL admissions 

 Reduction in  A&E attendances 
 Reduction in Outpatient Attendances 

 Reduction in Fractures 

 Reduction in Ambulance calls & Ambulance conveyances 

 Improved QOL (Falls Attendance) 

 Improved QOL (Falls Admission) 

 Improved QOL (Falls fracture) 

 Improved well-being of individuals 
 

4. This service is already part of the existing integrated falls pathway, therefore, no new 
systems need to be developed which will have set up and ramp up costs. Also 
looking at comparative services on cost effectiveness the service is costed within 
accurate financial envelope. Salford City Council has indicated that they understand 
that services being delivered are subsidised through the wider partnership 
agreement/programme the Council has with SCL and that robust delivery 
mechanisms are in place, It is further understood that if the programme were to be 
commissioned outside of the current Partnership Agreement then it’s possible that 
the contract costs could potentially increase. 
  

5. Deemed not to require additional funds as per transformation monies as increased 
numbers where not seen in the service. The business case was calculated on the basis 
of the current capacity of 360 referrals per year, assuming that the demand for the 
service will remain the same as for the previous two years. Plus 8 Step Up classes 
running across the City throughout the year. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 82



 

  

  
  
  
  

  
  
   

6. The service evaluation has highlighted the following impact at a personal and 
community level:  
 

Individual and Community self report wellbeing  
 

% of participants 

Enhanced ability in managing activities of daily living 
 

 
72% 

Reduction in Fear of Falling Scale (1-5) 
 

74% 
 

Improvement in Independence Scale (1-5) 
 

81% 
 

Increase in self-reported  health gain  
 

55% 

Self-report increase in happiness as a result of the impact 
of the service 

 
90% 

 

 
7. Utilise current provider  

 
Option 3 – Use existing specification and retender  
 
Risks 

1. Instability of current pathway  
2. Pathway has undergone several changes therefore would distribute again – leading 

to outcomes not released  
3. A new pathway has been tested as a test of change model from Transformation 

funding for the falls pathway. There is a waiting list at Triage. So far since SCL 
stopped taking referrals from GP’s directly and only from triage the expected 
increase in referrals has not occurred.  

 
Benefits 

Option 2 would have the same benefits as Option 3. 
 
 

Section 4 Recommended Option             ………………………                                                         
 
Option 2 to recurrently fund the service at current level in line with AAB recommendation. 
Recurrently funded for two years until March 2022 plus a possible extension for one until 
March 2023, as recommended by SCC procurement.  
 
The £21,600 is recurrently funded, this business case is to agree the re-currency of the 
£160,000 currently non recurrent, although the availability of the funding is re-current. Retain 
the current provider for continuity. Additional details on the service are outlined in Appendix 
2.  
 

Page 83



 

  

  
  
  
  

  
  
   

Section 5 Financial option appraisal     
 

Costs for Enhanced Postural Stability Service 

 

* Step up contributions, Service Users pay a contribution towards attending the Step Up classes, this pays 
towards transport costs  to and from the venues. 100% of the contribution is used to cover Transport 
arrangements. NB. The legal aspect of this contract sits with Salford City Council so charging is possible. 

 
Implementation  

Existing arrangements regarding contract management will continue within SCL who manage 
the team with performance management returning to the integrated commissioning team.    
 
Leadership 

This business case is supported by the following: 
Gillian McLauchlan, SCC Public Health Deputy DPH. 
Karen Proctor, CCG Director of commissioning.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Item Description Total 

Staffing Total Pay   £77,440.57 

Total non-staff costs  

Includes equipment, training, 
venue hire, Refer all License fees, 
staff travel, travel to classes  

   £114,290 

 

Overheads 5 % total costs £9586.53 

Income to deduct Step up 
Contributions * 

(£19,717.10) 

Total Cost per Annum  £181,600 

Page 84



 

  

  
  
  
  

  
  
   

Legal Implications 

 
Contact officer and telephone number: Tony Hatton, Principal Solicitor, tel: 0161 219 6323. 
 
When commissioning contracts for the provision of goods, services or the execution of works, 
the Council must comply with the provisions of the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 (PCR), 
which require that contracting authorities treat any candidates equally and in a non-
discriminatory way and act in a transparent manner. In addition, the Council is required to 
comply with the requirements of its own Contractual Standing Orders (CSO’s) as set out in its 
Constitution, failing which the award of a contract may be subject to legal challenge. 
 
It is an established principle that an existing public contract is capable of being extended (or 
modified providing any modification does not affect the overall nature of the contract), and 
CSO’s also allow for contract extensions to be made, where the parties agree and where the 
original contract makes provision for such an extension of the original term. Approval was 
given in 2018 for the Council’s contract with SCL to be extended and varied until 2025. 
 
When the contract was originally put out to tender by way of a fully compliant OJEU process, 
and subsequently awarded to SCL, it was made clear in the documentation that the original 
16 year term would be subject to a potential extension of up to five years, hence any risk that 
the proposed extension would be subject to realistic challenge by an aggrieved provider, on 
the basis that it ought to have been put out to tender and advertised in accordance with public 
contract regulations and CSO’s, was extremely low, and the option to extend within the 
contract was being properly exercised. 
 
The possibility of extending, modifying and making variations to existing contracts has been 
codified into the Public Contracts Regulations 2015, such that changes which are deemed to 
be “not substantial” may be modified without a new procurement procedure where additional 
works, services or supplies by the original provider have become necessary and were not 
included in the initial procurement, where a change of provider: 
▪ cannot be made for economic/technical reasons; and 
▪ a change of provider would cause significant inconvenience or substantial duplication of 
costs for the Council 
…provided that any price increase is not higher than 50% of the original value. 
  
In accordance with Option 2 in the report, the extension of the Agreement with SCL with proven 
ability to meet the requirements of the service and service users would be argued to be more 
cost effective and efficient under the circumstances, in addition to the provision of continuity 
of support to the relevant population groups and members of the community. 
 
The Council is also under a best value duty to carry out its functions economically, efficiently 
and effectively with the objective to achieve value for money in all public procurement, and is 
satisfied that the extension with SCL will continue to demonstrate that value, as well as the 
health and wellbeing outcomes referred to in the report. 
 
Date provided: 19th December 2019. 
 
Financial Implications  
 
Contact officer and telephone number: Michelle Cowley, Interim Finance Manager, tel: 0161 
793 2520. 

Page 85



 

  

  
  
  
  

  
  
   

 
The proposal is to extend the current Enhanced Postural Stability Service for two years at 
the current funding level and to maintain the existing provider on grounds of continuity of 
pathway. 
 
The Enhanced Postural Stability Service is currently funded through the Community Assets 
Bundle – Integrated Fund. The funding comprises:  

 £21,600 which is recurrently funded  

 £160,000 which is ear marked as non-recurrent, though the availability of funding is 
recurrent. 
 

The preferred option would be delivering a 24 week course under the present provider 
arrangements. Funding will be at 2017 levels, for two years until March 2022 plus a possible 
extension for one until March 2023, as recommended by SCC procurement.  
 
The funding for the continuation of this service is available in the Integrated Fund - 
approval is subject to agreement through the Integrated Fund Governance structures. 

 
Date provided: 18th Dec 2019. 
 
Procurement Implications  
 

Submitted by: Christopher Conway, Procurement Category Manager, tel. 0161 686 6248 
 
The current Partnership agreement that SCC has with SCL includes a number of contracts 
that SCC has commissioned through the partnership agreement, SCC are currently 
undertaking a review of all services being delivered through the partnership agreement with 
its partner SCL with the view of scheduling in a retender exercise for all contracted services 
currently being delivered through the Partnership Agreement, it is envisaged that any future 
retendering may also include Services currently being delivered and Commissioned by the 
CCG in the spirit of aligning and agreeing on one contract management where pooled budget 
arrangements have been identified. 
    
Date Provided: 16th December 2019. 
  

Page 86



 

  

  
  
  
  

  
  
   

 
Appendix 1: Greater Manchester Falls and Fracture Prevention Resources - Quality 
Standard for Strength and Balance training programmes.  

 
This document has been developed in collaboration with colleagues, practitioners and 
clinicians working across health and social care systems in Greater Manchester during 2018. 
It is part of a collection that brings together written resources, guidance, information and 
standards designed to improve awareness of best practice in falls and fracture prevention 
and management, and enable Greater Manchester’s health and social care systems, 
patients, service users and carers to work together to improve practices and provision that 
will help to reduce the rate of falls, in particular falls which are severe enough to result in a 
hospital admission (with or without a fracture).  
 
Part of the agreed resources is a set of quality standards aimed at supporting effective, 
evidence and insight-led practice at some of the most influential points of care or self-care, 
in settings, services and population groups. Focusing effort on systematic identification and 
high-quality intervention in these areas is likely to significantly reduce the incidence of falls 
and/or the risk of serious injury.  
 
Colleagues are recommended to work towards implementing the quality standards in their 
locality or setting, to help to ensure that residents and patients across Greater Manchester 
receive the same standards of care and support, which also increases the likelihood of more 
falls and fractures being prevented.  

 
Strength and balance training programmes are widely considered to be the optimal approach 
to reducing falls risk and improving functional independence for people assessed as having a 
low to moderate risk of falling, based on a suitable assessment process (see the quality 
standard for identifying falls risk in primary care).  
 
A low to moderate risk of falling can generally be assumed if older adults report or are 
observed to be experiencing problems with walking or movement, balance or steadiness, 
muscle strength or some typical activities of daily living such as heavy housework. Someone 
with a low to moderate risk of falling may not have experienced a fall, but they may report, or 
be observed to experience problems with or reduced confidence with walking or movement, 
balance or steadiness, or muscle strength.  
 
However, strength and balance training is also considered one of the more effective elements 
of a multi-factorial (multi-component) falls intervention. Multi-factorial falls assessment and 
intervention is recommended for people who are assessed as having a high risk of falling e.g. 
people who report recurrent falls in the past, or who have presented for medical attention 
associated with a fall, or who have clearly observable balance or gait problems.  
 
Strength and balance training is therefore suitable and recommended for people who are 
assessed as having low, moderate and high falls risk, but for people with a high risk of falling 
it should form part of a wider assessment and range of interventions. NICE suggests that the 
individuals most likely to benefit from strength and balance training are older community-
dwelling people with a history of recurrent falls and/or balance and gait deficit. Effective 
strength and balance training programmes have the following characteristics, which should be 
commissioned and delivered as standard:   
 

Page 87



 

  

  
  
  
  

  
  
   

1. The instructors delivering a strength and balance programme should be trained to Postural 
Stability Specialist Instruction (PSI) Level 4 or Otago Level 3 and have an accredited 
qualification, with a view to receiving ongoing training and/or continuing professional 
development (CPD)  
 
2. The strength and balance programmes delivered in practice should be tailored to the needs 
of the participating individuals or groups but should be consistently based on the 7 evidence- 
based activity components of the Falls Management Exercise (FaME) programme below, or 
in the case of the Otago home exercise programme the 4 components indicated by a *  
 
These are:  

i i. Dynamic endurance training *  

ii ii. Dynamic balance training *  

iii iii. Resistance/strength training *  

iv iv. Skills to rise from the floor  

v v. Floor coping strategies and targeted strength  

vi vi. Flexibility *  

vii vii. Adapted Tai Chi  
 
3. Whether for individuals or groups, programmes should involve highly challenging balance 
training and progressive strength training, which is tailored to the needs of the individual or 
group.  
 
4. Group strength and balance programmes should comprise a minimum of 50 hours or more, 
delivered at least once, but ideally twice weekly for between 45 – 75 minutes. The programme 
should last for at least 6 months. 12 participants is viewed as the optimal group size.  
 
5. While there is evidence that outdoor walking has numerous health benefits for older adults, 
it should not be included in strength and balance programmes for participants assessed as or 
considered to be at high risk of falling, as this may result in further falls.  
 
6. At the end of the programme, older adults should be assessed and provided with a written 
personalised plan, tailored to their individual needs and which is designed to encourage and 
support the maintenance of the gains in strength and balance they have made whilst on the 
programme.  
 
This could include follow-on classes and home-based exercises but must focus on strength 
and balance and supporting progression. 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 88



 

  

  
  
  
  

  
  
   

 

Appendix 2 Enhanced Postural Stability service  
Strategic alignment 

SCC and CGG strategic aims are to keep people as well and independent as possible. This 
aim is at the core of the Enhanced Postural Stability service. The service aligns with the 
recommendations in the Greater Manchester Falls and Fracture prevention Resources Quality 
Standard for Strength and Balance training programmes.  
 
National falls related strategies and Quality Standards include: 

 NICE 161: Falls: assessment and prevention of falls in older people 

 NICE quality standard 86 Falls in older people: assessment after a fall and preventing 
further Falls 

 College of Occupational Therapists (2015) Occupational therapy in the prevention and 
management of falls in adults, recommendation 15 

 Fractured Neck of Femur Guidelines 

 Osteoarthritis Guidelines 
 
Key Partners 
Key partners are:  
Falls Clinic – SRFT outpatients, Falls Prevention Service – SRFT community, Intermediate 
Care Services (Triage), Primary Care (GP), Community Mental Health, District Nursing,Health 
and Wellbeing services, Third Sector, Housing and Involvement in wider falls system 
developments 
 
Inclusion Criteria  

The service is available to adults, 18 years and over, who are Salford residents or registered 
with a Salford GP. Access to the service is via Triage (Intermediate Care Team), or directly 
from GP’s, other sources of access may be looked at if adequate numbers are not referred. 
The service will check the medical status of the individual to ensure the individual can safely 
undertake the course or postural exercise. This check will be requested from the individual’s 
GP or at Triage and made against the agreed exclusion criteria.  
 
Exclusion criteria 
The service is not able to provide for people whose primary need is for acute medical care or 
acute specialist mental health care.  The service is unable to meet long term, continuing health 
or social care needs. The service is not available to people who live outside Salford who are 
not registered with a Salford GP or people under the age of 18.Referrals will be rejected under 
the following contraindications for exercise: 

 Unstable angina/ angina at rest 

 Blood Pressure higher than 180mmHg systolic/100mmHg diastolic 
 Blood pressure drop more than 20mmHg demonstrated during ETT  (if applicable) 

 Resting tachycardia more than 100bpm 

 Uncontrolled atrial or ventricular arrhythmias 

 Unstable or acute heart failure 

 Unstable diabetes 

 Febrile illness 

 Clinically Unstable 
 
Outcomes  

Direct Outcomes 

Page 89



 

  

  
  
  
  

  
  
   

 Prevention of falls 

 Increased stability 

 Increased strength 

 Increased functionality 
 Increase physical activity levels 

 Increase in social connectedness 

 Increase self-reported wellbeing 
 
Indirect Outcomes 

 Prevention of avoidable admissions to residential care 

 Reduce reliance on home care 
 Facilitation of timely discharge 

 Reduction in A&E attendances  

 Reduction in residential care admissions  

 Maintain people in their own place of residence with ongoing minimal care package 
and reduced dependency on significant packages of care at the end of intermediate 
care input. 

 Optimise independence through rehabilitation and recuperation.  
 Reduce risk of hospital admissions 

 Reduction in fractures 

 Ambulance calls and conveyances 

 Enable individuals to manage their long term conditions 
 
Team and Service  

Salford Community Leisure Falls team provide the Enhanced Postural Stability service and 
are based at the HellyHanson Watersports centre, however the Enhanced Postural Stability 
Service is delivered across the City in venue’s including: 

 Beesley Green Community centre – Worsley/Boothstown 

 Worsley Leisure Centre – Walkden 

 Rainbow Rooms Community Centre –Eccles 

 Guild Hall Community Centre – Walkden 

 St Lukes Church – Langworthy 
 Holy Angels Church – Claremont 

 Valley community Centre – Swinton 

 Salford Sports Village – East Salford 

 Wardley Community Centre – Swinton 
 
Technology and / or equipment  

For data recording Refer All is used. It was specifically designed to support strength and 
balance courses.  
 
Scope 

In addition to SCL staff running the sessions, volunteers attend funded by the Community 
Assets programme to link people in to other activities in their local area and support their 
broader health and wellbeing needs. This service is currently being reviewed alongside a 
social prescribing offer for the city. The Volunteer Development Workers are shared across 
the two programmes. Efforts would be made align this programme with the outcome of the 
reviews.  
  

Page 90



 

  

  
  
  
  

  
  
   

Stakeholders 
The Intermediate Care Service (Triage) refer patients in to SCL’s service. The main referrer 
into triage and therefore Postural Stability and Step Up is Primary Care. Some people do self 
refer but must obtain GP consent prior to attendance to ensure there are no medical 
contraindications.  
The Community Mental Health, District Nursing, Social Care and other Health and Wellbeing 
services including the VCSE Sector also refer people into triage to be referred to the 
Enhanced Postural Stability Service.  
 
 

 

Page 91



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

1 

 

PERFORMANCE REQUIREMENTS 

 SPECIFICATION, QUALITY AND PRODUCTIVITY 

SECTION 1 – SPECIFICATION 

Service Enhanced Postural Stability 

Commissioner Lead Salford City Council – Community Health & Social Care/Salford CCG 

Provider Lead Salford Community Leisure 

Updated December 2017 

Period April 2017/ March 2019 

 

 
1.  Purpose 
 
1.1 Aims  
 
Preventative context: To ensure that people that have fallen or are at risk of falling, that have been 
referred to the service from a health or social care professional, or a self-referral, are provided with an 
Enhanced Postural Stability Service to support their rehabilitation in the community and prevent the 
need to provide further or additional hospital based interventions. 
Service Development: To support the re-design and evaluation of the Salford falls pathway as part of 

the Salford Together Integrated Falls Project.   
 
1.2 Evidence Base 
 

 NICE QS86 – Falls in Older People 

 NICE 161: Falls: assessment and prevention of falls in older people 

 NICE quality standard 86 Falls in older people: assessment after a fall and preventing further 
Falls 

 College of Occupational Therapists (2015) Occupational therapy in the prevention and 
management of falls in adults, recommendation 15 

 Fractured Neck of Femur Guidelines 

 Low Back Pain Guidelines 

 Osteoarthritis Guidelines 
 
1.3 General Overview 
 

The service provides a group based community response delivered by Exercise Professionals 
qualified as Postural Stability Instructors (Level 4 Register of Exercise Professionals (REPS)) 
accessed through a health or social care referral or by a self-referral, to enable planned rehabilitation 
and contribute to reductions in further and additional admissions into long term residential care and 
acute care. 
 
1.4 Objectives – short term and long term intervention – graduated approach 
 

The service will provide a group based, 24 week Postural Stability programme that will improve 
participant’s stability during standing, walking and other functional movement, strengthen the muscles 
around the hip, knee, and ankle and increase the flexibility of the trunk & lower limbs. This will be 
followed by an ongoing maintenance programme that will support individuals who have reached 
defined function levels within the initial 24 week programme to further develop their postural strength. 
The maintenance programme will seek to enable individuals to attain a high level of function, strength 
and balance to improve their health and wellbeing. Additionally, the service will seek to address issues 
of social isolation through the programme by connecting individuals to other people and assets within 
their community. Falls risk reduction advice will also be delivered as part of the programme offered. 

Page 93



 

 

2 

 

 
In addition to the above, as part of the Integrated Care Project the service will offer Tai Chi sessions 
for those with a lower level of falls prevention need.    
 
1.5 Expected Outcomes including improving prevention 

Direct Outcomes 

 Prevention of falls 

 Increased stability 

 Increased strength 
 Increased functionality 

 Increase physical activity levels 

 Increase in social connectedness 

 Increase self-reported wellbeing 
 
Indirect Outcomes 

 Prevention of avoidable admissions to residential care 
 Reduce reliance on home care 

 Facilitation of timely discharge.  

 Reduction in residential admissions  

 Maintain people in their own place of residence with ongoing minimal care package and 
reduced dependency on significant packages of care at the end of intermediate care input. 

 Optimise independence through rehabilitation and recuperation.  

 Reduce risk of hospital admissions 
 Enable individuals to manage their long term conditions 
 

 

 
2. Scope 
 

 
2.1 Service Description 
 

Postural Stability is a community based Falls Prevention initiative and part of Salford Falls 
Strategy. It is commissioned by Salford City Council and Salford Clinical Commissioning 
Group. The programme is delivered by Exercise Professionals qualified as Postural Stability 
Instructors.  
 
Postural Stability classes are designed for people who have experienced a fall or have been identified 
as at risk of falling. The service aims to improve participant’s stability during standing, walking and 
other functional movement, strengthen the muscles around the hip, knee, and ankle and increase the 
flexibility of the trunk & lower limbs. 
 
The service model is an initial 24 week programme of structured postural stability training followed by 
a maintenance programme lasting typically between 6-12 months following the initial 24 week 
programme. During the maintenance programme the service will support individuals to engage with 
and access local community assets. 
 
The initial 24 week programme comprises 1 x 1.5 hour session per week and will be delivered across 
the neighbourhood areas of the city. The maintenance programme will follow a similar model. 
 
Transformation elements to be delivered as part of the Integrated Care Project including the 
introduction of falls risk reduction advice, adding Tai Chi as an additional form of strength and balance 
training and increasing the scale of provision for postural stability and maintenance courses. 
 
The service is via referral from a health or social care professional or by self-referral. Transport will be 

Page 94



 

 

3 

 

provided to help patients get to and from the classes if required. 
 
2.2 Accessibility/acceptability 
 

The service is available to adults, 18 years and over, who are Salford residents or registered with a 
Salford GP. Access to the service is by referral form to be submitted to the service by fax, email or 
post. The service will check the medical status of the individual to ensure the individual can safely 
undertake the course or postural exercise. This check will be requested from the individual’s GP and 
made against the exclusion criteria noted in 4.6. 
  
Criteria for access to the Postural Stability Service are as follows: 
 

 Adults aged 18 years and over 

 Salford resident and/or GP 
 
2.3 Whole System Relationships 
 
The Postural Stability Service is part of the pathway that supports fallers or potential fallers. It is an 
intervention that is part of the falls strategy. It supports the community rehabilitation of falls patients 
working alongside Acute, Community and Social Care services to ensure that patients received timely 
and appropriate rehabilitation. As such it has been integral to the planning of the re-design of the falls 
pathway across Salford and is a key partner in the Salford Together Falls Transformation Project 
running from October 2017 through to the end of March 2019.   
 
2.4 Interdependencies 
 

Falls Clinic – SRFT outpatients 
Falls Prevention Service – SRFT community 
Intermediate Care Services 
Primary Care (GP) 
Community Mental Health 
District Nursing 
Salford Together 
Health and Wellbeing services 
Third Sector 
Other Active Lifestyle Services – Salford Community Leisure 
Housing 
Involvement in wider falls system developments 
 
 

 
3.  Service Delivery 
 
3.1 Service model  

 
The initial 24 week programme is progressive, gradually increasing the ratio of time spent sitting to 
standing. At weeks 2, 12 and 24 an assessment which consists of 6 individual measures is carried out 
with each individual. Individuals who do not progress within the first programme can restart the 
programme at week 1. 
 
The maintenance programme provides an on-going semi-structured series of exercises that enable 
individuals to continually improve their balance, strength and confidence. 
 
The transformation element has added Tai Chi courses to the local offer for those at risk of falling, who 
haven’t started falling yet, to increase their strength and balance and reduce their likelihood of falling in 
future.    

Page 95



 

 

4 

 

 
The service model will also address matters of social isolation by linking individuals to other people 
and community assets. 
 
The service will facilitate clients to be supported in their local community by connecting them to local 
community assets. The service will make an assessment of the clients ‘optimal’ postural strength, 
confidence and social connectedness prior to discharge and provide a managed transition from the 
service to ensure the maintenance of the gains secured through the service. 
 
Clients will be offered a rapid re-access to the service should their postural strength/stability have 
reduced to a level that is impacting on their ability to maintain the gains they achieved through the 
service. 
 
The service will undertake a sample audit once a year of those clients that have left the service 
between 6-12 months ago to determine longer term impact of the service on their functionality and 
wellbeing. 
 

 
3.2 Care Pathway(s) 

 
Falls Pathway – contributing to and supporting delivery and re-design as part of the Salford Together 
Transformation Project   
 
Intermediate Care Pathways 
Note: Reference will need to be made to the emerging neighbourhood team structures through the 

Integrated Care Organisation. The provider will be support by the ICO as these changes occur. 
 
3.3 Service development 

 
The provider will agree at the start of each financial year a service development plan that will be 
reviewed at the monitoring meetings. 
 
 
4.  Referral, Access and Acceptance Criteria 
 

Page 96



 

 

5 

 

4.1 Geographic coverage/boundaries 
 
Service operates within the boundaries of Salford and borders for those people registered with a 
Salford GP. 
 
4.2 Location(s) of Service Delivery 
 

Appropriate community venues 
 
4.3 Days/Hours of operation  
 

Weekdays – typically between 9am and 5pm 
Weekends as the service requirements determine 
 
4.4 Referral criteria & sources 

 
The service is available to adults, 18 years and over, who are Salford residents or registered with a 
Salford GP. Access to the service is by referral form to be submitted to the service by fax, email or 
post. The service will check the medical status of the individual to ensure the individual can safely 
undertake the course or postural exercise. This check will be requested from the individual’s GP and 
made against the exclusion criteria noted in 4.6. 
  
Criteria for access to the Postural Stability Service are as follows: 
 

 Adults aged 18 years and over 
 Salford resident and/or GP 

 
4.5 Referral route 

 
Access to the service via a referral form from a professional or via self-referral.  
 
4.6 Exclusion criteria 
 

The service is not able to provide for people whose primary need is for acute medical care or acute 
specialist mental health care.  The service is unable to meet long term, continuing health or social care 
needs. The service is not available to people who live outside Salford who are not registered with a 
Salford GP or people under the age of 18. 
 
Referrals will be rejected under the following contra indications for exercise: 
 

 Unstable angina/ angina at rest 

 Blood Pressure higher than 180mmHg systolic/100mmHg diastolic 

 Blood pressure drop more than 20mmHg demonstrated during ETT  (if applicable) 

 Resting tachycardia more than 100bpm 

 Uncontrolled atrial or ventricular arrhythmias 

 Unstable or acute heart failure 

 Unstable diabetes 
 Febrile illness 

 Clinically Unstable 
 
4.7 Response time & detail and prioritisation  
 

Once a referral to Postural Stability has been made the individual will be contacted within 5 working 
days. 
 

Page 97



 

 

6 

 

The individual will be allocated a place on the first available 24 week initial course. If a referral is made 
during the delivery of the 24 week course the individual will be offered a place on the next available 
course, which could be up to an 8 week wait. 
 
Access to the maintenance programme will be within 7 working days. 
 

 
5.  Discharge Criteria and Planning  
 

  
Following completion of the initial 24 week Postural Stability programme those individuals who do not 
access the maintenance programme will be discharged with advice, information and signposting. 
 
Those on the maintenance programme may be discharged with advice, information and signposting. 
This may include referral on to Tai Chi.  
 
The service is expected to manage service capacity such that those people who are being referral to 
the service are able to access the service which will mean a level of discharge management to ensure 
service flow. 
 
The service will undertake a sample audit once a year of those clients that have left the service 
between 6-12 months ago to determine longer term impact of the service on their functionality and 
wellbeing. 
 
 
6.  Self-Care and Patient and Carer Information 
 

 
The service aims to maximise individual’s potential for independence and self care. Information for 
individuals and carers will be made available on assessment. Individuals will be given information on 
Salford Community Leisure culture and health offer and other community services/assets as 
appropriate to the individual. This may include signposting to services such as libraries or ongoing 
exercise sessions such as Healthy Hips and Hearts or other Health and wellbeing services. Falls risk 
reduction advice will also be delivered within the service as part of the transformation changes.  
 

 
7.  Continual Service Improvement/Innovation Plan 
 

 
Description    Milestones Expected 

Benefits 
Timescales Frequency of 

Monitoring 

The trained staff will continue to deliver to 
the ‘gold’ standard service. CPD for staff is 
by way of an annual update from the 
training provider and we incorporate any 
new best practice into our delivery. 

   annually 

 

 
Monitoring Arrangements 
 

Monitoring arrangements led by Salford City Council via the Integrated Commissioning Manager (Joint 
Local Authority / CCG appointment). 
 
The contract will be monitored quarterly. 
 
Joint finance meetings to monitor budget.  
 

Page 98



 

 

7 

 

Governance Arrangements 
 
Reporting to Salford City Council/Salford CCG and Salford Royal Foundation Trust (Salford Together 
Integrated Falls Project) as per the KPIs listed below 
 

 
8.  Baseline Performance Targets – Quality, Performance & Productivity  24 week PS 
 

Performance 
Indicator 

Indicator Threshold Method of Measurement Frequency of 
Monitoring 

A completed 
yearly service 
review 
Both streams 

 

An annual report 1 report Report presented Annual  

Client 
Satisfaction 
results will be 
reported twice 
yearly and 
exceptions 
reported to the 
commissioner. 

Both streams   

 

Reporting of 
audit results to 
commissioners  

Minimum 
10% of 
patients 
surveyed 
per course 

Audit patient survey  3 times per year 

Non-
completion 
report - 
reasons why 
patients did 
not complete 
the course 
Both streams 

 
Written report of 
reasons are 
provided by the 
patient and an 
explanation by 
the provider on 
why the issues 
could not be 
resolved 

100% (of 
patients 
who do not  
complete 
the course)  

Patient questionnaire 3 times per year 

Output - 
service 

    

Annual client 
capacity for 
initial 24 week 
PS  

357  Recorded delivery 
Quarterly, January, 
April, July,  
October 

Annual client 
capacity for 
initial 24 week 
PS - ICO 

 
343  

 Recorded delivery 
Quarterly, January, 
April, July,  
October 

Retention Rate 
Phase 1 (12 
weeks) 
Both streams 

75%   
Quarterly, January, 
April, July,  
October 

Retention Rate 
Phase 2 (12-
24 weeks) 
Both streams 

70%   
Quarterly, January, 
April, July,  
October 

Performance -   

Page 99



 

 

8 

 

people 

% take up of 
course 
Both streams 
 

70-80% 

70-90 
(green) 
60-69 
(amber) 
<60 (red) 

90-120 
(green) 
75-90 
(amber) 
<75 (red) 

referrals 
Quarterly, January, 
April, July,  
October 

The maximum referral number is greater than the service capacity to allow for opt 
outs (10) that the services is aware of between point of accepting referral and start 
of course 
% clients 
completing 
PS course 
Both streams 
 

70%  

60-70% 
(green) 
50-59% 
(amber) 
<50% (red) 

 
Quarterly, January, 
April, July,  
October 

Number on 
waiting list at 
week 3 of 
each cycle for 
SCC/CCG 

15 
maxi
mum 

22 
maxim
um 

0-10 
(green) 
11-15 
(amber) 
>15 (red) 

0-14 
(green) 
15-22 
(amber) 
>22 (red) 

 
Quarterly, January, 
April, July,  
October 

Improvement 
in Postural 
Stability  
Both streams 
 

 
Specific 
reporting of the 
following 
measures: 

 Sit to 
stand 

 180 
degree 
turn 

 Timed 
up and 
go 

 4 test 
balance  

Overall: 
Improved 
(80 – 90%) 
No   
change: 
5-10%) 
Declined 
<5%) 

 
Quarterly, January, 
April, July,  
October 

There will be a cohort of clients at the end of each cycle from PS that will go into 
SU. The number at the end of each cycle will/might be different so the total 
commencing SU will be a percentage of the PS cohort at the end of each cycle. 

Total 
commencing 
maintenance 

70% of referral 
from PS 

60-80% 
(green) 
50-60% 
(amber) 
<50% (red) 
 
 

New approach being set up, 
now approx. 10% straight to 
maintenance, aim for 20-25% 
in future. Depends on referrals 

Quarterly, January, 
April, July,  
October 

Total 
commencing 
maintenance - 
ICO 

70% of referral 
from PS 

60-80% 
(green) 
50-60% 
(amber) 
<50% (red) 
 
 

New approach being set up, 
now approx. 10% straight to 
maintenance, aim for 20-25% 
in future. Depends on referrals 

Quarterly, January, 
April, July,  
October 

User 
outcomes – 
for PS and 
maintenance 

Client reported 
confidence in 
managing health 

70-100% 
(green) 
50 – 69% 
(amber) 

 
Quarterly, January, 
April, July,  
October 

Page 100



 

 

9 

 

Both streams 
 

from baseline 
 
 

<50% (red) 

Enhanced ability 
in managing 
activities of daily 
living  
 

70-100% 
(green) 
50 – 69% 
(amber) 
<50% (red) 

 
Quarterly, January, 
April, July,  
October 

Improvement in 
Functional MOT 
from baseline – 
just for 
Maintenance 
 

Overall: 
Improved 
(75 – 100%) 
No change: 
10-25%) 
Declined 
10%) 

 
Quarterly, January, 
April, July,  
October 

Reduction in 
Fear of Falling 
Scale (1-5) 

70-100% 
(green) 
50 – 69% 
(amber) 
<50% (red) 

 
Quarterly, January, 
April, July,  
October 

Improvement in 
Independence 
Scale (1-5) 

70-100% 
(green) 
50 – 69% 
(amber) 
<50% (red) 

 
Quarterly, January, 
April, July,  
October 

Increase in self-
reported  health 
gain 

70-100% 
(green) 
50 – 69% 
(amber) 
<50% (red) 

 
Quarterly, January, 
April, July,  
October 

Self-report 
increase in 
happiness as a 
result of the 
impact of the 
service 
 

70-100% 
(green) 
50 – 69% 
(amber) 
<50% (red) 

 
Quarterly, January, 
April, July,  
October 

Use of the 
loneliness tool  
 
 

80-100% 
(green) 
60-80% 
(amber) 
<60% (red) 

 
 

Weeks 2, 12 and 
24. Week 52 for 
those still 
engaged.  

Refer those 
completing to 
the Wellbeing 
Champions and 
other SCL 
activities  

80-100% 
(green) 
60-80% 
(amber) 
<60% (red) 

Track 10% if attended onward 
referral from Wellbeing 
Champions 

At 24 weeks 

Physical 
activity level 
– PS and 
maintenance 
Both streams 

Increase in 
physical activity 
levels from 
baseline at end 
of cycle 

70-100% 
(green) 
50 – 69% 
(amber) 
<50% (red) 

 
Quarterly, January, 
April, July,  
October 

Page 101



 

 

10 

 

Tai Chi 
classes 
 
 

150 annually  

Specific Tai Chi related 
balancing exercises will be 
used to test balance in week 1 
and week 8.  

Quarterly, January, 
April, July,  
October 

 

 
 

 
9.  Contract  
 
 
Contracting Arrangements 

 
Salford City Council is the contracting organisation. 
The service is jointly commissioned by Salford City Council/Salford CCG under the contracting 
arrangements of Salford City Council. 
 
As part of the Salford Together Transformation Project further funding has been provided under a 
contract variation to deliver an expanded service within postural stability and a maintenance 
programme, with the addition of Tai Chi to support system wide pathway re-design. These additional 
elements have been reflected in the KPIs. 
 

 

9.1 Price 

 

Basis of Contract Unit of 
Measureme
nt 

Price Thresholds Expected Annual 
Contract Value 

Block Contract    

£21, 600 
recurrent 
investment 
 
£160,000 per year 
for 2017/2019. 

Salford Together 
Transformation 
Programme 

   

£174,366 per 
annum (pro rata 
from early 2018 
through to end 
March 2019) 

 

 

SECTION 2 – SUMMARY OF BASELINE QUALITY, PERFORMANCE AND 
PRODUCTIVITY REQUIREMENTS 

 
 
 
3.1 Quality 
 
 
HR Information 

 
NA 
 
R&D / Teaching Activities 

Page 102



 

 

11 

 

 
The service will ensure a research based approach to delivery of care and promote the 
development of all staff to maintain skills and knowledge to allow evidence based practice.  
 
Salford Community Leisure will ensure the maintenance of Skills and Knowledge to promote 
an improved service.  
 
Information Management and Technology 

 
Client information will be recorded on a secured management information systems (MIS) 
and data protection policy will be in place. The MIS will support the performance reporting 
requirement of the service.  
 
The service will be required to support data collection and integrate as required with any 
IM&T solutions that evolve as part of the delivery and evaluation of the Salford Together 
Integrated Falls Project. 
 
 

 

Page 103



This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 
 

 
 

SALFORD COMMUNITY LEISURE 
 

 

ACTIVE LIFESTYLES TEAM – Annual Falls Prevention 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Service 

 
 

Falls Prevention (including Postural 
stability and Step Up) 

Commissioner Lead 

 
 

Peter Locke, Public Health Strategic 
Manager  

Provider Lead 
 

 

Louise Sword, Salford Community 
Leisure Ltd 

Period 
 

 

1st April 2010 – 31st March 2020 
 
 

Page 105



 

2 
 

Introduction 

 

This report highlights activity which has taken place between April 1st 2019 and 

March 31st 2020. In this period funding continued to allow the original offer of a 12 

week Postural Stability course to be expanded to a 24 week course (with courses 

staggered every 12 weeks) and additional Step Up classes to be developed. 

 

 

Headline Figures for Financial year April 2019 – March 2020 
 

 Within this time period 7, 24 week Postural stability courses started and 

completed, 14 ended and 14 started 
 

 9 Step Up maintenance classes 
 

 

Overview Figures (of those referred from 1st April 2019- March 31st 2020) 
 

 373 Referrals into the service (326 last year) 
 

 211 Actively engaged with service (57%). Please note 82 awaiting next 
course 

 

 72% average retention rate week 1-12 (min. 68%, max. 77%) 
 

 66% average retention rate week 12-24 (min. 53%, max 76%) 
 

 182 clients completed 24 weeks of activity with another 98 still on active 
programmes 
 

 73% clients showed improvements in their functional mobility from week 1 to 
24 

 

 111 clients assigned to Step Up from April 2019- March 2020 of which 43% 

completed at least 12 sessions 
 

 

Progress Summary 

 

The introduction of the Falls Database on Refer All in 2018 continues to facilitate the 
monitoring, tracking and evaluation of the service and has allowed for multiple 

elements involved in the programme to be collated in one place which was not 
previously possible (eg. referrals, referral status, history, activity, functional 

assessments scores, client feedback, registers). 
 
The 24 week Postural Stability offer has enabled better client progression and the 

staggering format allows clients who are not ready to move into Step Up to slot into a 
course at week 12 to complete a “top up”.  The extended programme also allows for  

Page 106



 

3 
 

 
more clients to progress on to the Step Up maintenance programme rather than 

having to repeat a 12 week course in order to achieve an appropriate level for the 
maintenance sessions. 

 
Assessments are completed at week 1, 12 and 24 and where clients show 
considerable improvement at week 12 there is an opportunity for them to be “fast 

tracked” into Step Up. The functional assessments include various strength, balance 
and mobility challenges for which a new scoring system has been developed to give 

a more comprehensive summary of performance. One concern about the increased 
duration of the programme was that there could be issues with adherence. However, 
reports have shown that once clients reach 12 weeks they are likely to continue to 

the end of the course often unless illness arises. The certificate is still being used to 
feed back to clients how they have progressed and highlight improvements which 

they themselves may not have been aware of. 
 

There have been some changes to staffing within the last year which has included 

some staff moving on, a new member of staff taking on the Postural Stability 

Administrative role and a two new Delivery Officer’s coming into post. A rolling job 

advert is also due to be released for a freelance instructor who will be able to support 

sessions wherever needed. Through working closely with Salford CVS almost all the 

classes now also have volunteers to support staff during the sessions. The 

volunteers are also there as wellbeing champions to help clients fill in wellbeing 

plans where appropriate and connect them to opportunities within their area.  

 

Tai Chi for Balance continues to be a signposting option rather than being integrated 

as part of the Postural Stability Programme. It was hoped that as part of the 

expansion of the project there would be more direct referrals into Tai Chi and Step 

Up would be seen as more of a “pre-hab” approach, although this has not yet been 

be seen, this may be expected when referral numbers start to increase. In the 

coming financial year the team intend to do more visits to referring agents to raise 

awareness of the offer. 

 

Quarterly breakdown summary 

 

Activity Summary: 

There are now 7 regular 24 week Postural Stability classes running and 9 step up 

classes each week. Below is a breakdown of classes during each quarter. 

 
 
Q1 - 1st April 2019 – 30th June 2019:  

 7, 24 week ongoing Postural Stability courses from previous quarter (4 
Sept- April; 3 Jan- July) 

 4, 24 week Postural Stability courses starting May- October 2019 

 8 Step Up classes – maintenance 

 

Page 107



 

4 
 

 
Q2 – 1st July 2018 – 30th September 2019 

 7 ongoing Postural Stability courses from previous quarter (3 Jan-July, 
4 May-Oct)  

 3, new 24 week Postural Stability courses starting August- Jan 2019 

 8 Step Up’s – Ongoing maintenance  

 
Q3 – 1st October 2019 – 31st December 2019 

 7 ongoing Postural Stability courses from previous quarter (4 May-Oct, 

3 Aug-Jan) 

 8 Step Up’s - Ongoing maintenance 

 
Q4 – 1st January 2020 – 31st March 2020:  

 3, ongoing Postural Stability courses from previous quarter (August- 
Jan)  

 4 new 24 week Postural Stability courses starting February- August 

2020 

 9 Step Ups - Ongoing maintenance 

 
 

 
 
 

 

Page 108



 

5 
 

 
Postural Stability Course Dates April 2019- March 2020 

 
 

Qtr 1: Apr-Jun 19 Qtr 2: Jul-Sept 19 Qtr 3: Oct-Dec 19 Qtr 4: Jan-Mar 20 

 Apr-19 May-19 Jun-19 Jul-19 Aug-19 Sep-19 Oct-19 Nov-19 Dec-19 Jan-20 Feb-20 Mar-20 
Sept-
April 

Rainbow 

Holy 
Angels 

Worsley 

Wardley 
Jan-July Worsley LC 

Salford Sport Village 

Rainbow Rooms CC 
May-Oct Rainbow Rooms 

Holy Angels 

Worsley LC 

Wardley CC 

Aug-Feb Worsley LC 

Salford Sports Village 

Rainbow Rooms 

Nov-May Rainbow Rooms 

Ordsall Library 

Worsley LC 

Wardley CC 
Feb-Aug Worsley 

SSV 

Rainbow Rooms 

P
age 109



 

6 
 

 
8.  Baseline Performance Targets – Quality, Performance & Productivity  24 week PS 
 

Performance Indicator Indicator Threshold 
Measured Outcomes 

Non-completion report - reasons why 
patients did not complete the course 
Both streams 

Written report of reasons are 
provided by the patient and an 
explanation by the provider on 
why the issues could not be 
resolved 

100% (of 
patients who do 
not  complete 
the course) 

All clients who drop out are contacted to ensure 

client welfare and to ask reason for drop out. The 

majority of clients drop out due to health reasons. 

Output service 

Annual client capacity for initial 
24 week PS 
 

357 

 

373 referrals received 

Annual client capacity for initial 
24 week PS - ICO 

343 

 

- 

Retention Rate Phase 1 (12 
weeks) 

Both streams 

75% 

 

 

72% 

Sept-April 72% 

Jan-July 68% 

May-Oct 77% 

Aug-Jan 69% 

 

P
age 110



 

7 
 

Retention Rate Phase 2 (12-24 
weeks) 

Both streams 

70% 

 

66% 

Sept-April 60% 

Jan-July 53% 

May-Oct 76% 

Aug-Jan 73% 

 

Performance- people 

 
% take up of course 
Both streams 

 

70-80% 

 

 

62% 

Sept-April 145 invited, 94 commenced 

(65%) 

Jan- July 121 invited, 69 commenced 

(57%) 

May- Oct 155 invited, 101 commenced 

(65%) 

Aug-Jan 108 invited, 67 commenced 

 
(62%) 

 

P
age 111



 

8 
 

 

% clients completing PS course 
Both streams 

70% 

 

54% 

Sept-April 56% 

Jan-July 46% 

May-Oct 63% 

Aug-Jan 49% 

 

Number on waiting list at week 3 
of each cycle for SCC/CCG 

 

 

 

 

75 

 
Improvement in Postural 
Stability  
Both streams 

 
Specific reporting of the 
following measures: 

 Sit to stand 

 180 degree turn 

 Timed up and go 

 4 test balance 

 

Overall: 
Improved (80 – 
90%) 
No   change: 
5-10%) 
Declined 
<5%) 

 

Overall: 

73% improved, 12% maintained, 16% declined 

 

Sit to stand 

 68% improved 

 18% maintained 
 15% declined 

 

180 degree turn 

 67% improved 

 21% maintained 

 12% declined 

P
age 112



 

9 
 

 

Timed Up and go 

 63% improved 
9% maintained 

 29% declined 

 

4 Test Balance 

 48% improved 

 42% maintained 

 11% declined 

 

Total commencing maintenance 

 

70% of referral 
from PS 

 

 

36% 
 

Total commencing maintenance 
– ICO 

 

70% of referral 
from PS 

 

 

- 

P
age 113



 

10 
 

 

Referral Breakdown 

 

Within this financial year 19/20 the service has received 373 referrals. The KPI for 

referrals to Postural Stability and Step Up is 700, however this figure is a reflection of 

the service capacity at full development. Intermediate Care have now started to see 

an increase in their capacity and we therefore expect to see this reflected within the 

Postural Stability service as clients start to be filtered through. Referral numbers 

have increased, and the quality of the developed service continues to remain high 

with additional improvements continuously being made to the project. Below is the 

breakdown of referral by quarter: 

 

 

 

 

 

In comparison to the last quarter of 18/19 referral numbers were maintained as 

anticipated. The trend is similar to the last financial year whereby referrals are higher 

in Quarter 1 and 4 than in 2 and 3. 

 

Once a referral is received it is processed on to the database and is placed in one of 

the following statuses: 

 

 Awaiting processing: Client contacted informed when the next course will be 

running and told to expect a letter nearer the time.  

 Intends to participate: Client invited to a session and have expressed an 

interest to say they will be attending  

 Actively participating: Attended a session  

 Completed: Completion of 24 week course. Once in completed the clients 

are invited to Step Up and may still be attending the maintenance classes. 

108

89
82

94

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4

Number of referrals

Page 114



 

11 
 

 

 Not Participating: Client not interested in the service 

 Left Early: Attended sessions but dropped out before completion. 

 

The table below shows a breakdown of 19/20 referrals in to stage of service: 

 

 Status Number  

Stage 1: Referred 
Awaiting Processing 75 

Intends to Participate 7 

Stage 2: Actively 

engaged in service 

Actively Participating 127 

Completed (NB: See below  for 

explanation) 

45 

Stage 3: Declined 

Service 

Not Participating 80 

Left Early 39 

 

 

Of the 373 referrals 211 clients commenced a Postural Stability course with an 

additional 82 waiting for the next course to start. The 62% commencement rate 

reflects the number of people who started a course, including those who were re-

invited. Completed clients refer to those who have started and successfully 

completed a course. It is difficult to represent on an annual or quarter report as the 

courses run for 24 weeks, meaning courses have started but have not ended 

therefore those clients are in actively participating. With this in mind it is more 

accurate to present an average course completion rate for the year. Therefore in the 

time period of this report 14 courses had completed and the average completion rate 

was 54%. 

 

The referral numbers are solely dependant upon those which are received from 

external referring agencies. The launch of the new Falls Pathway stipulated that all 

referrals are now triaged through Intermediate Care to ensure that clients receive a 

standardised offer, however this may be reviewed to open up the referral pathway in 

a controlled manner. 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

Page 115



 

12 
 

 
 

Client information & Demographics 
 

The graphs below detail the number of referrals the service has received, where 

referrals have been received from and information about client demographics. 

 

 

 

Clients who are referred to the service come from across the city and are generally 

well distributed across electoral wards. Last year the most common areas people 

came from were Eccles, Weaste and Seedley, Worsley and also Swinton North. This 

financial year referrals reduced from the Weaste and Seedley area, increased from 

Claremont and Walkden North and increased further from Worsley. 

 

 

 

 

17

9

19

14

26
23

19

3

13 14 13

5

18

26

19 18

32

19
21

34

11

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

B
ar

to
n

B
oo

th
st

o
w

n 
an

d
…

B
riu

gh
to

n

Ca
di

sh
ea

d

C
la

re
m

o
n

t

Ec
cl

es

Ir
la

m

Ir
w

el
l R

iv
er

si
d

e

K
e

rs
a

l

La
ng

w
o

rt
hy

Li
tt

le
 H

ul
to

n

O
rd

sa
ll

Pe
nd

le
bu

ry

Sw
in

to
n 

N
o

rt
h

Sw
in

to
n 

So
u

th

W
al

k
d

e
n

 N
o

rt
h

W
al

kd
en

 S
o

ut
h

W
e

as
te

 a
n

d
 S

e
e

d
le

y

W
in

to
n

W
or

sl
ey

O
u

ts
id

e 
Sa

lfo
rd

Electoral Ward

5%
11%

27%
47%

10%

Age Breakdown

Under 60

60-69

70-79

80-89

90-99

Page 116



 

13 
 

As may be expected for this cohort of clients, the majority proportion of referrals fall 

into the 80-89 age bracket for Postural Stability. This clientele have multiple health 

conditions and also often experience social isolation with which the classes can help 

support and manage. The age breakdown for this annual year is very similar to that 

in 18/19. 

 

 

 

As with the age breakdown, the gender breakdown this year is very similar to last. In 

recent years it has been noted that the number of men who attend classes has 

increased, however this does not yet appear to be quite proportionate to the number 

of referrals that are received. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

68%

32%

0%

Gender Breakdown

Male

Female

Transgender

Page 117



 

14 
 

 

Current service provision 

 

The table below gives a snap shot of classes which have been running up until the 

end of March and gives a summary of average weekly attendances to classes.  

 

Day Venue Class Time 
Average 

attendances 

Monday 

Beesley Green CC Step Up 10:45 -12:15 18 

Rainbow Rooms Pos Stab 1:00 - 2:30pm 13 

Worsley Leisure Centre Post Stab 1:30 - 3:00pm 14 

Tuesday 

Ordsall Library Step Up 10:30 - 12:00 
10 

Rainbow Rooms CC 
 

Step Up 1:00-2:30pm 12 

Guild Hall 
 

Step Up 
 

1:15 – 2:45pm 
 

18 

Wednesday 

Valley CC 
 

Step Up 
 

10:30 -12:00 
 

15 

Ordsall Library Post Stab 10:30-12 12 

Valley CC Step Up 1:30-3:00pm 15 

Salford Sports Village Step Up 1:15 - 2:45pm 16 

Thursday 

Valley CC Step Up 10:30-12 
12 

Worsley LC Pos Stab 12:00 - 1:30pm 
14 

Salford Sports Village Pos Stab 1:30 - 3:00pm 15 

Friday 

Rainbow Rooms CC Pos Stab 10:15 - 11:45am 
13 

Wardley Community 

Centre 
Pos Stab 10:30-12:00 15 

Rainbow Rooms CC Step Up 1:00 - 2:30pm 15 

 

The new courses for 20/21 started in Feb/March and are taking place in the same 

three areas where the last courses ended (Worsley Leisure Centre, Rainbow Rooms 

Community Centre and Salford Sports Village). The classes start with a maximum 

capacity of 25 to allow for those who do not attend and also for drop out. However, 

as of Tuesday 24th March all classes were cancelled until further notice due to the 

Coronavirus. The project has continued to provide a high level service through 

remote working, implementing the following steps; 

 

 Bi-weekly phone calls to check in on clients to make sure they’re ok, keeping 

exercising and whether they need anything 

 

 

Page 118



 

15 
 

 

 Bi-weekly newsletters sent out with updates, exercise challenges and 

activities 
 

 Coronavirus update with various exercise links/downloads sent to marketing 
to add to the website 

 

 Exercise videos added to Social Media for people to share with those that 
may benefit 

 

 

Other than the recent events, there have numerous changes to the project, 

particularly staffing. However, it has been a very successful year and there have 

been many developments including building on education sessions to include 

medication reviews, malnutrition and hydration and social activities; systems have 

also been improved and additional learning has taken place through attendance at 

various CPD sessions and conferences. 

 

Assessment Outcomes 

 

The following tables detail the average annual assessment outcomes. Table one 

shows the scored improvement for each assessment at each point throughout the 

course. 

 

 W1-12 W12-24 W1-24 

30 second sit 

to stand 

2 additional 

stands 

1 additional 

stand 

2 additional 

stands 

180 degree 

turn 
1 less step 1 less step 1 less step 

Timed Up 

and Go 
4 seconds faster Maintained 4 seconds faster 

4 Stage 

Balance 

1 stage 

improvement 
Maintained 

1 stage 

improvement 

 

There is a noticeable improvement from week 1 to 12 as is expected for the biggest 

physiological gain from any exercise programme. The increase from no activity to a 

little activity can have the biggest benefit on the physiological condition of the body.  

Improvements from week 12 to 24 slow a little but the original improvements are 

generally maintained. A maintenance at this stage is successful for this clientele 

group as stopping activity or dropping out would see a rapid decline in their 

physiological status. Although there was little data available for week 52 due to 

database restrictions, that which is available shows that 31% showed further 

improvement at week 52 and 52% improved/maintained. This may partly be 

attributed to some of the declines being very marginal, some clients not moving into 

Page 119



 

16 
 

Step Up, immediately demonstrating little improvement and also 86% of the clients 

assessed at week 52 originally completing 18 months+ ago, where some long 

standing clients who have been re-referred may begin showing some age related 

decline. Irregular attendances will also have a significant effect on this as the 

exercise becomes more regular, clients are challenged and the body starts to 

chronically adapt.  

 

There is evidence that the 180 degree turn is an indicator of dynamic postural 

stability and falls risk (Nevitt et al, 1998). The Four stage balance test measures 

static balance. Phelan et al (2015) stated that an inability to perform a tandem stand 

(stage 3) for 10 seconds predicts falls (client average week 1 was 2; week 12/24 was 

2.5 and 3 at week 24).  The dual task timed up and go is a test a functional mobility 

with the addition of a cognitive challenge and is a determinant of falls risk in older 

adults (Ability Lab, 2014). The 30 second chair stand assesses lower extremity 

strength and balance and research suggests that sit to stand is significantly related 

to falls where by an increase in the number of sit to stand repetitions is associated 

with lower falls risk (Applebaum et al, 2017).

Page 120



 

17 
 

 

Questionnaire Data 

 

The outcomes below demonstrate the more qualitative benefits of the service which clients report as having a substantial impact.  

 

 
8.  Baseline Performance Targets – Quality, Performance & Productivity  24 week PS 
 

Performance Indicator Indicator Threshold 
Measured Outcomes 

Client Satisfaction results will be 
reported twice yearly and exceptions 
reported to the commissioner.  

 

Reporting of audit results to 
commissioners  

Minimum 10% 
of patients 
surveyed per 
course 

 

100% 

NB: All clients complete questionnaire at week 

24. Further feedback detailed below 

User outcomes – for PS and 
maintenance 

Both streams 
 

Client reported confidence in 
managing health from baseline 
 
 

70-100% 
(green) 
50 – 69% 
(amber) 
<50% (red) 

 

73% 

(Highest 90% May-Oct, lowest 53% Jan-July) 

Enhanced ability in managing 
activities of daily living  
 

70-100% 
(green) 
50 – 69% 
(amber) 
<50% (red) 

 

58% 

(Highest 74% Set-April, lowest 44% Jan-July) 

Reduction in Fear of Falling 
Scale (1-5) 

70-100% 
(green) 
50 – 69% 
(amber) 
<50% (red) 

 

61% 

P
age 121



 

18 
 

(Highest 70% Sept-April, lowest 41% Jan-July) 

Improvement in Independence 
Scale (1-5) 

70-100% 
(green) 
50 – 69% 
(amber) 
<50% (red) 

 

69% 

(Highest 76% May-Oct, lowest Jan-July 59%) 

Increase in self-
reported  health gain 

70-100% 
(green) 
50 – 69% 
(amber) 
<50% (red) 

 

44% 

(Highest 61% Jan-July, Lowest 39% Aug-Jan) 

Average score 58/100 >64/100 

Self-report increase in 
happiness as a result of the 
impact of the service 
 

70-100% 
(green) 
50 – 69% 
(amber) 
<50% (red) 

 

78% 

(Highest 86% May/Oct, Lowest 69% Jan-July) 

Physical activity level – PS and 
maintenance 

Both streams 

Increase in physical activity 
levels from baseline at end of 
cycle 

70-100% 
(green) 
50 – 69% 
(amber) 
<50% (red) 

 

74% 

(Highest 87% Sept- April, Lowest Aug-Jan 57%) 

 

 

100% of clients reported that they felt they had benefitted from attending the classes. The most commonly occurring benefits that 

were reported included moving better, improved walking, feeling more confident, improved balance/ feeling more stable, feeling 

more sociable, being able to stand from sitting more easily, feeling fitter and generally more relaxed in themselves.

P
age 122



 

19 
 

 

 

When asked what persuades clients to keep coming some of the responses 

included; 
 

“It works” 
 

“I feel better than I did before.  I look forward to going to the class” 

 
 “Helping me to be independent, playing with great grandchildren” 

 
“Keeping fit is a priority to enjoying life and being able to do every day routines and  

jobs around the house” 

 
“To hopefully keep improving my steadiness and mobility” 

 

“I can see the improvement in myself” 
 

“Feel better after doing the exercises and making friends” 
 

“I enjoy it, and it helps with functional movements” 

 
“The encouragement of instructors, and improvement in mobility” 

 
“The encouragement it gives me” 

 

“Meeting people/ the company, and progress I have made motivates me” 
 

“Getting myself better all the time” 
 

“The company and the progress I have made” 

 
“The friendship and the love from each other and our teachers, patience and 

dedication for each one.” 
 

“The improvement in my walking” 

 
 “I thoroughly enjoy it and feel it helps us!” 

 
“I’m feeling stronger” 

 

“I feel better than I did before” 
 

“To continue the benefit we’ve all enjoyed” 
 

 

 

 

 

Page 123



 

20 
 

 

The graph below shows what persuades clients to continue attending the classes 

 

 

 
 
 

100% of clients said that they were happy with the service. Some of the comments 

included;  

 
“It’s remarkable what Salford does, just wonderful. I told my doctor it’s the best thing 

he’s done referring me here” 
 

“It’s inspirational working with other people and I love seeing everyone progress” 
 

“I feel better, physically stronger, more confident and the social side is absolutely 

brilliant” 
 

“Brilliant service, enjoyed the group activities and the transport.” 
 

“I love coming to the group because the leaders are very approachable and there are 

now people I call friends” 
 

“Thank you - I've enjoyed every minute” 
 

“I think this course has been extremely helpful and the team are splendid” 

 
“I’ve been walking to the precinct when I couldn’t walk a distance before” 

 
“Enjoyed everything about it, excellent classes with instructor and class mates” 

 

 “Very happy, look forward to each week, improved definitely” 
 

 
 

34 34

8

48

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

Noticed improvement Intrinsic
motivation/hope

Extrinsic motivation
(eg. Instructor, next

of kin, doctor)

Enjoyment
(exercise/company)

Page 124



 

21 
 

 
“I have been very happy with this service and feel it has helped me very much, not 

just improvements, but the general support from other attendees. There is a good 
sense of fun amongst us.” 

 
“I feel younger.” 

 

 
“Many people have commented on the improvement they see in my general health 

and mobility.” 
 

 “I have been extremely pleased to be able to attend this excellent group. The staff 

are quite outstanding and caring for our age group” 
 

“It's been very helpful with day to day” 
 

Daughter- “He absolutely loves it and I just want to thank you for what a difference 

it's made” 
 

 

Step Up Reporting 

 

Step Up is designed to be a more advanced maintenance class as a progression of 

Postural Stability for clients to attend as long as they feel they need to. Clients on the 

24 week Postural Stability course are assessed at Week 1, 12 & 24. At this 

assessment the instructors can make the decision to move clients up to Step Up 

based on their scores. During this report period 180 clients completed 24 weeks of 

activity. 41% of those who completed Postural Stability were offered Step Up of 

which 87% took up the offer. The table below details the numbers for Step Up and at 

what point the clients were moved. Please note this data could not be pulled as a 

report from Refer All therefore manipulated the raw data available which had given 

slight discrepancies: 

 

 

Transfer to Step Up Points 

Attended 

Step up 

Sessions 

Wk 1 Wk 12 Wk 24 Wk 36 

 

Wk 48 
(+) 

 

 

Step Up 

Numbers 
29 12 58 12 6 102/117 

% 25% 10% 50% 10% 5% 87% 

  

 

 

Page 125



 

22 
 

 

The average weekly attendances for the nine Step Up classes are 131 which 

collates to an average of 15 in each class. As previously mentioned, Step Up 

assessments could not yet be done on a regular basis due to database tracking 

difficulties and staffing.  

 

 Within this reporting period 111 clients were assigned into Step Up classes 
compared to 87 in the previous financial year 

 

 Attendances show that 43% of clients assigned to Step Up within this financial 

year have attended at least 12 Step Up sessions. Please note, the new Step 
Up class which was set up in Quarter 4 has not yet completed a full 12 weeks 
yet and therefore cannot be included. 

 

 Currently there are 9 Step Up classes around Salford for clients to be 

assigned to 

 

 

Case Studies 
 

Class: Postural Stability 
Venue: Rainbow Rooms 

 
EM is an 84 year old female. Prior to her referral from The Department of Ageing and 

Complex Medicine at Salford Royal NHS, she was referred to Dr Staniland’s clinic for 

recurrent falls.  

She was falling almost on a weekly basis, but no significant injury but fractured her 

wrist in July 2018. No clear cause of her recurrent falls has been identified. It was 

recommended that she would benefit from Postural Stability exercises. 

EM commenced the 24 week Postural Stability course at the Rainbow Rooms 

Community Centre in August 2019. On her week 1 initial assessments it took EM a 

total of 63 seconds to complete the Dual Task Timed Up and Go. By week 12 she 

managed to complete this in 20 seconds.  

EM can now manage 9 sit to stands in 30 seconds, 5 more compared to the 4 sit to 

stands she managed at week 1. 

EM has become an integral part of the group and enjoys attending the session each 

week alongside completing home exercises too.  

She reported her confidence has improved and can hold a half-tandem stance for 10 

seconds. 

She is looking forward to continuing with the Postural stability course at the Rainbow 

Rooms for the remaining 12 weeks. 

Page 126



 

23 
 

 

Class: Postural Stability 

Venue: Wardley Community Centre 

At 98, DW is one of the oldest members of the class at Wardley Community Centre 

however his character far from reflects this. DW was initially quite a quiet gentleman 

and it was clear that he still tried to rush despite his balance not allowing for this. At 

week one DW completed 9 sit to stands but used his hands to push up; by week 12 

he completed 8 with no hands. His four test balance went form a semi tandem 

stance to a full tandem stance and his balance awareness also seems to have 

improved. DW attends the class every week, he is always enthusiastic and attentive 

and is very sociable with the other group members. He reported to the instructor that 

someone from bowling had approached him the previous week to comment on how 

much better and more stable he looked. DW doesn’t use his stick as much as he 

previously did and also now insists on helping with the washing up at the end of the 

class while the other class members get to the minibus. 

 

Class: Postural Stability 

Venue: Worsley Leisure Centre 

DK joined the postural stability course on ‘Week 1’ at Worsley Leisure Centre. (10 th 

January, 2019) She had been diagnosed with osteoarthritis and had lost a lot of 

confidence due to four falls in one day.  The ‘four falls’ occurred in January, 2018, at 

which time she had been admitted to Salford Royal Hospital for further tests.  

Nothing ‘untoward’ was found.  

 

In September, 2018, she went to see her GP stating that she was worried, and felt 

that her health was declining.  In spite of living with her husband, she felt that she 

was losing her confidence, and had developed a fear of falling.  Her independence 

was seriously affected.  Her GP referred her to the Falls Team who assessed her at 

home.  They in turn, referred her to Postural Stability. 

 

From Day One, and the Week 1 Assessments, it was obvious that DK was very 

committed to improving her fitness levels.  On the second week she asked if there 

were exercises she could do at home. DK became committed to exercising at home 

as well as attending class regularly. 

 

At the Week 12 Assessments, it was evident that DK’s commitment had been very 

worthwhile. 

 

Her ‘180 degree turn’ score improved from 4 to 3. 

Page 127



 

24 
 

 

Her ‘Timed Up and Go’ score decreased from 22 to 15 seconds. 

Her ‘Sit to Stand’ score increased from 6 to 13. 

Her ‘4 Step Balance’ score increased from 2 to 3. 

These results were fantastic – DK (along with the rest of the class) were delighted. 

 

When the instructor spoke to DK about how she actually felt she said that her 

confidence had improved, and she had been able to hang out the washing, this for 

her was wonderful and proof that she was regaining her independence.  She is now 

able to walk on her own, with her stick.  DK loves the class, loves the people who 

attend, and feels that they have all bonded. She looks forward to Thursdays. 

Excellent news! 

 
 

Class: Postural Stability 
Venue: Ordsall Library 
 

Health profile: total knee replacement, arthroscopic debridement left knee, C3/4 

laminectomy, BP – controlled, OA, sciatica, hysterectomy. Had a fall in last 12mths, 

loss of balance and fear of falling. 

JS participating in PS class from 13/11/20. Initial assessment scores (4step balance 

improved from 3 to 4; 180 turn from 5 to 4steps, DT Tug 16 to 9sec, Sit2Stand 9 to 

12 reps) all has improved in comparing to 12 weeks; significant improvement in Dual 

Task Timed Up and Go – reduced time by 7sec, increased confidence and ‘can do’ 

approach.  JS continues to attend classes with no doubts she would be capable to 

join SU very soon. 

JS enjoys the group exercises she feels keen and showing help and support to other 

members; she feels healthier and more independent. JS, as she saying, always tried 

to keep active, worked on farm, never smoked.  Recent DECA scan reviled her real 

age of 70 (actual age 90)! 

Coronavirus Update: spoken to JS over the phone during pandemic, she had fall at 

home, carrying tea in one hand and supper in other, hit the table, slit head, managed 

to get up on her own (reminded silent demos of backward chain – looked for 

something stable to hold on to); called her daughter next morning, not lost 

confidence! Stayed with her daughter 2 weeks to recover and now back home, 

getting back to exercises, misses the company of other class members 

 
 
 

 

Page 128



Falls Prevention- Postural Stability & Step Up 

Summary Report 2020-2021 

 

 

This summary report highlights activity which has taken place between April 2020 and 

November 2021. During a high proportion of this period all classes were on hold due to 

COVID-19. Throughout this time the service has continued in other ways; 

 

Headlines during Covid (April 2020 – November 2021) 
 

 Regular phone calls to check in on all existing clients including discussions around 

exercise, wellbeing, any help required or general concerns 

 Bi-weekly newsletters sent to all existing clients (348), with updates, useful 

information and tips, home exercises and puzzles (example embedded within this 

report) 

 Newsletter to clients on waiting list 

 All new referrals contacted to confirm receipt of their referral and update on situation 

 A series of exercise videos recorded and shared with clients/ partners uploaded onto 
the website (https://salfordcommunityleisure.co.uk/be-active/active-
lifestyles/exercise/postural/) and onto youtube (eg. https://youtu.be/fSwAE9aG4Ys) 

 3 weekly zoom classes for exercise/ catch up with clients online 

 Guest speakers for zoom workshops for Tech and Tea and Inspiring Communities 

Together (example presentations accompany this report as attachments) 

 Email and telephone communication as normal 

 Regular updates with Intermediate Care 

 Intermittent class delivery between lock downs with trial sessions delivered October- 

December 2020 and from June 2021 

 Classes fully resumed from 17th October (further details below) 

 

 

Overview Figures (of those referred from 1st April 2020- March 31st 2021) 
 

 83 referrals into the service between 1st April 20- March 31st 21 (373 last year) 

 

 An additional 93 referrals received April 2021- to date 

 

 100 clients actively engaged in the service with 160 new referrals to be invited 

in the new year (211 client actively engaged at time of reporting 19/20, plus 
82 awaiting next course) 
 

 179 letters sent out to clients participating pre covid asking for clients to make 
contact if interested in recommencing programme 

 

 
Progress Summary during Covid- 19 Pandemic 
 

Contingency plans, as a result of covid, were put into place immediately when lock down 
was announced. Many of the clients within this service are vulnerable older adults. The 

Page 129

https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fsalfordcommunityleisure.co.uk%2Fbe-active%2Factive-lifestyles%2Fexercise%2Fpostural%2F&data=04%7C01%7CLucy.Reynolds%40scll.co.uk%7Cffe6ec5cd4e84b9d53dd08d9aabb047e%7C68c00060d80e40a5b83f3b8a5bc570b5%7C0%7C0%7C637728542469647777%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000&sdata=lGPO4jQvTf3JtB52PysbIxc2ru0e4e%2BorCi9orCAqoc%3D&reserved=0
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fsalfordcommunityleisure.co.uk%2Fbe-active%2Factive-lifestyles%2Fexercise%2Fpostural%2F&data=04%7C01%7CLucy.Reynolds%40scll.co.uk%7Cffe6ec5cd4e84b9d53dd08d9aabb047e%7C68c00060d80e40a5b83f3b8a5bc570b5%7C0%7C0%7C637728542469647777%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000&sdata=lGPO4jQvTf3JtB52PysbIxc2ru0e4e%2BorCi9orCAqoc%3D&reserved=0
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fyoutu.be%2FfSwAE9aG4Ys&data=04%7C01%7CLucy.Reynolds%40scll.co.uk%7Cffe6ec5cd4e84b9d53dd08d9aabb047e%7C68c00060d80e40a5b83f3b8a5bc570b5%7C0%7C0%7C637728542469667694%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000&sdata=oP62SxHbg1jWI4rI7zbypijrqMlVwkswEPFxJxTcm1s%3D&reserved=0


classes form an integral part of their wellbeing and it was imperative that service was not 
halted.  
 

It is well known that sedentary behaviour, is a common risk factor for a decline in physical 
function, increased risk of frailty, associated falls and falls related injuries (Baldwin et al 
2020; Bull et al: World Health Organisation Guidelines on Physical Activity and Sedentary 
Behaviour 2020). With this in mind, Public Health England (2021) evidenced that inactivity in 
the older population, considerably increased in the time of the pandemic. In this report 
(Wider impacts of COVID-19 on physical activity, deconditioning and falls in older adults, 
PHE 2021) it was highlighted that the average duration of strength and balance activity 
decreased from 126 to 77 minutes per week in March- May 2020 in comparison to the same 
period the previous year.  
 
Alongside the reduction in activity levels there have also been the effects of social isolation 
as a result of the pandemic, which have led to a higher risk of loneliness and depression 
(Arkkukangus, 2020). The combined effects of isolation and sedentary behaviour during this 
period, has had a considerable impact on older adult’s health and wellbeing, and alongside 
the impact on confidence in going out this consequently poses challenges to effectively 
identifying and engaging this population at a time where there is also increased need for 
intervention. 

 
Public Health England (2021) projected 110,000 more older people to have at least one fall 
per year as a result of reduced strength and balance activity during the pandemic, and that 
for each year these reduced activity levels are observed, there is projected to be an 
additional cost to the health and social care system, as a result of the change in predicted 
related falls, of £211 million (incurred over a 2.5 year period). The strategy for addressing 
this must be multi- facetted and it is recommended that those at highest risk of falls should 
be offered FAME (Falls Management Exercise Programme) as a cost effective, evidence 
based programme to reduce falls. This programme (Postural Stability) provides a targeted 
strength and balance programme via a well established referral pathway, working closely 
with Intermediate Care. 
 

 

From the beginning of the COVD-19 pandemic the service quickly adapted to ensure 

ongoing provision in whatever way possible. In addition to ongoing communication via post, 

telephone and online participation, when the first lock down was lifted, in October 2020, four 

trial sessions, with all precautions in place, were set up. These classes were delivered at 

Salford Sports Village in six week blocks whereby 6 Step Up clients, who were deemed as 

not requiring human assistance, were invited to participate, after which a new cohort of six 

would be invited. Those clients who required transport were provided with their own taxi due 

to the vulnerable nature of clientele, this was priorly agreed with the commissioner. 

Unfortunately, due to reintroduced restrictions these classes were halted prior to Christmas 

2020. In June 2021, six, 6 week Step Up classes were reintroduced in 3 venues which saw 

an average of 8 clients attending/class. Throughout this period ongoing communication was 

upheld between all clients throughout the project in addition to regular newsletters and zoom 

classes. 

 

In October 2021, full service delivery was resumed. This consisted of six Postural Stability 

classes and four Step Up classes delivered across the city in the traditional format of 24 

weeks Postural Stability with an ongoing Step Up Maintenance programme. 

 

Page 130



It was agreed that due to the ongoing infection rates, and the nature of clientele, social 

distancing guidelines should be upheld and therefore a maximum of 4 people per minibus, 

and all clients requested to wear a mask until seated for exercise. With this in mind, the 

usual four assessments have currently been reduced to one. 30 second sit to stand has 

been agreed as the most effective assessment in giving an overview of initial strength, 

balance and stamina whilst maintaining safe social distancing. Research suggests that sit to 

stand is significantly related to falls where by an increase in the number of sit to stand 

repetitions is associated with lower falls risk (Applebaum et al, 2017) 

 

 

Referral Breakdown 

 

Since the Covid- 19 Pandemic April 2020 to date (November 2021) the service has 

received 176 referrals. 83 referrals were received in financial year April 20- March 

21, in comparison 373 within the same period, the previous year. 

 
 

 
 

 

Client Information and demographics 

 

The graphs below detail the number of referrals the service has received, where 

referrals have been received from and information about client demographics. 

 

 

108

89
82

94

23 21 21 18

31 35
27

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 21_22 Q2 21_22 Oct- to date
21

Number of referrals

19/20 20/21

Page 131



 
 

Referrals by electoral ward generally reflect a similar pattern to the previous year however 

there is currently a higher proportion of referrals for the Eccles and Worsley areas. 

 

 
 

The distribution in age groups in comparison to the previous year shows an increase in the 

70-79 year old age group, and also a higher percentage of 90-100 being referred to the 

service. Despite these shifts, the most common age group for referrals is 81-90 (35%, 44% 

previous year), closely followed by 70-79 (33%, 26% previous year). 

 

 

13

8

15

8

14

9

5

11
10

6
5

6

11

7 7

11

8
9

10

3

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

Electoral Ward

15, 9%

28, 16%

58, 33%

62, 35%

12, 7%

Age Breakdown

Under 60

60-69

70-79

80-89

90-100

Page 132



 
 

The gender breakdown continues to be similar to previous years. 

 

 

Current service provision 

 

The table below gives a snap shot of classes which have been have been running 

since October 2021 and gives a summary of average weekly attendances to classes.  

 

Day Venue Class Time 
Average 

attendances 

Monday 
Beesley Green CC Step Up 10:45 -12:15 8 

Worsley Leisure Centre Post Stab 1:30 - 3:00pm 12 

Tuesday 
Rainbow Rooms CC 

 
Step Up 1:00-2:30pm 10 

Wednesday 

Langworthy 
Cornerstone 

Post Stab 10:30-12 7 

Salford Sports Village Step Up 1:15 - 2:45pm 8 

Thursday 

Worsley LC Pos Stab 12:00 - 1:30pm 
11 

Salford Sports Village Pos Stab 1:30 - 3:00pm 5 

Friday 

Rainbow Rooms CC Pos Stab 10:15 - 11:45am 
5 

Wardley Community 

Centre 
Pos Stab 10:30-12:00 10 

Rainbow Rooms CC Step Up 1:00 - 2:30pm 9 

 

For the classes commencing October 2021 there were 192 on the waiting list. Due to 

the unusually long waiting time, clients were contacted by telephone call to provide a 

more personal service and form a level of trust. It was agreed that depending upon 

116, 66%

60, 34%

Gender Breakdown

Female

Male

Page 133



the venue there would be a maximum of 12-15 for each class so that social 

distancing measured could be upheld. Despite it being evident that some clients did 

not yet feel comfortable coming back to the class these spaces were filled (starting 

with those earliest referred) with all remaining clients interested in taking part placed 

on the waiting list for the next course. 

 

Previous to the pandemic, the project has seen considerable growth and success 

and there had been many developments including building on education sessions to 

include medication reviews, malnutrition and hydration and social activities; systems 

continue to be improved and additional learning has taken place through attendance 

at various online CPD sessions and conferences. 

 

During the pandemic the team have continued to provide ongoing communication 

with clients including regular newsletters and informative presentations to keep 

clients motivated to stay active during such a challenging, uncertain time - examples 

of these communications are embedded in the report below):- 

 

How to Stay Strong 

in Pandemic.pptx

Importance of 

Exercises in Pandemic.pptx
 

These efforts were gratefully received, demonstrated by the client letter below as 

one example:- 

Letter from Veronica McHugh 05Jul20.pdf
 

 

The next 24 week programme is scheduled to commence in February 2022 and 

update letters have been sent to clients on the waiting list informing them that they 

should expect an invite in the new year. Responses from clients will reflect where 

these classes will be delivered but they are anticipated to take place in Worsley, 

Eccles, Swinton and Ordsall. 

 

Letters have also been sent out to clients participating pre covid which have 

requested contact by mid-December so new referrals may be requested for those 

wanting to restart. This means that by December 2021, all clients throughout the 

service will either be engaged within the service or have been contacted with this 

offer and have a contact number if they wish to do so in the future. 

 

Initially, there was a marked difference in both client confidence and mobility in those 

who have returned since the pandemic, however the improvement, not only in ability 

and functional movement but also in persona has been beautiful to see and clients 

have reported how grateful they are to return to classes. 

 

 

Page 134



Case Studies 

 

Class: Online Zoom 

Mr JJ, Age 74  

 
Reason for referral: Falls. Conditions stated at referral that apply to this patient: 
Musculoskeletal (pain/injury), Parkinson's Disease (stable) 

 
Mr JJ takes part in Zoom class, which he finds most beneficial. The class has been 

delivered throughout the pandemic, on a weekly basis. Not least is the fact that they 
instil much needed routine, Mr JJ also admitted, “I must confess that it would be 
unlikely that I would follow a programme of exercises ‘unsupervised”. I wouldn’t be 

lazing about – I’d probably be gardening or out for a walk and some of the specific 
benefits of the exercise regime would be neglected.’ 

 
The individual elements of class make up an all-round picture of what he should be 
concentrating on. It involves chair based program with variety strengthening exercises 

with resistance bands/weights, mobility (using towel), flexibility.  “When we first started 
the classes, my legs would ache for several days afterwards but now I feel only a little 
discomfort. The twisting exercises help in various situations and make driving safer. 

The marching and stepping have helped my hips and mobility.” 
 

Expressing his appreciation for the class Mr JJ shared that he has also noticed social 
and welfare benefits saying, “the instructor’s stewardship of our group has made it 
seem like a team of friends who show interest in each other’s wellbeing.” 

 
 

Class: Step Up Rainbow Rooms 
Mrs BH, Age 70 
 

BH lives on her own and has done since her husband passed away a few years ago. 
BH was referred by the community rehab team after having 3 falls within a 12- month 

period with her referral form clearly indicating a fear of falling also. 
 
BH began face to face postural stability classes pre the Covid-19 pandemic and at 

week 12 of the postural stability classes BH could manage 5 sit to stands within 30 
seconds. She was also able to manage level 2 on the four-test balance having only 

been able to manage level 1 on her first initial assessment. 
BH completed 16 weeks before face to face classes were put on hold due to the 
pandemic. 

 
During the lockdowns regular contact was maintained through phone calls and 

newsletters. BH reported she still felt part of the group during this time, and it 
encouraged her to keep up with her home exercises. 
 

When face to face classes were able to return BH was initially quite apprehensive 
about returning to the group as she hadn’t left her home much throughout. 

After reassurance from the instructor and the support of the group she settled back 
in and over the weeks, she reported an increase in confidence. 
 

Page 135



Since joining the class BH has now made several new friends. She uses public 
transport and regularly goes out for lunch with another member of the class she 

became friends with. BH is able to walk her dog daily and has really enjoyed being 
back in face-to-face classes. 

 
After completing the postural stability classes, BH was recently invited to attend the 
step-up maintenance class. She can now manage 10 sit-to-stands within 30 seconds 

confidently and without holding on for support. She can complete various dynamic 
balance exercises such as the heel to toe walk and heel walks, something she 

previously thought she would be unable to achieve. 
 
BH is now looking forward to continuing with the step-up maintenance class each 

week and her next goal is to complete all stages of the backward chaining exercise 
confidently. 

 
 

 

Page 136



www.salfordcommunityleisure.co.uk

SOCIAL 
IMPACT 
REPORT 
ACTIVE LIFESTYLES TEAM
2016

Page 137



The Active Lifestyles Team provides a range of physical 
activity programmes for people who have been diagnosed 
with long-term health conditions. In the last 5 years this 
highly skilled team of 7 health professionals has supported 
more than 4,000 people to become more active, to 
participate in life and feel part of their community and feel 
supported to take responsibility for their own physical and 
mental well-being. Every one of the team members brings 
behaviours and competencies that genuinely engage people 
and encourage them to maintain their health even when it 
feels really tough; they are persuasive and positive and a real 
asset to the communities they serve.

01/02

ACTIVE LIFESTYLES TEAM 
SOCIAL IMPACT REPORT 2016

The team is focused on improving the health and wellbeing of the people of Salford 
through specialised exercise referral programmes designed to support the treatment 
of heart and lung conditions, cancer, diabetes and falls prevention amongst other 
long term conditions

The team also offers community based activities that provide people with an 
opportunity to form new social connections whilst also improving their health and 
well being, these include health walks as well as group sessions to improve mobility 
and heart health.

What we deliver
The programme offers 8 weeks of supervised exercise and support where people 
can choose from a menu of physical activities including specialist exercise classes, 
gym sessions, guided health walks and swimming. 

Performance Data
Across the city in 2016, the team were responsible for delivering: 

• Structured exercise programmes to over 1,000 adults with long term health conditions. 

• 8 weekly Health Walks

• 11 Healthy at Heart classes each week. 

• 9 Healthy Hips and Hearts classes (gentle chair based exercise) each week. 

• 2 Can Move exercise classes and 6 supervised gym sessions each week. 

• 6 Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD) classes each week. 

• 6 Postural Stability classes each week. 

• 5 Step Up classes each week. 

In addition to the delivery of sessions, the team also: 

• Supported 18 active volunteer Health Walk Leaders 

•  Supported a number of residential care homes across the city to deliver Healthy Hips & 
Heart classes as well as assisted living homes and local community groups. 

•  Organised regular tea dances, inviting residents from care homes, assisted living 
premises and community groups.

The team work closely with numerous stakeholders, including commissioners 
and referral partners as illustrated in the word cloud below:

SALFORD CITY COUNCIL
CLIENTS

SRFT

Carers

NURSES

A
ge U

K Health Improvement

GPS

CC
G

BIG LIFE

INTEGRATED CARE ORGANISATION
Salford Together

Radio Cars

INSPIRING COMMUNITIES TOGETHER 

City West

A
BL H

EA
LTH

Unique Improvements Unlimited Potential

P
age 138



03/04

“The team live into their values everyday, that’s why 
their services work”

Corporate Values
Stakeholders felt positive that SCL’s corporate values were reflected in the 
manner in which the Active Lifestyles team conduct themselves. 

Enhancing the Lives of People Living in Salford
Can-Move
Janet was referred from the Breast Unit at Salford Royal to the Can-Move Programme. 
Surgery had left her with some scar tissue that caused reduced range of movement 
and stiffness in her right shoulder and arm. Janet was also being treated for high 
blood pressure and her Achilles tendons were also ruptured. She began attending the 
Can-Move circuit classes with her goal being to be able to move better generally but 
specifically to have improved range of movement in her right shoulder, arm and ankles. 

In the first few weeks her confidence to exercise was low and she believed she wouldn’t 
be able to do some of the exercises. She was often heard saying ‘I can’t do this’ and 
‘I can’t do that’. She often had to sit out of the class for a while and rest and did not 
feel strong enough to use any weights when performing resistance exercises, due to the 
limited mobility and stiffness in her right arm and shoulder. 

After a few weeks of taking part in the class her confidence began to increase due to 
improvements in physical fitness and through support from the Can Move Instructor 
taking the class. At 8 weeks it was great to see that Janet was able to complete the 
full circuit without taking rest breaks and progressed to using small weights when 
performing resistance exercises. She said she would like to use the gym, which just 
shows how much her confidence had improved and how she had progressed with her 
exercise routine and physical fitness. 

Pulmonary Rehabilitation
David first began attending the Pulmonary Rehabilitation class at Eccles. Initially he began 
attending once a week but by week 3 increased this to twice a week. David began to 
increase the weights he was using, started sitting down less and explained how much he 
was enjoying the sessions. At the end of the 6-week programme he was keen to continue 
exercising and was referred to the Active Lifestyles Team. He was given several options 
where he could either use the gym as an independent exerciser or attend Active Lifestyles 
classes; he decided that he would like to continue with the class, as he “didn’t fancy going 
it alone.” David attended the session at Eccles the same week he finished Pulmonary 
Rehabilitation, demonstrating how keen he was to start. After the session finished he asked 
if there were any other sessions he could attend and emphasised the fact that he didn’t 
mind travelling to them. 2 other classes were suggested which were based within 5 miles of 
his address and he now attends 3 days a week.

Healthy at Heart
One service user, a retired gentleman recovering from a heart attack began his exercise 
pathway by using the gym, he had a personalised plan that allowed him to build his 
confidence using the equipment and increase his personal interaction with other people 
through becoming a regular face at the gym. He enjoyed the feeling of increased activity and 
improved fitness so much that he became a frequent visitor and gradually began to support 
others to use the equipment confidently. This led to the staff at the gym encouraging him 
to assist as a volunteer in classes and he is now a mentor working alongside other gym 
instructors. His tone and manner are engaging and instil confidence in others; this coupled 
with his personal experience of exercise as a means to re-joining society after a sudden 
and shocking health event means he makes an excellent role model and friend to other new 
‘gym joiners’.

“I feel a lot more active and more able after 
attending the Can-Move programme. It has helped 
all aspects of my life. It should be compulsory for all 
cancer patients in the area.”

“The walks give me the opportunity to meet like-
minded people and get back out into the community 
after a period of illness”

 “The care, compassion and pragmatism demonstrated 
by the staff offered genuine peace of mind”

P
age 139



Salford Community Leisure Limited is a Co-operative and Community Benefit Society with charitable status.  Registered in England, registration number 29627 R.  Charitable status reference XR71610.  Vat Registration Number 254629684
SCL Trading Limited is a trading subsidiary company number 8623304. Registered Office Civic Centre, Chorley Road, Swinton, Salford, M27 5DA.

www.salfordcommunityleisure.co.uk

Page 140



Sample D – Extension of Contract 

Part 1: Open to the public 

 
 

REPORT OF 

 
The Deputy Director of Public Health 

TO 

 
Procurement Board 

 
ON 

 

12 January 2022 

 
TITLE:  Approval for an Extension of Contract for Active Lifestyles For Adults And 

Physical Activity In Schools Service 

 

RECOMMENDATION:  

That the Procurement Board approve the extension of the Contract for Active 

Lifestyles For Adults And Physical Activity In Schools Service as detailed in the table 
below: 
 

 

Detail required Answers 

Contract Reference  

Title/Description of Contracted 
Service/Supply/Project 

            ACTIVE LIFESTYLES FOR ADULTS AND 

     PHYSICAL ACTIVITY IN SCHOOLS SERVICE 

Name of Contractor  Salford Community Leisure 

Type of organisation 

(to be supplied by Corporate 
Procurement) 

Industrial & Provident Society 

Status of Organisation 

(to be supplied by Corporate 
Procurement) 

Non-SME 

 

Value of Contract Extension (£) £190,000  

(£150000 Active Lifestyles/£40000 Physical Activity in Schools) 

Existing Contract Term 01/04/2021 to 31/03/2022 

Extension Period 01/04/2022 to 31/03/2023 

Contact Officer (Name & 
number) Peter Locke, 07976267926 

Lead Service Group 

 
Public Health 

Funding Source Revenue Budget 

Page 141

Agenda Item 5e



Sample D – Extension of Contract 

Detail required Answers 
Ethical Contractor (EC): Mayor’s 

Employment Charter  

EC: Committed to sign the 
Charter  

EC: Accredited Living Wage 
Employer  

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: The purpose of this report is to seek request an extension 
to contract for Active Lifestyles For Adults And Physical Activity In Schools Service 

There is provision within the current contract to extend the agreement for a further 
period from 01/04/2022 to 31/03/2023

 

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS:  

 Active Lifestyles  & Physical Activity in Schools 2021 - 22 Extension 

(Exception to Contract) Paper 

 ROD 17.02.21 - AL (Adults) & PA in Schools 

 Specification - AL for LTC (Dec 16) 

 Specification - Phys Activity in Schools (Dec 16) 

 Active Lifestyles (LTC Only) Report Q3 2019 -20 

 Active Lifestyles Report Q1 2021 -22 

 Active Lifestyles Service Pandemic Response 

 SSSP 2020 REPORT 

 SSP Report - November 2021 

 Naomi’s Challenge Welcome/Challenge 1 

 https://www.salford.gov.uk/your-counci l/social-value-in-salford/  

 AL Social Impact Report - Executive Summary 

 

Page 142

https://www.salford.gov.uk/your-council/social-value-in-salford/


Sample D – Extension of Contract 

KEY DECISION:   

No 

DETAILS:   

The Public Health Team are seeking approval for the activation of a plus one year 

extension of £150,000 funding from the Public Health Revenue Budget to fund the 
Salford Community Leisure Managed Referral scheme (Adult Active Lifestyles), 
which provides a range of physical activity programmes for those who have been 

diagnosed with long-term health conditions. 
 

This is a dedicated team of multi-disciplinary professionals, who develop specialised 
physical activity programmes for residents identified with one or more of the following 
health conditions:- 
 

 Previous heart attack or stroke 
 Coronary heart disease 

 High blood pressure 
 High cholesterol 
 Overweight or obese (BMI of over 25) 

 Diabetes 
 Family history of heart disease 

 Inactive lifestyle 
 
The core service offer consists of a minimum of twelve weeks of supported activities, 

with a follow on offer consisting of a minimum of three months on top of the core 
offer. The programme links into the wider SCL offers to maintain activity.  
 
 
National and Local Context 

 
National Context 

 
A long-term condition (LTC) can be defined as ‘one that cannot currently be cured 
but can be controlled with the use of medication and/or other therapies.’ In 2010 

there were 15.4 million people with a LTC in England (30% of the population) and it 
is estimated that by 2025 this will rise to18 million. Treatment and management of 

Long Term Conditions accounts for 70% of health and social care spend and this is 
predicted to increase. The international literature highlights a number of risk factors 
that increase the likelihood in people developing LTCs. Risk factors include smoking, 

overweight/obesity, low physical activity, alcohol and poor diet. In addition, some 
LTCs e.g. diabetes and hypertension lead to or increase the likelihood of other LTCs, 

particularly cardiovascular diseases. Physical activity is a key to preventing and 
reducing LTCs. There is a sound evidence base that demonstrates regular physical 
activity has an important role in prevention and management of over 20 conditions. 

 
 

 
 

Page 143



Sample D – Extension of Contract 

Physical Inactivity and Long Term Conditions 
 

Physical activity is key to preventing and reducing LTCs. There is a sound evidence 
base that demonstrates regular physical activity has an important role in the 

prevention and management of over 20 conditions from diabetes, cancer to 
dementia. Physical activity helps to maintain a healthy weight and improves health, 
regardless of weight. More than 1 in 17 adults in the UK have diabetes; 90% have 

type 2 diabetes. Being active can reduce the risk of developing this condition by 30 - 
40%. The evidence suggests that People with diabetes can reduce their need for 

medication and the risk of complications by being more active. 
 
Evidence highlights that if inactive people became more active this could prevent 

one in ten cases of stroke and heart disease in the UK. One in eight women in the 
UK are at risk of developing breast cancer at some point in their lives. Being active 

every day can reduce that risk by up to 20% and also improve the lives of those 
living with cancer. Dementia affects 800,000 people in the UK. Staying active can 
reduce the risk of vascular dementia and also have a positive impact on non-

vascular dementia. Depression is increasing in all age groups. Evidence suggests 
people who have low levels of physical activity have higher rates of moderate to 

severe depression compared with more active people. LTC contribute to system 
wide costs therefore increasing physical activity aims to prevent or avoid costs.  
 

NICE Guidance (PH54): Exercise Referral Schemes to Promote Physical Activity 
 

This guideline makes recommendations on exercise referral schemes to promote 
physical activity for people aged 19 and older. NICE has already recommended 
structured exercise programmes to manage specific health conditions, or for 

rehabilitation after recovery from a specific condition These include:- 
 

- myocardial infarction  
- stroke  
- chronic heart failure  

- chronic obstructive pulmonary disease  
- depression  

- low back pain  
- chronic fatigue syndrome/myalgic encephalomyelitis (or encephalopathy)  

 

These structured exercise programmes vary in format, the mechanism of referral and 
content. They include components such as phase 3 and phase 4 rehabilitation 

activities and structured, tailored and supervised activities delivered by a specialist 
physical activity and exercise instructor (trained to level 4). 
 

Recommendations 
 

In line with NICE guidance this service is for people who are sedentary or inactive 
and have existing long term health conditions. The service provided will reflect the 
guidance outlined below: 

 

Page 144



Sample D – Extension of Contract 

 Incorporates the core techniques outlined in recommendations 7–10 of 
'Behaviour change: individual approaches' NICE public health guidance 49 

This includes: 
 

- recognising when people may or may not be more open to change 
(recommendations 8 and 9) 

- agreeing goals and developing action plans to help change behaviour 

(recommendation 7) 
- advising on and arranging social support (recommendations 7 and 10) 

- tailoring behaviour change techniques and interventions to individual need 
(recommendation 8) 

- monitoring progress and providing feedback (recommendations 7 and 10) 

- developing coping plans to prevent relapse (recommendations 7 and 8) 
 

 Collects data in line with the 'essential criteria' outlined in the Standard 
Evaluation 

 Framework for physical activity interventions. Specifically: programme details, 
evaluation details, demographics of individual participants, baseline data, 
follow-up data (impact evaluation) and process evaluation. 

 Makes the data collected available for analysis, monitoring and research to 
inform future practice. 

 
This scheme using primary care practitioner referral is open only to people who are 
classed as sedentary or inactive and have existing long term health conditions along 

with other factors that put them at increased risk of ill health to an exercise referral 
scheme if it conforms to the above criteria. 

 
Overview of commissioning responsibilities 
 

The Health and Social Care Act, 2012 conferred new duties on local authorities to 
improve the public’s health. As part of this there are commissioning responsibilities 

to prevent and reduce the impact of long-term conditions. 
 
Public Health Outcomes Framework 

 
The Public Health Outcomes Framework sets out high level outcomes and the LTC 

self care programme will contribute to the achievement of these. This service will 
contribute directly to the following PHO from the framework: 
 

- Healthy life expectancy 
- Proportion of physically active and inactive adults 

- Self-reported wellbeing 
 
Local Context 

 
In Salford, female life expectancy is 80.5 years and for males it is 77.1 years; this is 

lower than the national average by 2.6 years and 2.3 years respectively. There is 
also difference of around 12.5 years between the most and the least deprived 
deciles within Salford for males and 8.2 years for females. The difference in 'years of 

life lived without a significant health problem' is even greater, with those living in the more 

Page 145



Sample D – Extension of Contract 

affluent parts of the city living 16 more years without a significant health problem. Whilst 

Salford has improved death rates from LTCs,  Salford  is still above the England 

average for deaths under 75years from cardiovascular disease 
 

As above, Salford has significant levels of health inequalities within the City. Prior to 
the COVID-19 pandemic, according to active lives data, adult physical activity levels 
in Salford were above the GM average after a significant increase year on year since 

2015/16, with 74.9% of people achieving at least 30 minutes of physical activity a 
week. Like for many health indicators though, although positive changes had been 

seen in the activity levels of many demographic groups, inequalities exist within our 
city geographically, linked to deprivation and in addition to this specific demographic 
groups, such as culturally diverse communities, the elderly, disabled people and 

women and girls. 
 

The latest Active Lives results published by Sport England (November 2019-Nov 
2020) shows the effect of the pandemic on physical activity levels in Salford. 70.2% 
of adults in Salford are active for at least 30 minutes a week, this equates to 

approximately 145,000 adults moving. However, this is a decrease of 10,600 from 12 
months ago and it is vital to all keep working together to support active lives for all in 

Salford.  
 
Information released from surveys and reports throughout the pandemic led by the 

likes of Sport England, Greater Sport and TfGM give given mixed reports regarding 
the impact of the pandemic on physical activity levels. With some suggesting 

physical activity levels, including amounts of walking and cycling specifically have 
been reduced and some that they have increased. Deeper dives in to this data 
where it is available show that, like for other health and wellbeing indicators, the 

pandemic has widened inequalities with those from underserved communities more 
likely to have suffered serious illness themselves or within their family due to COVID 

or other repercussions linked to the pandemic such as employment and therefore 
reduced their levels of physical activity. Whereas those with higher socioeconomic 
status may actually have benefited from home working and better work life balance 

to increase their physical activity levels. This service will be a vital support to aid 
many of these underserved communities to become more physically active as part of 

the recovery from the pandemic and reverse the inevitable deconditioning and 
exacerbation of LTC that will have occurred as a result of this. 
 

Salford’s Locality Plan sets out priorities for the health and wellbeing of the City. 
Within the Living Well life stage, there is an emphasis on prevention and providing 

support to adults with a long term condition, such that individuals are encouraged to 
take care of their own health and wellbeing, to manage the impact of a any Long 
Term Condition and stop it getting worse 

 
 
Service Outcomes 

 
Participants in the Active Lifestyle programme will: 

 
- have skills to plan, set and achieve physical activity goals 

Page 146



Sample D – Extension of Contract 

- achieve increases in levels of physical activity that meet national guidelines 
for their age group and have improved capacity for physical activity 

- have improved motivation and confidence to maintain participation in physical 
activity as part of their self care plan 

- have improved self care outcomes for the managing their long term condition 
- have opportunities to share experiences and gain support from a self help 

network to enable the achievement of long term wellbeing outcomes 
 
Scope of Service 

 
Aims of service:- 
 

- To motivate and facilitate individuals with a LTC, to increase their capacity 
and confidence for self care, through participation in a structured physical 

activity programme. 
- Co-ordinate provision of the Service with General Practice Local 

Commissioned Service for people with long term conditions. 

- To work with specialist clinical services to support the development of client 
pathways from services, to the Active Lifestyles programmes. 

- To develop links with other community providers of physical activities and 
wellbeing 

- services, to support clients to maintain outcomes as a step down from the self 

care programme. 
 

Objectives:- 
 
The service will: 

 
- Provide an accessible, structured, appropriate and long term menu of physical 

activity programmes for people with a range of LTCs, to achieve the required 
improvement in physical capacity for activity, functional capacity and mental 
wellbeing. 

- Provide these programmes in venues across Salford’s localities. 
- Provide support to referred clients to meet self care goals as identified within 

their Personal Care Plan. 
- Apply a range of behaviour change techniques to develop motivation, 

confidence and skills in clients, to enable them set out their own physical 

activity and self care goals. 
- Where clients identify other health and wellbeing outcomes related to their self 

care, the provider will link clients to related provision, for example support to 
stop smoking. 

- Monitor changes in a range of client outcomes reflecting motivation and 

capacity for physical activity and mental wellbeing. 
- Where clients have a Body Mass Index of 25 kgm-2 or greater, a BMI 

measurement will be provided at initial assessment and on completion of the 
core offer. 

- Collect a range of client and service activity information, to support monitoring 

and performance management of the service. 

Page 147



Sample D – Extension of Contract 

- Work with other LTC referral services commissioned by Salford CCG, to 
ensure there are clear and established pathways from these services to the 

Active Lifestyles programme. 
- Ensure there are effective communication links from the Provider to LTC 

referral services, to support longer term management of the client’s condition. 
- Promote the service to referrers in Salford. 
- Collaborate with other mainstream and voluntary providers of physical activity 

programmes to support clients to maintain motivation and participation in a 
varied range of physical activities. 

- Ensure the programme is delivered by appropriately trained and experienced 
staff. 

- Engage with and support clients to establish a self care network, leading to 

the development of self care support activities. 
- Develop links to and activities with other wellbeing services and develop 

collaborative approaches to support achievement of self care outcomes, 
where appropriate. This includes the LTC Prevention Programme Provider. 

- Provide a co-ordinated performance reports detailing activity and client 

outcomes, alongside other Salford CCG commissioned physical activity 
services. 

 

In addition to the above, another £40,000 is sought to recommission the Physical 
Activity in Schools Service. Briefly outlined, this service:- 

 

- Facilitates the delivery of the National Child Measurement Programme (NCMP) 
in schools, by providing positive awareness raising sessions and events in 

schools, focused on benefits of physical activity and weight control 
- Encourages approaches to weight control through engaging primary school age 

children in physical activity programmes 

- Facilitates school-based approaches to increasing levels of physical activity in 
children 

 
National and Local Context 
 

National Context 
 

Even before the Coronavirus pandemic, levels of overweight and obesity in children 
were an increasing concern with the Health Survey for England report stating that 
around three in ten boys and girls aged 2 to 15 years were classified as either 

overweight or obese. The National Child Measurement Programme (NCMP) weighs 
and measures reception age and year 6 children in England. Whilst this data was 

showing a slightly changing trend in prevalence of overweight and obesity in 
children, levels remained high and unfortunately signs from the recently published 
NCMP data show the impact of the pandemic. There is a significant increase in 

obesity rates among primary-aged children in both reception-aged and year 6 
schoolchildren as the amount of obese children increased by around 4.5 percentage 

points between 2019-20 and 2020-21 – the highest annual rise since the NCMP 
began. Like for other public health indicators the 2020/21 NCMP figures show that 
for both reception and year 6 figures, severe obesity prevalence was four to five 

times as high for children living in the most deprived areas (than for children living in 

Page 148



Sample D – Extension of Contract 

the least deprived areas). If this trend is not reversed, this will no doubt impact on 
adult health outcomes and widen inequalities.  By 2025 it is estimated that 47% of 

men and 36% of women will be obese. Overweight and particularly obesity in 
childhood is associated with a range of conditions and illnesses, from excess blood 

pressure, heart disease, development of type 2 diabetes, musculoskeletal 
conditions, cancers. Physical activity has a positive role to play in a child’s 
development. Establishing a positive attitude and approach to routine physical 

activity at an early age has the potential to deliver life long health outcomes.  
 

‘Everybody Active Everyday: An evidence-based approach to physical activity’ 
 
is a national, evidence-based approach to support all sectors to embed physical 

activity into the fabric of daily life and make it an easy, cost-effective and ‘normal’ 
choice in every community in England. 

 
To make active lifestyles a reality for all, the framework’s 4 areas for action will: 
 

- change the social ‘norm’ to make physical activity the expectation 
- develop expertise and leadership within professionals and volunteers 

- create environments to support active lives 
- identify and up-scale successful programmes nationwide 
 

‘Everybody active, every day’ is also part of the cross-government ‘Moving More, 
Living More’ campaign for a more active nation as part of the 2012 Olympic and 

Paralympic Games legacy. It also identifies the important role of physical activity in 
school settings. 
 

School Settings 
 

The school setting is critical when it comes to children’s opportunities to be active. 
Evidence exists to support the ‘whole school approach’, including physical education, 
classroom activities, afterschool sports, and promoting active travel to and from 

school. 
 

Specific interventions in school supported by the evidence include: capacity building 
and staff training; increasing the number or quality of physical education classes; 
adjustment of interventions to target specific populations; increased activity at break 

times; changes in curriculum, equipment and materials provision. Additionally, walk to 
school programmes and cycling promotions can encourage increases active travel to 

and from school 
 
Physical Activity Guidelines 

 
The chief medical officer’s guidelines on physical activity covering primary aged school 

children are set out below: 
 
For children and young people (five to 18 years): 

 
- All children and young people should engage in moderate to vigorous intensity 

physical activity for at least 60 minutes and up to several hours every day. 

Page 149



Sample D – Extension of Contract 

- Vigorous intensity activities, including those that strengthen muscle and bone, 
should be incorporated at least three days a week. 

- All children and young people should minimise the amount of time spent being 
sedentary (sitting) for extended periods. 

- Based on the evidence, the guidelines can be applied to disabled children and 
young people, emphasising that they need to be adjusted for each individual 
based on that person’s exercise capacity and any special health issues or risks. 

 
This service specification focuses on engaging primary school age children in physical 

activity as an approach to reduce the prevalence of overweight and obesity. 
 
Overview of commissioning responsibilities 

 
The Health and Social Care Act, 2012 conferred new duties on local authorities to 

improve the public’s health.  
 
Public Health Outcomes Framework 

 
The Public Health Outcomes Framework sets out high level outcomes and the LTC 

self care programme will contribute to the achievement of these. This service will 
contribute indirectly to the following PHO from the framework: 
 

- Excess weight in 4 - 5 year olds and 10 - 11 year olds 
 

 
Local Context 
 

Local authority level data is not available for 2020/21 NCMP figures, however North 
West childhood obesity figures have increased broadly inline with the national figures 

for both reception and Year 6, which as highlighted already are concerning. 
 
Salford’s 2018/19 level of childhood overweight and obesity were high, but broadly 

reflected the national picture; 24.4% of reception age children are overweight or obese 
and 37.6% of year 6 children are overweight or obese. Important to not though, is that 

in line with trends nationally, the number of obese children in the most deprived 50% 
of areas in Salford, is significantly higher than in the least deprived. In addition to this, 
according to active lives data, despite a strong school based offer, particularly in 

primary schools (which is coordinated via the service this section of the paper 
describes) and an abundance of opportunities in community leisure and sport, 

Salford’s activity levels for children and young people were some of the lowest in GM, 
especially amongst secondary school aged pupils, in particular females.  
 

The Salford Locality Plan sets of the priorities across health and social care for 
improving the health and wellbeing of the population. The Start Well work stream 

ambition is that children will have the best start in life and continue to develop well 
during their early years. Key to this is children being healthy and active. 
 

Salford delivers the National School Measurement Programme and provides a Family 
Weight Management Service for children who are measured as obese. These 

programmes have been supported by activities delivered through the School Sport’s 

Page 150



Sample D – Extension of Contract 

Partnership and have involved a range of approaches, from Morning Move-it (a 
programme linked to a Breakfast Club), to whole school events and training sessions 

for school support staff on different approaches to involve children in being active. The 
emphasis throughout has been to provide activities that are stimulating and enjoyable 

for children. There hasn't been a direct focus on targeting these activities to overweight 
and obese children, more a case of generating a positive experience from physical 
activity. The School Nurse Team provide the NCMP programme and achieve a very 

high coverage; above 98% of reception and year 6 children are weighed and 
measured.  
 
Service Outcomes 

 

Expected Outcomes 
 

- Overweight and obese children are involved in programmes of physical activity 
in the school 

- Children will able to clearly identify why regular and routine physical activity is 

important for their health and development. 
- Children achieve physical activity goals through involvement in programmes 

- Overweight and obese children will make up at least 40% of the numbers who 
take part. 

- Overweight / obese children who take part show an increase in participation in 

daily physical activities 
- Children who are overweight/obese will be engaged in activities that are 

perceived as enjoyable 
- NCMP process will be supported with school events that promote physical 

activity and weight management 

- Parents have awareness of the purpose of the NCMP and how they can use 
their result to support their child 

- Schools who are supported to develop a school approach, have a clear 
programme of action and can demonstrate whole school involvement in the 
programme 

- Increase the capacity and skills of primary school workforce to deliver effective 
physical activity programmes. 

 
 
Scope of Service 

 
Aims 

 
Aims of this service are to: 
 

- Enhance the delivery of the NCMP programme in schools, by providing positive 
awareness raising sessions and events in schools, focused on benefits of 

physical activity and healthy weight 
- Encourage approaches to healthy weight through engaging primary school age 

children in physical activity programmes 

- Facilitate school based approaches to increasing levels of physical activity in 
children 

 

Page 151



Sample D – Extension of Contract 

Objectives 
 

The service will: 
 

- Provide a programme of events in selected primary schools in Salford, which 
will: 

 

 facilitate the delivery of the NCMP process in those schools 
 encourage parents to involve their children in routine, daily physical activity 

 lead to spin off events and sessions in the school, which engage a diverse 
range of children in physical activities 
 

- Provide distinct programmes of physical activity in primary schools, which 
contribute to recommended levels of physical activity for children in this age 

range. These will be targeted to a diverse range of children and will be provided 
at appropriate times in and around the school day. 

- Provide a range of signposting information for parents of children, to link them 

to sports clubs, community physical activity programmes, holiday sessions and 
other local opportunities. 

- In a selected number of schools, the project will lead and facilitate the 
development of school based approaches to physical activity, which provide 
opportunities for children to participate in and promote positive attitudes to the 

role of regular and routine involvement in physical activity for weight control. 
 

 
The plus one extension is being sought for both parts of this contract for the following 
reasons:- 

 
 The goods / services / works are only obtainable from one provider and 

there is no other provider available to allow genuine competition. Salford 

Community Leisure are the only provider in the city to have the assets to 
deliver this service – through  qualified specialist staff, buildings and 

equipment with reach across the city to permit equitable access for residents 
who require the Active Lifestyles and Physical Activity in Schools Services  

 
 Delivers best value to the council Salford Community Leisure have 

delivered on their KPIs and have a track record of evidenced positive 
outcomes for service users Salford Community Leisure works alongside 
primary and secondary care, VSCE sector and SCC to provide integrated 

pathways This is also the same for the Physical Activity in Schools Service . 
 

KPI MONITORING 

 
The KPIs for both services are as follows:- 

 
ACTIVE LIFESTYLES FOR ADULTS 

 

1. Programme set up 
 

Page 152



Sample D – Extension of Contract 

-  Active Lifestyle programmes are available across Salford and delivered in a 
range of appropriate and accessible venues. 

- Staff delivering programmes have the relevant level of qualifications: British 
Association of Cardiac Rehab level 4, Pulmonary rehab level 4, Fitness/Gym 

Instructor NVQ level 2 or higher. 
- A planned schedule of promotional activities, linking with appropriate referring 

services established (updated 6 monthly). 

- Schedule of programmes for Active Lifestyles identified. 
- Referral pathways from clinical and primary care providers in place. 

 
 2. Service capacity 
 

- 1000 client assessments delivered 
- Of clients completing the core offer, 80% are engaged in follow on activities. 

 
 3. Outcomes during the core offer 
 

- 75% of clients who are assessed, attend the core offer. 
- At least 80% of clients in the core offer achieve 3 personal improvements in 

their capacity for physical activity. 
- Improvements will be measurable and will relate to day to day functional 

ability/self management of LTC:- 
 

 At least 80% of clients in the core offer, have improved measures 
of wellbeing. 

 Of clients completing the core offer, 80% are engaged in follow on 
activities. 

 75% of clients in the core offer are able to report improved 

functioning in day to day tasks. 
 

4.Client outcomes: Follow on activities 
 

- Clients maintain their involvement over at least 3 months. 

- 90% of clients are participating in regular planned physical activities during a 
routine week. 

- 90% of clients report maintenance of wellbeing 
- 75% of clients report maintenance of improved capacity for day to day tasks. 

 
 

PHYSICAL ACTIVITY IN SCHOOLS SERVICE 

 

- 2000 children will participate in activities in targeted schools linked to the 

NCMP 
- 40% of children who take part in these programme activities will not be 

participating in other school sports clubs already  
- 80% of children who take part will report awareness of choices that impact on 

achieving a healthy weight 
- 90% of children involved in the programme will achieve recommended levels 

of physical activity 
- 20 NCMP support events will be provided 

Page 153



Sample D – Extension of Contract 

- 10 primary schools will develop local plans for improving levels of physical 

activity in children 
- 70% of these plans will to lead to the delivery of new sustained physical 

activity opportunities for children 
 

Current Performance and the Pandemic 

 

Active lifestyles for Adults  

As can be seen by cross referencing the attached quarter 3 2019-20 performance 
reports with the KPI Monitoring section above, the service was performing well and 
providing value for money prior to the pandemic in relation to numbers entering the 

programme, those completing the programme, increased physical activity levels, 
increased mental wellbeing, raised ability to perform functional daily tasks and those 

engaging in follow-on activities. 

However, what followed was an unprecedented period of disruption from March 
2020, that to quite a large extent, is still affecting the service at the time of writing in 

November 2021. Due to this, in line with a number of other Public Health 
commissioned services, a decision was made to prioritise operational delivery over 

formal performance reporting and therefore there is no KPI led, service specification 
informed performance report for the Active Lifestyles Service after quarter 3 2019 – 
20. This formal reporting recommenced recently with the quarter 1 2020 – 21 report. 

As can be seen in this Q1 2020 - 21 report numbers of referrals compared to quarter 
1 the previous year are down by 37% and although the figures for those opting out of 

the programme are lower compared to the previous year, this is due to a larger 
amount of people ‘pending’ due to wanting to wait to access the service due to 
worries regarding COVID-19. However, from this most recent report, the majority of 

KPIs related to outcomes for service users exceed the figures detailed in the last 
report submitted prior for Q3 2019-20.  

 

Although formal provider reports did cease over this period, the Public Health team 
kept in touch with the Active Lifestyles (Adults) team as part of governance to ensure 

that the service remained responsive and adapted to the scenario that both they and 
their clients found themselves in. The commissioned service delivery model could 

not operate in its current form, but there were still members of the Salford public who 
were, due to the COVID restrictions, in more need than ever of support to be 
physically active, not just to manage or improve their LTCs, but as the targeted 

cohort for this service would be more likely to be those asked to shield compared to 
the general population, to reduce or prevent social isolation and poor mental health. 

As can be seen in the attached ‘Active Lifestyles Service Pandemic Response’ 
report, the service did everything it possibly could to keep supporting their clients 

Page 154



Sample D – Extension of Contract 

throughout the various COVID related lockdowns and associated challenges, this 
included:- 

 

 All new or existing clients being offered a weekly phone or video call.  

 Home exercise programmes 

 Online classes 

 Regular Newsletters (important for those not able to access digital options) 

 

In addition to the above, the pandemic response report also details the extensive 
efforts to get back to face to face service delivery in a safe manner at the stages of 
the pandemic when they were advised it was safe to do so as per national or local 

restriction easing and local guidance or advice from ourselves as the Public Health 
Team. These COVID safe protocols were developed based on Health Protection 
colleague guidance and support. In addition to this, the Active Lifestyles Team put 

intensive time and effort in to working with individual clients who needed their 
confidence building to either get back to attending face to face Active Lifestyle 

sessions or accessing the leisure facilities via the passes provided to them as part of 
the Active Lifestyles Service. SCL have been patient in keeping the leisure passes of 
those who don’t feel confident to come and use the facilities frozen until they feel 

able to come back in. 

In reality, the Active Lifestyles Service is currently running using a hybrid model 

comprised of the traditional service delivery as per their service specification (as 
detailed in the Q1 2020 -21 report) and the activities described above (as detailed  

In the ‘Active Lifestyles Service Pandemic Response’ report) with a full complement 

of staff now back from furlough and service capacity getting back towards normal, 
conversations will take place to better capture the impact of the service’s 

remote/digital part of its service offer alongside more traditional methods in service 
reporting. The learning of this will be used to develop and implement a more flexible 
service model moving forwards. 

 
 

Physical Activity in Schools 
 
The attached 2020 report for the Physical Activity in Schools Service highlights how 

that service adapted during the pandemic to support teachers and other school staff 
to help children play sport and exercise safely. The testimonials on page three 

highlight how crucial this support has been to schools.  
 
Although like for the majority of face to face provision in Salford and wider, a lot of 

the usual activity did not take place, the service should be commended for its flexible 
and responsive approach to keep going and supporting children to be active whilst 

home schooling or under COVID Safe protocols when in school. The service led the 
development of COVID safe sports/games protocols in conjunction with Public 
Health and school colleagues which were used throughout the city and wider to keep 

children moving, when being physically active was more important than ever for their 
holistic health and wellbeing.  

Page 155



Sample D – Extension of Contract 

 
Digital content was also developed and shared as appropriate to support PE/Games 

and sports when children were home schooling as part of a ‘virtual physical activity 
learning community’ with representative across the school clusters. The service also 

hosted an online version of the Salford School Games which was very successful 
and had more schools taking part than ever before, as well as contributing to 
discussions concerning a ‘Thrive in Education’ integrated approach to physical 

activity for emotionally friendly schools and testing some new methods of working 
resulting from these. 

 
With reference to the attached ‘SSP Report – November 2021’, as well as advising 
over the delivery of COVID safe PE lessons, sports competitions and events, finding 

ways to continue to provide CPD to PE Leads and developing and distributing 
materials for virtual challenges (see Naomi’s Challenge Welcome/Naomi Challenge 

1 as examples, attached). The Physical Activity in Schools Service has contributed 
to the Education Recovery Plan in collaboration with schools, Children’s Services 
and other Thrive in Education partners to ensure physical activity is seen as key to 

children’s academic recovery in building resilience, confidence and positive mental 
health. They have also continued to play a crucial role in regular meetings with 

CAMHS i-Reach, Youth Service and the Thrive Board to develop pilots for Exercise 
on Prescription and led on the testing of different approaches to this, particularly in 
transition to Secondary school. 

 
In summary, both services have been flexible and responsive in an ever 

changing environment to support local people throughout the last two years. 
 
 

Social Value: 

 

In Salford, the city aims to apply  social value across the city and the city have 
developed a Charter for Social Value, which sets out to provide a single, shared 
approach and policy 

 
https://www.salford.gov.uk/your-counci l/social-value-in-salford/     

 
We are committed to the following principles: 
 

1. optimising the social, environmental and economic well-being of Salford and its 
people in everything that we do 

 
2. thinking long-term – turning investment into long-lasting outcomes 
 

3. working together across sectors to provide social value outcomes 
 

4. having values including inclusion, openness, honesty, social responsibility and 
caring for others 
 

5. having a clear and current understanding of how social value can make Salford a 
better place to live 

 

Page 156

https://www.salford.gov.uk/your-council/social-value-in-salford/


Sample D – Extension of Contract 

6. Working together to measure, evaluate and understand social value, as well as 
reporting publicly to the people of Salford about the social value that we create 

What is social value? 

Social value asks the question: "If £1 is spent on the delivery of services, can that 

same £1 be used 

to also produce a wider benefit to the community?”. This involves looking beyond the 
price of each individual contract and looking at the collective benefit to a community. 

The Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012 describes social value as “Improvement 
to the economic, social and environmental well-being of an area”. The Act also 

stipulates that social value should be “relevant” and “proportionate” to the subject 
matter. This means that procurement cannot require something wholly unconnected 
with the provision of the contract itself. 

Priorities for social value in Salford are likely to include measures which: 

• Increase community strength and resilience 

• Improve the positive impact that the local environment has on people’s wellbeing  

• Increase opportunities for employment and reduce poverty of Salford citizens 

 

SCL signs up to these standards, including payment of the Living Wage and 
adoption of the best possible working practices.   

As well as the way both services responded to the pandemic to continue to support 
our local residents to still benefit from being physically active to increase community 
strength and resilience at such a challenging time, it is also worth noting that as an 

organisation, SCL furloughed a large percentage of their staff due to leisure centres 
being shut down due to COVID restrictions and many of their services having to 

cease or being reduced. The majority of these furloughed staff volunteered as part of 
the humanitarian effort to deliver food and medicines to those shielding.  

SCL also run a number of other projects and programmes aimed at reducing 

inequalities, for example ‘Active Communities’ and others which provide volunteering 
options such as the Salford Youth Alliance which identifies young leaders to deliver 

sessions in their communities. Many of these volunteers go on to formal employment 
with SCL or elsewhere. 

Both SCL and the Physical Activity in Schools Service collaborate with each other 

regularly to enhance each other’s service offers and integrate/interact very well with 
the wider Salford system to advise over the scope of the future Salford physical 

activity offer for both Children, Young People/families and the adult population. The 
attached ‘AL Social Impact Report - Executive Summary’ give further detail with 
regards to the social value provided by the Active Lifestyles Service. 

Both parts of these contracts are monitored formally on a quarterly basis with the 
submission of written reports (examples of which are attached with this paper) which 

are scrutinised by representatives from both Public Health and the CCG. With 
prearranged contract meetings occurring on a quarterly basis and more regularly if 
deemed necessary as attended by representatives form Salford Community Leisure, 

Public Health and the CCG respectively 

 

Page 157



Sample D – Extension of Contract 

 

KEY COUNCIL POLICIES:  

 Salford Locality Plan 2020 – 25  

- ‘People will value being and feeling well in Salford’. Part of this is diabetes 

education and prevention, including face to face support – Which the Active 
Lifestyles Service provides through Active Lifestyles for Adults 

- ‘People in Salford will live independent and fulfilled lives into Active Older 

Age’. Through the Active Lifestyles for Adults 

- ‘Children and Young People will Develop Well in Salford’ The Physical 

Activity in Schools Service promotes positive mental wellbeing and helps 
reduce childhood obesity 

 ‘Transforming Salford into an Active City’, the framework for reducing the 

high levels of physical inactivity that exist within the population. This aligns with 
the GM Plan for physical activity ‘Greater Manchester Moving’ aiming for 75% 

of people being more active by 2025 
 

 

 

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT AND IMPLICATIONS: 

n/a 
 

 

ASSESSMENT OF RISK:   

There is a high risk of destabilising the Active Lifestyle Team if the Schedule is not 

maintained. If the funding is not approved and transferred before 31/03/2022 the 
Active Lifestyle Service may have to cease in its delivery as of 01/04/2022 as staffing 

and other costs will not be met. As indicated above, this service contributes to and 
aligns with many local strategies and programmes to prevent ill health through 
promoting positive wellbeing through physical activity and the management of long -

term conditions. There is no other offer providing  specialist support to get active and 
prevent further ill health and manage existing health conditions. Inequalities have 

widened due to the pandemic and as stated earlier in this paper, physical activity levels 
and the ‘activity gap’ are no different to other public health indicators in this respect. 
Those living in the most deprived areas are even more likely to be living with one or 

more LTC and be less active than prior to the pandemic. Services such as this are 
crucial for reducing these inequalities 

Likewise, the Physical activity in Schools Service is crucial for supporting our city’s 
most vulnerable children to improve their social, mental and emotional wellbeing and 
develop tools to enable them to then develop in to resilient young adults as part of the 

Salford THRIVE model. This is in addition to the impact taking regular physical activity 
has on the city’s childhood obesity levels. This is especially pertinent as recently 

Page 158



Sample D – Extension of Contract 

released national NCMP data shows that at both reception and Y6, obesity has 
increased by 5 percentage points. Also, children who enjoy physical activity and reap 

the benefits in early life are statistically much more likely to continue to be physically 
active in to adulthood which reduces the chance of premature morbidity and mortality 

from numerous diseases such as cancers and CVD. Both parts of this contract are 
integral to the wider Salford Physical Activity Framework and Locality Plan and support 
a multitude of other work that supports the population of Salford to live longer, healthier 

lives and reduce health inequalities.  

 

SOURCE OF FUNDING: 

Public Health Revenue Budget 

 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS: Submitted by: The Shared Legal Service 

When commissioning contracts for the procurement of goods, services or the 

execution of works, the Council must comply with the Public Contracts Regulations 
2015 (PCR) and its own Contractual Standing Orders (CSO’s), failing which a contract 
may be subject to legal challenge from an aggrieved provider. CSO’s apply to every 

contract, including temporary ones, for the procurement of supplies, services and the 
execution of works undertaken by or on behalf of the Council, subject to certain 

exceptions listed in the Orders.  
 
It is an established principle that an existing public contract is capable of being 

extended where the original agreement makes provision for the extension, and CSO’s 
allow for contract extensions to be made where the original contract makes provision 

for such an extension of the original term.  
 
When the original contract was awarded it was made clear that the term would be 

subject to a 12 month extension if deemed appropriate, hence any risk that any 
extension granted could be subject to realistic challenge by an aggrieved provider, on 

the basis that it ought to have been put out again to tender and advertised in 
accordance with public contract regulations and CSO’s, is low, and the option to 
extend within the agreement is now being properly exercised. 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: Submitted by: Michelle Cowley, Finance Manager, 
x2520 

The budget for these schemes is within the Public Health revenue grant 

 

PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS: Submitted by: The Corporate Procurement Team 

The extension for the Active Lifestyles service was included in the initial contract 
period, the request for a further 12 months for period 1st April 2022 to 31st March 

Page 159



Sample D – Extension of Contract 

2023, is in line with the council’s CSOs.  It should be noted that this contract now 
falls under the Service Level Agreement that Salford Council has in place with 

Salford Community Leisure. Salford City Council are currently undertaking a review 
of all SCL commissioned services under the SLA and will engage with Public Health 

re future procurement options moving forward. 

 

HR IMPLICATIONS:  Supplied by: 

n/a 

 

CLIMATE CHANGE IMPLICATIONS:  Supplied by: 

n/a

OTHER DIRECTORATES CONSULTED:  
n/a

 

CONTACT OFFICER: Peter Locke 
TELEPHONE NUMBER: 07976 267 926

 

WARD(S) TO WHICH REPORT RELATE(S):  

All wards 

 

  

Page 160



Sample C – Exception to CSO’S 

Part 1: Open to the public 

 
 

REPORT OF 

 
The Deputy Director of Public Health 

 

TO 
 

Procurement Board 
 

ON 

 
17 February 2020 

 

TITLE:  Approval for an Exception to Contractual Standing Orders to award a 
contract for  

ACTIVE LIFESTYLES FOR ADULTS AND 

PHYSICAL ACTIVITY IN SCHOOLS SERVICE 

 

RECOMMENDATION:  

That the Procurement Board approves an exception to Contractual Standing Orders 

as permitted within the City Council Constitution for ACTIVE LIFESTYLES FOR 
ADULTS AND PHYSICAL ACTIVITY IN SCHOOLS SERVICE the reasons 

highlighted in the table below and the award of the Contract for as detailed in the 
table below: 

 

Detail required Answers 

Title/Description of Contracted 
Service/Supply/Project 

ACTIVE LIFESTYLES FOR ADULTS AND 

PHYSICAL ACTIVITY IN SCHOOLS SERVICE 

 

Name of Successful Contractor  Salford Community Leisure 

Supplier Registration Number 

(to be supplied by Corporate Procurement) IP29627R 

Type of organisation 

(to be supplied by Corporate Procurement) 
Industrial & Provident Society 

Status of Organisation 

(to be supplied by Corporate Procurement) Non-SME 

Contract Value £190,000 Per Annum (estimated average) 

Page 161



Sample C – Exception to CSO’S 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY:   

The purpose of this report is to request an exception to Contractual Standing Orders 
to approve the award of a contract for ACTIVE LIFESTYLES FOR ADULTS AND  

PHYSICAL ACTIVITY IN SCHOOLS SERVICE.  

 

Contract Duration  One year (with a plus one option) 

Contract Start Date  01/04/2021 

Contract End Date  31/03/2022 

Optional Extension Period 1 01/04/2022 – 31/03/2023 

Optional Extension Period 2 n/a 

Who will approve each Extension Period? Procurement Board (extension > £150k) 

Contact Officer (Name & number) Peter Locke - 07976 267 926 

Lead Service Group People Services 

Reason for CSO Exception 

(select all that apply) 

The goods / services / works are only obtainable 
from one provider and there is no other provider 
available to allow genuine competition 

x 

The execution of works or the supply of goods 
or services is controlled by a statutory body 

 

Delivers Best Value to the Council x 

Special education, health or social care 
contracts, if it is considered in the Council’s best 
interests and to meet the Council’s obligations 
under relevant legislation 

 

The execution of works or the supply of goods 
and services is required so urgently as not to 
permit compliance with the requirements of 
competition 

 x 

Security works where the publication of 
documents or details in the tendering process 
could prejudice the security of SCC and Salford 
residents 

 

Procurements made through, or on behalf of, 
any consortium, local authority, statutory or 
similar body, provided that tenders or quotations 
are invited and contracts placed in accordance 
with national or EU legislation. 

 

Funding Source Choose an item. 

Ethical Contractor 
Mayor’s Employment Charter 

Committed to sign up to the Charter 

x 

 

 Accredited Living Wage Employer x 

Page 162



Sample C – Exception to CSO’S 

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS: 

 Specification - AL for LTC (Dec 16) 

 Specification - Phys Activity in Schools (Dec 16) 

 Active Lifestyles (LTC Only) Report Q3 2019 -20 

 SSSP 2020 REPORT 

 https://www.salford.gov.uk/your-counci l/social-value-in-salford/  

 AL Social Impact Report - Executive Summary 

 

KEY DECISION:  

NO  

DETAILS: 

The Public Health Team are seeking an exception to contract approval of £150,000 
funding from the Public Health Revenue Budget to fund the Salford Community 

Leisure Managed Referral scheme (Adult Active Lifestyles), which provides a range 
of physical activity programmes for those who have been diagnosed with long-term 
health conditions. 

 

This is a dedicated team of multi-disciplinary professionals, who develop specialised 
physical activity programmes for residents identified with one or more of the following 

health conditions:- 
 

 Previous heart attack or stroke 
 Coronary heart disease 
 High blood pressure 

 High cholesterol 
 Overweight or obese (BMI of over 25) 
 Diabetes 

 Family history of heart disease 
 Inactive lifestyle 

 
The core service offer consists of a minimum of twelve weeks of supported activities, 
with a follow on offer consisting of a minimum of three months on top of the core 

offer. The programme links into the wider SCL offers to maintain activity.  
 

 
 
 

 
 

 

Page 163

https://www.salford.gov.uk/your-council/social-value-in-salford/


Sample C – Exception to CSO’S 

National and Local Context 

 

National Context 
 

A long-term condition (LTC) can be defined as ‘one that cannot currently be cured 
but can be controlled with the use of medication and/or other therapies.’ In 2010 
there were 15.4 million people with a LTC in England (30% of the population) and it 

is estimated that by 2025 this will rise to18 million. Treatment and management of 
Long Term Conditions accounts for 70% of health and social care spend and this is 

predicted to increase. The international literature highlights a number of risk factors 
that increase the likelihood in people developing LTCs. Risk factors include smoking, 
overweight/obesity, low physical activity, alcohol and poor diet. In addition, some 

LTCs e.g. diabetes and hypertension lead to or increase the likelihood of other LTCs, 
particularly cardiovascular diseases. Physical activity is a key to preventing and 

reducing LTCs. There is a sound evidence base that demonstrates regular physical 
activity has an important role in prevention and management of over 20 conditions. 
 

 
Physical Inactivity and Long Term Conditions 

 
Physical activity is key to preventing and reducing LTCs. There is a sound evidence 
base that demonstrates regular physical activity has an important role in the 

prevention and management of over 20 conditions from diabetes, cancer to 
dementia. Physical activity helps to maintain a healthy weight and improves health, 

regardless of weight. More than 1 in 17 adults in the UK have diabetes; 90% have 
type 2 diabetes. Being active can reduce the risk of developing this condition by 30 - 
40%. The evidence suggests that People with diabetes can reduce their need for 

medication and the risk of complications by being more active. 
 

Evidence highlights that if inactive people became more active this could prevent 
one in ten cases of stroke and heart disease in the UK. One in eight women in the 
UK are at risk of developing breast cancer at some point in their lives. Being active 

every day can reduce that risk by up to 20% and also improve the lives of those 
living with cancer. Dementia affects 800,000 people in the UK. Staying active can 

reduce the risk of vascular dementia and also have a positive impact on non-
vascular dementia. Depression is increasing in all age groups. Evidence suggests 
people who have low levels of physical activity have higher rates of moderate to 

severe depression compared with more active people. LTC contribute to system 
wide costs therefore increasing physical activity aims to prevent or avoid costs.  

 
NICE Guidance (PH54): Exercise Referral Schemes to Promote Physical Activity 
 

This guideline makes recommendations on exercise referral schemes to promote 
physical activity for people aged 19 and older. NICE has already recommended 

structured exercise programmes to manage specific health conditions, or for 
rehabilitation after recovery from a specific condition These include:- 
 

- myocardial infarction  
- stroke  

- chronic heart failure  

Page 164



Sample C – Exception to CSO’S 

- chronic obstructive pulmonary disease  
- depression  

- low back pain  
- chronic fatigue syndrome/myalgic encephalomyelitis (or encephalopathy)  

 
These structured exercise programmes vary in format, the mechanism of referral and 
content. They include components such as phase 3 and phase 4 rehabilitation 

activities and structured, tailored and supervised activities delivered by a specialist 
physical activity and exercise instructor (trained to level 4). 

 
Recommendations 
 

In line with NICE guidance this service is for people who are sedentary or inactive 
and have existing long term health conditions. The service provided will reflect the 

guidance outlined below: 
 

 Incorporates the core techniques outlined in recommendations 7–10 of 

'Behaviour change: individual approaches' NICE public health guidance 49 
This includes: 

 
- recognising when people may or may not be more open to change 

(recommendations 8 and 9) 

- agreeing goals and developing action plans to help change behaviour 
(recommendation 7) 

- advising on and arranging social support (recommendations 7 and 10) 
- tailoring behaviour change techniques and interventions to individual need 

(recommendation 8) 

- monitoring progress and providing feedback (recommendations 7 and 10) 
- developing coping plans to prevent relapse (recommendations 7 and 8) 

 

 Collects data in line with the 'essential criteria' outlined in the Standard 

Evaluation 

 Framework for physical activity interventions. Specifically: programme details, 
evaluation details, demographics of individual participants, baseline data, 

follow-up data (impact evaluation) and process evaluation. 

 Makes the data collected available for analysis, monitoring and research to 

inform future practice. 
 
This scheme using primary care practitioners referral is open only to people who are 

classed as sedentary or inactive and have existing long term health conditions along 
with other factors that put them at increased risk of ill health to an exercise referral 

scheme if it conforms to the above criteria. 
 
Overview of commissioning responsibilities 

 
The Health and Social Care Act, 2012 conferred new duties on local authorities to 

improve the public’s health. As part of this there are commissioning responsibilities 
to prevent and reduce the impact of long-term conditions. 
 

Public Health Outcomes Framework 

Page 165



Sample C – Exception to CSO’S 

 
The Public Health Outcomes Framework sets out high level outcomes and the LTC 

self care programme will contribute to the achievement of these. This service will 
contribute directly to the following PHO from the framework: 

 
- Healthy life expectancy 
- Proportion of physically active and inactive adults 

- Self-reported wellbeing 
 

Local Context 
 
In Salford, female life expectancy is 80.5 years and for males it is 76.1 years; this is 

lower than the national average by 3.11 years and 2.51 years respectively. There is 
also difference of around 12.6 years between the most and the least deprived 

deciles within Salford for males and 8.3 years for females. Whilst Salford has 
improved death rates from LTCs,  Salford  has the third highest under 75yrs CVD 
mortality rate in the North West.  

 
Salford has significant levels of health inequalities within the City, there is a 12 year 

difference in life expectancy for men and 8.2 years for women, between the least 
and most deprived wards. Approximately 45% of adults in Salford are physically 
active, compared to the national average of 56%. Salford’s Locality Plan sets out 

priorities for the health and wellbeing of the City. Within the Living Well life stage, 
there is an emphasis on prevention and providing support to adults with a long term 

condition, such that individuals are encouraged to take care of their own health and 
wellbeing, to manage the impact of a any Long Term Condition and stop it getting 
worse 

 
 
Service Outcomes 

 
Participants in the Active Lifestyle programme will: 

 
- have skills to plan, set and achieve physical activity goals 

- achieve increases in levels of physical activity that meet national guidelines 
for their age group and have improved capacity for physical activity 

- have improved motivation and confidence to maintain participation in physical 

activity as part of their self care plan 
- have improved self care outcomes for the managing their long term condition 

- have opportunities to share experiences and gain support from a self help 
network to enable the achievement of long term wellbeing outcomes 

 

Scope of Service 

 

Aims of service:- 
 

- To motivate and facilitate individuals with a LTC, to increase their capacity 

and confidence for self care, through participation in a structured physical 
activity programme. 

Page 166



Sample C – Exception to CSO’S 

- Co-ordinate provision of the Service with General Practice Local 
Commissioned Service for people with long term conditions. 

- To work with specialist clinical services to support the development of client 
pathways from services, to the Active Lifestyles programmes. 

- To develop links with other community providers of physical activities and 
wellbeing 

- services, to support clients to maintain outcomes as a step down from the self 

care programme. 
 

Objectives:- 
 
The service will: 

 
- Provide an accessible, structured, appropriate and long term menu of physical 

activity programmes for people with a range of LTCs, to achieve the required 
improvement in physical capacity for activity, functional capacity and mental 
wellbeing. 

- Provide these programmes in venues across Salford’s localities. 
- Provide support to referred clients to meet self care goals as identified within 

their Personal Care Plan. 
- Apply a range of behaviour change techniques to develop motivation, 

confidence and skills in clients, to enable them set out their own physical 

activity and self care goals. 
- Where clients identify other health and wellbeing outcomes related to their self 

care, the provider will link clients to related provision, for example support to 
stop smoking. 

- Monitor changes in a range of client outcomes reflecting motivation and 

capacity for physical activity and mental wellbeing. 
- Where clients have a Body Mass Index of 25 kgm-2 or greater, a BMI 

measurement will be provided at initial assessment and on completion of the 
core offer. 

- Collect a range of client and service activity information, to support monitoring 

and performance management of the service. 
- Work with other LTC referral services commissioned by Salford CCG, to 

ensure there are clear and established pathways from these services to the 
Active Lifestyles programme. 

- Ensure there are effective communication links from the Provider to LTC 

referral services, to support longer term management of the client’s condition. 
- Promote the service to referrers in Salford. 

- Collaborate with other mainstream and voluntary providers of physical activi ty 
programmes to support clients to maintain motivation and participation in a 
varied range of physical activities. 

- Ensure the programme is delivered by appropriately trained and experienced 
staff. 

- Engage with and support clients to establish a self care network, leading to 
the development of self care support activities. 

- Develop links to and activities with other wellbeing services and develop 

collaborative approaches to support achievement of self care outcomes, 
where appropriate. This includes the LTC Prevention Programme Provider. 

Page 167



Sample C – Exception to CSO’S 

- Provide a co-ordinated performance reports detailing activity and client 
outcomes, alongside other Salford CCG commissioned physical activity 

services. 
 

In addition to the above, another £40,000 is sought to recommission the Physical 
Activity in Schools Service. Briefly outlined, this service:- 

 
- Facilitates the delivery of the National Child Measurement Programme (NCMP) 

in schools, by providing positive awareness raising sessions and events in 
schools, focused on benefits of physical activity and weight control 

- Encourages approaches to weight control through engaging primary school age 
children in physical activity programmes 

- Facilitates school-based approaches to increasing levels of physical activity in 

children 
 
National and Local Context 
 

National Context 

 
Levels of overweight and obesity in children are an increasing concern. Health Survey 

for England reports that around three in ten boys and girls aged 2 to 15 years were 
classified as either overweight or obese. The National School Measurement 
Programme weighs and measures reception age and year 6 children in England. 

Whilst this data reports a slightly changing trend in prevalence of overweight and 
obesity in children, levels remain high and will impact on adult health outcomes.  By 

2025 it is estimated that 47% of men and 36% of women will be obese. Overweight 
and particularly obesity in childhood is associated with a range of conditions and 
illnesses, from excess blood pressure, heart disease, development of type 2 diabetes, 

musculoskeletal conditions, cancers. Physical activity has a positive role to play in a 
child’s development. Establishing a positive attitude     and approach to routine 

physical activity at an early age has the potential to deliver life long health outcomes 
 
‘Everybody Active Everyday: An evidence-based approach to physical activity’ 

is a national, evidence-based approach to support all sectors to embed physical 
activity into the fabric of daily life and make it an easy, cost-effective and ‘normal’ 

choice in every community in England. 
 
To make active lifestyles a reality for all, the framework’s 4 areas for action will: 

 
- change the social ‘norm’ to make physical activity the expectation 

- develop expertise and leadership within professionals and volunteers 
- create environments to support active lives 
- identify and up-scale successful programmes nationwide 

 
‘Everybody active, every day’ is also part of the cross-government ‘Moving More, 

Living More’ campaign for a more active nation as part of the 2012 Olympic and 
Paralympic Games legacy. It also identifies the important role of physical activity in 
school settings. 

 

Page 168



Sample C – Exception to CSO’S 

School Settings 
 

The school setting is critical when it comes to children’s opportunities to be active. 
Evidence exists to support the ‘whole school approach’, including physical education, 

classroom activities, afterschool sports, and promoting active travel to and from 
school. 
 

Specific interventions in school supported by the evidence include: capacity building 
and staff training; increasing the number or quality of physical education classes; 

adjustment of interventions to target specific populations; increased activity at break 
times; changes in curriculum, equipment and materials provision. Additionally, walk to 
school programmes and cycling promotions can encourage increases active travel to 

and from school 
 

Physical Activity Guidelines 
 
The chief medical officer’s guidelines on physical activity covering primary aged school 

children are set out below: 
 

For children and young people (five to 18 years): 
 

- All children and young people should engage in moderate to vigorous intensity 

physical activity for at least 60 minutes and up to several hours every day. 
- Vigorous intensity activities, including those that strengthen muscle and bone, 

should be incorporated at least three days a week. 
- All children and young people should minimise the amount of time spent being 

sedentary (sitting) for extended periods. 

- Based on the evidence, the guidelines can be applied to disabled children and 
young people, emphasising that they need to be adjusted for each individual 

based on that person’s exercise capacity and any special health issues or risks. 
 
This service specification focuses on engaging primary school age children in physical 

activity as an approach to reduce the prevalence of overweight and obesity. 
 

Overview of commissioning responsibilities 
 
The Health and Social Care Act, 2012 conferred new duties on local authorities to 

improve the public’s health.  
 

Public Health Outcomes Framework 
 
The Public Health Outcomes Framework sets out high level outcomes and the LTC 

self care programme will contribute to the achievement of these. This service will 
contribute indirectly to the following PHO from the framework: 

 
- Excess weight in 4 - 5 year olds and 10 - 11 year olds 
 

 
 

 

Page 169



Sample C – Exception to CSO’S 

Local Context 
 

Salford’s 2018/19 level of childhood overweight and obesity are high, but broadly 
reflected the national picture; 24.4% of reception age children are overweight or obese 

and 37.6% of year 6 children are overweight or obese. The number of obese children 
in the most deprived 50% of areas in Salford, this is almost double that of the least 
deprived. The Salford Locality Plan sets of the priorities across health and social care 

for improving the health and wellbeing of the population. The Start Well work stream 
ambition is that children will have the best start in life and continue to develop well 

during their early years. Key to this is children being healthy and active. 
 
Salford delivers the National School Measurement Programme and provides a Family 

Weight Management Service for children who are measured as obese. These 
programmes have been supported by activities delivered through the School Sport’s 

Partnership and have involved a range of approaches, from Morning Move-it (a 
programme linked to a Breakfast Club), to whole school events and training sessions 
for school support staff on different approaches to involve children in being active. The 

emphasis throughout has been to provide activities that are stimulating and enjoyable 
for children. There hasn't been a direct focus on targeting these activities to overweight 

and obese children, more a case of generating a positive experience from physical 
activity. 
The School Nurse Team provide the NCMP programme and achieve a very high 

coverage; above 98% of reception and year 6 children are weighed and measured.  
 

Service Outcomes 

 
Expected Outcomes 

 
- Overweight and obese children are involved in programmes of physical activity 

in the school 
- Children will able to clearly identify why regular and routine physical activity is 

important for their health and development. 

- Children achieve physical activity goals through involvement in programmes 
- Overweight and obese children will make up at least 40% of the numbers who 

take part. 
- Overweight / obese children who take part show an increase in participation in 

daily physical activities 

- Children who are overweight/obese will be engaged in activities that are 
perceived as enjoyable 

- NCMP process will be supported with school events that promote physical 
activity and weight management 

- Parents have awareness of the purpose of the NCMP and how they can use 

their result to support their child 
- Schools who are supported to develop a school approach, have a clear 

programme of action and can demonstrate whole school involvement in the 
programme 

- Increase the capacity and skills of primary school workforce to deliver effective 

physical activity programmes. 
 

 

Page 170



Sample C – Exception to CSO’S 

Scope of Service 

 

Aims 
 

Aims of this service are to: 
 

- Enhance the delivery of the NCMP programme in schools, by providing positive 

awareness raising sessions and events in schools, focused on benefits of 
physical activity and healthy weight 

- Encourage approaches to healthy weight through engaging primary school age 
children in physical activity programmes 

- Facilitate school based approaches to increasing levels of physical activity in 

children 
 

Objectives 
 
The service will: 

 
- Provide a programme of events in selected primary schools in Salford, which 

will: 
 

 facilitate the delivery of the NCMP process in those schools 

 encourage parents to involve their children in routine, daily physical activity 
 lead to spin off events and sessions in the school, which engage a diverse 

range of children in physical activities 
 

- Provide distinct programmes of physical activity in primary schools, which 

contribute to recommended levels of physical activity for children in this age 
range. These will be targeted to a diverse range of children and will be provided 

at appropriate times in and around the school day. 
- Provide a range of signposting information for parents of children, to link them 

to sports clubs, community physical activity programmes, holiday sessions and 

other local opportunities. 
- In a selected number of schools, the project will lead and facilitate the 

development of school based approaches to physical activity, which provide 
opportunities for children to participate in and promote positive attitudes to the 
role of regular and routine involvement in physical activity for weight control. 

 
 

 
As outlined in the table at the start of this paper, this exception is being sought for 
both parts of this contract for the following reasons:- 

 
 The goods / services / works are only obtainable from one provider and 

there is no other provider available to allow genuine competition. Salford 

Community Leisure are the only provider in the city to have the assets to 
deliver this service – through  qualified specialist staff, buildings and 

equipment with reach across the city to permit equitable access for residents 
who require the Active Lifestyles and Physical Activity in Schools Services  

 

Page 171



Sample C – Exception to CSO’S 

 Delivers best value to the council Salford Community Leisure have 

delivered on their KPIs and have a track record of evidenced positive 

outcomes for service users Salford Community Leisure works alongside 
primary and secondary care, VSCE sector and SCC to provide integrated 

pathways This is also the same for the Physical Activity in Schools Service . 
 
 

 The execution of works or the supply of goods and services is required 
so urgently as not to permit compliance with the requirements of 

competition –The contract is due to cease in March 2021 for both the Adult 

Active Lifestyles and Physical Activity in Schools Services. Unfortunately, this 

contract was not extended prior to due unforeseen circumstances. . 
 

 

KPI MONITORING 

 
The KPIs for both services are as follows:- 
 
ACTIVE LIFESTYLES FOR ADULTS 

 

1. Programme set up 
 

-  Active Lifestyle programmes are available across Salford and delivered in a 

range of appropriate and accessible venues. 
- Staff delivering programmes have the relevant level of qualifications: British 

Association of Cardiac Rehab level 4, Pulmonary rehab level 4, Fitness/Gym 
Instructor NVQ level 2 or higher. 

- A planned schedule of promotional activities, linking with appropriate referring 

services established (updated 6 monthly). 
- Schedule of programmes for Active Lifestyles identified. 

- Referral pathways from clinical and primary care providers in place. 
 

 2. Service capacity 

 
- 1000 client assessments delivered 

- Of clients completing the core offer, 80% are engaged in follow on activities. 
 

 3. Outcomes during the core offer 

 
- 75% of clients who are assessed, attend the core offer. 

- At least 80% of clients in the core offer achieve 3 personal improvements in 
their capacity for physical activity. 

- Improvements will be measurable and will relate to day to day functional 
ability/self management of LTC:- 

 
 At least 80% of clients in the core offer, have improved measures 

of wellbeing. 
 Of clients completing the core offer, 80% are engaged in follow on 

activities. 

Page 172



Sample C – Exception to CSO’S 

 75% of clients in the core offer are able to report improved 
functioning in day to day tasks. 

 
4.Client outcomes: Follow on activities 

 
- Clients maintain their involvement over at least 3 months. 
- 90% of clients are participating in regular planned physical activities during a 

routine week. 
- 90% of clients report maintenance of wellbeing 

- 75% of clients report maintenance of improved capacity for day to day tasks. 
 

 
PHYSICAL ACTIVITY IN SCHOOLS SERVICE 

 

- 2000 children will participate in activities in targeted schools linked to the 
NCMP 

- 40% of children who take part in these programme activities will not be 

participating in other school sports clubs already  

- 80% of children who take part will report awareness of choices that impact on 

achieving a healthy weight 

- 90% of children involved in the programme will achieve recommended levels 
of physical activity 

- 20 NCMP support events will be provided 

- 10 primary schools will develop local plans for improving levels of physical 

activity in children 

- 70% of these plans will to lead to the delivery of new sustained physical 
activity opportunities for children 

 

 Both services are achieving their KPIs and providing social value for their customers 

and wider community - Feedback from the Active Lifestyles Service Manager:- 

‘During lockdown we spoke to clients on a regular basis and provided home exercise 
packs and did several online classes that were all very popular and successful. 

 
Since the leisure centres reopened, we have been fortunate enough to have free rein 

on one particular site - Salford Sports Village for the Active Lifestyles clients, Monday 
-Wednesday.  We have used these days for our more vulnerable clients either in a 
class or a gym induction. By booking vulnerable clients in at the sports village this 

shields them from the general public, but yet they are still able to exercise. All my 
team are wearing PPE. 

 
For the less vulnerable clients that come through on a referral we have been meeting 
them at their chosen leisure centre and carrying out gym inductions etc as normal. 

 
In the last few weeks we have seen a massive increase in referrals and I would say 

we are 70-80% back to some sort of normality across all services.’ 

Page 173



Sample C – Exception to CSO’S 

 
The 2020 report for the Physical Activity in Schools Service highlights how that 

service has adapted during the pandemic to support teachers and other school staff 
to help children play sport and exercise safely. The testimonials on page three 

highlight how crucial this support has been to schools. Although like for the majority 
of face to face provision in Salford and wider, usual activity did not take place, the 
service has a recovery plan in place for the coming financial year. 

 
Social Value: 

 
In Salford, the city aims to apply  social value across the city and the city have 
developed a Charter for Social Value, which sets out to provide a single, shared 

approach and policy 
 

https://www.salford.gov.uk/your-counci l/social-value-in-salford/     
 
We are committed to the following principles: 

 
1. optimising the social, environmental and economic well-being of Salford and its 

people in everything that we do 
 
2. thinking long-term – turning investment into long-lasting outcomes 

 
3. working together across sectors to provide social value outcomes 

 
4. having values including inclusion, openness, honesty, social responsibility and 
caring for others 

 
5. having a clear and current understanding of how social value can make Salford a 

better place to live 
 
6. Working together to measure, evaluate and understand social value, as well as 

reporting publicly to the people of Salford about the social value that we create 
What is social value? 

Social value asks the question: "If £1 is spent on the delivery of services, can that 
same £1 be used 

to also produce a wider benefit to the community?”. This involves looking beyond the 

price of each individual contract and looking at the collective benefit to a community. 

The Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012 describes social value as “Improvement 

to the economic, social and environmental well-being of an area”. The Act also 
stipulates that social value should be “relevant” and “proportionate” to the subject 

Page 174

https://www.salford.gov.uk/your-council/social-value-in-salford/


Sample C – Exception to CSO’S 

matter. This means that procurement cannot require something wholly unconnected 
with the provision of the contract itself. 

Priorities for social value in Salford are likely to include measures which: 

• Increase community strength and resilience 

• Improve the positive impact that the local environment has on people’s wellbeing  

• Increase opportunities for employment and reduce poverty of Salford citizens 

SCL signs up to these standards, including payment of the Living Wage and 

adoption of the best possible working practices.   

 

Both parts of these contracts are monitored formally on a quarterly basis with the 
submission of written reports (examples of which are attached with this paper) which 
are scrutinised by representatives from both Public Health and the CCG. With 

prearranged contract meetings occurring on a quarterly basis and more regularly if 
deemed necessary as attended by representatives form Salford Community Leisure, 

Public Health and the CCG respectively 
 

 

 

KEY COUNCIL POLICIES:  

 Salford Locality Plan 2020 – 25  

- ‘People will value being and feeling well in Salford’. Part of this is diabetes 

education and prevention, including face to face support – Which the Active 

Lifestyles Service provides through Active Lifestyles for Adults 

- ‘People in Salford will live independent and fulfilled lives into Active Older 

Age’. Through the Active Lifestyles for Adults 

- ‘Children and Young People will Develop Well in Salford’ The Physical 
Activity in Schools Service promotes positive mental wellbeing and helps 

reduce childhood obesity 

 ‘Transforming Salford into an Active City’, the framework for reducing the 

high levels of physical inactivity that exist within the population. This aligns with 
the GM Plan for physical activity ‘Greater Manchester Moving’ aiming for 75% 

of people being more active by 2025 

 

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT AND IMPLICATIONS:-   

n/a

 

Page 175



Sample C – Exception to CSO’S 

ASSESSMENT OF RISK:   

There is a high risk of destabilising the Active Lifestyle Team if the Schedule is not 

maintained. If the funding is not approved and transferred before 31/03/2021 the 
Active Lifestyle Service may have to cease in its delivery as of 01/04/2021 as staffing 

and other costs will not be met. As indicated above, this service contributes to and 
aligns with many local strategies and programmes to prevent ill health through 
promoting positive wellbeing through physical activity and the management of long-

term conditions. There is no other offer providing  specialist support to get active and 
prevent further ill health and manage existing health conditions.  

Likewise, the Physical activity in Schools Service is crucial for supporting our city’s 
most vulnerable children to improve their social, mental and emotional wellbeing and 
develop tools to enable them to then develop in to resilient young adults as part of the 

Salford THRIVE model. This is in addition to the impact taking regular physical activity 
has on the city’s childhood obesity levels. Also, children who enjoy physical activity 

and reap the benefits in early life are statistically much more likely to continue to be 
physically active in to adulthood which reduces the chance of premature morbidity and 
mortality from numerous diseases such as cancers and CVD. Both parts of this 

contract are integral to the wider Salford Physical Activity Framework and Locality Plan 
and support a multitude of other work that supports the population of Salford to live 

longer, healthier lives and reduce health inequalities.  

 

SOURCE OF FUNDING: 

Public Health Revenue Budget

 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS: Tony Hatton, Principal Solicitor, tel. 219 6323 

When commissioning contracts for the procurement of goods, services or the 
execution of works, the Council must comply with the Public Contracts Regulations 

2015 (PCR) and its own Contractual Standing Orders (CSO’s), failing which a contract 
may be subject to legal challenge from an aggrieved provider. 

 
Whilst exceptions to CSO’s may be authorised by a decision notice from Procurement 
Board, as detailed in the Constitution there is still a risk of challenge from aggrieved 

providers if the usual tender process has not been followed. The risk of challenge 
increases in tandem with the value and proposed length of the extension. In this 

instance the Council is not commissioning a service which may be readily provided by 
a number of suppliers in the marketplace, if indeed any, and SCL are in a unique 
position to provide the services to the Council to realise the benefits set out in the 

report. 
 

Also PCR permits direct awards of contracts to be made in limited circumstances, set 
out at regulation 32 of the PCR (“Negotiated procedure without prior publication”) such 
that reg 32 (2)(b)(ii) confirms use of the procedure: 

“…where the works, supplies or services can be supplied only by a particular economic 

operator for any of the following reasons: 

Page 176



Sample C – Exception to CSO’S 

 (ii)  competition is absent for technical reasons, 

 but only….where no reasonable alternative or substitute exists and the absence of 

competition is not the result of an artificial narrowing down of the parameters of the 

procurement;” 

 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: Supplied by Michelle Cowley, Finance Manager, x2520 

Funding is available through the Public Health Grant - Cost Centre: S7414 

 
PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS: Supplied by: Chris Conway, Procurement, tel. 
6248. 

 
Procurement are happy to approve the extension for the Active Lifestyles service 

from 1st April 2021 to 31st March 2022 with an option to extend for a further 12 
months for period 1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023, it should be noted that this 
contract now falls under the Service Level Agreement that Salford Council has in 

place with Salford Community Leisure. Salford City Council are currently undertaking 
a review of all SCL commissioned services under the SLA and will engage with 

Public Health re future procurement options moving forward. 

 

HR IMPLICATIONS: Supplied by: n/a 

 

CLIMATE CHANGE IMPLICATIONS:  n/a 

 

OTHER DIRECTORATES CONSULTED: n/a

 

CONTACT OFFICER:  Peter Locke 

TELEPHONE NUMER: 07976 267 926

 

WARD(S) TO WHICH REPORT RELATE(S):  

This report effects all wards

 
 

Page 177



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Sample C – Exception to CSO’S 

Salford City Council - Record of Decision 

 

I Councillor Hinds, Lead Member for Finance and Support Services and chairman of the 
Procurement Board, in exercise of the powers contained within the Council Constitution 
do hereby approve an exception to Contractual Standing Orders as permitted within the 
City Council Constitution and the award of the Contract as detailed in the table below: 

 

Detail required Answers 

Title/Description of Contracted 
Service/Supply/Project 

ACTIVE LIFESTYLES FOR ADULTS AND 

PHYSICAL ACTIVITY IN SCHOOLS SERVICE 

Name of Successful Contractor  Salford Community Leisure 

Supplier Registration Number 

(to be supplied by Corporate Procurement) IP29627R 

Type of organisation 

(to be supplied by Corporate Procurement) 
Industrial & Provident Society 

Status of Organisation 

(to be supplied by Corporate Procurement) Non-SME 

Contract Value £190,000 Per Annum (estimated average) 

Contract Duration   

Contract Start Date  01/04/2021 

Contract End Date  31/03/2022 

Optional Extension Period 1 01/04/2022 – 31/03/2023 

Optional Extension Period 2 n/a 

Who will approve each Extension Period? Procurement Board (extension > £150k) 

Contact Officer (Name & number) Peter Locke – 07976267926 

Lead Service Group Public Health 

Reason for CSO Exception 

(select all that apply) 

The goods / services / works are only obtainable 
from one provider and there is no other provider 
available to allow genuine competition 

x 

The execution of works or the supply of goods 
or services is controlled by a statutory body 

 

Delivers Best Value to the Council x 

Special education, health or social care 
contracts, if it is considered in the Council’s best 
interests and to meet the Council’s obligations 
under relevant legislation 

 

The execution of works or the supply of goods 
and services is required so urgently as not to 
permit compliance with the requirements of 
competition 

x 

Security works where the publication of 
documents or details in the tendering process 

 

Page 179



 

Sample C – Exception to CSO’S 

Detail required Answers 
could prejudice the security of SCC and Salford 
residents 

Procurements made through, or on behalf of, 
any consortium, local authority, statutory or 
similar body, provided that tenders or quotations 
are invited and contracts placed in accordance 
with national or EU legislation. 

 

Funding Source Choose an item. 

Ethical Contractor 
Mayor’s Employment Charter 

Committed to sign up to the Charter 

x 

 

 Accredited Living Wage Employer x 

 

The reasons are 

 
As outlined in the table at the start of this paper, this exception is being sought for both 
parts of this contract for the following reasons:- 
 

• The goods / services / works are only obtainable from one provider and 
there is no other provider available to allow genuine competition. Salford 
Community Leisure are the only provider in the city to have the assets to deliver 
this service – through  qualified specialist staff, buildings and equipment with 
reach across the city to permit equitable access for residents who require the 
Active Lifestyles and Physical Activity in Schools Services  
 

• Delivers best value to the council Salford Community Leisure have delivered on 
their KPIs and have a track record of evidenced positive outcomes for service 
users Salford Community Leisure works alongside primary and secondary care, 
VSCE sector and SCC to provide integrated pathways This is also the same for 
the Physical Activity in Schools Service . 
 

• The execution of works or the supply of goods and services is required so 
urgently as not to permit compliance with the requirements of competition –
The contract is due to cease in March 2021 for both the Adult Active Lifestyles and 
Physical Activity in Schools Services. Unfortunately, this contract was not 
extended prior to due unforeseen circumstances. . 

 

Options considered and rejected were 
 

Due to a combination of the reasons described above, there were no other realistic 
options available to consider 

 

Assessment of risk 

There is a high risk of destabilising the Active Lifestyle Team if the Schedule is not 
maintained. If the funding is not approved and transferred before 31/03/2021 the Active 

Page 180



 

Sample C – Exception to CSO’S 

Lifestyle Service may have to cease in its delivery as of 01/04/2021 as staffing and other 
costs will not be met. As indicated above, this service contributes to and aligns with many 
local strategies and programmes to prevent ill health through promoting positive wellbeing 
through physical activity and the management of long-term conditions. There is no other 
offer providing  specialist support to get active and prevent further ill health and manage 
existing health conditions.  

Likewise, the Physical activity in Schools Service is crucial for supporting our city’s most 
vulnerable children to improve their social, mental and emotional wellbeing and develop 
tools to enable them to then develop in to resilient young adults as part of the Salford 
THRIVE model. This is in addition to the impact taking regular physical activity has on the 
city’s childhood obesity levels. Also, children who enjoy physical activity and reap the 
benefits in early life are statistically much more likely to continue to be physically active in 
to adulthood which reduces the chance of premature morbidity and mortality from 
numerous diseases such as cancers and CVD. Both parts of this contract are integral to 
the wider Salford Physical Activity Framework and Locality Plan and support a multitude 
of other work that supports the population of Salford to live longer, healthier lives and 
reduce health inequalities.  

 

The source of funding is 

The Public Health Revenue Budget 

 

Legal advice obtained  
 
Yes, as below:- 
 

Tony Hatton, Principal Solicitor, tel. 219 6323 

When commissioning contracts for the procurement of goods, services or the execution of 
works, the Council must comply with the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 (PCR) and its 
own Contractual Standing Orders (CSO’s), failing which a contract may be subject to legal 
challenge from an aggrieved provider. 
 
Whilst exceptions to CSO’s may be authorised by a decision notice from Procurement 
Board, as detailed in the Constitution there is still a risk of challenge from aggrieved 
providers if the usual tender process has not been followed. The risk of challenge 
increases in tandem with the value and proposed length of the extension. In this instance 
the Council is not commissioning a service which may be readily provided by a number of 
suppliers in the marketplace, if indeed any, and SCL are in a unique position to provide 
the services to the Council to realise the benefits set out in the report. 
 
Also PCR permits direct awards of contracts to be made in limited circumstances, set out 
at regulation 32 of the PCR (“Negotiated procedure without prior publication”) such that 
reg 32 (2)(b)(ii) confirms use of the procedure: 

“…where the works, supplies or services can be supplied only by a particular economic 

operator for any of the following reasons: 

 (ii)  competition is absent for technical reasons, 

Page 181



 

Sample C – Exception to CSO’S 

 but only….where no reasonable alternative or substitute exists and the absence of 

competition is not the result of an artificial narrowing down of the parameters of the 

procurement;” 

 

Financial advice obtained  
 
Yes, as below:- 
 

Michelle Cowley, Finance Manager, x2520 
 
Funding is available through the Public Health Grant - Cost Centre: S7414 
 

 

Procurement advice obtained  
 
Yes, as below:- 
 
Chris Conway, Procurement, tel. 6248. 
 
Procurement are happy to approve the extension for the Active Lifestyles service 
from 1st April 2021 to 31st March 2022 with an option to extend for a further 12 months 
for period 1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023, it should be noted that this contract now falls 
under the Service Level Agreement that Salford Council has in place with Salford 
Community Leisure. Salford City Council are currently undertaking a review of all SCL 
commissioned services under the SLA and will engage with Public Health re future 
procurement options moving forward. 

 

HR advice obtained n/a 

 

Climate change implications obtained n/a 

 

Documents used 

• Active Lifestyles & Physical Activity in Schools Extension (Exception to Contract) 
Paper 

• Specification - AL for LTC (Dec 16) 

• Specification - Phys Activity in Schools (Dec 16) 

• Active Lifestyles (LTC Only) Report Q3 2019 -20 

• SSSP 2020 REPORT 

• https://www.salford.gov.uk/your-council/social-value-in-salford/  

• AL Social Impact Report - Executive Summary 

Page 182

https://www.salford.gov.uk/your-council/social-value-in-salford/


 

Sample C – Exception to CSO’S 

 

Contact details 

Contact Officer: Peter Locke 

Telephone number: 07976267926 

 

• This matter is also subject to consideration by the Lead Member for Health and 
Wellbeing 

• The relevant Scrutiny Committee to call-in the decision is the Health and Social 
Care Scrutiny Panel 

 

 

 

Signed: COUNCILLOR BILL HINDS Dated: 17th February 2021 

  Lead Member 

  

 

* This decision was published on 17th February 2021 

* This decision will come in force at 4.00 p.m. on 24th February 2021 unless it is 
called-in in accordance with the Decision Making Process Rules. 

 

 

Page 183



This page is intentionally left blank



Title: Active Life for Adults   
Date: December 2016 

 Page 1 of 15 

Call-off contract based on: 

Salford City Council’s Public Health Services Procurement Framework  

 

 

 

 

Specification   
(revised December 2016) 

 

 

 

Mini-Competition for:- 

Active lifestyles for adults  

 

Programme Area F:      

Physical Activity  

 

Level of Intervention: 

Lot 2:  Level 2:  Structured behavioural support 

 

 

Page 185



Title: Active Life for Adults   
Date: December 2016 

 Page 2 of 15 

Instructions 

1.1 General 

1.1.1 The contents of this Mini Competition and of any other documentation sent to you in respect 
of this process are provided on the basis that they remain the property of the Council and 
must be treated as confidential.  If you are unable or unwilling to comply with this 
requirement you are required to destroy all associated documents immediately and not to 
retain any electronic or paper copies. 

1.1.2 No Provider will undertake any publicity activities with any part of the media in relation to this 
Mini Competition process without the prior written agreement of the Council, including 
agreement on the format and content of any publicity. 

1.1.3 Nothing in this Mini Competition shall bind the Council to accept any Submission. 

1.1.4 The Council reserves the right to cancel the Mini Competition at any point. The Council is not 
liable for any costs resulting from any cancellation of this Mini Competition. 

1.1.5 This Mini Competition is made available in good faith.  No warranty is given as to the 
accuracy or completeness of the information contained in it and any liability or any 
inaccuracy or incompleteness is therefore expressly disclaimed by the Council and its 
advisers. 

1.1.6 Any resulting Call-Off from this Mini Competition will be subject to the Framework 
Agreement. 

1.1.7 All Contractors will be informed as to the outcome of their Submission. 

1.1.8 In the event of a satisfactory Submission not being received, the Council reserves the right 
to consider alternative procurement options. 

 

2 Population Needs  

2.1 National and Local Context 

2.1.1 National Context 

A long-term condition (LTC) can be defined as ‘one that cannot currently be cured but can be 
controlled with the use of medication and/or other therapies.’ In 2010 there were 15.4 million people 
with a LTC in England (30% of the population) and it is estimated that by 2025 this will rise to 
18million.  Treatment and management of Long Term Conditions accounts for 70% of health and 
social care spend and this is predicted to increase1.  
 
There is strong evidence that lifestyle risk factors increase the risk for LTCs. Smoking, poor diet, 
overweight/obesity, low physical activity and alcohol all contribute. In turn some LTCs e.g. diabetes, 
hypertension and mental health problems lead or increase the risk for other LTCs particularly 
cardiovascular diseases. 
 

                                            

1
 Department of Health (2010) Improving the health and well-being of people with long term conditions. 

Page 186



Title: Active Life for Adults   
Date: December 2016 

 Page 3 of 15 

The management of risk factors for LTCs and in particular, approaches that increase a person’s 
capacity for self care is important in the context of people taking action to reduce the impact of their 
illness on their wellbeing and in turn, reducing the reliance on services. 
 
Physical activity is a key component of a self-care programme as it increases a person’s capacity 
for self care. The benefits of regular physical activity are proven – for people with an LTC, physical 
activity has an important role in prevention and management of over 20 conditions. 
 

2.1.2. Everybody Active Everyday: An evidence-based approach to physical activity2 

Everybody active, every day’ is a national, evidence-based approach to support all sectors to 

embed physical activity into the fabric of daily life and make it an easy, cost-effective and ‘normal’ 

choice in every community in England. 

To make active lifestyles a reality for all, the framework’s 4 areas for action will:  

 change the social ‘norm’ to make physical activity the expectation 

 develop expertise and leadership within professionals and volunteers 

 create environments to support active lives 

 identify and up-scale successful programmes nationwide 
 

2.1.3. Physical Inactivity and Long Term Conditions 

The link between physical inactivity and obesity is well established. With more than half of adults 
and almost a quarter of children overweight or obese, everyone would benefit from being more 
active every day. It helps to maintain a healthy weight and improves health, regardless of weight. 

More than 1 in 17 adults in the UK have diabetes; 90% have type 2 diabetes, which is associated 
with lifestyle. Being active can reduce the risk of developing this condition by 30-40%. People with 
diabetes can reduce their need for medication and the risk of complications by being more active. 

Persuading inactive people to become more active could prevent one in ten cases of stroke and 
heart disease in the UK. 

One in eight women in the UK are at risk of developing breast cancer at some point in their lives. 
Being active every day can reduce that risk by up to 20% and also improve the lives of those living 
with cancer. 

Dementia affects 800,000 people in the UK. Staying active can reduce the risk of vascular dementia 
and also have a positive impact on non-vascular dementia. 

Depression is increasing in all age groups. People who are inactive have three times the rate of 
moderate to severe depression of active people. Being active is central to our mental health. 

Disease and disability create costs, and not just for the NHS. Long term conditions such as 
diabetes, cardiovascular and respiratory disease lead to greater dependency on home, residential 
and ultimately nursing care. This drain on resources is avoidable, as is the personal strain it puts on 
families and individuals. 

                                            

2
PHE (2014) Everybody Active Everyday: An evidence-based approach to physical activity 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/everybody-active-every-day-a-framework-to-embed-physical-activity-into-
daily-life  

Page 187

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/everybody-active-every-day-a-framework-to-embed-physical-activity-into-daily-life
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/everybody-active-every-day-a-framework-to-embed-physical-activity-into-daily-life


Title: Active Life for Adults   
Date: December 2016 

 Page 4 of 15 

2.2. NICE Guidance (PH54): Exercise Referral Schemes to Promote Physical Activity3 

This guideline makes recommendations on exercise referral schemes to promote physical activity 
for people aged 19 and older. It is an update of recommendation 5 in 'Four commonly used methods 
to increase physical activity' (NICE public health guidance 2). 

NICE has already recommended structured exercise programmes to manage specific health 
conditions, or for rehabilitation after recovery from a specific condition (see box 1). These include 
stroke, cardiac and pulmonary rehabilitation programmes. 

Box 1 The role of structured exercise programmes in the management of, and rehabilitation 
following, a health condition. 

NICE recommends structured exercise programmes tailored to individual need to manage, and for 
rehabilitation after, certain health conditions, including: 

 myocardial infarction (see NICE clinical guideline 172 on secondary prevention) 

 stroke (see NICE clinical guideline 162 on rehabilitation) 

 chronic heart failure (see NICE clinical guideline 108) 

 chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (see NICE clinical guideline 101) 

 depression (see NICE clinical guideline 90 for adults) 

 low back pain (see NICE clinical guideline 88) 

 chronic fatigue syndrome/myalgic encephalomyelitis (or encephalopathy) (see NICE clinical 
guideline 53) 

These structured exercise programmes vary in format, the mechanism of referral and content. They 
include components such as phase 3 and phase 4 rehabilitation activities and structured, tailored 
and supervised activities delivered by a specialist physical activity and exercise instructor (trained to 
level 4). 

 

Recommendations 

In line with NICE guidance this service is for people who are sedentary or inactive and have existing 
long term health conditions. The service provided will reflect the guidance outlined below:  

 Incorporates the core techniques outlined in recommendations 7–10 of 'Behaviour change: 
individual approaches' NICE public health guidance 49 This includes: 

o recognising when people may or may not be more open to change ( 
recommendations 8 and 9) 

o agreeing goals and developing action plans to help change behaviour ( 
recommendation 7) 

o advising on and arranging social support (recommendations 7 and 10) 

                                            

 

Page 188

http://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph2
http://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph2
http://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph54/chapter/recommendations#box-1-the-role-of-structured-exercise-programmes-in-the-management-of-and-rehabilitation-following
http://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg172
http://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg162
http://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg108
http://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg101
http://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg90
http://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg88
http://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg53
http://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph54/chapter/glossary#phase-3-and-phase-4-rehabilitation-activities
http://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph54/chapter/glossary#level-4
http://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph54/chapter/glossary#sedentary
http://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph54/chapter/glossary#inactive
http://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/PH49/chapter/1-Recommendations#recommendation-7-use-proven-behaviour-change-techniques-when-designing-interventions


Title: Active Life for Adults   
Date: December 2016 

 Page 5 of 15 

o tailoring behaviour change techniques and interventions to individual need ( 
recommendation 8)  

o monitoring progress and providing feedback (recommendations 7 and 10)  
o developing coping plans to prevent relapse (recommendations 7 and 8). 

 
 Collects data in line with the 'essential criteria' outlined in the Standard Evaluation 

Framework for physical activity interventions. Specifically: programme details, evaluation 
details, demographics of individual participants, baseline data, follow-up data (impact 
evaluation) and process evaluation.  

 Makes the data collected available for analysis, monitoring and research to inform future 
practice.  

Primary care practitioners should only refer people who are sedentary or inactive and have existing 
long term health conditions along with other factors that put them at increased risk of ill health to an 
exercise referral scheme if it conforms to the above criteria. 

2.1.2 Overview of commissioning responsibilities 

The Health and Social Care Act, 2012 conferred new duties on local authorities to improve the 
public’s health. As part of this there are commissioning responsibilities for behavioural and lifestyle 
campaigns to prevent and reduce the impact of long-term conditions. In addition there are 
responsibilities for interventions and services to improve the lifestyle modifiable risk factors related 
to long term conditions. 
 

2.1.3 Public Health Outcomes Framework 

The Public Health Outcomes Framework sets out high level outcomes and the LTC self care 
programme will contribute to the achievement of these. This service will contribute directly to the 
following PHO from the framework: 
- Healthy life expectancy 
- Proportion of physically active and inactive adults 
- Self-reported wellbeing 
 

2.2 Local Context 

In Salford, female life expectancy is 80.5 years and for males it is 76.1 years; this is lower than the 
national average by 3.11 years and 2.51 years respectively. There is also difference of around 12.6 
years between the most and the least deprived deciles within Salford for males and 8.3 years for 
females. 
 
Salford has improving death rates from LTCs, however Salford also has the third highest under 
75yrs CVD mortality rate in the North West Salford has significant levels of health inequalities within 
the City, there is a 12 year difference in life expectancy for men and 8.2 years for women, between 
the least and most deprived wards. This is reflected in levels of smoking, alcohol, low levels of 
physical activity. Approximately 45% of adults in Salford are physically active, compared to the 
national average of 56%. 
 
Salford’s Loicality Plan sets out priorities for the health and wellbeing of the City. Within the Living 
Well lifestage, there is an emphasis on prevention and providing support to adults with a long term 
condition, such that individuals are encouraged to  take care of their own health and wellbeing, to 
manage the impact of a  any Long Term Condition and stop it  getting worse,  

Page 189

http://www.noo.org.uk/core/frameworks/SEF_PA
http://www.noo.org.uk/core/frameworks/SEF_PA
http://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph54/chapter/glossary#sedentary
http://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph54/chapter/glossary#inactive
http://www.phoutcomes.info/


Title: Active Life for Adults   
Date: December 2016 

 Page 6 of 15 

 

3 Service Outcomes  

3.1 Expected Outcomes 

Participants in the Active Lifestyle programme will: 

- have skills to plan, set and achieve physical activity goals 

- achieve increases in levels of physical activity that meet national guidelines for their age 
group and have improved capacity for physical activity 

- have improved motivation and confidence to maintain participation in physical activity as 
part of their self care plan 

- have improved self care outcomes for the managing their long term condition 

- have opportunities to share experiences and gain support from a self help network to 
enable the achievement of long term wellbeing outcomes 
 

4 Scope of Service 

4.1 Aims and Objectives 

4.1.1 Aims 

The aims of this service are: 

• To motivate and facilitate individuals with an LTC, to increase their capacity and confidence 
for self care, through participation in a structured physical activity programme. 

• Co-ordinate provision of the Service with General Practice Local Commissioned Service for 
people with long term conditions. 

• To work with specialist clinical services to support the development of client pathways from 
services, to the Active Lifestyles programmes. 

• To develop links with other community providers of physical activities and wellbeing 
services, to support clients to maintain outcomes as a step down from the self care 
programme. 

 

4.1.2 Objectives 

The service will: 
- Provide an accessible, structured, appropriate and long term* menu of physical activity 

programmes for people with a range of LTCs, to achieve the required improvement in 
physical capacity for activity, functional capacity and mental wellbeing. 

- Provide these programmes in venues across Salford’s localities. 

- Provide support to referred clients to meet self care goals as identified within their Personal 
Care Plan. 

- Apply a range of behaviour change techniques to develop motivation, confidence and skills 
in clients, to enable them set out their own physical activity and self care goals. 

- Where clients identify other health and wellbeing outcomes related to their self care, the 
Provider will link clients to related provision, for example support to stop smoking. 

- Monitor changes in a range of client outcomes reflecting motivation and capacity for physical 
activity and mental wellbeing. 

- Where clients have a Body Mass Index of 25 kgm-2 or greater, a BMI measurement will be 
provided at initial assessment and on completion of the core offer. 

Page 190



Title: Active Life for Adults   
Date: December 2016 

 Page 7 of 15 

- Apply the Standard Evaluation Framework for Physical Activity Interventions (see 4.2) 

- Collect a range of client and Service activity information, to support monitoring and 
performance management of the Service. 

- Work with other LTC referral services commissioned by Salford CCG, to ensure there are 
clear and established pathways from these services to the Active Lifestyles programme. 

- Ensure there are effective communication links from the Provider to LTC referral services, to 
support longer term management of the client’s condition. 

- Promote the service to referrers in Salford. 

- Collaborate with other main stream and voluntary providers of physical activity programmes 
to support clients to maintain motivation and participation in a varied range of physical 
activities. 

- Ensure the programme is delivered by appropriately trained and experienced staff. 

- Engage with and support clients to establish a self care network, leading to the development 
of self care support activities. 

- Develop links to and activities with other wellbeing services and develop collaborative 
approaches to support achievement of self care outcomes, where appropriate. This includes 
the LTC Prevention Programme Provider. 

- Provide a co-ordinated performance reports detailing activity and client outcomes, alongside 
other Salford CCG commissioned physical activity services. 

 
*Long term – refers to client being able to access a programme over a minimum of 3 months to 
a maximum of 6 months. 

 
 

4.1.3 Social Value objective 

The Provider of the service will identify, deliver and account for a range of social outcomes from this 
service. Social Value outcomes will relate to Salford Council’s Social Value Policy 
https://www.salford.gov.uk/your-council/social-value-in-salford/ 
 
Social value outcomes will reflect the following areas: 

 Growing City 
 Co-operative City 
 Caring City 
 Innovative City 

 
Social value outcomes will be relevant and proportionate and evidenced as part of the regular 
performance review. 

 
 

4.2 Service Description 

The long-term conditions referred to in this specification are: 
Coronary Heart Disease, heart failure, atrial fibrillation, hypertension, peripheral arterial disease, 
stroke, type 1 and 2 diabetes, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and chronic kidney disease. 
Clients with a low level mental health issue combination with the above are in scope. 
 
This is primarily a level 2 service which involves staff with specialist skills case managing clients to 
achieve self care outcomes, using a structured programme of support. 
 
The structured programme will be delivered as a core offer to bring about improvements in physical 
capacity for activity, with a follow on offer to help the client embed new behaviours. 

Page 191

https://www.salford.gov.uk/your-council/social-value-in-salford/


Title: Active Life for Adults   
Date: December 2016 

 Page 8 of 15 

 
The core offer will consist of a minimum of 12 weeks of supported activities. 
 
The follow on offer will consist of a minimum of 3 months post core offer. 
 
The Service will be provided for clients with a diverse range of LTCs as outlined, some of whom will 
have attended a rehab programme, but not necessarily so. The Service will need to ensure it has 
staff with the relevant knowledge, skills and ability to engage clients in safe and effective physical 
activities appropriate to the stage of their condition. 
 
The Service will be accessed via a referral, followed by an assessment in line with national exercise 
referral scheme guidance.  
 
The Service will incorporate a baseline assessment and periodic assessments of progress to ensure 
improvements and achievement of outcomes are monitored. The assessments will include 
measures of motivation and confidence. This will be aligned with the 'essential criteria' outlined in 

the Standard Evaluation Framework for physical activity interventions4. Note that BMI data will be 

collected and mae available in performance reporting for those clients with BMI of 25 or higher. 

 
The Service will develop a ‘core’ offer, which will consist of at least a six to eight week structured 
programme, with a follow on offer featuring a wider menu of appropriately supervised activities, up 
to a period of 6 months from assessment. The purpose of the ‘core’ offer is to introduce the client to 
physical activity, improve confidence in exercising and achieve improvements in baseline fitness 
measures. The follow on offer will encourage and support the client to embed physical activity into 
their lifestyle and build confidence / motivation to maintain physical activity goals. For the purposes 
of the KPIs, the expectation is the client will need to attend a minimum number of sessions to gain 
these improvements in capacity. 
 
The Service will support clients to identify their own short, medium and longer term goals for self 
care, and provide opportunities to develop skills to achieve these. 
 
The Service will target the majority if its resources to individuals with a long-term condition and who 
are sedentary and who are from an area of Salford with a high level of health inequality. 
 
The Service will ensure there are progression routes for clients following completion of their 
engagement with the physical activity programme. Clients will be signposted to these activities as 
part of their managed self care programme. 
 
The Service will engage with clients to find out about challenges involved in managing an LTC and 
will use this information to support the continued development of the Active Lifestyles programme. 
 
Where appropriate, the Provider will collaborate with other organisations / stakeholders to develop 
shared activities that deliver outcomes. 
 
The Provider will ensure performance monitoring and reporting is maintained. Reports will relate to 
objectives, activities, outcomes and KPIs. Reporting arrangements will be agreed with the 
Commissioner and with reference to a co-ordinated reporting approach with Salford CCG, for other 
SCL commissioned activities for adults with LTC. 

                                            

4
 Standard Evaluation Framework for physical activity interventions. 

http://www.noo.org.uk/uploads/doc/vid_16722_SEF_PA.pdf  

Page 192

http://www.noo.org.uk/core/frameworks/SEF_PA
http://www.noo.org.uk/uploads/doc/vid_16722_SEF_PA.pdf


Title: Active Life for Adults   
Date: December 2016 

 Page 9 of 15 

 

4.3 Governance 

4.3.1 General 

- Ensure all staff/ volunteers (paid or unpaid) are DSB checked. 
- Ensure contingency plans are in place to accommodate staff sickness and absences for 

business continuity of the Service. 
 

4.3.2 Skills and competencies 

- All staff/ volunteers (paid or unpaid) to have the appropriate knowledge, skills and 
qualifications for the role. These will include British Association of Cardiac Rehab level 4, 
Pulmonary Rehab level 4, WRIGHT Foundation, and Fitness / Gym Instructor qualifications 
equivalent to REPs level 3 or higher5. 

-  Exercise referral schemes must not operate without qualified instructors who are registered 
on the Register of Exercise Professionals (REPs) with the Level 3 exercise referral category 
of registration. The use of exercise instructors who are not Level 3 exercise referral qualified 
and not registered on REPs does not represent national policy and only applies to those 
schemes which have an appropriately qualified and registered Level 3 exercise referral 
professional designing, agreeing, adapting and reviewing the client’s physical activity 
programme6. 

- Staff delivering programmes will be required to have the appropriate registration and 
insurances. 

- All staff/ volunteers (paid or unpaid) to have access to continuous personal, vocational, 
employment and professional training/ learning opportunities as appropriate to build local 
assets. 

- All staff/ volunteers (paid or unpaid) to receive timely and regular supervision and appraisals 
to ensure the delivery of the programme. 

 

4.3.3 Audit 

- Undertake ongoing monitoring and evaluation of services, including customer feedback (see 
sections 5 and 6). 

- Ensure continuous service improvement through applying the learning from monitoring and 
evaluation.  

- Engage with commissioners regarding service development and improvement. 
 

4.3.4 Care pathways and protocols 

- Ensure the programme is informed through effective engagement and intelligence 
gathering. 

                                            

5
The Register of Exercise Professionals (REPS)  http://www.exerciseregister.org/resources/exercise-referral  

6
 British Heart Foundation National Centre for Physical Activity and Health (2010). Exercise Referral Kit. 

http://www.bhfactive.org.uk/sites/Exercise-Referral-Toolkit/  
 

Page 193

http://www.exerciseregister.org/resources/exercise-referral
http://www.bhfactive.org.uk/sites/Exercise-Referral-Toolkit/


Title: Active Life for Adults   
Date: December 2016 

 Page 10 of 15 

- Ensure policies, pathways and practices are updated in line with emerging evidence and 
new guidelines such as Department of Health, NICE, Public Health England. 

- Ensure timely and appropriate dissemination of guidelines and good practice.  

- Implement a network delivery approach whereby stakeholders and organisations involved in 
or with direct links to the programme share best practice, deliver joined up approaches and 
targeted interventions.   
 

4.4 Population 

The Service will be provided for a Salford adult population with a long term condition. 
The service will be expected to meet the needs of a diverse patient group in terms of culture, 
ethnicity and ability. 

 

4.5 Inclusion and exclusion criteria 

i. Inclusion criteria 

Adult residents of Salford, with a Salford post code and / or registered with a Salford GP who 
have been diagnosed with a long term condition and who have been medically assessed as 
safe to participate in an exercise programme. 

 

ii. Exclusion criteria 
 

Clients with contra-indications that put them at risk through participation in a supervised 
exercise programme. 
Clients currently engaged in a phase3 or other rehab programme. 
The Service Provider can determine if a patient is unsafe / not appropriate to attend the 
programme. Where this applies, the Provider will have a clear rationale and assessment for 
doing so and will collate a log of such incidences. 

 

4.6 Referrals 

Patients will be offered the service via referral from a GP / Hospital Service, other wellbeing 
providers and related programmes e.g. via Integrated Care Programme. 
 

4.7 Interdependencies with other services 

  The Service links to the following: 
- Specialist services in Salford Royal Foundation Trust 

- Primary Care services 

- Weight management services 

- Providers of stop smoking support 

- Providers of alcohol services 

- Health Improvement Service 

- Integrated Wellbeing and Employability Service 

- Adult Social Care provision 

- Long term condition prevention services 
   

Page 194



Title: Active Life for Adults   
Date: December 2016 

 Page 11 of 15 

5 Safeguarding Children and Vulnerable Adults 

5.1 The Provider shall adopt Salford City Council Safeguarding Policies and such policies shall 
comply with the local multi-agency policies as amended from time to time and may be 
appended in Appendix F of the Public Health Call-Off Contract (Safeguarding Policies). 

5.2 At the reasonable written request of the Commissioner and by no later than 10 Business Days 
following receipt of such request, the Provider must provide evidence to the Authority that it is 
addressing any safeguarding concerns. 

5.3 If requested by the Commissioner, the Provider shall participate in the development of any 
local multi-agency safeguarding quality indicators and/or plan. 

5.4 Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) 

5.4.1 The sexual exploitation of children and young people under 18 involves exploitative situations, 
contexts and relationships where young people (or a third person or persons) receive 
‘something’ (e.g. food, accommodation, drugs, alcohol, cigarettes, affection, gifts, money) as a 
result of performing, and/or others performing on them, sexual activities. 

5.4.2 In all cases those exploiting the child/young person have power over them by virtue of their 
age, gender, intellect, physical strength and/or economic or other resources.  

5.4.3 In order to improve the effectiveness of safeguarding and protecting children and young 
people from this form of abuse it is necessary to follow the Greater Manchester Sexual Health 
(SH) CSE guidelines in identifying and reporting CSE.  The GM SH CSE checklist can be 
used as a prompt to ensure a series of key questions are asked during the general 
consultation process with all under 18 and vulnerable clients.  The Greater Manchester SH 
pathway for CSE must be adhered to alongside local safeguarding procedures.  It is vital that 
all staff (including non-clinical and reception staff) have access to and complete CSE training 
to ensure they are fully able to recognise the signs of CSE and act according to the relevant 
pathways and procedures. 

 

6 Service User Involvement 

The Provider shall engage, liaise and communicate with Service Users, their Carers and Legal 
Guardians in an open and clear manner in accordance with the Law, good clinical practice and 
their human rights. 

As soon as reasonably practicable following any reasonable request from the  Commissioner, 
the Provider must provide evidence to the Authority of the involvement of service users, carers 
and staff in the development of services. 
 
The Provider must carry out Service User surveys (and Carer surveys) and shall carry out any 
other surveys reasonably required by the commissioner in relation to the Services.  
 
The Provider must review and provide a written report to the Authority on the results of each 
survey carried out under clause B4.3 and identify any actions reasonably required to be taken 
by the Provider in response to the surveys.  The Provider must implement such actions as 
soon as practicable. If required by the Authority, the Provider must publish the outcomes and 
actions taken in relation to such surveys. 

 

Page 195



Title: Active Life for Adults   
Date: December 2016 

 Page 12 of 15 

7 Service Monitoring 

Provide performance reports every 3 months to the commissioner on activity, KPIs and 
outcomes, including financial spend. 

 
Provide an annual evaluation report at the end of year one and year two. 
 
Collects data in line with the 'essential criteria' outlined in the Standard Evaluation Framework 
for physical activity interventions 

 
See Appendix 2 for KPIs. 

 
 

8 Applicable Service Standards 

NICE (PH54) (2014). Exercise referral schemes to promote physical activity. 
http://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph54  

British Heart Foundation National Centre for Physical Activity and Health (2010). 
Exercise Referral Kit. http://www.bhfactive.org.uk/sites/Exercise-Referral-Toolkit/ 

The Register of Exercise Professionals (REPS) 
http://www.exerciseregister.org/resources/exercise-referral 

NQAF (2001). Exercise referral systems: A national quality assurance framework 
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/+/www.dh.gov.uk/en/Publicationsandstatistics
/Publications/PublicationsPolicyAndGuidance/DH_4009671  

Relevant NICE guidance applies (not exhaustive): 
 Prevention of cardiovascular disease (PH25) 
 Behavioral change: individual approaches (PH49) 
 Behavior change: the principles for effective interventions (PH6) 
 Physical activity pathway https://pathways.nice.org.uk/pathways/physical-activity 
 Obesity (CG43) 
 Hypertension (CG34) Overweight and obese – lifestyle weight management 

programmes (PH53) 
 

 

9 Location of Provider Premises 

 
The Provider is required to deliver the services detailed in this specification from a variety of 
venues in Salford. 

These venues will be accessible for people with a range of physical abilities and appropriate for 
people to participate in physical activity. 

 
  

Page 196

http://www.noo.org.uk/core/frameworks/SEF_PA
http://www.noo.org.uk/core/frameworks/SEF_PA
http://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph54
http://www.bhfactive.org.uk/sites/Exercise-Referral-Toolkit/
http://www.exerciseregister.org/resources/exercise-referral
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/+/www.dh.gov.uk/en/Publicationsandstatistics/Publications/PublicationsPolicyAndGuidance/DH_4009671
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/+/www.dh.gov.uk/en/Publicationsandstatistics/Publications/PublicationsPolicyAndGuidance/DH_4009671
https://pathways.nice.org.uk/pathways/physical-activity


Title: Active Life for Adults   
Date: December 2016 

 Page 13 of 15 

 

10 Appendices 

Appendix 1 – Social Value and Public Health Specifications 
 

Overview for Providers of commissioned services. 

In Salford, we want to achieve a consistent approach to the application of Social Value across the 
City and have developed a Charter for Social Value, which sets out to provide a single, shared 
approach and policy https://www.salford.gov.uk/your-council/social-value-in-salford/ 

We are committed to the following principles:  

1. optimising the social, environmental and economic well-being of Salford and its people in 

everything that we do  

2. thinking long-term – turning investment into long-lasting outcomes  

3. working together across sectors to provide social value outcomes  

4. having values including inclusion, openness, honesty, social responsibility and caring for 

others 

5. having a clear  and current understanding of how social value can make Salford a better 

place to live 

6. Working together to measure, evaluate and understand social value, as well as reporting 

publicly to the people of Salford  about the social value that we create   

What is social value? 

Social value asks the question: "If £1 is spent on the delivery of services, can that same £1 be used 

to also produce a wider benefit to the community?”. This involves looking beyond the price of each 

individual contract and looking at the collective benefit to a community.  

The Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012 describes social value as “..Improvement to the 

economic, social and environmental well-being of an area..”  The Act also stipulates that social 

value should be “relevant” and “proportionate” to the subject matter. This means that procurement 

cannot require something wholly unconnected with the provision of the contract itself. 

Priorities for social value in Salford are likely to include measures which: 

• Increase community strength and resilience  

• Improve the positive impact  that the local environment has on people’s wellbeing  

• Increase opportunities for employment and reduce poverty of Salford citizens  

We would also direct and encourage all successful providers to sign up to these standards, 

including payment of the Living Wage and adoption of the best possible working practices. 

 

  

Page 197

http://www.partnersinsalford.org/documents/Charter_document_27_11_2014_v2.pdf
https://www.salford.gov.uk/your-council/social-value-in-salford/


Title: Active Life for Adults   
Date: December 2016 

 Page 14 of 15 

Appendix 2 – Key Performance Indicators 

The KPIs applying to this service are set out below. 

1.Programme set up 

i.Active Lifestyle programmes are available across Salford and delivered in a range of appropriate 
and accessible venues. 

ii.Staff delivering programmes have the relevant level of qualifications: British Association of 
Cardiac Rehab level 4, Pulmonary rehab level 4, Fitness / Gym Instructor NVQ level 2 or higher. 

iii. A planned schedule of promotional activities, linking with appropriate referring services 
established (updated 6 monthly). 

iv.Schedule of programmes for Active Lifestyles identified. 

v.Referral pathways from clinical and primary care providers in place. 

2.Service capacity 

i.1000 client assessments delivered. 

ii.Of clients completing the core offer, 80% are engaged in follow on activities. 

3.Outcomes during the core offer 

i.75% of clients who are assessed, attend the core offer. 

ii.At least 80% of clients in the core offer achieve 3 personal improvements in their capacity for 
physical activity. 
Improvements will be measurable and will relate to day to day functional ability / self management 
of LTC. 

iii.At least 80% of clients in the core offer, have improved measures of wellbeing. 

iv.Of clients completing the core offer, 80% are engaged in follow on activities. 
 

v.75% of clients in the core offer are able to report improved functioning in day to day tasks. 

4.Client outcomes: Follow on activities 

i. Clients maintain their involvement over at least 3 months. 

ii.90% of clients are participating in regular planned physical activities during a routine week. 

iii.90% of clients report maintenance of wellbeing. 

iv.75% of clients report maintenance of improved capacity for day to day tasks. 

 

Social Value 

Page 198



Title: Active Life for Adults   
Date: December 2016 

 Page 15 of 15 

KPIs relating to agreement, delivery and achievement of social value outcomes will be negotiated 
and agreed with the Commissioner. This KPI will build on the social value / accounting work taken 
forward by the provider. 

 

Page 199



This page is intentionally left blank



  
 

 Page 1 of 13 

Call-off contract based on: 

Salford City Council’s Public Health Services Procurement Framework  

 

 

 

 

 

Service Specification 
(Revised December 2016) 

 

Mini-Competition for:- 

Physical Activity in Schools Service 

 

 

Programme Area F:      

Physical Activity  

 

Level of Intervention: 

Lot 1  Level 0:  Self care, social atitude shaping, community capacity building  

   Level 1:  Basic health advice and signposting from generic services 

Page 201



  
 

 Page 2 of 13 

 

Detail of Contract 
 

Title/Description of Contracted 
Service/Supply/Project 

Physical Activity in Schools Service  

Contract Value £ 40,000 Per Annum (estimated average) 

Contract Duration  24 months  

Contract Start Date  01/04/2017 

Contract End Date  31/03/2019 

Optional Extension Period 1 12 months 

Contact Officer(s) Michelle Whittaker 

Lead Service Group  Public Health 

How the contract was procured? 
Framework Call-off (Mini Competition) 

Framework Details 

 
Salford City Council Public Health Services 

Procurement Framework 

Form of Contract  
Public Health Call-Off Contract 

Definitions 
 

The Council Shall mean Salford City Council 

Call-Off 
The contract formed acceptance of the Letter of 

Commission, and which consists of the Framework 
Agreement, the Form of Contract and the Specification, 

the Submission, any Special Conditions and all 
associated schedules  

Provider 
Shall mean the provider whose submission is accepted 

in whole or in part and, where the context so admits, 
their person representative or successors, as the case 

may be, and the permitted assignees. 

Mini Competition 
Shall mean this document and any associated 

appendices. 

The Framework Agreement 
Shall mean the Framework Agreement for Salford City 

Council’s Public Health Services Procurement 
Framework. 

Submission Contractor’s response to this Mini Competition 

Page 202



  
 

 Page 3 of 13 

Instructions 

1.1 General 

1.1.1 The contents of this Mini Competition and of any other documentation sent to you in respect 
of this process are provided on the basis that they remain the property of the Council and 
must be treated as confidential.  If you are unable or unwilling to comply with this 
requirement you are required to destroy all associated documents immediately and not to 
retain any electronic or paper copies. 

1.1.2 No Provider will undertake any publicity activities with any part of the media in relation to this 
Mini Competition process without the prior written agreement of the Council, including 
agreement on the format and content of any publicity. 

1.1.3 Nothing in this Mini Competition shall bind the Council to accept any Submission. 

1.1.4 The Council reserves the right to cancel the Mini Competition at any point. The Council is not 
liable for any costs resulting from any cancellation of this Mini Competition. 

1.1.5 This Mini Competition is made available in good faith.  No warranty is given as to the 
accuracy or completeness of the information contained in it and any liability or any 
inaccuracy or incompleteness is therefore expressly disclaimed by the Council and its 
advisers. 

1.1.6 Any resulting Call-Off from this Mini Competition will be subject to the Framework 
Agreement. 

1.1.7 All Contractors will be informed as to the outcome of their Submission. 

1.1.8 In the event of a satisfactory Submission not being received, the Council reserves the right 
to consider alternative procurement options. 

 

2 Population Needs  

2.1 National and Local Context 

2.1.1 National Context 

Levels of overweight and obesity in children are an increasing concern. Health Survey for England 

reports that around three in ten boys and girls aged 2 to 15 yeas were classified as either 

overweight or obese. 

The National School Measurement Programme weighs and measures reception age and year 11 

children in England. Whilst this data reports a slightly changing trend in prevalence of overweight 

and obesity in children, levels remain high and will impact on adult health outcomes. 

By 2015, the Foresight report estimates that 36% of males and 28% of females (aged between 21 

and 60) will be obese. By 2025 it is estimated that 47% of men and 36% of women will be obese. 

Overweight and particularly obesity in childhood is associated with a range of conditions and 

illnesses, from excess blood pressure, heart disease, development of type 2 diabetes, 

musculoskeletal conditions, cancers. 

Page 203



  
 

 Page 4 of 13 

Physical activity has a positive role to play in a child’s development. Establishing a positive attitude 

and approach to routine physical activity at an early age has the potential to deliver life long health 

outcomes 

2.1.2. Everybody Active Everyday: An evidence-based approach to physical activity1 

Everybody active, every day’ is a national, evidence-based approach to support all sectors to 

embed physical activity into the fabric of daily life and make it an easy, cost-effective and ‘normal’ 

choice in every community in England. 

To make active lifestyles a reality for all, the framework’s 4 areas for action will:  

 change the social ‘norm’ to make physical activity the expectation 

 develop expertise and leadership within professionals and volunteers 

 create environments to support active lives 

 identify and up-scale successful programmes nationwide 

 

‘Everybody active, every day’ is also part of the cross-government ‘Moving More, Living More’ 

campaign for a more active nation as part of the 2012 Olympic and Paralympic Games legacy. It 

also identifies the important role of physical activity in school settings. 

 

2.1.3. School Settings 

The school setting is extremely important when it comes to children’s opportunities to be active2. 

Evidence exists to support the ‘whole school approach’, including physical education, classroom 

activities, afterschool sports, and promoting active travel to and from school3. Specific interventions 

in school supported by the evidence include: capacity building and staff training; increasing the 

number or quality of physical education classes; adjustment of interventions to target specific 

populations; increased activity at break times; changes in curriculum, equipment and materials 

provision. Additionally, walk to school programmes and cycling promotions can encourage 

increases active travel to and from school4 

  

                                            

1
PHE (2014) Everybody Active Everyday: An evidence-based approach to physical activity 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/everybody-active-every-day-a-framework-to-embed-physical-activity-into-
daily-life  
2
 Kriemler et al. (2011) Effect of school-based interventions on physical activity and fitness in children and adolescents: a 

review of reviews and systematic update. British journal of Sports Medicine 45:923-930 
3
 Heath GW, Parra DC, Sarmiento OL, Andersen LB, Owen N, Goenka S, Montes F, Brownson RC; Lancet Physical 

Activity Series Working Group (2012) Evidence-based intervention in physical activity: lessons from around the world. The 
Lancet 380(9838):272-81 
4
 NICE (2009) Promoting physical activity for children and young people. NICE public health guidance 17 

Page 204

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/moving-more-living-more-olympic-and-paralympic-games-legacy
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/everybody-active-every-day-a-framework-to-embed-physical-activity-into-daily-life
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/everybody-active-every-day-a-framework-to-embed-physical-activity-into-daily-life


  
 

 Page 5 of 13 

2.1.4. Physical Activity Guidelines 

The chief medical officer’s guidelines on physical activity5 covering primary aged school children are 
set out below: 

For children and young people (five to 18 years):  

- All children and young people should engage in moderate to vigorous intensity physical activity for 

at least 60 minutes and up to several hours every day. 

- Vigorous intensity activities, including those that strengthen muscle and bone, should be 

incorporated at least three days a week. 

-  All children and young people should minimise the amount of time spent being sedentary (sitting) 

for extended periods. 

- Based on the evidence, the guidelines can be applied to disabled children and young people, 

emphasising that they need to be adjusted for each individual based on that person’s exercise 

capacity and any special health issues or risks. 

This service specification focuses on engaging primary school age children in physical activity as an 

approach to reduce the prevalence of overweight and obesity. 

2.1.2 Overview of commissioning responsibilities 

The Health and Social Care Act, 2012 conferred new duties on local authorities to improve the 
public’s health. As part of this, there are commissioning responsibilities for behavioural and lifestyle 
campaigns to support people to make positive choices for their health and wellbeing. 

2.1.3 Public Health Outcomes Framework 

The Public Health Outcomes Framework sets out high level outcomes and the LTC self care 

programme will contribute to the achievement of these. This service will contribute indirectly to the 

following PHO from the framework: 

- Excess weight in 4-5 year olds and 10-11 year olds 
 

2.2 Local Context 

Salford’s 2015/16 level of childhood overweight and obesity are high, but broadly reflects the 
national picture; 23.2% of reception age children are overweight or obese and 39.9% of year 6 
children are overweight or obese. 
 
The number of obese children in the most deprived 50% of areas in Salford, is almost double that of 
the least deprived. 
 
The Salford’s Locality Plan sets of the priorities across health and social care for improving the 
health and wellbeing of the population.  The Start Well work stream ambition is that children will 

                                            

5
 DH (2011) Start Active, Stay Active: A report on physical activity from the four home countries’ Chief Medical 

Officers. London: The Stationery Office 

 

Page 205

http://www.phoutcomes.info/


  
 

 Page 6 of 13 

have the best start in life and continue to develop well during their early years.  Key to this is 
children being healthy and active. 
 
Salford delivers the National School Measurement Programme and provides a Family Weight 
Management Service for children who are measured as obese. These programmes have been 
supported by activities delivered through the School Sport’s Partnership and have involved a range 
of approaches, from Morning Move-it (a programme linked to a Breakfast Club), to whole school 
events and training sessions for school support staff on different approaches to involve children in 
being active. 

The emphasis throughout has been to provide activities that are stimulating and enjoyable for 
children. There hasn't been a direct focus on targeting these activities to overweight and obese 
children, more a case of generating a positive experience from involvement. 
 
The School Nurse Team provide the NCMP programme and achieve a very high coverage; above 
98% of reception and year 6 children are weighed and measured. The NCMP is a must do and all 
services connected to the NCMP process have worked hard to try make it a positive and informative 
process. However, there are instances where parents choose to not have their child weighed and 
measured and also where feedback letters have lead to challenges to services. 
 

3 Service Outcomes  

3.1 Expected Outcomes 

- Overweight and obese children are involved in programmes of physical activity in the school 
- Children will able to clearly identify why regular and routine physical activity is important for 

their health and development. 
- Children achieve physical activity goals through involvement in programmes 
- Overweight and obese children will make up at least 40% of the numbers who take part. 
- Overweight / obese children who take part show an increase in participation in daily physical 

activities 
- Children who are overweight / obese will be engaged in activities that are perceived as 

enjoyable 
- NCMP process will be supported with school events that promote physical activity and 

weight management 
- Parents have awareness of the purpose of the NCMP and how they can use their result to 

support their child 
- Schools who are supported to develop a school approach, have a clear programme of action 

and can demonstrate whole school involvement in the programme 
- Increase the capacity and skills of primary school workforce to deliver effective physical 

activity programmes. 
 

  

Page 206



  
 

 Page 7 of 13 

4 Scope of Service 

4.1 Aims and Objectives 

4.1.1 Aims 

Aims of this service are to: 
 

- Enhance the delivery of the NCMP programme in schools, by providing positive awareness 
raising sessions and events in schools, focused on benefits of physical activity and healthy 
weight 

- Encourage approaches to healthy weight through engaging primary school age children in 
physical activity programmes 

- Facilitate school based approaches to increasing levels of physical activity in children 
 

4.1.2 Objectives 

- Provide a programme of events in selected primary schools in Salford, which will: 
o facilitate the delivery of the NCMP process in those schools 
o encourage parents to involve their children  in routine, daily physical activity 
o lead to spin off events and sessions in the school, which engage a diverse range of 

children in physical activities 
- Provide distinct programmes of physical activity in primary schools, which contribute to 

recommended levels of physical activity for children in this age range. These will be targeted 
to a diverse range of children and will be provided at appropriate times in and around the 
school day. 

- Provide a range of sign posting information for parents of children, to link them to sports 
clubs, community physical activity programmes, holiday sessions and other local 
opportunities. 

- In a selected number of schools, the project will lead and facilitate the development of school 
based approaches to physical activity, which provide opportunities for children to participate 
in and promote positive attitudes to the role of regular and routine involvement in physical 
activity for weight control. 

 

Social Value objective 
 
The Provider of the service will be required to identify, deliver and account for a range of social 
outcomes from this service. The approach to identifying social value outcomes will be taken 
forwards as a co-production with the Commissioner. The process will involve: 
 

- Identifying relevant and proportionate social value outcomes 
- Agreeing a set of social value Key performance indicators for contract monitoring 
- Developing appropriate social value measurement tools and reports 
- Evidencing the impact that social value has made in this contract 

 
Appendix A provides a more detailed account of social value and how it relates directly to this 
service tender 

 

  

Page 207



  
 

 Page 8 of 13 

4.2 Service Description 

- The Provider will focus activities in areas of Salford where NCMP data highlights higher 
levels of overweight and obesity. 

- The Provider will draw on learning from the delivery of the School Sports Partnership in the 
design of programmes and approaches to engage with schools, parents and children. 

- The provider will organise a varied range of physical activity opportunities for primary school 
age children in Salford. 

- The activities will be provided in venues that are appropriate for involving groups of children 
in a range of physical activities. 

- Events will be designed to promote the NCMP programme. The Provider will collaborate with 
the School Nursing Service and Health Improvement Service in the design and production of 
these. 

- A selected number of schools will be encouraged to identify and develop a sustainable set of 
activities that encourage inactive children to engage in, and maintain their increased levels 
of physical activity.  

- The service will ensure its staff are appropriately qualified and have the required approval / 
clearance for working with children. 

- The Service will ensure it meets Salford’s Child Safeguarding requirements. 
 

4.3 Governance 

4.3.1 General 

- Ensure all staff are DBS checked. 
- Ensure contingency plans are in place to accommodate staff sickness and absences for 

business continuity of the Service. 

4.3.2 Skills and competencies 

- All staff/ volunteers (paid or unpaid) to have the appropriate knowledge, skills and 
qualifications for the role.  

- All staff/ volunteers (paid or unpaid) to have access to continuous personal, vocational, 
employment and professional training/ learning opportunities as appropriate to build local 
assets. 

- All staff/ volunteers (paid or unpaid) to receive timely and regular supervision and appraisals 
to ensure the effective delivery of the programme. 

 

4.3.3 Audit 

- Undertake ongoing monitoring and evaluation of services, including customer feedback (see 
sections 5 and 6). 

- Ensure continuous service improvement through applying the learning from monitoring and 
evaluation.  

- Engage with commissioners regarding service development and improvement. 
 

 

Page 208



  
 

 Page 9 of 13 

4.3.4 Care pathways and protocols 

- Ensure the programme is informed through effective engagement with the identified 
services, children and parents. 

- The Provider will apply appropriate guidelines and controls to ensure children are involved 

in activities relevant to their age. 
- Ensure policies, pathways and practice are updated in line with emerging evidence and new 

guidelines such as that issued by Department of Health, NICE, Public Health England. 
- Ensure timely and appropriate dissemination of guidelines and good practice is provided 
- Contribute to local stakeholder networks organisations involved in or with direct links to the 

programme share best practice, deliver joined up approaches and target interventions.   
 

4.4 Population 

- The service will be provided for targeted Primary Schools in Salford (as agreed with the 

commissioner). 

- The service will engage with children across primary school age groups and target inactive 

children. 

- The service will seek to engage with inactive, overweight and obese children, using 

appropriate approaches. 
 

4.5 Inclusion and exclusion criteria 

Exclusion criteria: 

- Children with contra-indications that put them at risk through participation in a supervised 

exercise programme. 

- The Service can determine if a child is unsafe / not appropriate to attend the programme. 

Where this applies, the service will have a clear rationale for doing so and will collate a log 

of such incidences. 
 

4.6 Referrals 

This is not a referral based service. 

4.7 Interdependencies with other services 

  The Service links to the following: 

- Primary, Secondary and Special Schools 

- School Nursing Service 

- Family Weight Management Service (dependent on Public Health commissioning 

intentions) 

- Other existing  Salford City Council and CCG commissioned community based physical 

activity and health improvement providers. 
 

   

Page 209



  
 

 Page 10 of 13 

5 Safeguarding Children and Vulnerable Adults 

5.1 The Provider shall adopt Salford City Council Safeguarding Policies and such policies shall 
comply with the local multi-agency policies as amended from time to time and may be 
appended in Appendix F of the Public Health Call-Off Contract (Safeguarding Policies). 

5.2 At the reasonable written request of the Commissioner and by no later than 10 Business Days 
following receipt of such request, the Provider must provide evidence to the Authority that it is 
addressing any safeguarding concerns. 

5.3 If requested by the Commissioner, the Provider shall participate in the development of any 
local multi-agency safeguarding quality indicators and/or plan. 

5.4 Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) 

5.4.1 The sexual exploitation of children and young people under 18 involves exploitative situations, 
contexts and relationships where young people (or a third person or persons) receive 
‘something’ (e.g. food, accommodation, drugs, alcohol, cigarettes, affection, gifts, money) as a 
result of performing, and/or others performing on them, sexual activities. 

5.4.2 In all cases those exploiting the child/young person have power over them by virtue of their 
age, gender, intellect, physical strength and/or economic or other resources.  

5.4.3 In order to improve the effectiveness of safeguarding and protecting children and young 
people from this form of abuse it is necessary to follow the Greater Manchester Sexual Health 
(SH) CSE guidelines in identifying and reporting CSE.  The GM SH CSE checklist can be 
used as a prompt to ensure a series of key questions are asked during the general 
consultation process with all under 18 and vulnerable clients.  The Greater Manchester SH 
pathway for CSE must be adhered to alongside local safeguarding procedures.  It is vital that 
all staff (including non-clinical and reception staff) have access to and complete CSE training 
to ensure they are fully able to recognise the signs of CSE and act according to the relevant 
pathways and procedures. 

 

6 Service User Involvement 

The Provider shall engage, liaise and communicate with Service Users, their Carers and Legal 
Guardians in an open and clear manner in accordance with the Law, good clinical practice and their 
human rights. 

As soon as reasonably practicable following any reasonable request from the  Commissioner, the 
Provider must provide evidence to the Authority of the involvement of service users, carers and staff 
in the development of services. 

The Provider must carry out Service User surveys (and Carer surveys) and shall carry out any other 
surveys reasonably required by the commissioner in relation to the Services.  

The Provider must review and provide a written report to the Authority on the results of each survey 
carried out under clause B4.3 and identify any actions reasonably required to be taken by the 
Provider in response to the surveys.  The Provider must implement such actions as soon as 
practicable. If required by the Authority, the Provider must publish the outcomes and actions taken 
in relation to such surveys. 

Page 210



  
 

 Page 11 of 13 

 

7 Service Monitoring 

- Provide performance reports every 3 months to the commissioner on activity, KPIs and 
outcomes, including financial spend. 
 

- Provide an annual evaluation report at the end of year one and year two.  
 

- See Appendix B for KPIs. 
 
 

8 Applicable Service Standards 

Relevant NICE guidance is: NICE Guidance: Promoting physical activity for children and 
young people. PH17 

Everybody Active Everyday: what works the evidence. 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/366113/Evid
ence_layout_23_Oct.pdf  

 

9 Location of Provider Premises 

 
The Provider is required to deliver the services detailed in this specification from a range of venues 
within Salford. These venues will include primary schools, but not exclusively. 

 
  

Page 211

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/366113/Evidence_layout_23_Oct.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/366113/Evidence_layout_23_Oct.pdf


  
 

 Page 12 of 13 

 

10 Appendices 

Appendix A – Social Value and Public Health Specifications 

Overview for Providers of commissioned services. 

In Salford, we want to achieve a consistent approach to the application of Social Value across the 
City and have developed a Charter for Social Value, which sets out to provide a single, shared 
approach and policy https://www.salford.gov.uk/your-council/social-value-in-salford/ 

We are committed to the following principles:  

1. optimising the social, environmental and economic well-being of Salford and its people in 

everything that we do  

2. thinking long-term – turning investment into long-lasting outcomes  

3. working together across sectors to provide social value outcomes  

4. having values including inclusion, openness, honesty, social responsibility and caring for 

others 

5. having a clear  and current understanding of how social value can make Salford a better 

place to live 

6. Working together to measure, evaluate and understand social value, as well as reporting 

publicly to the people of Salford  about the social value that we create   

What is social value? 

Social value asks the question: "If £1 is spent on the delivery of services, can that same £1 be used 

to also produce a wider benefit to the community?”. This involves looking beyond the price of each 

individual contract and looking at the collective benefit to a community.  

The Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012 describes social value as “..Improvement to the 

economic, social and environmental well-being of an area..”  The Act also stipulates that social 

value should be “relevant” and “proportionate” to the subject matter. This means that procurement 

cannot require something wholly unconnected with the provision of the contract itself. 

Priorities for social value in Salford are likely to include measures which: 

• Increase community strength and resilience  

• Improve the positive impact  that the local environment has on people’s wellbeing  

• Increase opportunities for employment and reduce poverty of Salford citizens  

We would also direct and encourage all successful providers to sign up to these standards, 

including payment of the Living Wage and adoption of the best possible working practices. 

  

Page 212

http://www.partnersinsalford.org/documents/Charter_document_27_11_2014_v2.pdf
https://www.salford.gov.uk/your-council/social-value-in-salford/


  
 

 Page 13 of 13 

 

Appendix B – Key Performance Indicators 

Service activity  

The number of children who participate in activities in targeted schools 
linked to the NCMP 

2000 

The %  of children who take part on programme activities, who do not 
participate in other school sports clubs 

40% 

The % of children who take part who are able to report awareness of 
choices that impact on achieving a healthy weight 

90% 

The % of children who achieve recommended levels of physical activity 
during involvement in the programme 

90% 

The number of NCMP support events provided 20 

The number of schools who develop local plans for improving levels of 
physical activity in children 

Expectation that 
10 Primary 
Schools have 
local plans. 

The % of these plans that lead to delivery of new / sustained physical 
activity opportunities for children 

70% 

Social value  

KPIs relating to agreement, delivery and achievement of social value 
outcomes will be negotiated and agreed with the Provider. There will be 
a KPI to agree the social value outcomes the service will work towards, 
in the first quarter of delivery. 

 

 

Page 213



This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 

 

 
SALFORD COMMUNITY LEISURE 

 

 

ACTIVE LIFESTYLES TEAM – Single Reporting Template 
 
 

Service 
 
 

Long-Term Health Conditions 
NDH – Pre diabetic programme 
CAN-Move – Cancer rehab 
Postural Stability & Step Up 
Change Your Weigh – Weight 
Management 
 

Commissioner Lead 
 
 

Annette Donegani - LTC 
Andrea Lightfoot – NDH 
Annette Donegani – CAN-Move 
Helen Dugdale – Weight Management 
and Postural Stability 

Provider Lead 
 
 

Nicky Winkley, Salford Community 
Leisure Ltd 
Louise Sword, Salford Community 
Leisure Ltd  

Period 
 
 

1st October to 31st December 2019 
Q3 2019-20 

P
age 215



 

 

 

 
Contents – change page numbers Page Number 

Overview and Context  
 

 

Chapter 1 – Summary Performance -  All Service KPIs   
 

 

Chapter 2 – Long Term Conditions Performance (Including PAD & COPD)  

Chapter 3 – NDH 
 

 

Chapter 4 – CAN-Move 
 

 

Chapter 5 – Change your Weigh (Salford Weight Management Scheme 
 

 

Chapter 6 – Case Studies and lessons learned 
 

 

Chapter 7 – Social Value  
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
     
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

P
age 216



 

 

 

 

Chapter 1 – Summary of Services & Performance 

 
Active Lifestyles Services - Overview and Context  
 
Salford Community Leisure’s Active Lifestyles team is commissioned by Salford Public Health and Salford Clinical Commissioning Group to provide a range of physical 
activity interventions for Salford residents who have been diagnosed with various long term health conditions. The team works with a range of health partners and providers 
with the overall aim to improve the health and wellbeing of the people of Salford.  
 
The health profile for Salford highlights that it is an area in need of physical activity interventions. Statistics show that obesity and inactivity rates are higher than the national 
average and cardiovascular illness and cancer rates are also higher than the national average (Public Health England, 2017).  
 
The team provides the following specialist programmes based across the city: 

 

• Long term Health Conditions (LTC) (GP Referral) 

• Cardiac Rehabilitation 

• Pulmonary Rehabilitation 

• Cancer Rehabilitation 

• Falls Rehabilitation & Prevention 

• NDH programme (Pre diabetes programme) 

• Change Your Weigh (Salford Weight Management Tier 2) 
 
In the past 9 years, the Active Lifestyles team has supported over 10,000 people to become more active. In addition to the specialist programmes above that the team are 
commissioned to deliver, they also deliver and manage the Healthy Hips & Hearts programme which is predominantly chair based and designed to improve the mobility and 
flexibility of our older residents. The team deliver community based classes but also train mentors and volunteers who, at present, include Sheltered Accommodation Scheme 
Managers, Care Assistants in both Day Centres and Care Homes, local Health Improvement Team staff and our wonderful ‘Sole Volunteers’ who give up their own time to 
help others in their local community centres, church halls and more. 
 
Within the wider community the Active Lifestyles team organise quarterly tea dances which are open to any of our clients on our programmes and are well attended. The 
afternoon includes led dances, free tea, coffee and cakes and a live performer. We also support and manage 27 volunteer walk leaders who lead on the 8 weekly health 
walks across the city, which are part of the national Walking for Health scheme. These are very well attended with well over 300 attendances each month. We understand the 
importance of the positive ‘social’ impact our programmes can have, and encourage our groups to form relationships and bonds outside of the exercise programme allowing 
them to meet up and socialise more than once or twice a week. We do this by offering taster sessions of community classes such as indoor curling, tai chi and seated archery. 

 
  

P
age 217



 

 

 

Salford Community Leisure’s Active Lifestyles Service Offer  
 
The Active Lifestyles team is commissioned to deliver a variety of physical activity interventions targeting populations with certain health related conditions. At the point of 
referral clients are referred to the Active Lifestyles as it is believed they would benefit from taking part in physical activity. The Active Lifestyles Development Officers are 
physical activity specialists experienced in supporting lifestyle behaviour change and ensure clients are placed into the most appropriate intervention for them based on 
individual circumstances. The menu of opportunities is described below;  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Long Term Health Conditions  
 

Programme commissioned by Salford Public Health. The 
contract includes the delivery of Cardiac rehabilitation, 
Pulmonary rehab course and our general exercise 
programme.  
 
Referrals from: 

• GP Referrals 

• Cardiac Rehabilitation / PAD programme  

• Pulmonary Rehab Referrals 

• Pulmonary Fast Track Referrals 

• General health referrals from other health partners 
including Salford Royal, Health Improvement, 
Physios 

 
The Offer: 
Free, supported 12 weeks of physical activity 
intervention with one of our level 4 trained instructors. 
At completion clients are offered subsidised 
memberships to encourage continuation of health 
behaviour. Clients are also followed up at 6 & 12 
months. 

 
 

NDH Programme  
 
Programme targeting 
patients diagnosed as 
Pre-diabetic with the 
aim of reducing HBA1C 
blood levels. 
 
Referrals: 

• Care Call Team 

• Health Improvement  

• GP’s 
 

The Offer: 
8 weeks supported 
gym programme and 8 
week full membership 
to local leisure facilities. 

 

 

Pulmonary Rehab: Ran in partnership with the 
Respiratory team. The team deliver the exercise arm of 
the 6 week programme. Patients attend two 1 hour 
exercise classes each week. On completion the patients 
are referred into our general exercise programme to 
continue with their rehabilitation.  
Referrals: 

• SRFT Respiratory Team 
The Offer: 
Free 8 weeks supported physical activity with one of our 
level 4 instructors.  

Clients referred into Active Lifestyles Team and 
signposted into intervention relevant to their 
individual circumstances  

CAN-Move  
 
Programme for patients 
coming towards the 
end of their cancer 
treatments. 
 
Referrals: 

• Salford Royal 

• GP referrals 

• Hospitals 
 
The Offer:  
12 weeks supported 
exercise programme. 
Client have the choice 
of supervised gym 
sessions, exercise 
classes, Tai Chi. Also 
receive full 12 week 
membership to local 
leisure facilities 

 

 

Falls Prevention  
 
Programme aimed at 
those at high risk of 
falls.  
 
Referrals: 

• Integrated care 
Organisation (ICO) 

• GP’s 

• Physios’ 
 

The Offer:  
24 week programme 
focusing on strength 
and balance. Once 
clients have advanced 
they can attend the 
weekly ‘Step Up’ 
classes for 
maintenance  

 

 

Weight Management 
 
Programme is a Tier 2 
weight management 
programme and has 
been specifically 
commissioned for 
people with a BMI of 
30.0 – 34.9.  
 
Referrals: 

• GP’s 
 

The Offer: 
12 week lifestyle 
intervention designed 
to provide personalised 
support to help people 
lose weight and reduce 
BMI. Change your 
Weigh is based on the 
NHS Choices weight 
loss plan and follows 
PHE and NICE 
guidelines.  
 
 

 

 

P
age 218



 

 

 

 
Summary of Service Key Performance Indicators  

 

The tables below show the number of referrals for the LTC contract broken down into programmes incorporated in to that contract. The first table 

shows the General exercise referral numbers which is predominately GP referrals and local health partners. The second table details the other 

programmes that refer in to the LTC contract, namely, Cardiac Rehab, PAD Cardiac, Pulmonary rehab, and Pulmonary Rehab Fast Track. 
 

KPI General Exercise Referral 

 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

No of Referrals 355 434 347  

No Currently participating 
43 104 129  

No Completed 

 

% 

143 125 27  

40% 29% 8%  

No Pending 29 68 105  

No of Opt outs 

 

% 

90 96 79  

25% 22% 23%  

No Drop outs 

 

% 

50 41 7  

14% 9% 2% 
 

 

N.B: Opt out refers to those who have declined the offer; Drop out refers to those who have started the programme but not completed; currently Participating refers to clients 

still within the initial offer at time of report being written.  

N.B: Figures are reflective of the referral status at time of data being processed and previous quarters are updated retrospectively 

 

 

P
age 219



 

 

 

The referrals for General exercise programme had a slight decline this quarter which is indicative of the time of the year.  The Cardiac rehab 

referrals remained stable with a decline in PAD patients being referred. The table below highlights the referrals from the Pulmonary Rehab team 

at Salford Royal. 

   

 

KPI 
Pulmonary 

 Rehab 
PR Fast Track Cardiac Rehab 

 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

No of 

Referrals 
25 26 25  2 6 5  38 42 39  

No Currently 

participating 
5 6 9  0 1 2  18 10 18  

No Completed 

 

% 

8 8 3  0 1 0  5 17 3  

32% 31% 12%  - 17% -  13% 40% 8%  

No Pending 

 
3 2 7  1 1 0  3 3 9  

No of Opt outs 

 

% 

8 9 6  0 2 3  11 7 8  

32% 35% 24%  - 33% 60%  29% 17% 21%  

No Drop outs 

 

% 

1 1 0  1 1 0  1 5 1  

4% 4% - 
 

50% 17% - 
 

3% 12% 2.5% 
 

 

 

N.B: Opt out refers to those who have declined the offer; Drop out refers to those who have started the programme but not completed; currently Participating 

refers to clients still within the initial offer at time of report being written.  

N.B: Figures are reflective of the referral status at time of data being processed and previous quarters are updated retrospectively 

 

 

  

P
age 220



 

 

 

 

Chapter 2 – Long Term Conditions Contract (including Cardiac Rehab; PAD and COPD) 

Referral Sources (LTC Contract) 

 

The Active Lifestyles team have worked hard to develop solid relationships with health partners and set up referral pathways. To date these 

partners include Salford Royal hospital, local GP’s, physiotherapists, health centres and community services. The following graph shows the 

breakdown of referral sources.  

 

 
 

 

As evident in the graph above our main referral source continues to be GP’s. Pulmonary rehab referrals have slightly increased. The community 

outreach refers to the health partners who work solely within the community; these include the ABL Health, Six degrees and Salford Health 

Works. Overall the spread of referral sources between the various organisations appears to be fairly consistent when compared to previous 

quarters this year.  

Active
Lifestyles Team

Community
Outreach

Hopital
Department

GP Diabetes HIS Cardiac Rehab MSK
Pulmonary

Rehab

Series1 1 37 7 182 6 4 39 41 30

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

180

200

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

re
fe

rr
al

s

Referral Organisation 

Referral Sources

Fig 1: Referral sources 

P
age 221



 

 

 

 

GP Breakdown (LTC Contract)  

 

Below is a breakdown of GP surgeries categorised by borough who have referred this quarter. The largest number of referrals came from the 

GP’s in the Ordsall & Langworthy areas, closely followed by Eccles and Irlam. 

 

Little Hulton and 

Walkden 
 Ordsall and Claremont  Swinton  Broughton  Eccles and Irlam  

Walkden Medical Practice 4 
Cornerstone Medical 

Practice 
2 

The Sides Medical 

Practice 
4 

Lower Broughton Health 

Centre (Dr Buch) 
3 

St Andrew’s Medical 

Practice 
10 

The Gill Medical Practice 3 
Langworthy Medical 

Practice 
4 

The Lakes Medical 

Practice 
6 Dr Davis’ Medical Practice 0 Eccles Gateway 1 

The Limes Medical 

Practice 
4 Ordsall Health Centre 17 

Silverdale Medical 

Practice 
5 

Mocha Parade Medical 

Practice 
1 

Monton Medical 

Practice 
7 

Walkden Gateway 1 
Orient Road Medical 

Practice 
2 

The Poplars Medical 

Centre 
7 

Newbury Green Medical 

Practice 
6 

Springfield Medical 

Practice 
16 

Ellenbrook Medical 

Practice 
2 Pendleton Medical Centre 20   Limefield Medical Practice 0 

Mosslands Medical 

Practice 
6 

Orchard Medical Practice 0 Clarendon Surgery 13   
Blackfriars Medical 

Practice 
0 Chapel Medical Centre 0 

Dearden Avenue Medical 

Practice 
0 Salford Medical Centre 1   

Salford Care Homes 

Practice 
0 Irlam Medical Centre 5 

Cherry Medical Practice 3 Sorrell Group Practice 3   
Energise Healthy Living 

Centre 
1 Irlam Group Practice 5 

Cleggs Lane Medical 

Practice 
2 

The Heights Medical 

Practice 
0   

Lower Broughton Health 

Centre (Dr Sultan/ 

Chowdry) 

2 
Eccles Gateway 

(SHM) 
5 

Manchester Road East 

Medical Practice 

4 

 
The Willows 0   

Willow Tree Practice 

(SHM) 
4   

TOTAL 23 TOTAL 62 TOTAL 

 

22 

 

TOTAL 17 TOTAL 55 

 

 

P
age 222



 

 

 

 

Borough & Postal Ward breakdown (LTC Contract) 

 

 
 

 

 

Figure 2 shows the breakdown of the 347 referrals by City Council Neighbourhood area. The majority of referrals were from Walkden and Little 

Hulton area (19% of all referrals), with a smaller percentage from Boothstown and Worsley. There is some correlation here with health statistics 

and areas of deprivation within the borough. On the whole referral numbers have remained steady in all areas. There has been a slight decline in 

the Ordsall/Langworthy area compared to previous quarters.  

 

 

18

27

34

48

58

46

65

42

9

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

R
e

fe
rr

al
s

Neighbourhood Area

Postcode Breakdown 

Fig 2: Postal Wards 

P
age 223



 

 

 

 

Demographic Breakdown – Age & Gender (LTC Contract) 

 

 
 

 

 

 

As evident in figure 23, there are more males than females referred this quarter. Females are more likely to attend the GP therefore are more 

likely to be referred. Females also tend to be more open to social groups therefore are more likely to attend the sessions provided by the team.  

 

The age range breakdown (Figure 4) shows that those aged between 55-64 make up just under a quarter of all clients (23%), and those 65+ a 

further 29%, which is consistent with previous reports, and reflects the local demographics. However, overall there are significant level of 

referrals from all ages 25 years+.  The higher referral numbers from younger people could be due to GP’s referring prior to an illness with a view 

of preventing the diagnosis and influencing the patients’ health behaviour.  

 

 

42%

58%

0%

Gender

Male

Female

Transgender

3%

13%

16%

16%23%

20%

8%

1%

Age 

18-24

25-34

35-44

45-54

55-64

65-74

75-84

85+

Fig 3: Gender split Fig 4: Age ranges 

P
age 224



 

 

 

Week 1 Week 2

Exercise/ Structured Activity 12.6 95.8

Walking 37.4 67.3

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

M
in

u
te

s

Axis Title

Activity Levels 

Increased Activity Levels – LTC Contract 

 

KPI 

LTC  

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Annual Average 

 % of clients that achieve Increased 

activity levels 
76% 76% 83%   

% of clients achieving the national 

guidelines after 8 weeks 
17% 25% 35%    

 

Fig 5 below shows the average active minutes for clients who has completed the 8 weeks offer. The graph has been broken down to show 

structured activity/Exercise and walking levels. Active minute data is collected using the self-reported GP PAQ questionnaire. As Fig 5 below 

identifies there was a significant increase in structured activity over the 8 week programme. Walking levels also increased over the 8 weeks 

showing an increase in independent activity levels. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Fig 5: Activity Levels 

P
age 225



 

 

 

H@H Gym Health Walks Swimming

Series1 49 24 22 36

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

N
u

m
b

er
 o

f 
C

lie
n

ts

Activity Type

Activity Breakdown (LTC Contract) 

 

Within the LTC contract clients have a range of activity options available to them from supported gym sessions to weekly circuit based classes. 

Figure 6 below highlights the different activities chosen by the clients.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

As evident the most popular activity is the supported gym membership followed by the weekly Healthy @ Heart classes. The Healthy@Heart 

class numbers and gym goers remain stable throughout the year whereas swimming can fluctuate. Swimming and Health walks have remained 

high this quarter and the attendances at Aqua Relax have remained stable. These sessions are aimed at those with long-term health conditions 

so fit well with the Active Lifestyles clients.  

 

 

 

 

Fig 6: Activity Type 

P
age 226



 

 

 

 

Confidence in Self-Management – LTC Contract 

 

 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Annual Average 

% of clients that achieve 

increased self confidence 
70% 90% 68%  76% 

 

Clients are asked how confident they feel using physical activity to self-manage part or all of their health status. Activity has been shown 

beneficial to people’s management of their health conditions. In some case resulting to decreases in medication. At week one the average 

confidence score was 2.7, at week 8 this average score had increased to 4.6. Also the table above shows that 68% of our clients report an 

increase in confidence to manage their health conditions. 

 

Function in daily activities – LTC Contract 

 

ADL – KPI 75% Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Annual Average 

 

% of clients that achieve improved 

functioning in daily living activities 
65% 83% 69%  72% 

 

Clients are asked to rate their ability to complete simple daily tasks on a scale of 1–10 (1=Not difficult; 10=Most difficult). Completion of daily 

tasks are important for a clients’ wellbeing and quality of life. An improvement in this area can lead to clients becoming more independent and 

increasing their self-confidence. At week 1 the average score was 5.4, at the 8 week follow up this score had reduced to 3.9 indicating that 

clients were starting to improve in daily task performance. The table above shows that 69% of clients found an improvement in ADL activities.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 227



 

 

 

 

Wellbeing Scores – LTC Contract 

 

Wellbeing - KPI 80% Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 
Annual 

average 

 

% of clients that achieve increased WEMWBS score 

(KPI 80%) 

83% 79% 76%  79% 

 

Mental wellbeing is a significant factor for clients and can significantly influence their health and activity levels. People with long-term illnesses 

often report higher anxiety and depression levels. Also a proportion of our clients enter the programme with mild to moderate anxiety and 

depression related illnesses. Clients complete the validated Warwick and Edinburgh Mental Wellbeing scale at week 1 and at completion of the 

programme. From week 1 to week 8 there was an increase of 4 points in the average score which went from 25 to 29 indicating better feelings of 

Wellbeing for our clients. 

 
Physical activity outcomes – LTC Contract 
 
 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 
Annual 
Average 

% of clients who report achieving 3 or more 
physical activity outcomes 

70% 63% 62%  65% 

 
 
The majority of our clients report that they have achieved three or more outcomes. The outcomes include feeling more positive, weight loss, and 

increased energy levels. Below the graph details the breakdown of these reported outcomes. The highest reported outcomes are increased 

energy and feeling more positive. This measurement is taken at 8 weeks after the start of activity. For clients to be reporting achieving even one 

of these outcomes is a positive sign as it shows immediate benefits from physical activity programme.   

 
 

P
age 228



 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

8%

5%

27%

9%

27%

12%

9%
0%3%

REPORTED BENEFITS

Improved Sleep

Weight Loss

Feel more positive

Better Mood

More Energy

Feel motivated

Being more sociable

Stopped smoking

Made new Friends

Fig 7: Reported Benefits 

outcomes 

P
age 229



 

 

 

Engagement in Follow on activities – LTC Contract 
 
As detailed in the table below the majority of our clients have chosen to continue with some form of physical activity. Below are some of their 
plans: 
 
 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Annual Average 

% of clients who take up the offer 
to continue with physical activity 

96% 95% 96%  95% 

 
 

• 86% of clients have stated they will consider taking out a membership and use the gym, swimming or continue to attend classes   

• 19% of these clients will continue to attend classes they have enjoyed  

• 66% will attend the gym  

• 15% of clients will take up or continue swimming 

• 14% of clients stated that they will continue with their exercise and healthy lifestyle journey by perhaps will try a Health Walk, doing more 

cycling, or home exercise  

 

  

The data we have captured is self-reported during the 8 week follow-up questionnaire. Our clients are offered discounted membership options 

when they complete the offer to encourage adherence to the new behaviour. Some of these membership options will allow us to look on our 

leisure centre membership database and extract numbers of clients who take up full memberships. The membership cards will also record 

attendance levels at the centres, which will allow for some data to back up the self-reported data. However some clients decline the membership 

options and prefer to exercise independently. Data will be collected from these clients via the self-reported questionnaires only.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 230



 

 

 

Chapter 3 – NDH Programme  

 
Chapter 4 – CAN-Move Programme  
 
 

Chapter 5: Salford Weight Management 
Change your Weigh 
 
 

Chapter 6 – Case Studies and lessons learned 
 

 
Chapter 7 - SOCIAL VALUE 
 
A set of social accounts for the Active Lifestyles has been published (Dec, 2016). The team is focused on improving the health and wellbeing of 
the people of Salford through specialised exercise referral programmes designed to support the treatment of heart and lung conditions, cancer, 
diabetes and falls prevention amongst other long term conditions.   
 
People with long-term health conditions require programmes of exercise to be carefully prescribed. SCL have Level 3 GP referral Gym 
Instructors in a number of the fitness suites who can deal with mild to moderate health conditions. Officers as part of the Active Lifestyles Team 
are all Level 4 qualified and specially trained to work with people who have complex / multiple health conditions. In many instances these 
inductions will result in the customer taking up a fitness membership.  
 
The programmes on offer prove a very popular initiative and acts as an engagement service. Clients report that they feel more in control of their 
conditions and feel a sense of confidence in their ability to self-manage aspects of their conditions. The quality and ability of staff to manage 
health conditions; adapt exercises and educate clients on activity and their conditions leads to a reassuring environment for clients where they 
can participate with full confidence.  

P
age 231



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

1 

 

 
SALFORD COMMUNITY LEISURE 

 

 

ACTIVE LIFESTYLES TEAM – Single Reporting Template 
 
 

Service 
 
 

• Long-Term Health Conditions 

• NDH – Pre diabetic programme 

• CAN-Move – Cancer rehab 

• Postural Stability & Step Up 

• Change Your Weigh – Weight 
Management 

 

Commissioner Lead 
 
 

• Peter Locke – LTC and Weight 
Management 

• Andrea Lightfoot – NDH 

• Annette Donegani – CAN-Move 
 

Provider Lead 
 
 

• Nicky Winkley, Salford 
Community Leisure Ltd 

• Louise Sword, Salford Community 
Leisure Ltd  

Period 
 
 

1 April - 30 June 2021 (Quarter 1) 

P
age 233



 

 

 

 

Contents – change page numbers Page Number 

Overview and Context  
 

 

Chapter 1 – Summary Performance -  All Service KPIs   
 

 

Chapter 2 – Long Term Conditions Performance (Including PAD & 
COPD) 

 

Chapter 3 – NDH 
 

 

Chapter 4 – CAN-Move 
 

 

Chapter 5 – Case Studies and lessons learned 
 

 

Chapter 6 – Social Value  
 

 

 
 
Please note - The Weight Management Service (Change Your Weigh) is reported separately to align with the OHID of DHSC’s (formerly PHE) 
requirements as part of the nationally funded enhanced service of tier 2 weight management services and is therefore pending 
 
 
 
 
 
 
     
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

P
age 234



 

 

 

Chapter 1 – Summary of Services & Performance 

 
Active Lifestyles Services - Overview and Context  
 
Salford Community Leisure’s Active Lifestyles team is commissioned by Salford Public Health and Salford Clinical Commissioning Group to provide a range of physical 
activity interventions for Salford residents who have been diagnosed with various long term health conditions. The team works with a range of health partners and providers 
with the overall aim to improve the health and wellbeing of the people of Salford.  
 
The health profile for Salford highlights that it is an area in need of physical activity interventions. Statistics show that obesity and inactivity rates are higher than the national 
average and cardiovascular illness and cancer rates are also higher than the national average (Public Health England, 2017).  
 
The team provides the following specialist programmes based across the city: 

 

• Long term Health Conditions (LTC) (GP Referral) 

• Cardiac Rehabilitation 

• Pulmonary Rehabilitation 

• Cancer Rehabilitation 

• Falls Rehabilitation & Prevention 

• NDH programme (Pre diabetes programme) 

• Change Your Weigh (Salford Weight Management Tier 2) 
 
In the past 9 years, the Active Lifestyles team has supported over 10,000 people to become more active. In addition to the specialist programmes above that the team are 
commissioned to deliver, they also deliver and manage the Healthy Hips & Hearts programme which is predominantly chair based and designed to improve the mobility and 
flexibility of our older residents. The team deliver community based classes but also train mentors and volunteers who, at present, include Sheltered Accommodation Scheme 
Managers, Care Assistants in both Day Centres and Care Homes, local Health Improvement Team staff and our wonderful ‘Sole Volunteers’ who give up their own time to 
help others in their local community centres, church halls and more. 
 
Within the wider community the Active Lifestyles team organise quarterly tea dances which are open to any of our clients on our programmes and are well attended. The 
afternoon includes led dances, free tea, coffee and cakes and a live performer. We also support and manage 27 volunteer walk leaders who lead on the 8 weekly health 
walks across the city, which are part of the national Walking for Health scheme. These are very well attended with well over 300 attendances each month. We understand the 
importance of the positive ‘social’ impact our programmes can have, and encourage our groups to form relationships and bonds outside of the exercise programme allowing 
them to meet up and socialise more than once or twice a week. We do this by offering taster sessions of community classes such as indoor curling, tai chi and seated archery. 

 
  

P
age 235



 

 

 

Salford Community Leisure’s Active Lifestyles Service Offer  
 
The Active Lifestyles team is commissioned to deliver a variety of physical activity interventions targeting populations with certain health related conditions. At the point of 
referral clients are referred to the Active Lifestyles as it is believed they would benefit from taking part in physical activity. The Active Lifestyles Development Officers are 
physical activity specialists experienced in supporting lifestyle behaviour change and ensure clients are placed into the most appropriate intervention for them based on 
individual circumstances. The menu of opportunities is described below;  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Long Term Health Conditions  
 

Programme commissioned by Salford Public Health. The 
contract includes the delivery of Cardiac rehabilitation, 
Pulmonary rehab course and our general exercise 
programme.  
 
Referrals from: 

• GP Referrals 

• Cardiac Rehabilitation / PAD programme  

• Pulmonary Rehab Referrals 

• Pulmonary Fast Track Referrals 

• General health referrals from other health partners 
including Salford Royal, Health Improvement, 
Physios 

 
The Offer: 
Free, supported 12 weeks of physical activity 
intervention with one of our level 4 trained instructors. 
At completion clients are offered subsidised 
memberships to encourage continuation of health 
behaviour. Clients are also followed up at 6 & 12 months. 

 
 

NDH Programme  
 
Programme targeting 
patients diagnosed as 
Pre-diabetic with the 
aim of reducing HBA1C 
blood levels. 
 
Referrals: 

• Care Call Team 

• Health Improvement  

• GP’s 
 

The Offer: 
8 weeks supported 
gym programme and 8 
week full membership 
to local leisure facilities. 

 

 

Pulmonary Rehab: Ran in partnership with the 
Respiratory team. The team deliver the exercise arm of 
the 6 week programme. Patients attend two 1 hour 
exercise classes each week. On completion the patients 
are referred into our general exercise programme to 
continue with their rehabilitation.  
Referrals: 

• SRFT Respiratory Team 
The Offer: 
Free 8 weeks supported physical activity with one of our 
level 4 instructors.  

Clients referred into Active Lifestyles Team and 
signposted into intervention relevant to their 
individual circumstances  

CAN-Move  
 
Programme for patients 
coming towards the 
end of their cancer 
treatments. 
 
Referrals: 

• Salford Royal 

• GP referrals 

• Hospitals 
 
The Offer:  
12 weeks supported 
exercise programme. 
Client have the choice 
of supervised gym 
sessions, exercise 
classes, Tai Chi. Also 
receive full 12 week 
membership to local 
leisure facilities 

 

 

Falls Prevention  
 
Programme aimed at 
those at high risk of 
falls.  
 
Referrals: 

• Integrated care 
Organisation (ICO) 

• GP’s 

• Physios’ 
 

The Offer:  
24 week programme 
focusing on strength 
and balance. Once 
clients have advanced 
they can attend the 
weekly ‘Step Up’ 
classes for 
maintenance  

 

 

Weight Management 
 
Programme is a Tier 2 
weight management 
programme and has 
been specifically 
commissioned for 
people with a BMI of 
30.0 – 34.9.  
 
Referrals: 

• GP’s 
 

The Offer: 
12 week lifestyle 
intervention designed 
to provide personalised 
support to help people 
lose weight and reduce 
BMI. Change your 
Weigh is based on the 
NHS Choices weight 
loss plan and follows 
PHE and NICE 
guidelines.  
 
 

 

 

P
age 236



 

 

 

 
Summary of Service Key Performance Indicators  

 

The tables below show the number of referrals for the LTC contract broken down into programmes incorporated in to that contract. The first table 

shows the General exercise referral numbers which is predominately GP referrals and local health partners. The second table details the other 

programmes that refer in to the LTC contract, namely, Cardiac Rehab, PAD Cardiac, Pulmonary rehab, and Pulmonary Rehab Fast Track. 
 

KPI General Exercise Referral 

 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

No of Referrals 224    

No Currently participating 
73    

No Completed 

 

% 

29    

13% 

 
   

No Pending 81    

No of Opt outs 

 

% 

32    

14%    

No Drop outs 

 

% 

9    

4%   
 

 

N.B: Opt out refers to those who have declined the offer; Drop out refers to those who have started the programme but not completed; currently Participating refers to clients 

still within the initial offer at time of report being written.  

N.B: Figures are reflective of the referral status at time of data being processed and previous quarters are updated retrospectively 

 

 

The referrals for General exercise programme have increased steadily each month this quarter. Higher number than average in pending due to 

clients wishing to wait, due to recent times. 

P
age 237



 

 

 

 A similar number of referrals from Cardiac rehab over the first quarter each month on the quarter with only 3 PAD patients being referred. The 

Pulmonary Rehab team at Salford Royal only started to refer into the service from the pandemic end of June 21. 

   

 

KPI 
Pulmonary 

 Rehab 
PR Fast Track Cardiac Rehab 

 
Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

No of 

Referrals 
0    2    28    

No Currently 

participating 
0    2    8    

No Completed 

 

% 

0    0    6    

-        21%    

No Pending 

 
0    0    13    

No of Opt outs 

 

% 

0    0    0    

-    -    -    

No Drop outs 

 

% 

0    0    1    

-   
 

-   
 

4%   
 

 

 

N.B: Opt out refers to those who have declined the offer; Drop out refers to those who have started the programme but not completed; currently Participating 

refers to clients still within the initial offer at time of report being written.  

N.B: Figures are reflective of the referral status at time of data being processed and previous quarters are updated retrospectively 

 

 

  

P
age 238



 

 

 

 

Chapter 2 – Long Term Conditions Contract (including Cardiac Rehab; PAD and COPD) 

Referral Sources (LTC Contract) 

 

The Active Lifestyles team have worked hard to develop solid relationships with health partners and set up referral pathways. To date these 

partners, include Salford Royal hospital, local GP’s, physiotherapists, health centres and community services. The following graph shows the 

breakdown of referral sources.  

 

 

 

 

As evident in the graph our main referral source are local GP’s and community outreach. The community outreach refers to the health partners 
who work solely within the community, these include the Health Improvement Service, Being Well Salford. The Cardiac Rehab team refer 
patients who have come to the end of Phase 3 cardiac rehab and these clients continue their rehabilitation with our supported gym programmes. 
We deliver the exercise part of the hospitals clinical 6-week pulmonary rehab programme. Once the patients have completed this intense 6 
weeks, they are offered the chance to join with our Get Active classes or supported gym programmes to continue their rehabilitation. 
 

GP
Community

Outreach
Cardiac Rehab

Pulmonary
Rehab

MSK Clinics Hospital GMMH

Q1 82 52 28 2 41 10 9

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

N
u

m
b

er
 o

f 
C

lie
n

ts
 

Referral Source

P
age 239



 

 

 

 

GP Breakdown (LTC Contract)  

 

Below is a breakdown of GP surgeries categorised by borough who have referred this quarter. The largest number of referrals came from the 

GP’s in the Ordsall & Claremont areas, closely followed by Eccles & Irlam, Little Hulton & Walkden. 

 

Little Hulton and 

Walkden 
 Ordsall and Claremont  Swinton  Broughton  Eccles and Irlam  

Walkden Medical Practice 5 
Cornerstone Medical 

Practice 
2 

The Sides Medical 

Practice 
2 

Lower Broughton Health 

Centre (Dr Buch) 
1 

St Andrew’s Medical 

Practice 
4 

The Gill Medical Practice 8 
Langworthy Medical 

Practice 
2 

The Lakes Medical 

Practice 
4 Dr Davis’ Medical Practice 0 Eccles Gateway  

The Limes Medical 

Practice 
1 Ordsall Health Centre 6 

Silverdale Medical 

Practice 
1 

Mocha Parade Medical 

Practice 
0 

Monton Medical 

Practice 
1 

Walkden Gateway 2 
Orient Road Medical 

Practice 
 

The Poplars Medical 

Centre 
4 

Newbury Green Medical 

Practice 
3 

Springfield Medical 

Practice 
9 

Ellenbrook Medical 

Practice 

0 

 
Pendleton Medical Centre 0   Limefield Medical Practice 1 

Mosslands Medical 

Practice 
7 

Orchard Medical Practice 0 Clarendon Surgery 10   
Blackfriars Medical 

Practice 
0 Chapel Medical Centre 0 

Dearden Avenue Medical 

Practice 
0 Salford Medical Centre 00   

Salford Care Homes 

Practice 
0 Irlam Medical Centre 0 

Cherry Medical Practice 0 Sorrell Group Practice 2   
Energise Healthy Living 

Centre 
0 Irlam Group Practice 0 

Cleggs Lane Medical 

Practice 
0 

The Heights Medical 

Practice 
0   

Lower Broughton Health 

Centre (Dr Sultan/ 

Chowdry) 

1 
Eccles Gateway 

(SHM) 
0 

Manchester Road East 

Medical Practice 
0 The Willows 0   

Willow Tree Practice 

(SHM) 
3   

SHM Little Hulton  4 Blackfriars Medial Centre  2       

TOTAL 20 TOTAL 24 TOTAL 

 

11 

 

TOTAL 6 TOTAL 21 

 

P
age 240



 

 

 

 

 

Borough & Postal Ward breakdown (LTC Contract) 

 

 
Figure 2 

 

 

 

 

Figure 2 shows a larger number of referrals were from Walkden North, with a slightly smaller numbers from Broughton, Langworthy & Ordsall. On 
the whole referral numbers have increased in all areas this quarter since the previous year.  
 

 

 

 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

N
u

m
b

er
 o

f 
R

ef
er

ra
ls

 

Postal Wards LTC Q1 

P
age 241



 

 

 

 

Demographic Breakdown – Age & Gender (LTC Contract) 

 

 
Fig 3: Gender split 

 

 

 

 

Gender split (figure 3) there are more females than males referred this quarter. Females are more likely to attend the GP therefore are more 

likely to be referred. Females also tend to be more open to social groups therefore are more likely to attend the sessions provided by the team.  

 

The age range breakdown (Figure 4) shows that those aged between 30 – 49 & 55-69 make up a large portion of the referrals this quarter. We 

have a decline in the 70+ possibly due to the pandemic with this age group being more hesitant to return to social groups.  

 

 

 

Female
61%

Male
39%

GENDER SPLIT Q1

13%

38%
40%

9%

Age Breakdown Q1

Age Range 18 - 29 30 - 49 50 - 69 70+

 

Fig 4: Age ranges 

P
age 242



 

 

 

 

Increased Activity Levels – LTC Contract 

 

KPI 
LTC  

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Annual Average 

 % of clients that achieve Increased 

activity levels 
82%    82% 

% of clients achieving the national 

guidelines after 8 weeks 
86%    86% 

 

 

 

Fig 5 below shows the average active minutes for clients who has completed the 8 weeks offer. The graph has been broken down to show 

structured activity/exercise and walking levels. Active minute data is collected using the self-reported GP PAQ questionnaire. As Fig 5 below 

identifies there was a significant increase in structured activity over the 8-week programme. Walking levels also increased over the 8 weeks 

showing an increase in independent activity levels

. 

WK1 WK8

Exercise/Structured Activity 30 72.1875

Walking 45.9375 69.6

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

N
u

m
b

er
 o

f 
m

in
u

te
s 

p
er

 w
ee

k 

Activity Levels Q1

P
age 243



 

 

 

Fig 5: Activity Levels 

 

 

 

 

 

Activity Breakdown (LTC Contract) 

 

Within the LTC contract clients have a range of activity options available to them from supported gym sessions to weekly circuit based classes. 

During Q1 classes and health walks were still suspended due to the pandemic. Figure 6 below highlights the different activities chosen by the 

clients.  

 

 
Fig 6: Activity Type 

 

 

 

Gym Swim

Quarter 1 73 17

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

N
u

m
b

e
r 

cl
ie

n
ts

 

ACTIVITY TYPES

 

P
age 244



 

 

 

As evident the most popular activity is the supported gym membership. Swimming also popular remained high this quarter and remained stable.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Confidence in Self-Management – LTC Contract 

 

 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Annual Average 

% of clients that achieve 

increased self confidence 
53%    53% 

 

Clients are asked how confident they feel using physical activity to self-manage part or all their health status. Activity has been shown beneficial 

to people’s management of their health conditions. In some case resulting to decreases in medication. At week one the average confidence 

score was 4.4, at week 8 this average score had increased to 7.9. Also, the table above shows that 53% of our clients report an increase in 

confidence to manage their health conditions. 

 

Function in daily activities – LTC Contract 

 

ADL – KPI 75% Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Annual Average 

 

% of clients that achieve improved 

functioning in daily living activities 

78%    78% 

 

Clients are asked to rate their ability to complete simple daily tasks on a scale of 1–10 (1=Not difficult; 10=Most difficult). Completion of daily 

tasks are important for a clients’ wellbeing and quality of life. An improvement in this area can lead to clients becoming more independent and 

increasing their self-confidence.  

 

 

P
age 245



 

 

 

 

 

Wellbeing Scores – LTC Contract 

 

Wellbeing - KPI 80% Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 
Annual 

average 

 

% of clients that achieve increased WEMWBS 

score 

(KPI 80%) 

64%    64% 

 

Mental wellbeing is a significant factor for clients and can significantly influence their health and activity levels. People with long-term illnesses 

often report higher anxiety and depression levels. A proportion of our clients enter the programme with mild to moderate anxiety and depression 

related illnesses. Clients complete the validated Warwick and Edinburgh Mental Wellbeing scale at week 1 and at completion of the programme. 

From week 1 to week 8 there was an increase of 2 points in the average score which went from 26 to 28 indicating better feelings of Wellbeing 

for our clients. 

 
Physical activity outcomes – LTC Contract 
 

 
Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

Annual 
Average 

% of clients who report achieving 3 or more 
physical activity outcomes 

74%    74% 

 
 
Many of our clients report that they have achieved three or more outcomes. The outcomes include feeling more positive, increased energy levels 

and feeling more socialable. These outcomes are also possibly a reflection of the past 12 months. Below the graph details the breakdown of 

these reported outcomes. The highest reported outcomes are increased energy and feeling more positive. This measurement is taken at 8 weeks 

after the start of activity. For clients to be reporting achieving even one of these outcomes is a positive sign as it shows immediate benefits from 

physical activity programme.   

 

P
age 246



 

 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

21%

35%
17%

13%

4%

8% 2%

Reported Benefits Q1

Feel more positive

More energy

Being more sociable

Feel motivated

Weight loss

Better mood

Made new friends

Fig 7: Reported Benefits 

outcomes 

P
age 247



 

 

 

 
 
Engagement in Follow on activities – LTC Contract 
 
As detailed in the table below the majority of our clients have chosen to continue with some form of physical activity. Below are some of their 
plans: 
 

 
Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Annual Average 

% of clients who take up the 
offer to continue with physical 
activity 

94%    94% 

 
 

• 53% of clients have stated they will consider taking out a membership and use the gym, swimming or continue to attend classes   

• 13% will attend the gym  

• 17% of clients will take up or continue swimming 

• 36% of clients stated that they will continue with their exercise and healthy lifestyle journey by perhaps will try a Health Walk, doing more 

cycling, or home exercise  

 

  

The data we have captured is self-reported during the 8-week follow-up questionnaire. Our clients are offered discounted membership options 

when they complete the offer to encourage adherence to the new behaviour. Some of these membership options will allow us to look on our 

leisure centre membership database and extract numbers of clients who take up full memberships. The membership cards will also record 

attendance levels at the centres, which will allow for some data to back up the self-reported data. However, some clients decline the membership 

options and prefer to exercise independently. Data will be collected from these clients via the self-reported questionnaires only.  

 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 248



 

 

 

 
 
Chapter 3 – NDH Programme  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

KPI NDH 

 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Annual Total 

No of Referrals 45     

No Currently 
participating 

17     

No Completed 
% 

11     

     

No Pending 
2 0 0 0 

0 
 

No of Opt outs 
 

% 

13     

     

No Drop outs 
 
 

2     

     

P
age 249



 

 

 

Out Reach GP
Diabetes

Team
Cardiac
Rehab

MSK

Series1 2 26 7 5 5

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

R
e

fe
rr

al
s 

Referral Source Breakdown NDH

 

 

Referral Source Breakdown 

The NDH programme did receive most referrals from the ‘Care Call Team’ based within the Diabetes team who solely refer into the programme. 

The Care Call team have lost their funding and a new organisation has picked up the contract. The team are currently working to establish a 

referral pathway with Reed Momenta to ensure that the referrals continue to come in once the service is transferred. Local GP’s, Health 

Improvement Service and the MSK Clinic can also refer into the scheme directly. A new pathway with cardiac rehab has also been established. 

For the first time GP referrals have outnumbered Care Call team referrals. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 250



 

 

 

 

 

Demographic Breakdown – Age & Gender - NDH Programme 

This quarter again seen more females than males referred into the service.  

The age range shows that that over half over the referrals are aged 50 and over.  

 

 

   

 

 

 

 

7%

24%

58%

11%

Age Breakdown NDH

18 - 29

30 - 49

50 - 69

70+ 53%

47%

Gender Breakdown NDH

Female Male

P
age 251



 

 

 

Quarter 1
Ordsall /

Langworthy
Claremont /

Weaste
Irlam /

Cadishead
Eccles East Salford Swinton

Worsley /
Boothstow

n

Walkden / L
Hulton

Out of Area

Series1 7 0 3 3 7 7 5 11 2

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

re
fe

rr
al

s 

Area Breakdown NDH

 

 

Postal Ward Breakdown - NDH Programme 

The postal area breakdown shows that the Eccles has had a significant decline in referrals. There has been an increase in referrals from East 
Salford. There is also further decline in Worsley Boothstown area. Most areas have seen a decline, but the programme has had a very quiet 
quarter with referrals down on previous quarters. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

P
age 252



 

 

 

Week 1 Week 8

Structured Exercise 40.2 98.6

Walking 93.4 118.7

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

N
u

m
b

er
 o

f 
A

ct
iv

e 
M

in
u

te
s

Average Active Minutes - NDH

 

 

Activity Levels - NDH Programme 

The chart below indicates that 69% of clients increase their activity levels over the 8 week programme. There was a slight decline in those 
achieving National guidelines this quarter at the end of 8 weeks.  

 
Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Annual Average 

 % of clients that achieve Increased activity 
levels 

61%     

% of clients achieving the national guidelines 
after 8/12 weeks 

100%     

 

The graph below separates structured exercise and walking. After 8 weeks there is a significant increase in both structured activity and walking.    

 

 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 253



 

 

 

 

 
Wellbeing Levels and Self Confidence Levels – NDH Programme 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Wellbeing is measured using the SWEMWBS scale. The scale is scored out of 35. During the 8 weeks the programme clients have average a 3-
point increase on the scale.   
 
Clients are also asked how confident they feel using activity as a tool to manage their health condition. During the 8 weeks the clients will receive 
education on how the exercises can help reduce their HBa1C score. This quarter seen an average score of 3 out of 5 at week 1 therefore there 
was very little room to increase this average. However, 70% of clients did report an increased sense of confidence around activity and managing 
their health condition. 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Annual Average 

% of clients that achieve increased WEMWBS 
score 

72% 84% 89% 87% 83% 

% of clients that achieve increased Confidence 
score 

81% 72% 78% 70% 75% 

P
age 254



 

 

 

Improved sleep
8% Weight loss

5%

Feel more positive
12%

Better Mood
17%

More 
energy

13%

Feel motivated
19%

Being more sociable
11%

Stopped smoking
2% Made new 

friends
13%

Reported Benefits -
NDH

 

Physical Activity Outcomes and Health Benefits - NDH Programme 

The graph below shows that most clients report Better mood and Feeling motivated as their physical activity/health benefit. The number of clients 
reporting weight loss has declined slightly this quarter.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

At the end of the 8 weeks 72% of clients have reported that they are planning on continuing with their exercise. The following shows how the 

clients intend to continue being active: 

 

• 19% of clients want to continue swimming 

• 61% of clients want to continue with the gym 

• 8% of clients want to remain active through walking 

P
age 255



 

 

 

• 12% of clients reported other activities such as football, aqua aerobics, exercise classes and allotments 

 

 

 

Chapter 4 – CAN-Move Programme  
 
 
Overview 
 
Cancer mortality rates are decreasing due to earlier diagnosis and better treatment which means many individuals are living with the long-term effects of cancer.  
Most individuals are extremely motivated to improve their lifestyle but often need guidance and support.  
 
The Aim of The CAN-Move Salford project is to ensure that physical activity should be made part of the cancer pathway in Salford; to support patients in 
initiating and maintaining physical activity during and after treatment. 
 
Patients of all tumour groups are offered the supported 12-week physical activity programme.  This will enable individuals who may not usually engage in 
physical activity to do so at a local facility in a safe and supportive environment.  
 
COVID 19 has had a big impact on cancer care and services. There has been a large back log of people awaiting diagnosis and treatment and many people 
with cancer had been shielding.  The CAN-Move Programme is more important than ever now in supporting any patients in Salford who may have been in this 
back log to help them to maintain and improve their physical and mental health during and after their treatment and beyond.  
 

 
Highlights for this Quarter 
 
Zoom Sessions 
When restrictions came into place in March 2020 due to COVID 19, the CAN-Move Team switched to online delivery via Zoom for a number of classes. In this 
quarter (Apr-June 2021) most of these sessions have remained and are still well attended.  
 
CAN-MOVE Walking Group 
CAN-Move walks started back up at the end of April 2021 when some of the COVID restrictions eased, allowing small groups of clients to access outdoor 
exercise /physical activity. Walks also include some outdoor Mindfulness Practice. Taking place at various places in Salford such as Salford’s Wetlands, 
Dukes Drive Country Park Monton and Black Leach Country Park.  When these CAN-Move walks first started the aim was to provide some outdoor exercise 
for service users, because it is thought that being outdoors could help to reduce the risk of coronavirus transmission, therefore a safer exercise option to 
provide. The walks have also provided great social support for people and with the added element of some Mindfulness to further support wellbeing for cancer 

 

P
age 256



 

 

 

patients. The walks specifically for Can Movers are set to continue due to the positive effects outdoor exercise can have on well-being. Also, signposting to 
The Salford Well Being walks will be continuing for anyone on CAN-Move.  
 
 
 
CAN-Move in Person Classes 
Towards the end of May some restrictions lifted, meaning people could access group indoor exercise classes, therefore the team were able to deliver some in 
person classes again at Salford Sports Village and Worsley Leisure Centre. CAN-Move will continue to offer a mixed model offering in person and online 
classes as the benefits from both types of delivery can be seen for our clients.    
 
Summer/Spring 2021 CAN-Move Newsletter  
The Newsletter went out to CAN-Move clients, partner organisations and referring /signposting agencies to showcase activities going on now and to give 
people more of a feel about CAN-Move is about in order to aid promotion.  
 
 
Presentation at Zoom Prostate Cancer Support group 
During the pandemic a couple of the cancer support groups still met monthly via zoom. The prostate cancer support group being one. At the start of the 
quarter a member of the CAN-Move team was a speaker on the group to help raise awareness of the programme.  
 

Figure Breakdowns 
 
The table below details the referral numbers for this quarter.  
 

 Quarter 1 
Apr-June 

Quarter 2 
July-Sept 

Quarter 3 
Oct-Dec 

Quarter 4 
Jan-Mar TOTAL 

 
Number of Referrals 

 
32 

    

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 257



 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Breakdown of Cancer Type 
The table below provides a breakdown of cancer types for the referrals in this quarter: 
 

Type 
Qtr 1 

Apr-June 
Qtr 2 

July-Sept 
Qtr 3 

Oct-Dec 
Qtr 4 

Jan-Mar 
TOTAL 

Bladder      

Breast 7     

Colorectal 8     

Dermatological      

Gynaecological      

Haematological 2     

Head & Neck 2     

Lung 7     

Myeloma      

Neurological      

Prostate 3     

Renal      

Testicular      

Upper GI 3     

TOTAL      

 
 

 
Again, in this quarter there have been no referrals for breast cancer from the Nightingale Centre, with most breast cancer referrals coming through the Breast 
Care Physios at Salford Royal. Teams within the Nightingale do start making some referrals in quarter 2 (July-Sept). The Nightingale are still placing a CAN-
move Leaflet in packs that go out to Salford Residents, if people wish to make self-referral to the programme.  
 
We have received some referrals from the Prehab4cancer team for Lung, Colorectal and Upper GI Cancers. The Prehab4Cancer team continue to make 
referrals going into the next quarter (2). 
 
 

P
age 258



 

 

 

 
 
 
Commencement & Completion Rates 
 
Completion rate in this quarter is low 12%. This is because at the end of this quarter there is still several people who are still actively participating in the 
programme. This is because at the beginning of quarter 1 we were still only offering virtual online sessions. Around the end of May people began the 
programme properly i.e., back into centres for face-to-face offerings (with our offering being 12 weeks long) therefore they are still actively participating and 
have not completed their 12 weeks. So, quarter 1 is still ongoing, as there is many clients still in participating.  
 
 
We expect that there will be more completers over the next quarters. Overall, the completion rate is expected to average out over the 70%. With the clients in 
Q1 still participating or awaiting to begin.   
 
 

 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
Prehab Cross Referrals  
We have received some referrals from the Prehab4Cancer team 
in this quarter for Lung, Colorectal and Upper GI Cancers.  
However, many that were called for further support from the 
CAN-Move team, did not want to start with us for various 
reasons, which reflects some of the not participating 
numbers/opt outs (clients who are referred but do not start the 
programme).  

 
 
Reasons given for Opt outs in this quarter were: 

• 1 Clients – Not able to contact 

• 8 Clients – Gave other reason? 

 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

No of Referrals 32    

Commencement Rate 41%    

No Currently participating 13    

No Completed 4    

% 12%    

No Pending 
 

5    

No of Opt outs 10    

% 31%    

     

No Drop outs 0    

% 0    

     

P
age 259



 

 

 

• 1 Clients – Not Interested 
 
 
Over the next few quarters, we hope and expect to get more referrals to CAN-Move and increased commencement and completion rate, as COVID 
restrictions have eased, cancer services begin to get back to normal and with the vaccination roll out along with further promotion of the programme.  
 
 
Referral Sources 
 
As you can see from the graph below, most referrals still come through the teams at Salford Royal. CAN-Move leaflets were made available to the CNS’S at 
the hospital in this quarter to help to further increase referrals.    The Macmillan centre based at Salford Royal also refer in and contact has been made with 
Macmillan based at Wythenshawe as well as Macmillan at Bolton Hospital, as some Salford residents have their treatment at these sites, so potential for 
these teams to signpost and refer into CAN-move. The team have also been encouraging ‘self-referrals’, especially since the pandemic people have not been 
as easily able to visit their GP. Social media, the website and promotion of CAN-Move via leaflets and poster within sites such as libraries, have all been used 
as avenues to help increase self-referrals.   Also, since April CAN-Move has been advertised on The Cancer Care Map which is an online resource to help 

people living with cancer find care and support services in their local area, anywhere in the UK. Homepage | Cancer Care Map.  
 
GP’s still have very low numbers of referrals. The Macmillan Practice Educators based at Salford Royal are still only working within the hospital supporting 
The CNS teams and not within the community now or supporting the GP’s.  We are keeping in touch with the educators to see if this changes in the future. 
There will be a push to advertise CAN-Move within GP surgeries to increase referrals from GP’S and practice nurses over the next quarters. In quarter 2 
information about CAN-move went into the Salford CCG GP Bulletin, with the aim to increase referrals from GP’S and Primary Care. Contact with staff that 
support GPS’ and nurses in primary care, such as Social Prescribers and Health Coaches, who are now an important part of personalised care, is being 
made, with the hope to make progressions with this in the next quarters.  
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 260

https://www.cancercaremap.org/


 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Self Referral GP Salford Royal Macmillan

Q1 2 3 25 2

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

re
fe

rr
al

s 

CANCER REHAB Q1

P
age 261



 

 

 

 
Demographic Breakdown 
 
Indicated below the gender split is with 20 female clients and12 Male clients. In Below the graph shows the age breakdown of clients. 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The graph shows that most clients are aged over 60 with the highest referral numbers being in the 55-64 years old. This is reflective of cancer diagnosis being 
more common in the over 50’s. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Male 
37%

Female
63%

CanMove Referrals by Gender Q1

25 - 34
6%

45 - 54
13%

55 - 64
34%

65 - 74
31%

75 - 84
16%

CanMove Age Breakdown Q1

25 - 34 45 - 54 55 - 64 65 - 74 75 - 84

P
age 262



 

 

 

 
The graph below shows the area breakdown of referrals this quarter. 
 
 

 
 
 
There has been a significant rise in referrals from Swinton North area. Boothstown & Ellenbrook, Cadishead and Out of the Area also having a significant 
amount for the quarter  
 
 
User Outcomes 
 
The following figures are taken from the clients who have completed their 12 weeks within 
 the last quarter: 
 
Attendances 
 
In this quarter, some face-to-face classes resumed with restrictions easing at the end of May 2021. Zoom class attendance remained high. No supervised gym 
sessions were offered at centres in this quarter.  

Boothstown
and

Ellenbrook
Cadishead Langworthy Little Hulton Ordsall Pendlebury

Swinton
North

Swinton
South

Walkden
North

Walkden
South

Weaste and
Seedley

Winton Worsley Out of area

Q1 4 4 2 1 2 1 5 1 2 2 2 1 1 4

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

N
u

m
b

er
 o

f 
re

fe
rr

al
s 

CanMoveArea Breakdown Q1

P
age 263



 

 

 

 

• 1 weekly in person class (1 x Worsley, 1 x Salford sports Village). 

• Every 2 weeks- CAN -move walk at various locations. 

• Zoom classes (2 x circuits 1 x Yoga and Relaxation and Zoom tai chi until start of June 2021 (which then resumed back to a face to face offering at the 
start of June 2021). 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
Average Active Minutes 
 
At week 1 the clients complete a self-report questionnaire which shows how many active minutes per week they are achieving. A few our clients (22%) 
reported that they achieved 0 minutes of activity at week 1. The graph below shows the average weekly active minutes for clients at week 1 and then at 
completion at week 12. Our clients have seen a good increase in active minutes over the 12-week period. We also advise our clients to increase their walking 
on the days they are not on the programme so there has been an increase on time spent walking a week in addition to some people attending The Can-Move 
walks.  
 

118

306

38

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

In person classes Zoom CAN-Move Walks

N
u

m
er

 o
f 

A
tt

en
d

es
s 

Session Type

Session Attendance

P
age 264



 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
Our clients have seen an increase in Active minutes over the 12 weeks. 52% of clients also report achieving the 150 minutes of recommended activity at week 
12.  
  
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 265



 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Wellbeing 
 
Research highlights that those living with and beyond cancer are twice as likely to develop mental health problems, particularly anxiety and depression. 
Around a third of people within 5 years of diagnosis with breast, colorectal, prostate or lymphomas state that they have experienced anxiety and depression 
(MacMillan, 2013). Wellbeing levels are monitored using the validated WEMWBS scale.  
 
The average score at week 1 was 45 indicating an Average Wellbeing rating. At week 12 the Well- being score has increased to 59, which still indicates an 
average wellbeing score but is higher than week 1. 100 % of clients reported an increase in wellbeing levels at week 12. The table below shows the 
percentage of clients in each wellbeing category at week 1 & again at week 12: 
 

 Week 1 Week 12 

Below Average 16% 0% 

Average 50% 33% 

Above Average 33% 66% 
 
As you can see there is an increase in the percentage of clients in the Above Average category at Week 12 and a decrease in those in the Below Average at 
week 12. If we had seen more people completing in this quarter, we would hope that the Average wellbeing score percentage would have been higher at 
week12 as there would be more data to report on.  As already said not all people that have commenced the programme in this quarter have completed in the 
quarter, due to going from home/based zoom exercise to the taking advantage of the full 12-week programme. 
 
 
 

 Qtr 1 Qtr 2 Qtr 3 Qtr 4 

% clients achieving an increase in 
physical activity levels 

100%    

     

% clients achieving government 
guidelines of activity (excluding 
walking) 

100%    

P
age 266



 

 

 

Fatigue 
 
Fatigue levels are measured using the ‘Brief fatigue inventory’. At week 1 the average score for clients was 4 resulting in a moderate fatigue rating. 83% of 
clients reported a reduction in fatigue scores resulting in week 12 average score of 2, rated as mild fatigue. 

 
Reported benefits 
 
The exercise programme aims to provide clients with noticeable benefits at 12 weeks our clients report a wide ranging lists of benefits. 80% of clients report 3 
or more physical activity outcomes. The graph below highlights the most common benefits reported by our clients. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Made New 
Friends

9%

Improved Sleep
12%

Weight Loss
5%

Feel more 
Positive

20%Better Mood
19%

More Energy
14%

Feel 
motivated

13%

More Sociable
8%

Reported Benefits

P
age 267



 

 

 

 
 

 
 

Chapter 5 – Case Studies and lessons learned 
 
Exercise on Referral 
 
VB came through exercise on referral after having been told she needed to lose some weight and build up her leg muscles ready for a knee operation later 
this year. She was very nervous and unsure about using the gym, isolation  and low self-esteem during lockdown had really taken its toll on her confidence, 
but with a few one to one sessions her confidence soon built up, she went from attending once a week for the first 3 weeks to attending twice a week still with 
a supervised session and then after a further 3 weeks decided to become independent user. VB had a regular programme reviews and is now an avid gym 
user, her muscle strength has improved  and a few pounds lost and friendships gained,  she has now been told she can have an injection in the knee and 
surgery can be put off for another 6 months so she has chance to lose a little more weight.  This new found confidence has also motivated her to achieve 
another goal of going on holiday something she lost  confidence  to do over the last few years.  

 
Case Study Can-Move 

 
CR self-referred on to The CAN-Move Programme after she had treatment for Bowel Cancer around 18 months ago. Previous to this she had treatment 16 
years ago for skin cancer and more recently not long before the bowel cancer was diagnosed, she had treatment for ovarian cancer. After being diagnosed with 
Bowel cancer CR knew she had to make a change in her lifestyle and her big goal was to become more active. So, she joined CAN-Move and began using the 
gym after being set up with a programme from a member of the Can-Move Team. She used the gym every day and was frustrating for her when there were 
periods of lockdown and she couldn’t attend. CR is now able to attend again everyday since restrictions have eased and is often joined with her friend who has 
mental health issues, who she helps to spur on and support in the gym too. Just recently she has been going into the baths at the centre and her and her friend 
are doing a sponsored Swimathon over time, raising money for the Charity Spinal. When CR started on CAN-Move she would never have thought she would 
have been able to get into the baths as felt embarrassed by her weight and worried about the colostomy bag she now has after treatment for bowel cancer. 
However, she now has no issues with this, since she has been making exercise part of her daily routine, she has gone from 147 KG to 116.5 Kg. She feels 
CAN-Move has been a big part of her life and has given her the motivation she has needed to change. CR said ‘The programme has done wonders, without 
this programme I don’t know where I’d be, I feel more confident, I can achieve things and I’m going for my goals.’  
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

P
age 268



 

 

 

Chapter 6 - SOCIAL VALUE 
 
A set of social accounts for the Active Lifestyles has been published (Dec, 2016). The team is focused on improving the health and wellbeing of 
the people of Salford through specialised exercise referral programmes designed to support the treatment of heart and lung conditions, cancer, 
diabetes and falls prevention amongst other long term conditions.   
 
People with long-term health conditions require programmes of exercise to be carefully prescribed. SCL have Level 3 GP referral Gym 
Instructors in a number of the fitness suites who can deal with mild to moderate health conditions. Officers as part of the Active Lifestyles Team 
are all Level 4 qualified and specially trained to work with people who have complex / multiple health conditions. In many instances these 
inductions will result in the customer taking up a fitness membership.  
 
The programmes on offer prove a very popular initiative and acts as an engagement service. Clients report that they feel more in control of their 
conditions and feel a sense of confidence in their ability to self-manage aspects of their conditions. The quality and ability of staff to manage 
health conditions; adapt exercises and educate clients on activity and their conditions leads to a reassuring environment for clients where they 
can participate with full confidence.  

P
age 269



T
his page is intentionally left blank



SALFORD COMMUNITY LEISURE -  

ACTIVE LIFESTYLES SERVICES DURING COVID PANDEMIC  

 

The Active Lifestyles Service continued to provide support to patients throughout the 

pandemic, by continually to develop new ways of supporting individuals and responding to 

the ever-changing demands and challenges resulting from the various restrictions and 

lockdowns. More recently, steps are being taken towards full-service recovery, focussing on 

continued individual support where it is most needed.  

 

During pandemic – from April 2020 

 All clients that were already referred and ‘in the service’ before lockdown began were 

contacted and informed that their 3-month pass would be frozen, to be resumed once 

leisure facilities reopened. Every client was also offered a home exercise programme 

(attached) and advised/encouraged to increase outdoor activity where they were able 

to independently 

Home%20Exer

 

 An Instructor-led video of supported exercise was also developed by one of the Active 

Lifestyles Development Officers which all clients were provided access to; 

https://salfordcommunityleisure.co.uk/be-active/active-lifestyles/exercise/respiratory/ 

 During the initial months, the number of referrals reduced significantly. This was to 

be expected as the primary focus for all partners was on the pandemic, and 

availability of the service offer was uncertain. However, any new referrals that did 

come through during that time, as well as the clients already within the service were 

offered weekly support through a video call or phone call 

 Regular newsletters were also developed and distributed to all clients, which have 

proved to be invaluable particularly for the more isolated or vulnerable, or those less 

likely to access web-based content and for whom the active lifestyles service provides 

a welcome, much-needed support network. (examples attached)  

 

Page 271

https://salfordcommunityleisure.co.uk/be-active/active-lifestyles/exercise/respiratory/


 In addition to regularly keeping in touch with clients, the team also made regular 

contact with all our partners that were not furloughed during this period, to keep up 

to date with the service offer available and support any new referrals 

 The ALT also spent a lot of time volunteering for Salford City Council, supporting the 

efforts to help those most in need, which included delivering and shopping for the 

vulnerable, and more isolated people across the city 

 

In between lockdowns and when the gyms re-opened – July 2020  

 All clients that had a 3-month pass were contacted and encouraged to come back to 

the gym, as it was possible to resume face to face delivery (socially distanced) 

 Those who returned, regardless of how many times they had attended pre-pandemic, 

were provided with a refresh gym induction. 

 Salford Sports Village was used as a ‘hub’ for the team and the majority of clients, 

particularly those considered more vulnerable, providing a choice for clients to be 

away from more general population classes and activity 

 The team also supported other leisure facility staff by covering as Duty Manager/ 

Reception on site, and also cleaning before and after sessions, adhering to the 

stringent covid measures in place 

 

During second lockdown and through the lifting of restrictions – November 2020 

onwards  

 As we went into the second lockdown the same applied as above  

 Starting in January most of the team were doing several shifts at the vaccine centres , 

supporting wider Salford City Council vaccination programme 

 Discussions began regarding Active Lifestyles/ Leisure Services supporting 

community referrals from Long-Covid clinics 

 Expansion of Weight Management programme, and recruitment of new staff 

 Integration with wider system - Throughout the pandemic and more recently 

leading up to re-opening, continued discussions (which began pre-pandemic) in 

relation to integration between Active Lifestyles and other teams in SCL, linked to 

wider GM discussions regarding health and leisure and upskilling the wider workforce 

to support health and wellbeing (linked to the Physical Activity Framework, Local 

Delivery Pilot, ‘Waiting Well’ programmes amongst others)   

 

 

Page 272



 

Leading up to and since re-opening – May 2021 onwards  

 Bringing clients back to leisure facilities as appropriate, and at the same time 

continuing to offer virtual contact and  ‘hybrid’ support 

 Continued conversations regarding Long Covid referrals. ALT attending MDTs to take 

referrals and offer services where appropriate 

 Marketing and communications regarding service offer being developed – for health 

partners to be able to refer effectively, and also developing additional web-content 

for continued access for anyone unable to attend in person   

 

Challenges  

 Restrictions – continually needing to be flexible and react to fast-changing situation  

 Staff across the organisation furloughed, or isolating meant lack of capacity  

 HR challenges (common with other organisations) – Bringing staff back from furlough, 

adapting to home-working, different team dynamics, etc - re-learning the basics and 

upskilling in new knowledge – different ways of working  

 Full-service recovery will take time 

 Continued messaging regarding ‘safe to return’ – some clients still uneasy despite 

stringent ‘COVID safe’ measures or advised not to go back to normal 

 Reduction in activity levels in general population means many referrals may be more 

deconditioned, and therefore require additional, or more intense support from the 

service compared to pre-pandemic 

 Long Covid unknowns – this is a real opportunity for the service to support the city as 

part of recovery and ‘building back better’ and will no doubt result in increased 

number of referrals through the service, as well as increased profile amongst health 

partners. However, this will need to be monitored to ensure the service has the 

capacity and resources to accommodate and provide the required level of support 

 Changes in funding/commissioning arrangements (ICS) and potential implications 

(same challenge for all providers) 

 Recruitment is challenging during uncertain times  

 

 

 

Page 273



This page is intentionally left blank



www.sspsalford.com   /  School Sport Partnerships in Salford, Hosted By All Hallows RC High School

5,000

School Sport Partnerships in Salford are grateful to our host site All Hallows RC High 
School, pupils, teachers, families, partners and funders for their support and commitment 
during this unprecedented period of time.

In the last six months there have been lots of things we’ve been able to do, many we 
couldn’t do as we usually would, and lots of communication with schools.

SUPPORTING YOUNG PEOPLE AND SALFORD SCHOOLS THROUGH COVID-19

SCHOOL SPORT PARTNERSHIPS IN SALFORD REPORT 2020

In a time of adapting and innovating, here’s just some of what we’ve been doing:

Completely revised the Move 
With Physical Literacy Programme 
for 5 to 7 year olds to meet social 
distance guidelines. 
This resource is used annually by 
5,000 pupils in Salford Schools.*

*Data Capture in 2019 *Estimate based on unique views and 
downloads and PE Lead feedback

Moved the SSP assessment tool 
online to assist teachers to review 
existing practice whilst remote 
working. 
Assessment principles include 
thinking, social and emotional 
skills as well as physical. Around 
500 professionals accessed this 
resource.*

500 100’s
Worked with colleagues 
across Greater Manchester 
through the GM School 
Games Network to provide 
hundreds of physical 
activities and challenges 
daily and weekly.

Formed a virtual physical 
activity learning community 
across Salford with at least one 
representative from each 
cluster area.

*This included the Youth Council representatives in the SSP presentation in ‘Learning 4 Lockdown’

Consulted with young people on 
the effects of lockdown on their 
physical and mental health to 
establish how we could most 
effectively communicate with 
them and offer physical activity 
to them and their peers. *

£1.4m
Lobbied with national colleagues 
for the extension of the Primary 
School Sport Premium which is 
worth around £1.4 million 
annually in Salford.

PAGE 1
Page 275



SCHOOL SPORT PARTNERSHIPS IN SALFORD REPORT 2020

141 HOURS*

www.sspsalford.com   /  School Sport Partnerships in Salford, Hosted By All Hallows RC High School

As tutors we have supported 
teachers and support staff to 
complete the Primary Specialism 
in Physical Education Level 5/6 
qualification that will have long 
term benefits for Salford schools.

Continued to provide an advice 
service for schools, especially 
regarding safety, suitability and 
alternative provision for pupils 
whether in or out of school during 
lockdown.

The SSP is delighted to have been 
working as part of ‘THRIVE IN 
EDUCATION’ in Salford to support 
the delivery of an integrated 
approach to schools, children and 
young people around mental 
health as part of a wider 
multi-agency partnership.

*Average learning hours for each candidate 
to complete the course

Developed a local system to reward 
schools for their commitment  and 
achievements during the Autumn 
and Spring Terms.

SCHOOLS38
Developed a simple system to 
reward schools for commitment 
and engagement in virtual 
programmes in the Summer Term.

Shared digital content and ran 
online activities with the 
support of Youth Sport Trust 
and engaged in the School 
Games Active Championships.

SCHOOLS36

Supported schools in their 
revised planning for Primary 
School Sport Premium spend 
and the required reporting 
conditions.

SCHOOLS72

In addition we also  (as part of The School Games):

PAGE 2
Page 276



SCHOOL SPORT PARTNERSHIPS IN SALFORD REPORT 2020

Our in school 
support programme for teachers 
had to be suspended, meaning 
130 sessions equating to 250 
hours of support didn’t happen.

Continue with our Young Sports 
Leaders training or deliver 40 
planned pupil to pupil sessions 
after school.

www.sspsalford.com   /  School Sport Partnerships in Salford, Hosted By All Hallows RC High School

127 fixtures in the various SSP 
Leagues remained uncompleted, 
or in the case of Rounders and 
Cricket, unable to start.

44 different sports events and 
competitions didn’t happen, in 
18 different sports, many aimed 
at the least active young people.

All of our face to face 
Professional Development had 
to be cancelled, with 164 Salford 
teachers booked on five 
different courses.

40 130
164

127 44

However, the pandemic has had an effect on our ability to ‘do what 
we normally do’ and as a consequence we were unable to:

PAGE 3

Medals not 
distributed in the 
Summer Term.

1000+

ATHLETICS BEE PROUD BOCCIA CRICKET DODGEBALL FRISBEE

TRI GOLF WRESTLINGTENNIS

GIRLS
 FOOTBALL GYMNASTICS HANDBALL

TAG RUGBYROUNDERS SPORTSHALL

NETBALLMULTI SKILLS
 FESTIVALS QUICKSTICKS

250 HOURS

Our final events in the week before lockdown had 29 schools 
attending Wrestling and Lacrosse events. Since 23rd March:

SPORTS LEADER

Page 277



SCHOOL SPORT PARTNERSHIPS IN SALFORD REPORT 2020

In the past six months, over 1,700 
email communications between 
the SSP and Salford schools on 
all matters physical education, 
school sport and physical activity.

In that time we’ve received some 
wonderful comments.

Salford Primary Schools have 
committed to the SSP 
programme for the academic 
year 2020/21.

www.sspsalford.com   /  School Sport Partnerships in Salford, Hosted By All Hallows RC High School

72 1700+

I just wanted to send a quick 
email to thank the SSP for the 
amazing support you have given 
both myself and Christ Church 
and Lewis Street over the years 
that I have been working there. 
Your innovative ideas, 
inspirational conferences and 
general positivity has made my 
job a lot easier than it would 
have been without your support 
and it has made me a better 
coach/ teacher and enabled our 
children to have some amazing 
experiences. 

Mark Bossons

I just wanted to take this 
opportunity to thank you for the 
last 4 years, the support, 
guidance, amazing conferences 
and PLT days that you provide 
for Salford are invaluable - so 
thank you again, I'm really going 
to miss being part of such a 
brilliant sporting community.

Laura Drinkwater

Because of the support and 
effort put in to past sporting 
events over all these years, we 
will come back from this and 
that's what I believe schools 
want to ensure you are there to 
support and help get us 
through this.

Natasha Fisher

Moving forward:

PAGE 4

The 12th Annual Salford Primary 
PE and School Sport Conference 
will be re-scheduled for a time 
when we can all gather together. 
The Conference always attracts 
over 100 delegates.

Professional development 
opportunities will continue to 
be made available virtually.

We will continue to work with 
local organisations and clubs 
around the safe provision of 
sporting activities for our young 
people.

Up to the minute advice and 
support in all areas of PE will be 
provided, including supporting 
schools around the Primary 
School Sport Premium.

100+

Page 278



   Report to Public Health November 2021 School Sports Partnerships in Salford (SSP) 

 

This report replaces the previous formats from 2019 and earlier and is linked to the previous 

‘infographic report’ published in late 2020. 

The focus is to provide a narrative of actions, including where other areas of work ‘cross-over’ but 

clearly provide context. This is also a unique report, written as we are still in the midst of a pandemic 
and therefore includes timeline information to illustrate the steps taken towards recovery. 

Background (Text taken from the Salford Physical Activity Framework) 

Salford has a School Sport Partnership (SSP) that exists to work with teachers to develop PE and 

School Sport and is led by teachers with over 60 years’ experience in Salford. It is grounded in 

education and has been hosted by All Hallows RC High School since 2001. It receives some small 

grants from the Youth Sport Trust, some National Governing Bodies (NGB’s) funding, school 

contributions and is commissioned by the Public Health Team. The SSP is not-for-profit, and funds 
are allocated to support schools. 

In 2021/22, 68 Salford primary schools (87%) are signed up to the School Sport Partnership. Schools 

benefit from a wide-ranging events programme and a professional development programme and 

this is needs based. An annual consultation is carried out with pupils and teachers.  

The SSP provides advice to schools on all matters relating to Physical Education and Physical Activity 

and also how to effectively spend the School Sport Premium. The SSP awards the School Games 

Mark that is an annual award that reflects commitment to the School Games and is a good indicator 
of school engagement in sport and physical activity.  

Timeline 

Early stages of the pandemic (March – September 2020) 

 Revision of ‘Move With’ programme to meet social distancing guidelines. 

 Moved the SSP assessment tool online. 

 Worked with regional and national colleagues to provide hundreds of physical activities and 

challenges daily and weekly. 

 Formed a virtual activity learning community with a representative from each area of 

Salford. 

 Consulted with young people on the effects of lockdown. 

 Lobbied for the extension of the Primary School Sport premium, worth £1.4 million annually 

to Salford schools. 

 Working with ‘Thrive in Education’ in Salford to provide an integrated approach to schools.  

 Advice to schools especially regarding safety, suitability, and provision for pupils whether in 

or out of school. 

 Completed the final cohort of teachers for the Level 5/6 qualification.  

 Rewarded and recognised schools for their commitments during this phase of the pandemic.  

 

‘Additional Restrictions’ Phase (September 2020 – March 2021) 

(Greater Manchester additional restrictions from 18/9/20, Tier 3 from 20/10/20, Tier 4 from 

30/12/20, school closures from after the Christmas break until 8/3/21) 

 Continued to provide and grow the remote learning offer for schools. 

Page 279



   Report to Public Health November 2021 School Sports Partnerships in Salford (SSP) 

 

 Re-started our ‘support delivery’ to schools following Covid protocols. 

 Sustained this delivery in at least seven schools per week throughout, supporting pupils in 

and out of schools.  

 Launched an inclusive challenge alongside the virtual running challenges.  

 Had to cancel or postpone many regular events and CPD programme, including the 12th 

Annual Primary PE Conference (usually attended by 80 to 100 Salford teachers). 

 Utilised Zoom to provide regular PE Leads Meetings. 

 Held virtual CPD attended by over 50 schools, including a ‘Health and Safety (during Covid 

and beyond)’ course that was attended by 29 schools across two days.  

 Introduced the Healthy Lifestyles Programme (a Youth Sport Trust Programme) . 

 Offered a ‘virtual’ events and competitions programme to allow schools to comple te in 

‘bubbles’ on their premises.  

 Eight schools with over 2,500 runners still completed the Santa Dash despite restrictions in 

place (eight schools reported their figures, actual participation was higher).  

 9,044 pupils took part in at least one ‘athletic’ related challenge in the Autumn Term. 

 Provided resources to schools to support Mental Health Week via the Trello platform.   

 Worked to support partner organisation activities, such as Foundation 92’s Joy of Moving 

Festival, attended by 18 schools with 723 participants. 

 Launched ‘Naomi’s Challenge’ on 23/2/21. (See attachment as example). 

 Met regularly with colleagues in Public Health, Children’s Services and the Thrive network to 
provide a joined-up approach to ‘educational recovery’ and offer suitable support to schools. 

 

During the ‘return to school’ phase (April – July 2021) 

(Bubbles requirement for schools to be removed from September, announced 6/7/21) 

 Engaged Salford schools in the National (Schools Active Movement) Survey in April to 

provide evidence to government (see Appendix One). 

 Delivered a workshop at the Emotionally Friendly Settings Conference. (18/5/21) entitled 

‘Why getting the physical activity offer right is vital.’  

 Followed up this workshop with a Zoom briefing for schools, attended by 50 teachers. 

 Worked with Greater Sport and SCL to support schools to access Opening School Facilities 

funding, with two Salford schools receiving £10,000 each. 

 Regular meetings with CAMHS i-Reach, Youth Service and Thrive Board to develop pilots for 

Exercise on Prescription. 

 Delivered on the transition programme over the Whit break. 

 Started pilot Thrive work in schools, at Light Oaks Juniors. 

Report here:  

https://www.gmmoving.co.uk/news/a-whole-system-approach-to-using-physical-activity-to-

support-children-s-mental-wellbeing-in-salford 

 Delivery of Covid ‘secure’ events after consultation with schools, public health, and 

children’s services. 

 Six events in six weeks delivered to 61 schools and 784 pupils. (From 11/6/21 to 9/7/21). 

There was no delivery in the corresponding term in 2020.  

Page 280

https://www.gmmoving.co.uk/news/a-whole-system-approach-to-using-physical-activity-to-support-children-s-mental-wellbeing-in-salford
https://www.gmmoving.co.uk/news/a-whole-system-approach-to-using-physical-activity-to-support-children-s-mental-wellbeing-in-salford


   Report to Public Health November 2021 School Sports Partnerships in Salford (SSP) 

 

 Delivery of a successful Mini-Conference at Hotel Football on Friday 25th June. (See 

Appendix Two)  

 Healthy Lifestyle Day with a range of activities and speakers, including Neil Danns.  

 Worked with organisations in Little Hulton to support the new BMX track, including sessions 

for schools and a ‘Launch Event’. 

 Supported the transition programme for pupils over the Summer Holidays by providing a 
range of physical activities to boost self-esteem and confidence. 

 

The New Academic Year (September 2021 onwards) 

To be reported on fully in the next report. Statistics available. 

 Events re-start. 

 Comprehensive survey carried out via Koboca completed by over 1,500 Salford pupils  to 

inform  physical activity role in education recvoery 

 Thrive Pilots continue. 

 CPD events offered, including for new PE Leads in Salford.  

 

CONCLUSION 

It has been an unprecedented time in schools, and there has been much missed. Surveys carried out 

clearly show the impact the pandemic has had an effect on physical activity levels and progress in 

physical education. As an SSP we have been able to reflect, spend time finding solutions with a wider 

range of agencies, and be a support for schools throughout. In the Summer Term, 784 pupils 

participated in a ‘real’ event, and this number was almost surpassed in just one event this term. 

School attitudes to attending CPD and events varies but it is clear that there is ‘pent-up’ demand, 

and the concentration is on those pupils with the greatest need. The pandemic has also cemented 

the role of the SSP in working to provide school to community links and support Salford 
organisations. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 281



   Report to Public Health November 2021 School Sports Partnerships in Salford (SSP) 

 
 

APPENDIX ONE 

SALFORD NATIONAL SAM SURVEY RESULTS May 2021 

The SAM survey was only open for one week and 77 Salford Schools completed it.  (Either the Head, 

SLT or PE Leads). (2,647 schools completed it Nationally) 

Survey Completed by 77 schools 

Primary 87%, Secondary 8%, Special 5% 

Pupil Social Interaction is: 

A lot worse than before Lockdown: 13% 

Worse than before Lockdown: 29%  

The same as before Lockdown: 38% 

Better than before Lockdown: 13% 

A lot better than before Lockdown: 8% 

Pupil Resilience is: 

A lot worse than before Lockdown: 13% 

Worse than before Lockdown: 53%  

The same as before Lockdown: 25% 

Better than before Lockdown: 9% 

A lot better than before Lockdown: 0% 

How much do you agree or disagree with the following statement: Pupils have put on excessive 

body weight during lockdown? 

Strongly agree: 31% 

Agree: 52% 

Disagree: 6% 

Strongly Disagree: 0% 

Don't Know: 10% 

83% of Salford schools report pupils putting on excessive body weight (National is 66%) 

The Fundamental Movement Skills of Pupils are: 

A lot worse than before Lockdown: 18% 

Worse than before Lockdown: 68%  

The same as before Lockdown: 14% 

Page 282



   Report to Public Health November 2021 School Sports Partnerships in Salford (SSP) 

 
Better than before Lockdown: 0% 

A lot better than before Lockdown: 0% 

86% of Salford schools report movement skills are worse (National is 67%) 

Thinking about your pupil's physical fitness; is it: 

A lot worse than before Lockdown: 30% 

Worse than before Lockdown: 60%  

The same as before Lockdown: 9% 

Better than before Lockdown: 1% 

A lot better than before Lockdown: 0% 

90% of Salford Schools report a decline in fitness. (National is 84%) 

Thinking about your pupil's Physical Activity levels: are they doing? 

A lot less than before Lockdown: 30% 

A little less than before Lockdown: 32% 

The same as before Lockdown: 18% 

A little more than before Lockdown: 13% 

A lot more than before Lockdown: 6% 

Pupil general wellbeing is: 

A lot worse than before Lockdown: 10% 

Worse than before Lockdown: 51%  

The same as before Lockdown: 35% 

Better than before Lockdown: 3% 

A lot better than before Lockdown: 1% 

61% of Salford Schools reported general well-being had regressed. (National is 60%) 

 

APPENDIX TWO 

Mini PE Conference Monitoring Statistics 2021 (Hotel Football, 25th June) 

During the planning of the Mini PE Conference, we were fully booked with a maximum of 50 people 

which meant the event was running at 50% capacity in line with covid secure measures. In the 2 

weeks leading up to the event 15 people withdrew due to bubble closures, self-isolating or covering 

for staff who were self-isolating. As a result, 36 people attended with 30 of these being Subject 
Leaders, representing just under half of the Primary schools in Salford.  

Page 283



   Report to Public Health November 2021 School Sports Partnerships in Salford (SSP) 

 

Workshop evaluations rated usefulness, quality, tutor competence and overall satisfaction at 100%. 

Of these ratings 92.1% were excellent and 7.9% good. There was no pattern or single factor 
identified as falling below excellence, as good gradings were given to a range of criteria.  

Reported Impact on practice 

66.6% recorded the impact they expected the conference to have on their practice with the 
following feed-back: 

Pedagogy: improve lessons offered; ideas on curriculum development with an emphasis on 

inclusion; review intervention provision; lots of ideas on how to drive PE and Sport forwards; has 

given strategies to move forward after the pandemic; given food for thought on the direction I want 
the curriculum to go in and the activities offered 

Attitude: would like to have speaker to share his story back at school; an inspirational and insightful 

day 

Resources: use flag as a new activity in lessons; develop orienteering in an easier way for teachers to 
use 

Competence: clarity on the effective use of sport premium; understood practical ways of making 
lessons inclusive 

The Mini Conference as an event 

Again evaluations on the event as a whole including the inspirational speaker, variety of workshops, 

catering, venue and organisation had a 100% satisfaction rate. Of these ratings 86.2% were excellent 

and 13.8% were good. Of the good ratings almost half related to the variety of workshops on offer 

and the suitability of the venue. In context the delegates completing the evaluations have attended 

our larger conference in normal times where we usually have a choice of 6 workshops to choose 

from. There was little practical space at the venue which delegates are used to having at our 
conferences. No other patterns can be identified in the good responses.  

Since the event we have received several emails and messages thanking us for the event, saying how 
much the delegate had enjoyed the event and telling us the value they had gained from attending.  

General Comments added to evaluation forms: 

Very enjoyable; fantastic experience; great/brilliant/excellent day as always; new activities delivered 

well; thanks for the updates/support/organisation during another difficult year; thank you so much 
for your time and effort; inspirational and insightful; amazing food! 

Overall Conclusions Based on Monitoring Information: 

1. The conference was well attended with all delegates attending on the day, which is 
astounding in the present climate of unpredictability.  

2. The impact of attendance challenged pedagogy, altered attitudes and perceptions, provided 

resources and improved competence. 

3. Overall satisfaction was 100%, indicating that the quality of what delegates received as an 
overall experience was highly valued. 

4. In planning a future and probably larger event the suitability of the venue would need to be 

considered due to the relative lack of practical space and the limit that would put on number 

Page 284



   Report to Public Health November 2021 School Sports Partnerships in Salford (SSP) 

 

of workshops available for a larger number of delegates. However, for the purposes of the 

mini conference it was almost ideal and good value for money.  

 

Page 285



This page is intentionally left blank



 

  

Page 287



 

Page 288



www.salfordcommunityleisure.co.uk

SOCIAL 
IMPACT 
REPORT 
ACTIVE LIFESTYLES TEAM
2016

Page 289



The Active Lifestyles Team provides a range of physical 
activity programmes for people who have been diagnosed 
with long-term health conditions. In the last 5 years this 
highly skilled team of 7 health professionals has supported 
more than 4,000 people to become more active, to 
participate in life and feel part of their community and feel 
supported to take responsibility for their own physical and 
mental well-being. Every one of the team members brings 
behaviours and competencies that genuinely engage people 
and encourage them to maintain their health even when it 
feels really tough; they are persuasive and positive and a real 
asset to the communities they serve.

01/02

ACTIVE LIFESTYLES TEAM 
SOCIAL IMPACT REPORT 2016

The team is focused on improving the health and wellbeing of the people of Salford 
through specialised exercise referral programmes designed to support the treatment 
of heart and lung conditions, cancer, diabetes and falls prevention amongst other 
long term conditions

The team also offers community based activities that provide people with an 
opportunity to form new social connections whilst also improving their health and 
well being, these include health walks as well as group sessions to improve mobility 
and heart health.

What we deliver
The programme offers 8 weeks of supervised exercise and support where people 
can choose from a menu of physical activities including specialist exercise classes, 
gym sessions, guided health walks and swimming. 

Performance Data
Across the city in 2016, the team were responsible for delivering: 

• Structured exercise programmes to over 1,000 adults with long term health conditions. 

• 8 weekly Health Walks

• 11 Healthy at Heart classes each week. 

• 9 Healthy Hips and Hearts classes (gentle chair based exercise) each week. 

• 2 Can Move exercise classes and 6 supervised gym sessions each week. 

• 6 Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD) classes each week. 

• 6 Postural Stability classes each week. 

• 5 Step Up classes each week. 

In addition to the delivery of sessions, the team also: 

• Supported 18 active volunteer Health Walk Leaders 

•  Supported a number of residential care homes across the city to deliver Healthy Hips & 
Heart classes as well as assisted living homes and local community groups. 

•  Organised regular tea dances, inviting residents from care homes, assisted living 
premises and community groups.

The team work closely with numerous stakeholders, including commissioners 
and referral partners as illustrated in the word cloud below:

SALFORD CITY COUNCIL
CLIENTS

SRFT

Carers

NURSES

A
ge U

K Health Improvement

GPS

CC
G

BIG LIFE

INTEGRATED CARE ORGANISATION
Salford Together

Radio Cars

INSPIRING COMMUNITIES TOGETHER 

City West

A
BL H

EA
LTH

Unique Improvements Unlimited Potential

P
age 290



03/04

“The team live into their values everyday, that’s why 
their services work”

Corporate Values
Stakeholders felt positive that SCL’s corporate values were reflected in the 
manner in which the Active Lifestyles team conduct themselves. 

Enhancing the Lives of People Living in Salford
Can-Move
Janet was referred from the Breast Unit at Salford Royal to the Can-Move Programme. 
Surgery had left her with some scar tissue that caused reduced range of movement 
and stiffness in her right shoulder and arm. Janet was also being treated for high 
blood pressure and her Achilles tendons were also ruptured. She began attending the 
Can-Move circuit classes with her goal being to be able to move better generally but 
specifically to have improved range of movement in her right shoulder, arm and ankles. 

In the first few weeks her confidence to exercise was low and she believed she wouldn’t 
be able to do some of the exercises. She was often heard saying ‘I can’t do this’ and 
‘I can’t do that’. She often had to sit out of the class for a while and rest and did not 
feel strong enough to use any weights when performing resistance exercises, due to the 
limited mobility and stiffness in her right arm and shoulder. 

After a few weeks of taking part in the class her confidence began to increase due to 
improvements in physical fitness and through support from the Can Move Instructor 
taking the class. At 8 weeks it was great to see that Janet was able to complete the 
full circuit without taking rest breaks and progressed to using small weights when 
performing resistance exercises. She said she would like to use the gym, which just 
shows how much her confidence had improved and how she had progressed with her 
exercise routine and physical fitness. 

Pulmonary Rehabilitation
David first began attending the Pulmonary Rehabilitation class at Eccles. Initially he began 
attending once a week but by week 3 increased this to twice a week. David began to 
increase the weights he was using, started sitting down less and explained how much he 
was enjoying the sessions. At the end of the 6-week programme he was keen to continue 
exercising and was referred to the Active Lifestyles Team. He was given several options 
where he could either use the gym as an independent exerciser or attend Active Lifestyles 
classes; he decided that he would like to continue with the class, as he “didn’t fancy going 
it alone.” David attended the session at Eccles the same week he finished Pulmonary 
Rehabilitation, demonstrating how keen he was to start. After the session finished he asked 
if there were any other sessions he could attend and emphasised the fact that he didn’t 
mind travelling to them. 2 other classes were suggested which were based within 5 miles of 
his address and he now attends 3 days a week.

Healthy at Heart
One service user, a retired gentleman recovering from a heart attack began his exercise 
pathway by using the gym, he had a personalised plan that allowed him to build his 
confidence using the equipment and increase his personal interaction with other people 
through becoming a regular face at the gym. He enjoyed the feeling of increased activity and 
improved fitness so much that he became a frequent visitor and gradually began to support 
others to use the equipment confidently. This led to the staff at the gym encouraging him 
to assist as a volunteer in classes and he is now a mentor working alongside other gym 
instructors. His tone and manner are engaging and instil confidence in others; this coupled 
with his personal experience of exercise as a means to re-joining society after a sudden 
and shocking health event means he makes an excellent role model and friend to other new 
‘gym joiners’.

“I feel a lot more active and more able after 
attending the Can-Move programme. It has helped 
all aspects of my life. It should be compulsory for all 
cancer patients in the area.”

“The walks give me the opportunity to meet like-
minded people and get back out into the community 
after a period of illness”

 “The care, compassion and pragmatism demonstrated 
by the staff offered genuine peace of mind”

P
age 291



Salford Community Leisure Limited is a Co-operative and Community Benefit Society with charitable status.  Registered in England, registration number 29627 R.  Charitable status reference XR71610.  Vat Registration Number 254629684
SCL Trading Limited is a trading subsidiary company number 8623304. Registered Office Civic Centre, Chorley Road, Swinton, Salford, M27 5DA.

www.salfordcommunityleisure.co.uk

Page 292



Part 1: Open to the public 

 
 

REPORT OF 

 
The Strategic Director for Service Reform 

 

TO 
 

Procurement Board 
 

ON 

 
12th January 2022 

 

 
  

TITLE:   Approval to Award the Contract related to MyWork Campus Digital 
Infrastructure Upgrade. This is for Supply, Installation and Maintenance of Lot 1 – 

[MY]Work Audio visual 

 
 

RECOMMENDATION:  

That Procurement Board approve the award of a 5 year contract for the supply, 

installation and maintenance of Lot 1 – [MY]Work Audio visual to CDW Ltd 

 

Detail required Answers 

Title/Description of 

Contracted 
Service/Supply/Project 

Lot 1 – [MY]Work Audio visual 

Name of Successful 
Contractor  

CDW Ltd 

Supplier Registration 
Number 

(to be supplied by Corporate 
Procurement) 

02465350  

Type of organisation 

(to be supplied by Corporate 
Procurement) 

Private Limited Company 

Status of Organisation 

(to be supplied by Corporate 
Procurement) 

Non-SME 

Contract Value £505,385.49 Full Project 

Contract Duration  60 months 

Contract Start Date  01/01/2022 

Page 293

Agenda Item 5f



 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY:   

The purpose of this report is to seek approval for the award of the above mentioned 
contract in relation to the larger [MY]Work enablement project, this aligns into the 

building refurbishment campus upgrade and enhances the safe return to work for SCC 
staff. 
 

Key outcomes achieved by this Tender  

 Enhance digital agility of hybrid working within aligned to City Councils wider 

[MY]Work methodology 

 Meeting room and collaborative equipment improvements 

 Software/hardware integration to existing digital infrastructure  

 

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS: 

Report to Procurement Board from the Strategic Director of Service Reform requesting 
approval to go to market to procure Lot 1 – [MY]Work Audio Visual of the wider 

Campus Digital Infrastructure Upgrade dated 29th September 2021. 

 
 
KEY DECISION:   
 

Yes 

 
 

Contract End Date  31/08/2025 

Optional Extension Period 1 N/A 

Optional Extension Period 2 N/A 

Who will approve each 

Extension Period? 
Procurement Board (extension > £150k) 

Contact Officer (Name & 
number) 

Matt Wall 0161 793 3993 

Lead Service Group 

 
Service Reform & Development 

How the contract was 
procured? 

(to be supplied by 
procurement) 

Framework Call-off (Mini Competition) 

Framework Details (where 
applicable) 

(procurement body, 

framework reference & title, 
start/ end date 

Crown Commercial Service (CCS) RM6068 Technology 

Products & Associated Services 
Framework Start Date: 10.12.2019 

Framework End Date: 09.12.2023 

https://www.crowncommercial.gov.uk/agreements/RM6068 

Funding Source Capital Programme 

Page 294

https://www.crowncommercial.gov.uk/agreements/RM6068


DETAILS:  
 

1. Background 

  

 In September 2021, Procurement Board granted approval for officers to 
undertake a procurement exercise in relation to Campus Digital Infrastructure 
Upgrade – Lot 1 – [MY]Work Audio visual using the Crown Commercial 

Framework RM6068 for Technology Products and Associated Services. 
Under this framework Lot 1 Hardware & Software and Associated Services 

has 22 suppliers on it. 
 

 Salford City Council is going through a period of unprecedented and ongoing 

change and the need for different ways of working has been identified. As part 
of the process the Council are looking at increasing organisational and 

individual performance through enabling people to work smarter utilising 
digital tools and implementing behavioural changes in the way they work and 

the best places this can be completed. The current accommodation on the 
civic centre campus is outdated and does not provide suitable workspaces 
that are in alignment with the Council’s corporate strategy to enable the 

workforce to work smarter. The digital solutions being procured will 
complement and support the accommodation and implementation of the 

MyWork principles and programme, budget allocated to this project is outlined 
below in the financial comments. 
 

 

 Additionally, as a result of the significant organisational changes that have 

taken place throughout the COVID19 Pandemic, SCC audio visual 
infrastructure is no longer reflective of the Council’s needs, therefore it was 
necessary to address our requirements for the return of staff to adhere and 

enhance Public Health England’s guidelines and ensure the ability of 
colleagues to work effectively to the [MY]Work methodology. 

 
 
2. The Procurement Process 

 

 A Project Group consisting of officers from across the authority was 

established to determine and shape the Council’s future [MY]Work 
requirements. These requirements were then translated into a tender 
specification for suppliers to build proposals around. A series of stakeholder 

engagement initiatives were undertaken at the project formation stage to 
ensure the tender requirements met the varied needs of users across the 

organisation. The Project Group also evaluated the bids received from the 
framework suppliers.  
 

 As part of the CCS framework utilised for this exercise there was a price / 
quality and Social Value weighting splits used. A price / scored questions and 

Social Value weighting of 70%/15%/15% was agreed by the Project Group. 
The Project Group agreed that the weightings used struck a balance between 

the need to realise global manufacturing and supply constraints incurred due 
to the ongoing pandemic and technology supply chain problems. 

Page 295



 

 Through use of the RM6068 framework 22 suppliers were given the ability to 

tender for this contract. Due to the nature of our requirements (particularly 
around the urgency to supply and specific requirements), 2 bidders opted to 

tender as part of the competition process CDW and Phoenix Ltd 
 

 In order to make a full consideration of the opportunities available to the 

Council under a new contract, the tender required bidders to submit a range 
of prices based on digital specifications put forth by the project group. 

 

 Suppliers were asked to provide a solution fit for purposes based on the 

specifications provided, there was also an innovative ask of the suppliers to 
future roadmap the technology to align with the City Councils digital roadmap. 
 

 A detailed cost comparison was undertaken to compare all tender responses 
received, all bids submitted are displayed below along with final evaluation 

scores; 
 

Nr Company Name 
 Quality 

Score 
Price 
Score  

Social 
value 
score 

Total 
Score 

Ranking 

1 CDW Limited 9.00% 67.87% 12.00% 88.87% 1 

2 Phoenix Software 12.00% 70.00% 3.08% 85.08% 2 

 
 
Service Improvements 

 

 As part of the tender process suppliers were asked to provide options for 

innovation and adoption. 
 

 Following the successful delivery and deployment of the Surface Hubs, 

Microsoft are looking to support video creation and initial staff workshops to 
enable successful adoption across the council. 

 
Hubs will be set up with an intuitive background with quick tips and QR codes 
linking to the videos to enable staff to get going as soon as they approach 

them. 
 

Supplier will produce 11 videos in local studios covering both adoption and 
collaboration. This includes the following topics: 

 Introduction to Surface Hub (promo video)  
 Joining a pre-booked meeting  
 Join via Teams using "add a room"  
 Basic whiteboard features x2  
 Advanced whiteboard features x2  
 Remote collaboration with whiteboard (signing in and sharing)  
 Presenting wirelessly  
 Signing in to OneDrive 
 Showcase Surface Hub on wheels with battery & wi-fi  

Page 296



 Two Surface hub rooms collaborating together remotely  
 Make a telephone call  

 

In addition to the videos will provide 

 

 1 day onsite train the trainer & end user workshops in Salford City 
Council (5 x 90 mins)  

  2 webinars (90 mins) to demonstrate the power of the Hub to 300 
attendees per session. 

 

 Phoenix will provide continued training to Salford City Council to ensure 

continued use of the Surface Hubs alongside Microsoft 365 applications to 
ensure staff get can be more effective upon their return to the campus. 

 
3. Social Value  

 

 As part of the quality questionnaire for this procurement process, suppliers 
were required to provide proposals around how their organisations would 
deliver social value to Salford City Council and the community it serves this 

was inputted to the new Social Value Portal.  
 

 
KEY COUNCIL POLICIES:  

N/A 

 
 

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT AND IMPLICATIONS:  

N/A

 
ASSESSMENT OF RISK:  Medium 
 

If the Council chose not to award a contract following this procurement exercise, the 
Council’s return to work programme ([MY]Work) expectations that have been relayed 
to staff and stakeholders will not be achieved, in turn the safety guidelines also 

associated for safe hybrid working patterns will also not be achievable.  

.

 
SOURCE OF FUNDING:  

Capital Budget

 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS: Supplied by: Tony Hatton 

When commissioning contracts for the procurement of goods, services, or the 
execution of works, the Council must comply with the Public Contracts Regulations 

Page 297



2015 (PCR) and its own Contractual Standing Orders (CSO’s), failing which a contract 
may be subject to legal challenge from an aggrieved provider. CSO’s state that a 

framework arrangement should be used unless there is an auditable reason not to do 
so. The proposed award of the contract follows a direct award to CDW Ltd in 

accordance with the Crown Commercial Services Technology Products and 
Associated Services Framework. 
 

The purpose of a framework agreement is to select through a procurement/evalua tion 
process a number of providers who can meet the service requirements of the Council, 

as and when those services are required. If they are required then the Council will 
undertake an exercise to call off the services from one or more of the providers who 
have been selected to be on the framework and this may be through a number of ways 

such as mini-competition and direct allocation (as here) depending on the 
circumstances. A contract will then be formed between the Council and the chosen 

provider/s 

The Council will need to comply with the terms of the framework agreement to permit 
direct award, namely that the software products which the Council is purchasing are 

intrinsically linked to the system already being used. The procurement procedures 
therefore appear robust and compliant with the requirements of the Council’s CSO’s 

and PCR. 

 

 

 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: Submitted by:  Jo Garvin Senior Accountant Ext 2873 

The current 21/22 capital programme for MyWork and Campus Infrastructure & 
Cyber Refresh has approved funding of £2.9 million.  It is anticipated that 
expenditure will be within the programmed level. 

 

 
PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS: Supplied by:  Emma Heyes, Category Manager  

  
This procurement was carried out via a mini competition from the Crown Commercial 

Services RM6068 Technology Products and Associated Services, Lot 1: Hardware & 
Software & Associated Services.  A total of 22 suppliers were invited to bid in this Lot 

and two tenders were received by the closing date.  
  
Salford City Council’s contractual standing orders, states that before engaging in a 

tender and/or procurement process all Officers need consider whether there are 
other suitable alternative options available, including the use of any existing 

contracts, DPS or framework agreements accessible to the Council that may fulfil the 
requirements.  

  

The procurement process followed complies with the Council’s CSOs.  

Page 298



 
HR IMPLICATIONS:  Supplied by: Supplied by:  

 

 
CLIMATE CHANGE IMPLICATIONS:  Supplied by:  
 

 
 
OTHER DIRECTORATES CONSULTED:  

List other parts of the organisation consulted with if applicable. Also identify if this is a 
joint report and if it is, also reflect this in the Heading.  

 Place 

 Service Reform 

 
CONTACT OFFICER: Matt Wall   TELEPHONE NUMBER: 0161 793 3993

 

WARD(S) TO WHICH REPORT RELATE(S):  
Specify the ward(s) affected, if all wards, state this fact. 
 

 

 

Page 299



This page is intentionally left blank



Part 1: Open to the public 

 
 

REPORT OF 

 
The Strategic Director for Service Reform 

 

TO 
 

Procurement Board 
 

ON 

 
12th January 2022 

 

 
  

TITLE:   Approval to Award the Contract related to MyWork Campus Digital 
Infrastructure Upgrade. This is for Supply, Installation and Maintenance of Lot 2 – 

Infrastructure Upgrade 

 
 

RECOMMENDATION:  

That Procurement Board approve the award of a 5 year contract for the supply, 

installation and maintenance of Lot 2 – Infrastructure Upgrade to Softcat plc 

 

Detail required Answers 

Title/Description of 

Contracted 
Service/Supply/Project 

Lot 2 – Network Infrastructure Upgrade 

Name of Successful 
Contractor  

Softcat plc 

Supplier Registration 
Number 

(to be supplied by Corporate 
Procurement) 

02174990 

Type of organisation 

(to be supplied by Corporate 
Procurement) 

Private Limited Company 

Status of Organisation 

(to be supplied by Corporate 
Procurement) 

Non-SME 

 

Contract Value £343,000.76 Full Project 

Contract Duration  60 months 

Contract Start Date  01/01/2021 

Page 301

Agenda Item 5g



 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY:   

The purpose of this report is to seek approval for the award of the above mentioned 
contract in relation to the larger [MY]Work enablement project, this aligns into the 

building refurbishment campus upgrade and enhances the safe return to work for SCC 
staff. 
 

Key outcomes achieved by this Tender  

 Enhance digital agility of hybrid working within aligned to City Councils wider 

[MY]Work methodology 

 Roaming wireless, guest and infrastructure improvements 

 Seamless integration to existing digital infrastructure  

 

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS: 

Report to Procurement Board from the Strategic Director of Service Reform requesting 
approval to go to market to procure Lot 2 – Network Infrastructure Upgrade of the 

wider Campus Digital Infrastructure Upgrade dated 29th September 2021. 

 
 
KEY DECISION:   

No 

 
 

Contract End Date  01/01/2026 

Optional Extension Period 1 N/A 

Optional Extension Period 2 N/A 

Who will approve each 

Extension Period? 
Strategic Director (extension < £150k) 

Contact Officer (Name & 
number) 

Matt Wall 0161 793 3993 

Lead Service Group 

 

Service Reform & Development 

 

How the contract was 
procured? 

(to be supplied by 
procurement) 

Framework Call-off (Mini Competition) 

Framework Details (where 
applicable) 

(procurement body, 

framework reference & title, 
start/ end date 

Crown Commercial Service (CCS) RM6068 Technology 

Products & Associated Services 
Framework Start Date: 10.12.2019 

Framework End Date: 09.12.2023 

https://www.crowncommercial.gov.uk/agreements/RM6068 

Funding Source Capital Programme 

Page 302

https://www.crowncommercial.gov.uk/agreements/RM6068


DETAILS:  
 

1. Background 

  

 In September 2021, Procurement Board granted approval for officers to 
undertake a procurement exercise in relation to Campus Digital Infrastructure 
Upgrade – Lot 2 – Network Infrastructure Upgrade using the Crown 

Commercial Framework RM6068 for Technology Products and Associated 
Services. Under this framework, Lot 1 Hardware & Software and Associated 

Services has 22 suppliers on it. 
 

 Salford City Council is going through a period of unprecedented and ongoing 

change and the need for different ways of working has been identified. As part 
of the process the Council are looking at increasing organisational and 

individual performance through enabling people to work smarter utilising 
digital tools and implementing behavioural changes in the way they work and 

the best places this can be completed. The current accommodation on the 
civic centre campus is outdated and does not provide suitable workspaces 
that are in alignment with the Council’s corporate strategy to enable the 

workforce to work smarter. The digital solutions being procured will 
complement and support the accommodation and implementation of the 

MyWork principles and programme, budget allocated to this project is outlined 
below in the financial comments. 
 

 

 Additionally, as a result of the significant organisational changes that have 

taken place throughout the COVID19 Pandemic, SCC network infrastructure 
is no longer reflective of the Council’s needs, therefore it was necessary to 
address our requirements for the return of staff to effectively implement the 

[MY]Work methodology with robust roaming wireless enhancements and 
guest access. 

 
 
2. The Procurement Process 

 

 A Project Group consisting of officers from across the authority was 

established to determine and shape the Council’s future [MY]Work 
requirements. These requirements were then translated into a tender 
specification for suppliers to build proposals around. A series of stakeholder 

engagement initiatives were undertaken at the project formation stage to 
ensure the tender requirements met the varied needs of users across the 

organisation. The Project Group also evaluated the bids received from the 
framework suppliers.  
 

 As part of the CCS framework utilised for this exercise there was a price / 
quality and Social Value weighting splits used. A price / scored questions and 

Social Value weighting of 60%/25%/15% was agreed by the Project Group. 
The Project Group agreed that the weightings used struck a balance between 

the need to realise global manufacturing and supply constraints incurred due 
to the ongoing pandemic and technology supply chain problems. 

Page 303



 

 Through use of the RM6068 framework 22 suppliers were given the ability to 

tender for this contract. Due to the nature of our requirements (particularly 
around the urgency to supply and specific requirements), 2 bidders opted to 

tender as part of the competition process CDW and Softcat plc 
 

 In order to make a full consideration of the opportunities available to the 

Council under a new contract, the tender required bidders to submit a range 
of prices based on digital specifications put forth by the project group. 

 

 Suppliers were asked to provide a solution fit for purposes based on the 

specifications provided, there was also an innovative ask of the suppliers to 
future roadmap the technology to align with the City Councils digital roadmap. 

 

 Bidders were asked to price options of supply only and supply and 
installations, as such we have removed the professional costs associated to 

installation as this will be done via the Digital Infrastructure Team. 
 

 A detailed cost comparison was undertaken to compare all tender responses 

received, all bids submitted are displayed below along with final evaluation 
scores; 

 

Nr Company Name 
 Quality 

Score 
Price 
Score  

Social 
value 
score 

Total 
Score 

Ranking 

1 CDW Limited 17.50% 45.17% 5.12% 67.79% 2 

2 Softcat plc 20.00% 60.00% 10.50% 90.50% 1 

 
 

 

 
  

Page 304



Service Improvements 
 

 As part of the tender process suppliers were asked to show future 
enhancements with the chosen technology on offer. 

 The following enhancements can be applied to the existing network design to 
provide both users and network administrators with additional functionality to 

improve their experience and fully exploit the network infrastructure. Meraki 
Dashboard and portfolio can support automation, allowing networks to “self-
heal”, offer detailed visibility of the network infrastructure, and offer security 

options that are quick to deploy and protect clients from malware and 
intrusion. 

 

Meraki Insight 

Information on the health of the network and application hosted within it have 

always been a priority for network administrators.  Meraki Insight provides 
administrators with an easy way to monitor the performance of Web Applications 

and WAN links within their network and identify if any issues are likely being 
caused by the network or application.  A single pane of glass and transparent 
information, allows network administrators and IT staff to identify pain points 

within the campus network. Armed with information the Insight tool provides, SCC 
can automate changes within the network. Responding quickly to poor quality of 

service, and preserve a positive user experience.  
 

Automation through API 

Automation can be used to save time, increase quality, improve user satisfaction, 
and reduce costs.  Meraki have a growing series of API controls that exist within 

the Meraki Dashboard. Accessible through API keys, coded scripts can be 
deployed to measure the performance of the network, clients, equipment, 
security, and health.  

 
 
Deployment of Meraki MX Security Appliances 

Meraki MX Security Appliances can be used to replace the existing router 
hardware. Migrating to these services enables the leveraging of Cisco and Meraki 

proprietary tools for protection, network health, and SD-WAN services. All 
manged from a single pane of glass for transparency and ease of use. 

 
With Multiple WAN uplinks the Meraki MX can be instructed to load balance 
traffic dynamically depending on uplink speeds, or VLAN requirements. Meraki 

MX devices, with instruction can divert and further manage traffic through uplinks 
depending on link quality and input from Meraki’s Insight utility tools. This 
seamless decision-making will directly improve connectivity of client devices, 

smoothing out and improving the experience for end-users. 
 
Support for client-VPN  

Meraki MX appliances also opens up more ways to adapt to the new working 
environment. More people than ever have been remote working, and the client-

VPN support present in Meraki MXs allow for this protecting both campus and 
remote users. Meraki Dashboard can manage a list of authorised remote workers 

using client-VPN services, and also grant integration options for Active Directory, 

Page 305



Radius, or ISE solutions to manage instead. VPN tunnels will secure traffic from 
internet sites into the campus, offering support for troubleshooting the health of 

remote connections as well as tunnel integrity. 
 
Security and protection 

Meraki MXs with Advanced Licences can provide Intrusion Detection and 
Prevention services; protecting client and switch fabric devices from malicious 

access attempts and promote network health. For supporting clients with BYOD 
equipment, Cisco AMP would be able to protect from spread of malware and 

viruses within the LAN estate, offering alerts to problems and protecting client 
equipment from exposure to malware that disrupt or damage client data. Cisco 
AMP is linked directly to Cisco TALOS and receives constant updates to keep the 

service current, this is all managed through Meraki Dashboard and does not 
require manual intervention or service outages to protect. The hands-free 

approach to security updates will reduce downtime, and free up SCC IT 
resources to focus on supporting other areas.  
 
The Power of Meraki AutoVPN 

To ease and simplify secure networking, Meraki AutoVPN can be used as a 

broker for edge devices within the campus Organisation. Any secure SSID 
services using VPN tunnels to a concentrator can be controlled and brokered by 
AutoVPN with the easy-to-deploy toolset. This service allows faster rollout and 

changes without lengthy downtimes to the campus.   
 
AutoVPN and Hybrid Networks 

Networking is transforming; moving away from conventional brick and mortar 
datacentres and into cloud-hosted services. Meraki have a server-based software 

MX in their product portfolio.  
 

Migrating into cloud networking with support of Meraki services, can be 
interlinked with Meraki Insight. Insight services allow for networks to self-heal, 
allowing automation to failover between existing datacentres and remote cloud 

hosted services.   
 

Hybrid networking will provide SCC with a path of migration to the cloud in the 
future. A hybrid network can support service uptime, by offering alternative routes 
to servers and data.  

 
Umbrella Integration into Meraki 

Meraki have partnered with a proxy service Umbrella allowing ease of 
configuration between Meraki site and remote proxy polices. One-click 
deployment from Meraki Dashboard allows a prompt setup of the proxy service, 

with the additional benefit of allowing client devices operating remote from the 
campus protection and security matched by the same protections of client 

devices on-campus. This service can be partnered up with hybrid networking, 
and support a future of home/remote working for staff. This will grant SCC a 
protected method of flexibility within its workforce by removing the need for staff 

to be on-campus on order to protect and secure staff devices. 
 
Physical Security 

Page 306



Meraki can create and federate an authorised body of users to manage and 
regulate Meraki cameras. This authorisation can extend to desk machines but 

also mobile devices as access is driven by assigned account not by client device 
type or IP addressing schemes. SCC Security staff will be more mobile, offering 

safety, security, and visibility to the campus.  
 
 

IoT devices 

Meraki have produced a series of managed devices that can be directly 

connected into the Meraki dashboard for ease of use and deployment. SCC 
campus can deploy door sensor IoT devices that can be subscribed to by 
relevant teams, for example door sensors to allow security teams to keep the 

building safe, sensors linked to Meraki cameras that are triggered to record and 
store data if a person accesses a location or opens a comms cabinet door. 

Meraki have a portfolio of environmental IoT devices, which When deployed into 
the SCC campus will allow for alerting and control over the environment of the 
campus buildings. 

 

 

 
3. Social Value  

 

 As part of the quality questionnaire for this procurement process, suppliers 
were required to provide proposals around how their organisations would 

deliver social value to Salford City Council and the community it serves this 
was inputted to the new Social Value Portal.  

 The supplier that has ranked first in this procurement scored 10.50% which 

includes a Social Value Offering to the value of £108,819.30. 
 

 
 

 
KEY COUNCIL POLICIES:  

N/A 

 
 

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT AND IMPLICATIONS:  

N/A

 
ASSESSMENT OF RISK:  Medium 
 
If the Council chose not to award a contract following this procurement exercise, the 

Council’s return to work programme ([MY]Work) expectations that have been relayed 
to staff and stakeholders will not be achieved, in turn the safety guidelines also 

associated for safe hybrid working patterns will also not be achievable.  

.

 

Page 307



SOURCE OF FUNDING:  

Revenue Budget

 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS: Supplied by: Tony Hatton 

When commissioning contracts for the procurement of goods, services, or the 
execution of works, the Council must comply with the Public Contracts Regulations 
2015 (PCR) and its own Contractual Standing Orders (CSO’s), failing which a contract 

may be subject to legal challenge from an aggrieved provider. CSO’s state that a 
framework arrangement should be used unless there is an auditable reason not to do 

so. The proposed award of the contract follows a direct award to CDW Ltd in 
accordance with the Crown Commercial Services Technology Products and 
Associated Services Framework. 

 
The purpose of a framework agreement is to select through a procurement/evalua tion 

process a number of providers who can meet the service requirements of the Council, 
as and when those services are required. If they are required then the Council will 
undertake an exercise to call off the services from one or more of the providers who 

have been selected to be on the framework and this may be through a number of ways 
such as mini-competition and direct allocation (as here) depending on the 

circumstances. A contract will then be formed between the Council and the chosen 
provider/s 

The Council will need to comply with the terms of the framework agreement to permit 

direct award, namely that the software products which the Council is purchasing are 
intrinsically linked to the system already being used. The procurement procedures 

therefore appear robust and compliant with the requirements of the Council’s CSO’s 
and PCR. 

 

 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: Submitted by:  Jo Garvin Senior Accountant Ext 2873 

The current 21/22 capital programme for MyWork and Campus Infrastructure & 
Cyber Refresh has approved funding of £2.9 million.  It is anticipated that 
expenditure will be within the programmed level. 

 
PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS: Supplied by:  Emma Heyes, Category Manager 

 
This procurement was carried out via a mini competition from the Crown Commercial 
Services RM6068 Technology Products and Associated Services, Lot 1: Hardware & 

Software & Associated Services.  A total of 22 suppliers were invited to bid in this Lot 
and two tenders was received by the closing date.  

  
Salford City Council’s contractual standing orders, states that before engaging in a 
tender and/or procurement process all Officers need consider whether there are 

other suitable alternative options available, including the use of any existing 

Page 308



contracts, DPS or framework agreements accessible to the Council that may fulfil the 
requirements.  

  
The procurement process followed complies with the Council’s CSOs.  

 

 
HR IMPLICATIONS:  Supplied by: Supplied by:  

 

 
CLIMATE CHANGE IMPLICATIONS:  Supplied by:  
 

 

 

 

 
 
 

OTHER DIRECTORATES CONSULTED:  

List other parts of the organisation consulted with if applicable. Also identify if this is a 

joint report and if it is, also reflect this in the Heading.  

 Place 

 Service Reform 

 
CONTACT OFFICER:  

TELEPHONE NUMBER: 

 

WARD(S) TO WHICH REPORT RELATE(S):  
Specify the ward(s) affected, if all wards, state this fact. 
 

 

 

Page 309



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 To approve, as a correct record, the minutes of the meeting held on 14th December 2021
	5a Request for Approval to Go Out to Competition - Unlocking Clean Energy in GM -  Ground Mounted Solar PV Installation - Hayley Nixon
	5b Request for Approval - Contract Award - Insurance Policy and Cover Renewals - Cliff Peacock
	5c Request for Approval - Contract Award - Banking Services - Tony Thompstone
	5d Request for Approval - Contract Extension - Enhanced Postural Stability - Peter Locke
	05(d) - Enh Postural Stability Com Com Jan 2020
	05(d) - Service_Specification_Enhanced_Postural_Stability_Final
	05(d) - EPS Annual Report 2019 - 20
	05(d) - EPS Summary Report Apr 20 - Nov 21
	05(d) - AL Social Impact Report - Executive Summary

	5e Request for Approval - Contract Extension - Active Lifestyles - Peter Locke
	05(e) - Active Lifestyles  & Physical Activity in Schools 202122 Extension (Exception to Contract) Paper
	05(e) - ROD 17.02.21 - AL (Adults) & PA in Schools
	05(e) - Specification - AL for LTC (Dec 16)
	05(e) - Specification - Phys Activity in Schools (Dec 16)
	05(e) - Active Lifestyles (LTC Only) Report Q3 2019 -20
	05(e) - Active Lifestyles Report Q1 2021 -22
	05(e) - Active Lifestyles Service Pandemic Response
	05(e) - SSSP 2020 REPORT
	ssp-reports-2020
	SSP-Report-2020-2
	SSP-REPORT-3
	SSP-Reoprt-2020-4

	05(e) - SSP Report - November 2021
	05(e) - Naomi's Welcome Challenge
	05(e) - AL Social Impact Report - Executive Summary

	5f Request for Approval - Contract Award - MyWork Campus Digital Infrastructure Upgrade - Supply, Installation and Maintenance of Lot 1 - [MY]Work Audio visual
	5g Request for Approval - Contract Award - MyWork Campus Digital Infrastructure Upgrade - Supply, Installation and Maintenance of Lot 2 - Infrastructure Upgrade

